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About us

We are

a leading
global
retailer

WH Smith PLC is a leading
global Travel retailer for
news, books, convenience

and tech accessories with a
smaller business on the UK
High Street. At the heart of
both our businesses are our
pecple and our customers.
We aim to deliver our goals |
through our strategic prierities
and initiatives by: constantly
innovating, expanding globally,
improving our profitability and
delivering sustainable returns.

Find out more about WHSmith at
whsmithplc.co.uk

WHSmith Travel is a world-leading travel retailer with a presence in over

30 countries

across the globe. mainly in airports

Travel is in a wide range of
locations including

airports,
hospitals,
railway stations
and motorway
service areas

@whsmithofficial

, @whsmith

° youtube.com/WHSmithDirect

m linkedin.com/company/whsmith

Disclalmer .

‘This Annual, report has been prepared for, and anly for, the
members of the Company, a5 a body, and no other persons.
The Company, its directors, emplayees, agents or advisers do
not accepl or assume responsibility lo any other person lo
wharm this document is shewn ar inte whose hands il may
come and any such respansibility or tiadility is expressly
diselaimed, By their nature, |he statemems concerning the
risks and uncertainlies facing {he Graug in this Annual repart
involve uncerlainly since future evenls and circumstances can
cause resulls and developments to difler matedially Irom these
anlicipaled, The forward-looMing slalements rellect knowledge
and infarmation available at the date of preparation of this
Annual report and the Company undertakes no cbligation to
updaie these forward-loaking statements, Nothing in Lhis
Annual repart should be consirued as a profit forecast.

WHSmith High Street is present
on most of the significant high
streets and shopping centres

in the UK, mainly in

prime locations

As WHSmith continues on its
journey to be a better business,
we have a strong commitment
to the principles of .

sustainability
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Strategic report

Group at a glance

WH Smith PLC is a leading travel retailer with a smaller high street business

Travel

WHSmith Travel is a global travel retailer with a strong presence in UK travel
locations and an increasing portfolio of stores around the world. including our
fast-growing North American businesses, Marshall Retait Group (MRG] for
speciality retait, and InMotion, the market-leading global technology retailer
in travel locations.

WHSmith Travel sells a range of products serving customers in travel locations
orin need of a convenience offer.

As at 31 August 2021, the business operated from 1,164 units [2020: 1,174
unitg], in airports, hospitals, railway stations and motorway service areas.
595 of these units [2020: 584 units| are outside the UK across 30 countries
and mainly in airports.

Ouring the year, the business has continued to be impacted by the Covid-19?
pandemic with a significant number of stores temporarily closed across the
globe. Further to the easing of government restrictions around the world,
we have been encouraged by the improving trends in each of our channels,
and we are well positioned to benefit from the opportunities that exist as our
markets recover

Our goal

to be the leading retailer in
travel essentials for the world's
travelling customer.

Highlights

Operating in

1,166 units

[2020: 1.374)

30 countries

Revenue

£40Tm

(2020; €553m)
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High Street

High Street sells a wide range of Stationery, Books, Newspapers, Magazines
and Impulse products,

As at 31 August 2021, the business operated from 544 WHSmith High Strest
stores' [2020: 568 stores'), located on mast of the UK's sigrificant high streets
and shopping centres. We operate over 200 Past Offices from within our High
Street stores, further cementing our position on the high street and at the heart
of the communities we serve,

Our online digital business operates through five websites:
funkypigeon.com, whsmith.co.uk, cultpens.com, treeofhearts.co.uk and
dottyaboutpaper.co.uk.

During the year, High Street was impacted by reduced footfall a5 a result

of the Covid-19 pandemic. In line with government guidance, we kept the vast
majority of our High Street stores open throughout the lockdown periods

tn order to provide access to essential products and services, including

Post Offices.

Our goal

to be Britain's mast popular

high street stationer, bockseller.

and newsagent.

Highlights

WHSmith Stores’

044

(2020: 568)

Revenue

£485m

{2020: E468ml

}  Excludes one Cardmarke: slore 12020: 3 Cardmarket stores).
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Strategic report

Our business model and strategy to create value

WHSmith is a global travel retailer with a smaller business based on UK
high streets. Our business model and strategy seeks to create value for all
stakeholders through improving our profitability and cash flow to deliver
sustainable returns.

Our business mode

Travel High Street Focused use of cash
| N ( 4 - N
Our goal 'Our goal ,0ur goal

“To be Britain's most Disciptined approach

To be the leading retailer of travel essentials for the

-travelling customer

,popular stationer, -
*bookseller and newsagent

*to cash generation
and capital allocation

Driving tike-for-like sales in
existing stores through
increasing average transaction
value and expanding the range
and number of categories

we sell

Investment in stare
environments and layouts

A forensic store by store
focus on space and
category management

Winning new space and
retaining existing space

Developing new formats

Expanding profitability outside
of the UK

- North America

- Building critical mass in our
emerging hubs

- Utilising the same space
management and
operational disciplines
aswe have in the UK

Growing InMotion, now the
leading global retaiter of
technology stores in

travel locations

Investing in digital solutions
to enhance the customer
experience

Adapting a forensic stare
by store focus on space
management to optimise
the returns from our core
categories, particularly
Stationery

Oriving margin growth through
category mix management

Reducing our cost base
to reflect our changing
sales prefile and
productivity initiatives

Building anline propositions
complementary to our stores
and categories: funkypigeon.
com, cultpens.com and
whsmith.co.uk

Investing in the business
where returns are greater
than our cost of capital

Value accretive acquisitions
in attractive markets with goad
growth prospects

Return surplus cash 1o
shareholders through &
progressive dividend policy
and share buybacks

hvd

Operating responsibly

You can read more about our approach to
Environmental, Social and Corporate
Gevernance [ESG] on pages 29 to 36.

N

Right people and skills
You can read more about our values,
employees and-diversity on pages 32 to 34.

Our customers

You can read more about our markets
on pages 5 and 6.
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Our markets

1odas nbayeis

Travel

Travel sells a range of products serving custemers
in travel locations and in need of a convenience offer,
Travel's typical customer has less time to browse
and is more-interested in purchasing convenience
and impulse products such as food, drink and
confecticnery, travel and tech accessories and
souvenirs, as well as reading materials for a journey.

Travel units are typically located in high faotfall locaticns with
higher operating and occupation costs with rents paid as a
percentage of sales often subject to rminimum guarantees).
Travel is less affected by the Christmas trading period than
high street retailers. Increased passenger traffic during the
summmer holiday season, particularly in airports, contributes
to a summer peak In sales Most passengers are travelling for
leisure purposes.

Gur main markets are in the UK |air, hospitals and rail} ang in
North America [air and resorts in Las Vegas) All our markets
have been impacted by government actions following the
outbreak of Covid-19. The rate at which passengers return to
travel locations will have the biggest impact on our markets.

As restrictions have eased. we have seen a return to travelling led
first by domestic travel and then short-hautl. Long-haul travel will
be the last to recover. Most industry forecasts, for example,
Airparts Council International IACI) expect passenger numbers
ta return to 2019 levels by 2024.

in the UK, air passenger numbers have been significantly
impacted. However, as restrictions have eased, we have seen a
recovery in passenger numbers, According to ACI, UK passenger

numbers were down 49 per cent in October 2021 compared to
2019. This compares to down 80 per cent in October 2020
compared 1o Jctaber 2019. Rail passenger numbers have also
been significantly impacted by government restrictions and have
recovered as restrictions have eased. Concourse data from
Network Rail suggests that rail passengers were down 34 per
cent in Qctober 2021 compared to October 2019, This has
improved from down 45 to 70 per cent in Octaber 2020.
Hospitals are impacted by changes i the number of visitors
and elective surgeries. The UK Government continues to invest
in the National Health Service and in building new and
exiended hospitals.

in North America, due to the domestic nature of the market,
arpart passenger numbers have recovered quickly Based an
TSA data, passenger numbers had recovered (o 84 per cent of
2019 by the end of Qctober 2021 in Las Vegas, visitor numbers
have also recovered with occupancy levels at 85 per cent of 2619
levels in September 2021,

The speed of the recovery in each market in which we operate
will depend on the successtul roll-out of vaccines around the
waorld, the emergence of new variants and their response to
vaccines, and the way governments choose to refax or impose
restrictions in the face of these changes. Over the longer term,
Travel will be impacted by macreeconomic {rends and other
factors which influence the number and nationality of travelling
customers. These include levels of employment and investment,
the cost of travelling. specific category trends such as the growth
of consumable products and tech accessories, and policy
intervention to tackle climate change.
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Strategicreport

Our markets continued

High Street

High Street sells a wide range of products in the
following categories: Stationery (including greetings
cards, general stationery, art and craft, and gifting),
News and Impulse [including newspapers,
magazines, confectionery and drinks) and Books.
High Street’s trading is seasonal, peaking at
Christmas and in August/September for ‘Back

to Scheol'.

We also have a number of anline businesses:

» funkypigecn.com - our persanalised cards and gifts site.

= whsmith.co.uk - which selis a range of Stationery, Books,
Magazines and Gifts.

* cultpens.com - our specialist pen site.

* treeofhearts.co.uk and dottyaboutpaper.co.uk - our specialist
wedding stationery sites.

These websites complement our core in-store and stationery
offers and have accelerated during the Cowd-19 pandemic.

1 Corpany estimates/QCaC 2019

High Street’s performance is dependent upon overall growth

in consumer spending and the levels of footfall on the UK high
street, Gince Cowd-19. we have seen further declines in the level
of foatfall on UK high streets. There is a wide discrepancy in store
performance depending on the location, with smaller rmarket
towns and mare affluent catchrments performing better than city
centre locations, reflecting the level of government restrictions
imposed due ta Covid-19. Going forward, further lockdowns or
restrictions in the UK would impact the performance of our

High Street stores.

Funkypigean.com is our ontine personalised greeting card and
gifting website. The market for greetings cards in the UK is
substantial and estimated al £1.6bn’ with online penetration
estimated at c.15 per cent® with OC&C forecasting online growth
of single cards over the next three years, taking penetration to
.20 per cent’ of the card market by 2024, The UK greetings card
market has been stable with a culture of sending greelings cards
in the UK, with adults sending on average 20 greetings cards per
person each year,
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Chairman'’s statement

We are now in a strong position to capitalise on the
growth opportunities that exist in our markets.”

Henry S5taunton
Chairman

Despite the ongoing uncertainty throughout the
financial year, the Group has delivered a robust
perforrmance. We have taken decisive actions to
secure the financial position of the Group and we are
now in a strong position fo capitaise on the growth
opportunities thal exist in our markets. Within Travel,
despite the significant impact on passenger numbers
In the year, we have won strategically important
business in the UK, with 30 technology stores won?
across UK airports.

This is a significant step forward for the Group as we introduce
our market-leading technology business in travet locations in the
US, InMation, to the UK, making it the largest, global technology
retailer in travet locations. '

In addition, the growth opportunities in the Narth American travel
market are substantial. During the year. we have won some
sighificant new business at major US airports and we are in 2
strong position as the market recovers.

While the easing of government-imposed restrictions had a
positive impact on the Group's performance in the second half of
the financial year. the Group has continued o be significantly
impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. Across our global travel
business, passenger nurnbers have been significantly impacted.
In our High Street business, we have seen a structural shift in
consumer behaviour accelerated by the pandemic, resulting in
reduced high street footfall. Despite these challenges, our teams
have acted fast and responded to the evolving trading
enwvironment by focusing on initiatives within our control that
support us in the short term and put us in a better position to
emerge operationally stronger as our markets recover.

Once again, ! feel immense pride for how our colleagues have
responded to the pandemic and the resutting challenges.
During the year, we committed to playing our part in the
communities we serve to provide access to vital postal and
banking services from our High Street stares with Post Offices.
Simnilarly, we kept the majority of our stores apen in hospitals
In order to suppaort frontline NHS workers. This would not
have been possible without the extraordinary commitment

of our store colleagues and | remain grateful for their
outstanding contribution.

2 Asal 10 November 2021

podas mbajens

Looking ahead, value creation remains central to our plans and
we will continue to invest for the longer term where we see
attractive opportunities for profitable growth.

Corporate governhance

Corporate governance remains an important area of focus for the
Board and underpins the sustainability of our business and the
achieverment of our strategy. A more detailed explanation of our
approach to corporate governance can be found in our Corporate
governance report on pages 41 to 88.

Sustainability

We are committed to adopting a market-leading pasition on
responsible business practices, and seek to make a positive |
irnpact on the planet, the lives of aur people and the communities
in which we operate. Thrs year, we met our target to reach carbon
neutrality for our UK cperations by 2021. We continued our work
to reduce plastic packaging and ensure no deforestation from ihe
manufacture of our stationery preducts. In addition, we extended
our programme to pravide books and reading support to
disadvantaged children, continuing our work with the National
Literacy Trust and others.

Further infarmation on all aspects of our sustainability
programrmes can be found on pages 29 to 34.

People

It has been anather chatlenging year for our colleagues across
the Group and } am sincerely grateful for their ongoing
contribution. We have a very strong team at WHSmith and this
year has proven that despite the many challenges we have faced,
we have outstanding talent to lead our business,

Outlook ’
White we remain cautious in cur approach, we are a resilient
and versatile business. We are financially strong and are well
placed to benefit in due course frem further oppartunities as our
markets recover. We remain very disciplined with cur capital
atlocation and going forward remain committed to delivering
value for our sharehalders.

Henry Staunton
Chatrman ’

11 Novermnber 2021
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Strategic repart

Chief Executive’s review

bk

We are a financially strong Group in a robust
position to emerge operationally stronger.”

Cart Cowling
Group Chief Executive

Covid-1% continues to have a significant impact on
the performance of the Group. Qver the last year,
we have worked hard throughout the world to
navigate our way threugh the changing government
restrictions in each country. The imposition and
subsequent easing of lockdowns and restrictions
has meant we have developed a flexible and dynamic
approach to operating our stores, opening up when
we had sufficient customer traffic to generate
incremental cash or, in line with government
guidelines, remaining open to provide essential
products and services to our customers.

As at 31 October 2021, we had 1.540 stores open around the
world out of a total portfolio of 1,711 stares.

Qur overriding priarity during the year has been the health and
wellbeing of ali our colleagues and customers. All stores,
distribution centres and head offices had appropriate safety
measures in place in line with the relevant government guidance
at any one time, including social distancing measures, PPE feor
colleagues’ use, protective screens and guidelines to limit the
number of customers in store. In addition, all head office staff,
having intially worked at heme, are now operating a hybnid
medel, combining home and office warking.

Group overview
Throughout the year, the trading environment remained impacted
by Covid-19 with extensive restrictions in place. We focused an
tittatives within our centrol that have supported us in the
immediate term and put us in a good position to emerge
operatianally stronger as our markets continue to recover.
These key areas of focus are:
*» Securing our financial positian through the new banking
arrangernents and convertible bond issuance announced
in April 2021. This gives us a strong balance sheet, extends
maturity dates to 2025 and increases our revolving credit
facility to £250m.

* Driving average transaction value and sales per passenger.

1 Liguidily is defined as cash on deposit plus undrawn facilities
2 Equivalent mgnth i 2019

« Extending our categories and ranges to reflect the specific

needs of our custamers in each lecation where we operate.

For example, health and beauty products across our Travel

stores and working from home and electrical accessories

ranges across our High Streel stores.

Warking with landlords and building on our strong

relationships to create opportunities for winning new business,

extending key contracts and impraving the quality and locatien
of the space where we operate. The expansion of InMotion into
the UK through the winning of every technology store in UK
airports is a good example of this in practice, reflecting the
combination of our core travel retail expertise, strong brand
and landlord relationships, and builds on the learnings from
aperating InMation in the US.

= Investing capex in strategically important projects which set
us up well for the future, such as our refilled stores at London
Heathrow Terminal 5 and our stores at the new terminal at
Manchester Airport.

+ Building our internet proposition by extending ranges, investing
in the websites, marketing, fulfilment and distribution and
building customer engagement through social media.

» Forensic focus on costs and cash, minimising discretionary
spend and managing our cash burn resulling in cash on
deposit of £107m and access to £357m of liquidity’ as at the
end of October 2021.

Total Group revenue as a percentage of 2019 total revenue

has been:

Percentage of 2019 Revenue?’

FY 2021 FY 2022

Fweeks
" o o *% 30 MD::YGZDZ‘:
High Street B8% 83%  8&% 87% 88%
Travel 9% 35% 45% 63% 79%
Group 59% 58% &1% 1% 82%

Covid-19 continued to have a significant impact on the Group.
Total Group revenue at £886m [2020: £1,021m) was down

13 per cent compared to last year [which included six months
pre-pandemic] and was 62 per cent of 20192 Travel remained
impacted by the government enforced travel restrictions
throughout the year. However, we saw an improved performance

The Group adopted IFRS 14 Leases with eHect trom 1 September 2019, The Group conlinues 1o manitor perlgrmance and aliocste ressurces based an pre-IFRS 14 lapplying Ihe prnciptes of IAS 1T information, snd
theredore the tegults lor the years ended 31 Augusi 2021 and 31 Augusl 2020 have been presented on bolh an IFRS 16 and a pre-IFRS 16 basis. Measures destribed as ‘Meacline’ are presented pre-IFRS 14. For the
purposes of Rarrative commentary on the Broup’s perfrmance and linancial pasition, both pre-IFRS 14 and IFRS 14 measures are provided. Reconciiations fram pre-IFRS 16 measures lo IFRS 14 measures are
provided in the Glossary on page 154, Group revenue was nol alfected by the adoplion of IFRS 16, and thesetors all refarences ta and discussion of revenys, and like-lor-like revenue are based on slatutory measures.

e e e A e
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across alt channels in the second half as restrictions were eased  Travel performance

In Most countries where we operate and which has continued Covid-19 continued to significantly impact the business across
into Q) of the current financial year. We saw a consistently our UK, North America and Rest of the World markets. This has
rabust pertarmance in High Street throughout the year. despite resulted in a total Headline trading loss? of £39m (2020: (oss of
footfall declines, with the important December trading period at ¢34 )i the year. which is comprised of a loss of £32m in the
92 per cent of 2019. Our internet businesses have continued (o UK [2020- loss of £1ml. a profit of £6rm (2020: loss of £18m} in
perform strongly. North America and a loss of £13m (2020: loss of £14mbin the

The Headline Group loss fram trading operations? for the year Rest of the World. Total revenue was £401m {2020 £553m),

was E20m [2020: loss of £43m) with Headline Group loss before down 27 per cent compared to last year.
frahx, and non-underiying items? at £55m [2020: loss of £69m). In Travel, we have focused on nibiatives within our control, that

b 's ncludes a second hall performance over £110m better than 0 ¢ 1500rted s in the immediate term. and positioned us well
:3 € prior year. lndUd'?Q nen-underlying items, the Headltine to emerge operationally stronger as aur markets recover.

roup loss before tax® was £104m [2020: Loss of £226m). As restrictions have eased, we have seen a return to travelling,
The Graup loss before tax, after non-underlying items and led first by dornestic travel and then shont-haul. Long-haul travel
including IFRS 14, was E£116m [2020: loss of £280m). will be the last to recover, Most industry forecasts including

‘ Airports Council International [ACI] expect passenger numbers to

On 28 April 2021, the Group announced new financing retﬁrn 10 2019 levels by 2024 pectp 9

arrangements which included a £250m Revolving Credit Facility
(RCF] [increased fram £200m} with maturity extended to 2025.
At the same time, the Group launched an offering of convertible
bonds which mature in 2026. The bonds raised £327m, of which .

£50m was retained by the Group to fund new and exisling growth High Street performance
oppartunities, including the InMotign stores won in the UK and
the further 100 stores won and yet to open in Travel.

The remaining £247m was used to pay down a significant
proportion of the Group's term debt with its commercial banks,
which now stands at £133m with a maturity in 2025.

We continue to invest in the business where we see attractive
opporiunities for profitable growth.

We have managed this business very tightly throughout the year
given the uncertain trading environment, with an ongeing focus
on cost control and cash generation High Street delivered a
resilient performance with a fult year Headline trading profit®
at £19m (2020 loss of £10m]. Total revenue was up four per cent,
The G had the followi : . Cost savings of £30m were deli\n_ered in the year. An addrtional

€ Group had the following cash. committed facilities and drawn ¢ 45m of cost savings have been identified over the next three

debl as at 31 August 2021: . years, of which £35m are planned for 2021/22.
31 August 2021 Maturity

Cash and cash equivalents £130m Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance ['ESG')
Revolving Credit Facility* £250m Aprd 2025 During the first half of the financiai year, we launched our new
Term Loan £133m Apnil 2025 sustainability strategy, ‘Our journey to a better business’. and we

. h ti t ESG pert .
Convertible Bond £307m April 2026 ave continued to focus on our performance

. During the year, we have met our target to reach carbon
f\z%;é?ga%#gulsijom' Headl(;ne nel debt’ was £291m neutrality for our UK operations, reducing our energy
cash flow? . erccf:lntmufemto focus on cash. Group free censumption by over 60 per cenl since 2007, switching to
ow? was an inflow of E14m (2020 autflow of E41m). 100 per cent renewable electricity and investing in tree planting

As at 30 October 2021, access to liquidity was £357m being projects to neutrzlise residual emissions.

cash on depasit of £107m and the undrawn RCF. Qver the next few years, we intend to extend this approach to our
international operations and encourage our supply chain to join
us on the pathway ta net zero. We will be seeking independent
assessment and approval of our carbon targets from the Science

The Board has announced that it will not be paying a dividend
inrespect of the financial year ending 31 August 2021

The Group's approach to capital allacation remains unchanged. Based Targe! Initiatve in the next year.
* ’”:QSH”Q in our existing business and in new opportunities We continue 1o facus on more environmentally responsibie
:‘; fre_twf_ see altractive rates of return ahead of the cost sourcing practices and we have removed plastic glitter from all
apiia L _ our own-brand ranges. This is in addition to our work to redesign
* re-establishing a dividend for our shareholders; " and remove plastic packaging from our seasonal ranges
* undertaking attractive value-creating acquisitions in strong wherever possible.
and i ; - .
growing marketsiand One of the greatest impacts of the pandemic has been the
* retyrning surptus capital to shareholders by way of increasing gap in children’s literacy levels. We are therefore
share buybacks. proud to continue our partnership with the National Literacy
in normalised conditions, we have a leverage target of between Trustat such an irmportant time.
0.75x and 1.25¢ EBIT . L
x ESITOA We are comrnilted to continuing to play our part to address some
of the key challenges facing society and the envirgnment over the
3 Alernatve Performance Measure defined and explained in Lhe Glassary on page 154 years ahead.

4 Unidrawn as at t0 Navernber 2021
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Strategic report

Review of operations

Total Travel

Highlights

Revenue

£401m

(2020: £553m)

Headline trading loss’

£(39Im

{2020: £(33Im

Total revenue

(27)%

(2020: [32)%

Retail selting space (sq ft '000s] and Number of stares?

|

In Travel, we have focused on
initiatives within our control that have
supported us in the immediate term,
and put us in a good position to
emerge operationally stronger as
our markets recover.”

Allernative Performance Measure delined and explained in the Glassary on page 154

? Travel slores include molorway and internalional joint ventures ard Iranchise unils and
excluds kiosks ih China and india. and Wild Cards and Gilts in Australia

3 Equivalent month in 2019

Performance review 2020/21

Our Travel business comprises three divisions: UK, North
America INA} and Rest of the World {ROW). Going forward

we will split Travel into these three segrnents when reporting

our results.

Covid- 19 cantinueg to significantly impact the business acioss all
our markets. This has resulted in a total Headline trading loss' in

the year of £39m [2020: loss of £33m). Total revenue was £401m
{2020 £553m), down 27 per cent compared to the previous year.

Headline trading [toss]f

Trading |loss)/profit! profit

£m IFRS té pre-IFRS 16 Revenye

200 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Travel UK (29 m 132 (1] 195 344
North America Z (14} b (18} 166 16
Rest of the 17 2 [13) (14} 40 93
World
Total Travel {“g) 271 B39 (33 0 553

In atl our markets, we have focused on initiatives within our
control which support us in the immediate term ang put us
in a good posilion to emerge operationaily stronger as our
markets recover:

i. Business development and winning new business
We da this through building and managing relationships with
all our landlord partners to win new space, improve the guality
and amount of space, develop new formats and extend
contracts. As at 31 October 2021, we had over 100 stares won
and yet to cpen across our global Travel business, including
22 InMotion stores in UK air.
ii. ATV growth and spend per passenger
We do this through our forensic attention 10 space, €ross
category promotions, merchandising. stare layouts and
store refits.
. Category development
We do this by developing adjacent product categories relevant
for our customers, such as health and beauty and electrical
accessories ranges; and expanding existing categories,
e.g. premium food ranges.

iv. Minimising costs
We remain focused on cost control and munimising our cost
base to reflect the level of sales in each channel and country
whilst retaining our ability to trade as recovery occurs.

As restrictions have eased, we have seen & gradual improvement
in passenger humbers, led first by domestic travel and then
short-haul. We expect long-haul travel Lo return last.

Consensus of industry forecasts including the Airports Council
Internationat [ACI) expect passenger numbers to return to 2019
levels by 2024, although the speed and shape of the recovery
remains unclear and variable. We concur with this view of

the recovery.
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As at 31 August 2021, our global Travel business, including

MRG and InMotion, aperated from 11664 units [31 August

2020: 1,374 units). Of these, 996 were apen as at 31 October 2021.
Outside of the UK, as at 31 August 2021 we are present in over
100 airports and 30 countries with 291 stores in North America,
B4 stores in Europe. 98 in the Midale East and India and 122 1n
Asia Pacific.

Excluding franchise units, Travel occupies 1.0m square feet,

Travel UK

Our Travel UK business continued to be impacted by a significant
decline in passenger numbers as a result of government-
imposed travel restrictions in place throughout the financial year.
Total revenue n the year was £195m. [2020: £344m], down 43 per
cent on the previous year. Compared to 20193, revenue in air was
17 per cent, our hospital channel was 76 per cent, and rail was
32 per cent. This resulted in a Headling trading loss' of £32m
{2020: loss of £1m).

While first half trading in Travel UK was impacted by lockdown
restrictions, quarantine measures, and resultant reduced
passengers on public transport, we saw encouraging signs of
recovery across all gur channels in the second half as restrictions
were progressively eased. This improved performance has
continued inio the new financial year. Revenue i September 2021
was 60 per cent. In October 2021, revenue was 71 per cent of
2019 revenue, with air at 59 per cent, hospitals at 92 per cent and
rail at 74 per cent. :

In air, we saw a significant improvement in passenger nurnbers
in the second half as restricticns eased and more countries were
added to the UK Gevernment’s green list. We saw an
improvement in our hospital perfermance, with higher levels of
visitors, as hospitals returned to more general medical care

with maore elective surgeries. Similarly, we saw an improved
performance in our rail business as restrictions eased over the
summer months and commuter traffic increased. Since the
beginning of the new financial year, we have seen a notable shift
in rall passenger numbers with strong performances particularly
over the weekends and an improving weekday performance,
albeit still below pre-pandemic levels.

We have worked hard across all our channels to deliver against
our plan, focusing on key prionties within our control. All three
channels saw a double digit increase in ATV during the year.

As at 31 August 2021, Trevel UK operated from 571 stores of
which 518 were open as a1 31 Oclober 2023, Over the next three
years, we expect to open an additional ten to 15 stares each year

Air

In Air. where leisure passengers have been the most impartant
customer segment before and during the pandemic, we have
continued to build on our strong position in this channel,
including successtully winning al! the technology stores across
UK airports, including LLondon Heathrow, London Gatwick and
London Siansted airports. These business wins comprise

30 stores and will trade under the InMgtion brand. Combining the
learmings and expertise from our InMotion stores in the US, these
stores will provide a first-class customer service experience and
showcase a range of premium brands, such as Apple, Bose and
Samsung, as well as an extensive range of tech accessaries.

As at 31 October 2021, we have eight [nMation slores trading in
UK airports. These include a combined WHSmith and InMotion
store at London Stansted airpart which forms part of a format
trial, combining under one roof a news, books and convenience
offer by WHSmith with a technology range from inMotion.

Sirnilar to our flagship store at London Heathrow Terminat 2,

this stare boasts a large digital fascia which complements further
digital signage in store, creating an attractive look and feel while
promating key offers and products. While it is still early days.
there is scope to further develop this new combined format
across our existing large airport stores going forward. In addition,
we will launch a new reserve and collect service Later this year in
our new InMation stores ta provide our customers with another
guick and convenient way to shop.

1iodas nbajes)g

Technology and accessories is a strong growth market and

in a fully recovered travel market we would anticipate that these
stores will deliver c.£8Cm of incremental sales per year.
Investment in capex and working capitat relating to these stores
in the year witl be ¢ £18m, We expect most of the remaining
stores to open by the end of the first half of the current

financial year

We have also continued to invest in our stores, develop new
formats and win new business in this channel. This has included:
major refits across Londen Heathrow Termnal 5 to our store of
the future” format, the opening of three stores in the new
terminal at Manchester airport in Qctaber 2021, our first shared
space store with M&S Food at Liverpool Airpart, the operung of

a new standalone Bookshop at London Heathrow Terminal 2,
and, under a franchise agreement, new Costa Coffee stores in
Aberdeen and Southampton airports

Our ongoing investment in format development puts us in a
stronger position to win more new business while benefiting
frorm higher levels of customer penetration, delivering a greater
return on our space. Going forward, we expect more space to
become available.

Category development remains a key part of the strategy and we
have made good progress in the year, extending our ranges into
new calegaries such as health and beauty, tech accessories,
premium souvenirs and premium food trials. The premium food
trials include YO! Sushi and Crussh which have delivered a 25 per
centincrease in ATV and have been rolled out to further stores.

As expecied, we have seen a faster retura of leisure passengers
over the period. We saw another step change in sales over the
hatf-term holiday in October, with sales at 70 per cent of the
cormnparable period in 2019.

During the year, we have also successfully extended a number
of key contracts.
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Strategic report

Review of operations continued

Hospitals

The Hospitals channel is an important channel for us and it is
our second largest channel by revenue in Travel UK. While sales
were clearly impacted in the first haif of the financial year,

with no hospital visitors and elective surgeries cancelled,

we saw an improvement in the second half as restriclions eased
and these stores performed well. This strength in performance
has extended to the new financial year with sales in October

at 92 per cent of 2019 levels.

The hospital market continues to grow with additional
government investment and we are well placed to service the
increased demand for retail services in hospitals resulting from
extended operating times to compensate for department
backlogs. in addition, there are considerable space opportunities
for us to improve the retail offer across UK hospitals.

As at 31 August 2021 we operated from 138 stores in 100
hospitals and we believe there is scope for around 300 hospitals
in the UK that are able to support at least one of our three store
formats [(WHSmith, M&S Food and Casta Coflfeel.

This channel is a good example of how we continue 1o innovate
with a strong proposition tailored to each location, and a broad
suite of formats and brands; including most recently, our first
WHSmith store with a Post Office in Travel.

As at 31 August 2021 we operated 49 M&5 standalone or
shared space stores across hospitals, including a recently
opened M&S Café at St Thomas’ hospital in London.

L.ooking 8head, we would expect Lo return to opening on average
circa ten new stares each year in this channel over the
medium term.

Rail

Rail remains an attractive channel. According to the Department
for Transport, pre-pandemic, rail had approximately 3.7bn
passenger journeys with leisure passengers accounting for
around 40 per cent of these journeys.

During the year, we have seen a gradual improvement in sales as
restrictions have eased Caoncourse data for October supggested
passenger numbers in October were 66 per cent of 2019 levels.
Revenue in rail in Cctober was at 74 per cent of 2019 tevels.

As we have done across alt our channels, we continue to focus
an driving ATV and we have seen some good results with a

€ 25 per cent increase from expanding categories lsuch as
premium food as we have in airl and changing store layouts.

We also continue to invest and develop new formats in this
channel. We have recently opened our first shared space store *
in rail with M&S Food at Bristol Templermeads Station. While it
is still early days, both customer and tandiord feedback has
been positive.

1 Allernatwe Performance Measure delined and explained in the Glossary an page 154
7 Excludes one-oll integration cosls. See Nale &
¥ includes proforma MRS for 2019

In addition, we will be launching a new ‘blended essentials
store at Euston Station in Lendon later this manth. This store

" witl combine our traditional news, books and convenience offer

with electrical accessaries, health and beauly products and
a pharmacy.

North America

We saw a strong performance from North America, where there
was a steady recovery in passenger numbers and also visitors to
Las Vegas over the spring and summer months. Total revenue for
the year in North America was €166m {2020: £116m, with a
Headkine trading profit' of £6m (2020, loss of £18m]. The Headline
trading profit' of €6m? reflects the recovery in passenger
numbers and tight cost control inctuding the benefits from
merging the MRG and InMotion head offices into Las Vegas.

The growth opportunities in North America are substantial.

The US is the largest travel retail market in the world with annual
sales. pre-pandemic, at $3.2bn. Approximately 85 per cent of
passenqers are domestic, with leisure passengers the biggest
segment. TSA [Transportation Security Administration) data
continues to show the gradual recovery in passenger numbers
week on week, with passenger numbers at the end of October
2021 at 84 per cent of 2019 levels.

MRG has a strong track record of winning new business and we
have 58 new stares (including InMotion) won and due 1o gpen in
North America over the next three years with 17 stores won this
financial year. including signilicant wins at major US airports.
During the year, MRG opened eight airport stores, including
stores at La Guardia and San Francisco airports. InMotion has
an excellent store portfolio with 117 stores tocated across

41 airports in North America and three stores in Resorts.
During the year, InMotion opened seven stores, including three
inMotion stores in Resort locations.

Differentiated from its competitors by its strategy of developing
highly customised retail experiences tailored to local customers
and landlords, which we also now use in tenders around the
world, MRG has a highly successful and proven business model.
The combination of WHSmith, MRG and InMation now enables
the Group to participate in the entire North Armerican airpgrt
specialty retail market. We expect a substantial amount of retail
space to be offered for tender cver the next ten years.

Outside of the airport business, the Resorts channel continues
to be resilient. MRG are a leading player in this channel in

Las Vegas and olher resorts with very longstanding relationships
and a significant amiount of expertise. The Resorts channel has
similar dynamics to our Travel business with a high nurnber of
shart-stay visitors who tend to stay around the Las Vegas Strip
and Fremant Street areas, where most of our stores are located.
This market has proven resilient as a leisure {ocation over the
summer with cccupancy levels according to the Las Vegas
Convention and Visitors Authority at 87 per cent of 2019 aver
July and August. Whilst many people drive to Las Vegas, we are
also seeing an increase in passenger numbers at McCarran
International Atrport. ‘
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Our sales performance has reflected these trends with overall
sales in North America at 90 per cent® af 2019 levels in October.
We are currenily trading from 264 stores [151 MRG and

113 InMotion).

We continue to invest in digital technology to enhance the
custocmer experience in our stores, and we will be opening

our first frictionless, check-out free store in the coming weeks.
The WHSmith branded store will provide US customers with

a quick and easy way to shop using Amazon's Just Walk Out’
technology. .

Rest of the World

Total revenue for the year in ROW was £40m [2020: £93m), down
57 per cent versus the previous year. The Headline trading loss’
for the year was £13m [2020: loss of £14m).The ROW has seen
broadly similar trends to the UK, with passenger numbers
significantly down year an year. The pace of recovery has varied by
gebgraphy, as expected, with Europe and the Middle East the best
performing regions in the second hatf. As we have done in Travel
UK, we remain focused on areas within our control, including
increasing ATY.

As this market recovers, we expect to see more space become
avallable. Qur very low market share of the News Books and
Convenience market outside of the UK and NA means there is
significant opportunity to grow this business further. We also see
good opportunities to win new business in the technology market
under our InMotion brand. We are delighted to have been
awarded preferred bidder status for two InMation stores at Dublin
Airport. This win in a sigroficant European airport will bring the
total number of InMotion stores in the Rest of the World to ten.

As at 31 October 2021, we had 214 stores trading [c.70 per cent
of the total

During the year we opened 17 new stores. In addition, we won
21 new stores, including significant tenders at Adelaide Airport,
Australia. Melbourne Airport Terminal 1 and Bati.

Intotal, as at 31 August 2021, we operated 304 stores [2020: 307).
40 per cent are directly run, 52 per cent are franchised with the
balance being joint ventures. We will continue to use these

three economic models flexibly in order to create value and

win new business.
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Strategic report

Review of operations continued

High Street

Highlights .

Revenue

£485m

(2D20: £4468m]

Headline trading prolit / {loss)’

£19m

{2020: toss £110)lm]

Total revenue

+4%
©[2020: 1191%)

Retail selling space [sq ft '000s! and Number of stores?

During the year, we have acted quickly
and taken a number of actions which

means the cashflow and profits of this
business are robust and sustainable.”

1 Alernative Perlormance Measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154

2 _Exr.lul?ing 1 Cardmarket store that has nol yel ctosed (2020: 3 Cardmarke! staresl and
including branches in Guernsey and lhe fste of Man

Performance review 2020/21

Our High Street business comprises our store portfolio on UK
high streets and includes our websites whsmith co.uk, cultpens.
com and our personalised greeting cards and gifts business,
funkypigeon.com. During the year, High Street delivered a
resilient performance with Headtine trading profit' of £19m
{2020: toss of £10m| on revenue of £485m, four per cent higher
than 2020. Trading profit! including IFRS 16 was £36m

(2020: toss of £4m] We managed the business tightly in an
uncertain trading environment, keeping focused on costs and
cash generation.

The market has changed significantly during the pandemic,
resulting in a shift in consumer behaviour over the past

18 months. High street footfall is down 25 per cent versus 2019
Levels with internet retailing grawing. The speed of this change
has accelerated during the pandemic. As a consequence, we
have acted quickly to this changing market in a number of ways:

* We have reviewed our categories and extended them where
appropriate to ensure we have greater relevance in this market
and where competitors have closed. New categories include
working from hame ranges and tech accessories, and we have
increased our ranges of cards where competition
has weakened.

* We have invested in our whsmith co.vk, funkypigeon.carmn and
cultpens.com wehsites where we are seeing significant growth.

* We restructured the cost base to reduce costs and also to
increase the level of flexibility in our business model, for
example labour costs in stores, head offices and the
distribution centres, and in occupancy costs reducing rent and
keeping leases short and flexible.

We closed 24 stores over the last 12 months where leases had
become uneconomic and now have a closure process where
the costs of closure are largely cash neutral. Whele closing
stores is not an easy decision to make for our colteagues or
the communities we serve, it is vital we retain a strong and
cash-generative high streel portlolio going forward.

The strategy we have in place in our High Street business
remains as relevant today as it has ever been, focusing on space
and category managerment, increasing rmargins and reducing
costs. Our stares are well lacated with 9% per centin prime
pitch locations.

We consider retail space as a strateqic asset and we utilise our
space (g maxirmse return in the current year, in ways that are
sustainable for future years. We have extensive and detailed
space and range elasticity data for every stare, built up over many
years and we utilise our space 1o maximise the return on every
metre drop of display space in every store. This approach
remains as appropriate today.

Driving efficiencies remains a core part of our strategy and

we continue to focus on all areas of cost in the business.

We achieved cost savings of €30m in the year. These savings
come from right across the business, mcluding rent savings

at lease renewal lon average over 50 per cent), which continue to
be a significant proportion, government business rates

holiday, marketing efficiencies and productivity gains from

our distribution centres.
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An additional £45m of cost savings have been identified over the
next three years of which £35m are planned for 2022.

Over the years, we have actively looked to put as much flexibility
into our store leases as we can, and this leaves us well positioned
in the current envircnment. The average lease length in our High
Street business, including where we are currently holding over at
lease end, is under two and a half years, We only renew a lease
where we are confident of delivering economic value over the life
of that lease We have ¢.430 leases duc for rencwal over the next
three years, including 130 where we are holding over and in
negotiation with our landlord.

As at 37 August 2021, the High Street business operated from
544 WHSMIth stores? (2020: 568] which occupy 2.6m sguare feet
[2020: 2. 7m square feet). 24 WHSmIth stores were closed in the
year [2020: eight},

Specialist websites

During the year, we have increased our investment and focus on
whsmith.co.uk and have seen rapid growth through investing in
the site. This has included improving customer conversion and
product presentation; broadening our approach to marketing:
and investing in fulfitment using our Swindon Distribution Centre.
This enables us to have a credible multi-channel offer which is
complementary for aur customers

Our specialist pen website, cultpens.com, has continued to
perform well. During the year, we have invested further in the
site, adding internatienal tunctionality to build on our existing
international sales, and we have extended our fulfilment centre
ta meet demand. In addition, we have continued to focus on our
luxury pen ranges with increased marketing investment in
ranges such as Montblanc.

Funkypigeon.corn celivered a record performance in the year.
Total revenue was £54m with EBITDA' of E14m for the year.

The market for greetings cards in the UK is substantial and
estimated at £1.6bn® with online penetration estimated at

c.15 per cent® with OC&C forecasting online growth of single
cards over the next three years, taking penetration to

c.20per cent’ of the card market by 2024. The UK greetings card
market has been stable with adults sending on average

20* greetings cards per person each year. We therefore see
significant growth oppertunities with funkypigeon com.

We continue to invest in the site. During the year, we have
developed the funkypigeon.com app to improve custemer
conversion, and invested in platform enhancements, including
improving our customer relatiorship management capability
We have further extended the fulfilment capability to meet
demand, supporting the signiticant increase in new custamers
over the past 18 menths, with a new production facility in
Swinden and leveraging the Group's existing assels. In addition,
we have strengthened the management tearm with a new
Managing Oirector

3 Company eslimales/QC&C 2019
4 Includes acquisitions and new wins

We have also recently launched a new next-day delivery service,
operational seven days a week, to further enhance our customer
proposition. Orders placed before 9:30pm will be fulfilted the
foltowing day. This has received very positive customer feedback.

jedaa a1batensg

Whilst the current year will see a lower sales and EBITDA

as we anniversary the lockdown periods, we believe there are
substantial opportunities to grow the plattorm further and
significantly grow sales and profits.

QOutlook

The Group has responded quickly to the changing trading
envirgnment despite the challenges and uncertainties faced
during the year. We have managed our cash position well,
refinanced our debt, and have sufficient Liquidity to capitalise on
the significant growth opportunities that have become available
as a result of the pandemic.

We continue to make good progress in winning new space in
Travel both in the UK. North America and the Rest of the World.
In UK air, we have now won 30 technology steres. These stores
will trade under the brand InMotion, further strengthening our
presence in this category in Travel. As well as the 117 stores in
North America, these 30 InMotion stores in the UK, including at
London Heathrow, L ondon Gatwick and London Stansted
arports, will make InMation the leading technclogy retailer in
travel locations. In addition, we are delighted to have been
awarded preferred bidder status for a further two InMotion stores
at Dublin Airport. :

We have also made good progress investing in our existing
stores, opening new formats and winning new business.

We anticipate further growth opportunities across all our
markets. All this puts us in a robust position to continue to
recover and emerge operationally strenger from the pandemic.

We are financially strang and are an important retail partner for
our travel (andlords As a result, we are well positioned to benefit
from further opportunities, including extending our user ¢lauses
to drive spend per passenger,

Our High Street business has delivered a robust performance
and is well placed to continue to generate cash fram its portfolio
of well-located stores and growing internet businesses.

Across our digital channets over the medium-ierm, we expect to
see strong growth, particularly from funkypigeon.com, and we
are welt positioned to grow this platform further.

Subject ta uncertainties in our markets, which continue to be
impacted by government actions, we are optimustic that we will
be able lo achieve 2019 sales levels in the current financial year*.

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

11 November 2021
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Strategic report

Financial review

White we will continue to plan cautiously,
we expect to continue to see improving trends

across all our key channels.”

Robert Moorhead
Chiet Financiat Gfficer and Chief Cperating Officer

Group

The Group generated a Headline loss before tax and non-
underlying items! of £55m (2020: £69m)] and, after non-underlying
iterns and IFRS 16, a Groug loss before tax of £116m

[2020: £280m). During the year, the Group received a total of
£17m from the UK Government's Job Retention Scheme and
similar schemes in other countries. The Group also benefited

The cash spend relating to non-underlying items in the 2021
financial year was £38m and mainly related te actiwty announced
in 2020. )

. See reconciliation of Headline net debt’ on page 18 for the

cash spend in the year ended 31 August 2021 in relation to
non-underlying iterns.

from the business rates holiday implemented by the UK {FRS ,r:f.';:is":" IFRS p:fpasgﬁ
Government which was worth £40m in the year. 2071 207 020 2020
Healdine' €m Rel. Intemea atement fncome slatement
IFRS pre-IFRS 16 Costs direcily attributable to Covid-19
£m : w1 NN an I8 |mpatrment (- 42 18 135 35
Travel trading loss' {29) (132 M Onerous leases 121, - 5 . nfa 13
North America trading ' : Sto IS | '
: ' : ck provisions, write-offs
profit/{loss) 2 (4] 6 18l ang otfler costs 13 3 6 15 5]
Rest of the World trading loss' | Restructurin [4) 9 9 25 25
71 (120 n3l Nal 9 :
Total Travel trading loss' 4e)  (27) (39 (33 Other property costs 12 - - e 2
High Street trading profit/iloss)! 36 [4} 19 (10] Seﬁfgzs;igc;itt?ﬁt;mh [5) ‘ & 3 - -
Group loss from trading ; '
operatians® ©® (31 20 (43} Cther no_n-underiymg costs : | "
Unaliocated costs’ 09l U7 nel  hy)  [rensecioncodts o 2 2 9 ;
- 1
Group operating loss (271 48) (39 1500 ::3;?;?0?5 ® M 3 3 3
Net finance costs 2] (200 D4l (9 : \
Pensions past !
Group loss before tax (51}  (68)  {55)  {69) service cost 8] - - 14 14
Non-underlying items 651  (212) b9} 157) 45 49 212 157
Group loss before tax {118} {280) (104) [22¢]

Non-underlying items'

ltems which are not considered part of the normal operating
costs of the business, are non-recurring and are exceptional
because of their size, nature and incidence, are treated as
nen-underlying items and disclosed separately. As in 2020, most
non-underlying items are directly attributable to Covid-19, and
are delailed in the following table. Most do not impact cash.

1 Allernative Performance Measure delined and explained in the Glossary on pape 156

Items 1-5 in the above table have arisen as a direct consequence
of Covid-19, and reflect the impact of lost revenues as a result of
store closures, and downward revisions to budgeted revenues
based on expectations of the rate of return to pre-pandermic
levels of footfall and passenger numbers.

(1) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assels

The impact on the Group’s operations of Covid-1? is expected to

continue during the next year and beyond. As a result, the Group

has carried out a review for potential impairment across the

entire store partfolio. The impairment review campared the

value-in-use of individual store cash-generating units, based

on managements’ assurptions regarding bikely future trading

performance taking into account the effect of Covid-19 to the

carrying values at 31 August 2021. Foltowing this review, a charge
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of £18m {2020: £55m)] was recorded for impairment of retail store
assets on a pre-IFRS 14 basis, and £42m (2020: £135m) on an
IFRS 16 basis which includes an impairment of right-of-use
assets of £27m (2020, £95m)

12) Onerous leases and other praperty costs

As a result of the impact of Covid- 19, the Group has carried out
a3 review of leases where the obligalions of those leases exceed
the potential econamic benefits expected to be receved under
the. This 1esulted in a charge far the year of t5m (2020: £13m).
This concept relates 1o pre-IFRS 16 numbers only and does

not exist under IFRS 16.

Other property costs of £12m in the prior year relate to
reinstatement liabilities for stores where the lang-term viability
has been impacted by Cavid-19. Under IFRS 16 these costs are
included in right-of-use assets and are therefore included within
the impairment figure.

(3) Stock provisions, write-offs and other

During the year, nen-underlying provisions of £3m have been
recorded against inventory, in addition to underlying provisions
of £13m, and relates to dated and perishable stack and stock
subject 1o obsolescence where the sell through rate has
significantly reduced due to store closures and lower footfall.
Other costs relate to international franchisees, and under IFRS
16 only, the derecognition of lease lisbilities relating to the
disposal of WHSmith France.

|4} Restructuring costs

The charge of £%m [2020: £25mi 1s principally attributable to
redundancies and restructuring costs following a review of store
operations across our High Street business, as a result of the
impact of Cavid-19 on footfall on the UK high street. These costs
are presented as a non-underlying item as they are part of a
Board-agreed restructuring programme, and are considered
material and one-off in nature.

[5) Costs associated with refinancing activity

Costs associated with refinancing include £1m of non-cash
tharges relating to unamortised fees connected with
extinguished liabilities, £3m of fees incurred in relation to
amendment and extension of the Group's previous financing
arrangements incurred in March 2021 prior to the issuance

of the convertible bond, and E£2m of protessional fees relating to
refinancing and debt structuring activity required as a resull of
Cowvid-19. Other fees incurred relating to refinancing activity have
been recognised in underlying finance costs or recognised as

a deduction from the value of liabilities recognised, and will be
amortised over the period of the arrangement through underlying
finance costs.

(6] Integration costs

Quring the year. the Group incurred further costs of £2m in
relation to the integration of MRG into the Group. and the
merging of the InMotion and MRG corporate offices intc Las
Vegas, which has now been completed. In the prior year,
transaction and integration costs of E20m were incurred in
relation to the acquisition of MRG.

(7] Amortisation of acquired intangible assets

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates to the
MRG and InMotion brands, which are recognised separately frem
goodwill. This amortisation is nat considered to be part of the
underlying operating costs of the business and has no associated
cash flows.
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(8] Pension past service cost

Past service cost of £14m was recogmised in the prior year.

This related to the equalisation of pension benefils between men
and womnen for the period from 1 April 1992 to 29 July 1993
{'Barber equalisation’).

A tax credit of £12m (2020: £25m)] has been recognised in retation
to the above items H£9m pre-IFRS 16 12020: £18mii.

Net finance costs
Headling'

IFRS pre-IFRS 16

tm 2021 2020 2021 2020
Interest payable on bani loans

and overdrafts ) 10 9 10 9
Interest on convertible bonds 4 - 4 -
Unwind of discount on onerous

lease provisions - - 2 -
Interest on lease liabilities 10 n -

Met finance costs © 24 20 1%

Net finance costs for the year were £16m [20320: E9m) with the
year on year increase reflecting the relinancing activity during
the year.

The interest on the convertible bends includes the accrued

. coupon and ¢.£2m on the non-cash accretion charge.

Looking forward, in the current financial year ending 31 August
2022, net finance costs will include the coupon an the convertible
bonds and ¢ .£8m of non-cash debt accretion charges.

The £2m non-cash unwind of discount an onerous lease
provisions relates to onerous lease provisions recognised in the
current and prior year as a result of Cowvid-19. This relates to
pre-IFRS 16 only and does not exist under IFRS 16,

Lease interest of £10m arises on lease Liabilities recagnised
under IFRS 16, bringing the total net finance costs under IFRS 16

to £24m (2020: £20m).

We expect finance costs on a pre-IFRS 16 basis to be
approximately £25m in the current year, with cash finance
costs approximately £10m lower than this. These costs are
considerably lower than had the April refinancing not occurred.

Tax

The effective tax rate' was 47 per cent on the loss before
non-underlying items made in the year {2020 23 per cent)

The effeclive tax rale is higher than the pricr year rate due to the
profile of losses incurred in the UK and overseas, and includes

a credit of £8m arising on the substantive enactment of a change
1n UK tax rate fromn 19 to 25 per cent. This new law was
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021

The tax rate on the IFRS 16 Group statutory loss was 31 per cent
[2020: 15 per cent].

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 17



Strategic report

Financial review continued

Duning the year, the Group received 5 corparation tax refund
of £10m following the carry back of 2020 losses against prior
year profits.

Fixed Charges Cover'
pre-IFRS 16

€m T 200
Headline net finance charges' . 1% ?
Net operating lease rentals [pre-IFRS 16) 151 210
Total fixed charges : 167 219
Headline ioss before tax' Is5) (69]
Headline profit before tax and . |

fixed charges! ' 12 150
Fixed charges caver - times 0.7x. 0.7x

Fixeq charges. comprising property operating lease rentals and
net finance charges, were covered 0.7 times (2020: 0.7 times) by
Headline profit before tax and fixed charges.

Loss per share

Headline loss per share, before non-underlying items' was 23.7p
[2020:44 2p) rellecting the reduction in the loss year on year.
Loss per share, after non-underlying items and including IFRS
16, was 62.6p 12020: 199.2p).

Cash flow

Free cash flow' reconciliation

i 2021 2020
Headline Group operating toss before

non-underlying items!' {39) (60
Depreciation, amortisation and ' '
impairment [pre-IFRS 1612 . 50 60
Non-cash tems A 8 3
Operating cash flow® ' 19 3
Capital expenditure : 164} (79]
Working capital [pre-IFRS 1612 ' 37. 40
Net tax refunded ' 10, 5
Net interest paid [pre-IFRS 16) ' (8) (7
Other [ - (3]
Free cash flow i 1% [41)

The free cash inflow! for the year was £14m. The operating cash
inflow was £19m [2020: £3m] driven by a good trading
performance from High Street. We continued to focus on
managing our working capital, meking appropriate buying
decisions for stores we have open, and generated an inflow of
£37m in the year, which also includes the working capital benefit
from the improved trading over the summer.

1 Alternative Performante Measure delined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
2 Excludes cash llow impacl of non-underlying items

Net corparation tax refunded in the year was E10m |2020: £5m)
following the carry back of 2020 losses against priar year profits,

Capital expenditure was £44m [2020: E79m). We continue to
invest tn strategically important projects, such as London
Reathrow Airport Terminat 5 and the new terrminal at Manchester
Airport, as well as opening stores around the wortd. We expect
capex spend for the current financial year to be around £100m.

Em 2021 2020
New stores and store development ' 17[- 34
Refurbished stores | 17 17
Systems ) ! 9 14
Other } 1 14
Total capital expenditure \ &4 79

Reconciliation of Headline net debt’

Headline net debt’ is presented on a pre~JFRS 16 basis.

See Note 19 of the Financial statements for the impact of IFRS 16
on net debt'.

As at 31 August 2021, the Group had Headline net debt' of £2%1m
comprising convertible bonds of £283m, term loans of £132m
{net of fees], £6m of finance tease liabdities [pre-IFRS 16) and net
cash? of £130m [2020: net debt of £301m, comprising term loan
of £400m relating to the acquisition of InMation and MRG, £9m
of finance lease liabilities and net cash of £108m).

Headline'
pre-IFRS 14

Em 2021 2020
Opening net debt ] (301§ (1801
Movement in year B

_Free cash flow : 14 141]
Dividends i - 47)
Pensions 3) 13}
Non-underlying items t {38) (20)
Net purchase of own shares for employee ’
share schemes . (2) (2
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash {
acquired - MRG/inMotion { 1 [314)
Net proceeds from placings ! ' - 3z
Equity component of convertible bond i 4. -
Other ‘ (3) [4)
Ctosing net debt ! (291} {301)
Cash ' 130 108
Term loans [net of fees) ! (132 1400)
Convertibte bond i (283} -
Finance leases { (6} A9

P 291 [301)

3 Headline Group operaling llossi/prolit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment lpre-IFRS 18] and siher nen-cash items
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In addition to the free cash flow, the Group paid defined benefit
pension funding of £3m (see Note 5 on pensions); and £38m of
non-underiying items which mainly relate to resiructuring costs
following the review of store and head office operatians,

as previously reported and charged to the income staternent

in the prior year.

As part of the Group's refinancing in April 2021, the Group issued
convertible bonds maturing in 2026. The convertible bonds raised
£327m which was used to partially pay down the existing £400m
ot term loans from both the Marshall Retail Group | MRG') and

- InMaotion acquisitions. The convertible bond is a compound
instrurment, which includes an equity option. As a consequence,
the debt is bifurcated inlo an equity component, reported in
equity. and a debt component. The debt component accretes up
to par over the Ufe of the bond, so for each 12 month period we
will have ¢.E8m non-cash debt accretion in finance costs.
In addition, the Group increased the RCF from £200m to £250m
and extended its tenor to April 2025.

Dn an IFRS 14 basis, net debt was £755m. winch includes an
additional £464m of lease liabilities.

Balance sheet

Headline*
IFRS pre-IFRS 16

£m 2021 220 20 020
Goodwill and pther
intangible assets 473 493, 474 495
Property. plant and equipment 174, 192 167 190
Right-of-use agsets Jz28 413" - -
Investments in joint ventures 2 2 . 2 2

977 1.100° 643 687
Inventories 135 150 138 150
Payables less recevables 214) (183 (23m (224
Working capital (79) (331 11020 (76}
Net current and deferred tax !
asset 56 28 A3 17
Provisions N A7 I VAN v i
Operating assets employed 940 1081, 559 401
Net debt (7550 851) (2913 1301)
Net assets excluding ' !
pension liability 185 230 268 300
Pension Liatulity : (3 [4]' (al {4)
Deferred tax asset on ' ! ; i
pension liability . 1 K 1 1
Total net assets 183 227y 266t 297

The Group had Headline net assets of £268m before pension
liabilities and associated deferred tax assets, £32m lower than
last year end reflecting the lower level of capex and the impact of
impairment reviews as a result of Covid,19. Headline net assets
after the pension liability and associated deferred tax asset were
£266m compared to £297m at 31 August 2020. Under IFRS 16 the
Group had net assets of £183m

Pensions

The latest actuarial revaluation of the main defined benefit
pension scheme, the WHSmith Pension Trust, was at 31 March
2020 at which point the deficit was E9m {31 March 2017 actuarial
revaluation deficit of £17m). The Group has agreed a continuation
of the annual funding schedule with the Trustees from March
2020 far the next five years, which includes the deficit recovery
contributions and other running costs, of just under £3m per
annum. During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group made
a contribution of £3m ta the scheme.

The scheme has been closed 10 new members since 1996 and
closed to defined benefit service accrual since 2007. The Lizbility
Driven nvestment [LDI) policy adopted by the scheme continues
to perform well with 100 per cent of the inflation and interest rate
risks hedged.

As at 31 August 2021, the Group has an IFRIC 14 minimum
funding requirement in respect of the WHSmith Pension Trust

of £2m (2020: €3m) and an associated deferred tax asset of £1m
(2020: €£1m) based on the latest schedule of cantributions agreed
with the Trustees. As at 31 August 2021, the scheme had an IAS
19 surplus of £284m (2020: surplus of £268m] which the Group
has continued not to recognise. There is an actuarial deficit due
to the different assumnptions and calculation methodalogies used
compared to those under IAS 1%, :

The I1AS 19 pension deficit en the relatively small UNS defined
benefit pension scheme was £1m (2020 £1m)].

Robert Moorhead
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer

11 Novermber 20
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Strategic report

Our performance

Key performance indicators

Revenue [Em)

Tatal revenue including retail sales.
whalesale sales to lranchisees, and
commission and fee income on
Luncession and franchise arrangements,

Total Travel

Headline (loss)/profit! [Em]

The below profit/(loss| measures are
stated on a pre-iIFRS 16 basis.

Travet Headline trading loss’

Headline Group loss

per share before
non-underlying items' (p]
Diluted and stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis.

£401m

£(39)m

{2020; £553m] (2020: €133)ml
High Street Headline trading
High Street profit/[loss)’

£485m

{2020. £448m!

£19m

(2020: €(10im!

Headline Group (tossl/profit before tax

Group and non-underlying items'
{2020: £1.021em| (2020: £1&9)m)

(23.7)p

(2020: [44.2]p]

Free caéh flow' (Em)

Free cash flow is defined as net cash
inflow from operating activities before the
cash flow effect of non-underlying items
and pension funding, less capital
expenditure. See reconciliation of free
cash flow on page 18.

£14m

12020: £[41)em|

Dividend per share (p)
Total dwidend per share.

Nil

[2020: N1

1 Allernalive Performance Measure delined ard explained in the Glossary en page 154
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Risk management framework

Our nsk management framework is designed so that material
business risks throughout the Group can be identified, assessed
and effectively managed. This framework incorporates the
following core elements:

Mentify - Risk mapping to identify emerging issues:
- Risk registers are compiled by each
business function,

Assess - Evaluating the potential impact and determining
the likelihood of risk occurrence;

Mitigate - Agreeing actions to manage the identified risks
and ensuring appropriate contrals are in place;

Monitor - Maintaining continued oversight and tracking
the effectiveriess of the controls.

All principal business functions compile risk registers and
summary risk maps to identify key risks, assess them in terms of
thew likelihood and potential impact, and determine appropriste
control strategies to mitigate the impact of these risks, taking
account of risk appetite. The ongoing momtoring of this
framework is averseen by the respective Business Risk
Committees and the Group Audit Commitiee.

During the year, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group's nsk management and internal controls systems.

This review included the discussion and review of the risk
registers and the internal controls across all business functions,
as part of an annual exercise facilitated by the Internal Audit
team, Ouring the year, the Board also recewved presentations
frorm managernent on specific risk areas such as the impact

and actions taken in relation to Covid-19, cyber risk. international
expansion, the ongaing risk monitoring processes and
appropriate mitigating contrels.

Board review of principal risks and uncertainties

The Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the emerging
and principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, inciuding
those that would threaten its business model, future
perfarmance, solvency or liquidity. Those emerging and principal
risks are described on the following pages, along with
explanations of how they are managed and mitigated. The Group
recognises that the profile of nsks constantly changes and
additiona! risks not presently known, or that may be currently
deemed immaterial, may also impact the Group's business
objectives and performance. Our risk management framework
is therefore designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and, as such, can only
provide reasonatle and not absolute assurance against these
principal uncertainties impacting on business performance.

Changes in principal risks compared to last year

The following section summarises the principal risks and
uncertainties agreed by the Beard. These incorporate further
information relating to the movement in the level of these risk
exposures during the year, to highlight whether, th our view,
exposure to each of the principal risks 15 increasing, decreasing
or remains broadly the same. Where the consequences of the
Covid- 19 pandemic may impact the business, we have
incorporated these cansiderations into our assessment in
relatian to each of these principal risk headings, in addition

to the specific commentary provided overleaf.
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Overriding risk impact from Covid-19

:Impact on Pﬁncipal risks and uncertainties

v

.!-!ow.theGréup hasresponded

Covid-19 is the most signiicant pre-eminent risk currently facing
the Group, impacting all aspects of the business, our customers,
colleagues, stores, supply chain and offices, and across all of the
markets in which we operate. Areas of uncertainty include:

the extent and timing of lifting of International and local travel
restrictions and hence the reopening of our steres, the speed and
extent of recovery in the travel industry more widely and the
resulting impact on passenger numbers and sales; and the speed
and confidence of customers in restoring previous shopping habits
across all of the channels in which we operate.

To the extent that the pandemic may have a longer and more
prolonged impact on global economic conditions, this may have a
further negative impact on consumer spending, custormer footfall
and sales, the efficient working of our supply chain, and therefore
create fyrther potential disruption to all of aur areas of aperation.
During the course of the pandemic, the safety of our customers

and colleagues has been at the forefront of our response and has
shaped all of the measures we have taken across the business.

In order te limit the impact of the pandemic on the Group we have
continued to pursue a series of mitigating actians te protect our
customners, calleagues, and our financial position.

These have included:

* Maintaining regular communications across the kxecutive tearn
ta manitor all aspects of our response;

« Qperating some of cur steres continuously through the lockdewns
serving those communities which most need our services,
including slores in hospitals supporting NHS key workers, and
Post Qffices providing vital postal and banking services in the
communities where we operate;

= We have underiaken a phased reopening across the rest of our
giobal store estate, ensuring that appropriate safety measures are
in place, including hand santtiser stations, providing PPE for
colleagues, protective screens at till points. and enhanced
cleaning regimes;

* Waorking with our suppliers to adjust our sourcing and supply
chains to mitigate any disruption;

» Ensuring our offices and distribution centres are Covid safe
with reduced capacity reflecting controlled access and exit,
freely available hand sanitiser and a rigorously maintained
cleaning regime;

» Reducing the Group's cost base, capex and discretionary
expenditure and managing our cash flow and ongoing
commitments wherever possible;

» Restructuring our corporate offices and stores to increase
efficiency, speed of decision-making and reftecting lower levels
of sales;

» Engaging with landlords to manage rental obligations and property
costs, and agree amended lease terms where possthle,

* Successfully implementing our existing business continuity plans.
to facilitate a transition to more agile working, with remote access
to core systerns and use of technology to manage ongoing .
cornmunications;

» Re-financing to provide medium-term funding through a
convertible bond and term loans, and increasing our access to
tiquidity; ang

= Continuing to adapt our Covid response reasures to comply with
developing government and requlatory guidance in each of the
territories in which we operate, as this continues to be updated.
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Changes to the risk profile due to Covid-19
The grid below explains where the potential risk implications of the pandernic link with, and impact upon, our ather principal risks
that are further summarised on the pages that follow.

Hedad xibajeayg

"Relevant principat risk

Covid-19 impact

Economic, politicat,
competitive and market risks

The Group may fail 1o effectively respond to the pressures of an increasingly changing retail
ervironment, where Covid- 19 matenally changes consumer spending patterns and habits, such as
shifting from physical ko anline shopping, and from any longer-term damage lo the travel industry
and reductions in the level of international travel. .

Brand and reputation

The reputation of the brand may be impacted in the event that customers were to percaive that our
store environments are insufficiently safe and secure in response to the continuing experience of
the virus

Key suppliers and supply chain
management

Given that large elements of our sourcing rely on facteries and shipment from the Far East, these
supply chains and principal product flows could be negatively impacted by any interruptions due to any
further shutdown of factories and supply routes or international outbreaks.

Store portfolio

The Group's performance 15 reliant upon trading fram our wide portfolio of premier shopping locations,
where our perfarmance may be negatively impacted in the event of further stare closures, constraints
on trading and travel restrictions, or further extensions in the scale and nature of lacal lockdowns.

Business interruption

The business could be negatively impacted by any concentration of illness in a particular location such
as heatl office, distribution centres or particular stores, should these need to close tempararily and
large numnbers of staff were required to self-isolate.

Reliance on key personnel

The business could be negatively impacted in the event that any of the senior leadership team were to
fall ill or be personally impacted by the virus.

fnternations( expansion

The business cantinues ta grow outside of the UK. Such ongoing growth could therefore be negatively
impacted from further enforced store closures, constraints on trading and the tonger-term continuation
of internaticnal travel restrictions or curtaiiment in passenger numbers.

Treasury, financial and credit

Significartly reduced trading over an extended period from further cutbreaks of new Covid strains and
the inability for effective vaccines to be distributed and keep pace with newly identified vanants could

risk management

cause further negative impact on the Group's financial position in the longer term.
Cyber risk, data security and Further risks from significant increases in industry wide phishing activity and cyber threats could pose
GOPR compliance additional risks of potential systems interruption.

Environment and sustainability

Continued uncertainty and business interruption §rom the Covid- 19 pandenwc could provide further
challenges to the delivery of our ongoing sustainability programme.
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

The table below summarises our other continuing Principat risks and uncertainties.
Key: Change in risk level @ higher @ no change @ lower

Risk/description

Mitigation

Change in risk levet

Economic, political, competitive and market risks

The Group operates in highly competitive markets and
in the event of failing to compete effectively with travel,
convenience and other similar preduct category
retailers, this may affect revenues obtained through our

stores. Failure to keep abreast of market developments,

incluging the use of new technology could threaten our
competitive position.

Factors such as the economic climate, levels of
household disposable income, seasonality of sales.
changing demographics, customer shopping patterns
and raw material costs could impact on profit
performance.

The Group may alse be impacted by political
developrnents both in the UK and Internationally such
as from the UK's exit from the European Union,
regulatory and tax changes, increasing scrutiny by
competition autherities and other changes in the
general condition of retad and travel markets

The Group’s performance is dependent on the levels of
consumer confidence and upon effectively predicting and
quickly respanding to changing consurmer dernands, bothin
the UK and Internatianally, The Group conducts customer
research to understand current demands and preferences
in order to help translate market trends into saleable
merchandise and store formats.

The Group continues te momitor the implications arising from
the UK's exit fram the European Union and is a member of &
number of key industry bodies which provide insight and
updates on this process.

®.

Uncertainties
relating to
nngoing
effects of
Covig-1? an
store trading,
footfall, travel
restrictions
and consumer
confidence
and shopping
habits.

Brand and reputation

The WHSmith brand is an important asset and failure to
protect it from unfavourable publicity could materially
damage its standing and the wider reputation of the
business, adversely affecting revenues.

As the Group continues to expand its convenience food
offer in travel locations. associated risks include
comphance with food hygiene and health and salety
procedures, product and service guality, envirconmental
and ethical sourcing, and associated legislative and
regulatory requirements.

The Group monitors the Carnpany’s reputation, brand
standards and key service and complance measures to
ensure the maintenance of operating standards and
regulatery compliance across all our aperations.

We undertake regular custorner engagement to understand
and adapt our product, offer and stare environrment.

We operate a framework for manitoring comgliance with alt
regulatory, hygiene and safety standards, encompassing
supplier and store audits and clearly defined sourcing
policies and procedures. Qur corporate responsibility
programme monetors our performance in respect of our key
themes of the Marketplace, Workplace, Enviranrnent and
impact on the Comrnunity.

'Key suppliers and supply chain management

The Group has agreements with key suppliers in the
UK. Europe and the Far East and other countries in
which it operates. The interruption or loss of supply of
core category products from these suppliers to our
stares may affect our ability to trade.

Quality of supply issues may alsc impact the Group's
reputation and impact our ability to frade.

The Group conducts risk assessments of all its key suppliers
to identify alternatives and develop contingency plans in the
event that any of these key suppliers fail.

Suppliers are required to comply with the conditions laid out
i our Supplier Code of Conduct that covers areas such as
production methods, employee working conditions and
quality control.

The Group has contractual and other arrangements with
numerous third parties in support of its business activities.
None of these arrangements alone are individually
considered to be essential to the business of the Group.

®

Uncertainties
relating to
sourcing from
Far East
locations and
distribution
nta qur key
markets.
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Risk/deseription

Mitigation

Change in risk level

Store portfolio -

bev e

The quabity and location of the Group’s stare portfolio
are key contributars to the Group's sirategy. Retailing

. fromn a portfolio of good quality real estate in prime
retail areas and key travel hubs at commercially
reasonable rates remains critical to the performance
of the Group.

All ¢f High Street’s stores are held under operating
leases, and consequently the Group is exposed, to the
extent that any store becomes unviable as a result of
rental costs Most Travel stores are held under

concession agreements, on average for five to ten years,

although there is no guarantee that concessions will be
renewed or that Travel will be able to bid successfully
for new contracts.

The Graup undertakes research of key markets and
dermographics to ensune that we continue to accupy prime
sites and identify appropriate locations to acquire new space.

We maintain regular dialogue and good relationships with alt
our key landlords. The Group also conducts extensive
customer research and analysis to gather teedback on
changing consumer requirements, which is shared with
lzndlords as part of this ongoing relationship management
programme.

©

Business intertuption

An act of terrorism or war, or an outbreak of a
pandemic disease, could reduce the number of
custormers visiting WHSmith autlets, causing a decline
in revenue and profit. [n the past, our Travel business
has been particularly impacted by geopolitical events
such as major terrorist attacks, which have led to
reductians in customer traffic. Closure of travel routes
both planned and unplanned, such as the disruption
caused by natural disasters or weather-related events,
may also have a material effect on business.

The Group operates from three distribution centres
and the closure of any one of them may cause
disruption to the business.

In common with most retail businesses, the Group
also relies on a number of important IT systems.
where any system performance problems, cyber risks .
or other breaches in data security could affect our
ability to trade.

The Group has a framewark of operational procedures and
business centinuity plans that are regularly reviewed,
updated and tested. The Group alse has 2 comprehensive
insurance programme covering our global assets, providing
cover ranging from property darmage and product and public
liability, to business interruption and terrorism. Back-up
facilities and contingency pians are in place and are reviewed
and tested reqularly to ensure that business interruptions
are minimised.

The Group's IT systems receive ongoing investment to
ensure that they are able to respond to the needs of the
business. Back-up facilities and contingency plans are in
place and are tested regularly to ensure that data is
protected from corruption or unauthorised use.

®

Interruptions
occurring due
to the ongoing
effect of
Covid-19,
causing
ternporary
closure of
offices and
stores.

Reliance on key personnel

The performance of the Group depends on its ability to
conlinue to attract, motivate and retain key head office
and store staff The retail sector is very competitive and
the Group's personnel are frequently targeted by other
companies for recruitment,

The Group reviews key roles and succession plans.

The Rermuneration Committee monitors the levels and
structure of remuneration for directers and semor
management and seeks to ensure that they are designed to
attract, retain and motivate the key personnel to run the
Group successfully.

(nternational expansion ... .. ... ca

The Group continues to expand internationally. In each
country in which the Group operates, the Group may be
irmpacted by political or regulatory developments, or
changes in the economic climate or the general
condition of the travel market.

The Group utilises three business models o manage

risk in our overseas locations: directly run, joint venture

and franchise.

The Group uses external consultants to advise on compliance
with international tegistative and regutatary requiremeants,

to monitor developments that may impact our operations in
overseas territories and to conduct reputational due diligence
on potential new business partrers. Our geographical spread
of actwity mitigates against the material concentration of risk
in any one area.

®

Continued
growth of
infernabonol
operations.
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk/description

Mitigation

Change in risk tevel

:Cyher risk and data security

-

The Group is subject to the risk of systerns breach or
data loss fram various sources including external
hackers or the nfiltration of computer viruses. Theft or
loss of Company ar customer data or potential damage
to any systems from viruses, ransomware or other
malware, or non-cormnpliance with data protectron
legislation. conidd result in fines and reputational
damage to the business that could negatively impact
our sales.

The Group employs a framework of IT controls to protect
against unauthorised access to our systemns and data,
including monitoring developments in cyber security.

This control framework encompasses the maintenance of
firewalls and intruder detection, encryption of data, reqular
penetration testing conducted by aur appointed external
quality assurance providers and engagement with third party
specialists, where appropriate.

We have a Steering Group overseeing our approach and
respanse to cyber risk, and monitoring our programme of
angoing cormpliance with the Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard and the GDPR.

@

Continuing
tcrease in
nurnber of
externally
reported
cyber attacks.

; Treasury, financial and credit risk management

The Group's exposure to and management of capstal,
liquidity, credt, interest rate and foreign currency risk
are analysed furiher in Note 22 on page 137 of the
financtal statements,

The Group alse has credit risk in relation to its trade
and other recewvables and sale or return contracts
with suppliers.

The Group's Treasury function seeks lo reduce exposures to
interest rates, foreign exchange and other financial risks,

to ensure sufficient liquidity is available to meet foresezable

needs and to invest cash assets safely and profitably.

The Group does not engage in speculative trading in financiat
instruments and transacts only in relation to underlying
business requirements. The value of any deposit that can be
placed with any approved counterparty is based on short-
term and long-term credit ratings and, in accordance with
the Graoup's treasury policy, it is lirted to a maximum of
£75m for each approved counterparty.

The Group's Treasury policies and procedures are
periadically reviewed and approved by the Audit Commuttee
and are subject to Group Internal Audit review.

The Group announced a refinancing in April, where the
Group issued £327m of convertible bands The proceeds
were used to pay £267m of term debt, [leaving £133m of
term debt remaining). £10m was used to pay the costs
assaciated with the refinancing and the residual £50m was
retatned by the Group to fund the apening of over 100 new
Travel stores won and yet to open over the next three years
and new growth opportunities.

As part of the refinancing, the Group also increased its
committed multi-currency revolving credit facility to £250m
[previausly £200m), pravided by an expanded syndicate of
lending banks, which is due to mature in April 2025,

Thus facility is currently undrawin.

Environment and sustainability

Ourinvestars, custorners and colleagues expect us to
conduct our business in a responsible and sustainahle
way. Clmate change is now recognised as a global
emergency Falure to deliver our stated sustainability
commitments coutd damage our reputation,
introduce higher costs and impact our ability to meet
strategic objectives,

Cur sustainability strategy, a Journey 10 a Better Business.
sets out policies, objectives and action plans to address our
key issues. It is overseen by Board and Executive level
committees. We are taking action across the business o
increase our climate resilience, have reduced carbon
emnissions for our UK estate to zero and have targets in place
to decarbonise our international estate and supply chain.

We continue to focus on more environmentally sourcing
practices, reducing and redesigning packaging where
possible and ensuring traceability for forestry preducts.

New risk.
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Assessing the impact of our principal risks on our strategic priorities
The tzble below maps our strategic priorities with our principal risks, to demanstrate where these risks may rmpact the ongoing

athrevernent of these strategic priorities.

Ecanomic,
Political, Key supptiers Treasury, ) )
competitiva and supply Reliance fimancialand  Cyberrisk  Environment
Covid-1% andmarket  Brand and chain Store Business on key International  credd risk and dgw n.nd )
pandemic risks repulation  management portilio  Interruption P { pansi L gement  security  sustainability
1. Travel
i. Winning new space/ v v v v v v v v v v v

developing new
formats in UK and
internationally

it. Managing our
space to meet the
changing needs of
our customers

iii. Driving Like-for-
like sales; increasing
average transaction
value and expanding
the range and
number of categories
we sell

iv. Expanding
profitability outside of
the UK

v. Growing InMotion

2. High Street
i. Optimise returns
on space

ii. Margin growth
from mix
management

lii. Cost efficiency

iv. Building anline
propositions and third
party partnerships
complementary to
our stores and
categories

J. Focused use
of cash
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Strategic report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Viability statement

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018,

the directors are required to issue a ‘viability statement” declaring
whether we believe the Company is able to continue to operate
and meet its liabilities over a period greater than 12 months,
taking into account its current position and principal risks.

The Group’s strategy is highlighted on page 4. The key factors are
In Travel

* driving like-for-like sales in existing stores through increasing
average transaction value, expanding the range, and number
of categonies we sell,

investing in store environments and layouts,

* a forensic store by store focus on space and
category management;

* winning new space and retaining existing space;

developing new formats;

expanding prafitably outside of the UK;

grawing InMotion, the leading glebal technology retaiter
in travel locations, and

investing in digital sclutions to enhance the

customer experignce.

In High Street:

= adopting a forensic store by store focus on space management
to optimise the returns from our core categories,
particularly stationery;

» driving margin growth through category mix management;

* reducing our cost base to reflect cur changing sales profile
and productivity inttiatives, and

= building cnline prepositions complementary lo our stores
and categories: funkypigeon com, cultpens.com and
whsmith.co uk.

The Strategic report incorporates plans at both the Graup and
operating division level. The plans consider the Group's cash
flows, committed lunding liquidity positions, forecast future
funding and key financial metrics.

A three-year period is considered the appropriate timeframe to
assess the Group's prospects as it will cover the impact of the
current Covid-19 pandemic and it is consistent with the Group's
strategic planning and review period.

Following the Group's refinancing, announced on 28 Agril 2021,
the balance sheet has been significantly strengthened.

The refinancing arrangements included a £250m multi-currency
revolving credit facility [RCF] (increased fram £200m) with an
extended rnaturity from December 2023 to April 2025, As at

31 October 2021, the Group had not drawn down on the RCF and
has £107m cash on deposit.

As part of the refinancing, the Group also raised £327m from the
issue of convertible bonds, of which £50m was retained by the
Group to fund the opening of over 100 new Travel stores won and
yet to open over the next three years, including thirty new
InMotion stores in Travel UK. The remainder of the proceeds, net
of costs, was used lo partiatly pay down the term loans from both
the MRG and InMotion acquisitions, teaving the Group with a
term loan of £133m. The maturity of the term loan has been
extended from 2023 to 2025, in line with the RCF

The directors have assessed the prospects of the Group over

the three year period, taking wnto account its recent historical
performance, forecasts, a robust assessment of the emerging
and principal risks facing the Group and mitigating factors, all of
which consider the impact of Covid-19 given its impact on the
Group's trading, In assessing viability, the directors considered
the position presented in the budget and three year plan recently
approved by the Board {ihe ‘base case’). These plans inctude
management’s forecast of the financial impact of the current
pandemic over the next three years.

in the context of the current challenging environment, we atso
used the same severe but plausible assumptions maodelled as
part of the going concern assessment [refer to page 103} with a
return to the base case in the three year viability assessment
period Under both these scenarios the Group would continue to
have sufficient liquidity headroom on its existing facilities and
would meet its covenant tests.

In order to understand the impact of an extrerne siress fest we
modelled the impact of an additional ten per cent sales decline
across the strategic growth areas of our business; Travel UK and
North America, following the lockdown modelled within the
severe but plausible scenario and without further mitigating
actions, Under these extreme circumstances, whilst liquidity
headroom on the existing facility exists, mitigating action would
be required in order to meet the covenant tests, We consider this
scenario 1o be highly unlikely and are confident in the Group’s
ahility to apply mitigating actions some of which would include

a reduction in capital expenditure, further restructuring and a
reduction in other discretionary spend.

As disclosed in the Strategic report on pages 21 to 28, the Board
has undertaken a robust assessment of the emerging and
principal risks facing the Group, including those that would
threaten its business model, future performance, solvency ar
liquidity. The process of ritigating and managing these risks is
described on pages 21 to 28 of the Strategic report.

Taking account of the above matters, and the Group's current
position and principal risks, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three-year period
ending 31 August 2024.
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Qur journey to a better business

Our strategy

Our customers and wider stakeholders expect us to be a
responsibie, sustainable business. We believe we can make a
meaningful contribution to & better society and a cleaner
environment, We have been serving customers for nearty

230 years and, to maintain their trust, we need to adapt to shifting
patterns in sustainable production and censumption and to
changes in the global environment in which we operate,

WHSmith has a long-standing commitment to high standards of
environmental, sacial and corporate governance. Our approach
has played an important rale in risk management, business
development and delivering the expectations of our stakehalders.

Our sustainability stralegy concentrates on those areas that our
stakeholders have told us are important and where we believe we
can make a meaningful difference. The three areas of planet,
pecple and communities provide the framework for our activities
and reporting, underpinned by a strang foundation of respansible
business principles and practices. We have defined a series of
objectives for each of these areas that will drive our activities at
least untit 2025.

Our lJourney to a Better Business

r

Climate change

Diversity and

& N\ 0o Y
2 || AN || <=
Planet People Communities

Packaging inclusian and literacy
and waste Human rightsin Supporting
Forests our supply chain local causes
Safetyand
wellbeing

Education

Principles and responsible practice

This year, the Board has taken the decision 1o set up a sub-
committee to monitor our ESG activities and performance.

It witl oversee the work of our Environmental, Sccial and
Corporate Governance [ESG] Steering Group, chaired by our
Group Chief Executive, which meets monthly to menitor progress
of our sustainability achvities. More detailed information,
including governance, performance data and future targets,

is available on our website and in our full Sustainability Report at
whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability/.

Planet

Urgent and sustained action is needed to address the threal to
the health of our planet. The impacts of climate change are
being felt around the world and long-term business success
Is dependent on a healthy and sustainable environment.

Qur Envirpnmental Policy, available on our website at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability, sets out our commitments to
minimise our business impacts on the planet. including those
relating to climate change, waste management and resource
use. We regularly review progress agaimnst our objectives and
targets and aim for continual improvement year on year.

Wedas nbajeng

Climate change

Climate change remains one of the mast pressing, challenging
issues facing our world and we acknowtedge we need tu play vur
part. We have a long-standing commitment to reduce carbon
emissions fram our operations and have been improving energy
efficiency and minimising fuel use for over a decade.

We are committed to implementing the recommendations of
the Task Force on Climate-related Financiat Disclosures {TCFD)
and continue to integrate them into our reporting. The following
section alsc fulfils our reparting obligations in relation to
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting [SECR).

Strategy and risk management

The Graup will be required to report under the TCFD framework
for the year ending 31 August 2022. Inline with the TCFD's
recommendations, as part of our progress towards adoption of
the framework we have perfarmed a qualitative scenario analysis
of the risks and opportunities that our business may face in 2030,
using two climate scenarios: a scenaria where the world
introduces the changes that are needed to limit global warming
to below two degrees: and a scenario where policy and regulatory
interventions are lmited, and glebal warming exceeds four
degrees. Qur quanititative assessment is ongoing, and based on
our qualitative assessment do not anticipate the impact of
climate change in the short-term to be material.

Under the below two-degree scenario, there would be
widespread interventions to limit global warrming, including the
imptementation of a glebal carbon price at a level which results
in universal change, a rapid shift in energy sector mix from fossit
fuels to renewables and a reversal of globat deforestation.
Afferestation and a rapid growth in biofuels may lead to pressure
on land for other uses. [n the transport sector. electric vehicles
would be widely adopted, there would be systemic improvements
in operations and logistics and international fiscal and regulatory
support would be increased for the use of alternative fuels for
road lreight and aviation.
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Strategic report

Our journey to a better business continued

Cur initial qualitative assessment of the main potential risks to
WHSmith under a below two-degree scenario include increased
operational costs from higher electricity and fuel prices caused
by a higher carbon price. There could be higher trading costs for
certain products because of more expensive raw materials
caused by land use pressures, together with policy disincentives
far carbon-intenswve or unsustainable materials such as
single-use plastics. Changes in consumer behaviour such as
reductions in business travel could lead to lower footfall in some
of our stores. A switch 1 lower-carbon products could lead Lo
reduced sales of seme of our current lines.

Under the four-degree scenario, the world fails to address
climate change, leading to global temperatures continuing to rise
to four degrees or more by the end of the century. There would be
no new policy or regulatory interventians and the physicat
impacis of climate change would be much greater under this
scenario. Winters would generally be warmer and wetter in the
Northern Hermisphere and there would be more frequent
extreme weather events such as heavy rainfall and heatwaves.
Water scarcity would be exacerbated in many regions and many
coastal cities would be inundated because of rising sea levels.

Under a gualitative assessment of a four-degree scenario,
incidences of major flaoding or extreme heat could have a
significant impact on our warehouses, stores ar distribution
networks. Changes in precipitation patterns could exacerbate
water scarcity, leading te shortages in key raw materials for
products such as bottled drinks ar paper, causing supply
disruption and the potential for higher costs. There could also
be higher costs to pay for renewable energy if demand oulstrips
supply. The pressure from customers and other stakeholders
for businesses to do more are also likely to be greater.

Our initial qualitative assesment shows that both scenarios
present potential financial and operational risks to WHSmith by
2030, predominantly due to increased costs. However, while these
risks would need to be managed. we would not have to matenally
change our business model. We are taking action to manage
climate-related risk by:

= investing in energy efficiency to reduce consumption, and
switching to renewable saurces of electricity;

oplimising route planning and logistics operations to minimise
fuel cansumption,

reviewing our risk management processes to ensure they
include the climate-risks identified in our scenario analysis;

* ensuring business continuity plans include any disruption from
major weather events, such as flooding and extreme heat;
factoring the impact of higher carbon prices into decision-
making for long-term projects; and

= continuing to diversify products and packaging away from
carbon-intensive single-use and hard to recycle

plastic materials.

Energy management

We have taken a number of measures to improve energy
efficiency in our buildings We continue te upgrade building
management systems across our estate to moniter energy
consumption and to optimise energy setlings for lighting. heating
and air conditioning to reduce consumption, whilst maintaining a
welcoming and comfortable environment for all. We are
replacing our current LED lights which are coming to the end of
their life with new equipment, investing in newer more efficient
refrigerators and introducing aercfoils to the front of our
refrigeration units to minimise additional energy consurmption

to deal with cold air losses. This year. we have switched

our electricity consumption in the UK {o 100 per cent

renewable electricity.

Climate change governance

Climate change is an important comgonent of WHSmith's
sustainability programmse which includes carbon emission
reduction targets for our own operations and our wider value
chain Our ESG Steering Group is respensible for climate change
related issues and for manitoring performance against ebjectives
and targets. Climate change forms part of a bi-annual update
report to the Board on our sustainability activities. in addition,
climate-related risks and opportunities are integrated inlo the
managementi processes and reporting frameworks which feed
into the Group Risk report to the Audit Committee as described
on page 52. This year, the Board introduced a new ESG
sub-committee, and oversight of climate change strategy

will be part of its remit.

Management of climate-related risks

Identification, assessment and management of the risks from
climate change follow our established risk management process,
as described on page 21. Emerging climate change risks are part
of the Brand and reputation principal risk on page 24 and the
Business interruption principal risk on page 25. These principal
risks are monitored by the Audit Cormmittee to ensure effective
management and risk mitigation through appropriate policies,
processes and performance improvements.,

Metrics and targets

WHSmith has a long history of reducing Scape 1 and 2 ernissions
in line with the trajectary needed to timit global warming to

1.5 degrees. Since 2007, we have reduced location-based Scope 1
and 2 emissions by over 60 per cent.

Last year we set a target to reduce Scope 1 and 2 emissions from
our UK buildings to net zero by the end of 2021 and from our
international buildings by the end of 2025. Our target included
emissions reductions from energy efficiency, investment in
energy saving equipment and a switch o renewable electricity.
Dnly once all these measures had been taken, would we use
investrment in third party carbon removal schemes, such as
afforestation, to neutralise any residual emissions. We achieved
the target for our UK operations for this year (see overleal].

Going forwards, we are amending our use of terminology to
reflect the latest guidance from international standards
organisations such as the Science Based Target Initiative {SBTI).
Our approach is in line with a 1.5 degree reduction pathway and
we will be seeking SBT! approval for our targets during the next
financial year.
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Our Scope 1 and 2 market-based carbon emissions decreased
this year to 6,684 tonnes {2020: 29,695 tonnes) of COse as a
result of:

* a reduclion in energy consumption because of store closures
due to Covid-1%;

* energy reduction measures such s investment in mote

efficient lighling and cocling systems;

a switch to 100 per cent renewable electricity contracts for all

sites where we purchase the power; and

investment in renewable electricity certificates to negate any
emissions from sites where landlords control the power supply.
All certificates were provided under the Renewable Guarantees
of Origin scheme, which is a UK and European regulated
initiative to provide transparency to consumers about the
proportion of electricity that suppliers source from renewable
generation The certificates were retired on our behalf to avoid
double-counting.

Emissions from our UK operations were 2,488 tonnes

(2020: 24,382 tonnes) of CO.e. These residual emissicns arise
from the combustion of natural gas and tc date, we have been
unable to remove them completely as alternative technologies
appropriate for our buildings do not yet exist. In order 1o
neutrabise these residual ermissions and reduce net emissions
from our UK buildings to zero, we purchased ¢arbon reduction
certificates from a Verifred Carbon Standard afforestation
scheme which s acting as a carbon sink for an equivalent
amount of emissions to the residual emissians from cur

gas supply.

The largest proportion of our overall carbon footprint lies within
our Scope 3 emissions and principally from the production of
goods and services which we procure from our suppliers.

We undertook analysis to estimate these emissions in 2019,
when sales were at pre-pandemic levels and ermissions were
therefore higher than they have been this year. These Scope 3
emissions are more than 15 times greater than our Scope 1

and Z emissions across our worldwide Group and @ major part of
our overal{ carbon footprint. We have set a target that by 2025,
we will engage with suppliers covering 50 per cent of our carban
footprint from purchased goods and services 1o encourage them
to have plans in place te decarbonise in line with a 1.5 degree
pathway and ultimately reach net zero by 2040.

In addition to emissions from purchased goods and services,
we also measure and track Scope 3 emissions from other
malerigl sources, including from the combustion of fuel for the
transport of products from distribution centres to stores and
from business travel.

Further information on climate change metrics and our approach
is available in our Sustainability Report 2021 available on our
website whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability.

Global greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes of COzel

021

2020

ay

Scope 1 emissions

Combustion of gas to heat and
cool WHSmith stores, offices
and distributian centres.

2,688
!

H

6,025

2633

Percentage of emissions from
UK-based operaticns.

100%,

100%

100%

Scope 2 emissions
(market-based)

From electncity purchased to
power WHSmith stores, offices
and disiribution centres.

3,796 {

23,670

28,098

Percentage of emissions from
UK-based operations.

0%

8%

73%

Totat Scope Tand 2 emissions
Imarket-based)

6,684

29695

30.751

Percentage of emissions from
UK-based cperations.

40%

82%

T76%

Carbon intensity metric
(tonnes CO.e per £m revenue)

PR a—

75,

29.1

220

Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions
{market-based) after
neutralisation via carbon
remaval certificates

3,996,

t

[

22,695

30,751

Scope 2 emissions
(location-based)

1&481‘

17.629

22192

Scope J emissions (selected)

!

Indirect emissions from the
combustion of fuel for the
transport of products from

distribution centres 1o stores and|

from business travel (UK onlyl

3,31

'

4,687

6,940

Percentage of emissions from

UK-based operations {UK only).

100%.

100%

100%

Total

.

10,035

34,382

37.691

We engaged Cerporate Cilizenship lo prowde independenl limited assurance of the greenhouse
gas emissigns dala in the lable above in agcordance with assurance standards ISAE 3000 and
341D.Corporate Citizenship’s Tull assurance standard is available in our Sustainabilily Reporl
2021. Emissions have Seen catculated using Lhe methodalogy defined in the GHG Pratocol
Corparate Standard. We use the markei-based method for calculatmg Scope 2 emissions lor our
tolal emissions te account for our purchasing of low-carbon energy. In previous years, we have
reporied Scope 2 Iocalion-based emussions and they are provided here for disclosure only. 2020
Scope 2 emissions have been reslaled la remaove US siores which ane run as [ranchises or jaint
venlures in line with the rest af our reporting. Dur reporting boundary includes our operations in
the UK and our direcily-run inlernalionst businasses where we have operational cantrol,
tonsisienl wilh those included in our consolidaled linancial statements. Setected Scope 3
£missions are for UK only and have been caltulated in acgordance with the Corporate Value
Chain [Scope 3] Accounting and Reporting Standard. Further dala and futl details ol the scope
and methadatogy for reparting carbon emissions are available in our Suslainability Report 202%.

Energy consumption [MWh)

o0 20200 20y
UK | 64,737 86782 77619
Non-UK | 7855 9.849 12,695
Total bo725892- 946431 9034

1 Figures for 2020 have been reslaled to rernove US stares which are run as franchises ar joint
ventures in ne wilh ihe rest of our reporting
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Strategic report

Our journey to a better business continued

Waste management

Waste is not only damaging to the environment but adds
additionsl cost to our business. so we are focused on reducing
excess materizls and maximising recycling wherever we can.

In our High Street stores. we operate a recycling system which
enables us to recycle most forms of waste, including cardboard,
paper. plastics and metals. Waste is also segregated in our
distribution centres and offices Overall, 93 per cent of our
waste was diverted fram landfill during this financiat year
(2020 8B per cent].

The number of food lines that we sell is growing, and we are
working hard to eliminate food waste. One of the main sources of
food waste is from unsold sandwiches which have reached their
use-by date. We have implemented a number of initiatives.
including stock control systems to improve farecasting of chilled
food sales, so that we only stock food that we expect to sell,
reducing waste volumes. We operate a discounting strategy in ail
our stores; engaging store colleagues o reduce the price of any
sandwiches that are approaching but have not yet exceeded their
use-by date. .

Packaging materials are designed lo protect itemns to maintain
quality and enhance product shelf life. However, excessive
packaging can negatively impact the environment, because
energy and raw materials such as forestry products or oil are
used in the manwufacturing process. Inappropriate disposal of
packaging can also impact the air, land and marine.environments
when it is no longer needed.

We regularly review the type and quantities of packaging we use,
including primary packaging of our own-brand products and the
secondary packaging used to protect goeds during transit and
distribution. We seek o identify opportunities to minimise
packaging where possible and use more environmentally-
sustainable solutions such as cardboard for products, and
re-usabie skips for internal transfer of stock,

This year, we have redesigned the packaging for our seasonal
ranges, including Christmas and Back to School, removing
unnecessary packaging where possible, and switching from
mixed plastics to paper, card or easier-to-recycle plastic where
packaging is needed. In our own-brand products, we have also
moved away from the use of loose plastic glitter that could make
its way into the water cr land environments. We are continuing
discussions with our suppliers to look for further opportunities to
reduce the quantity of materials we use.

All plain, bottled water ranges are now contained in 100 per cent
recycled plastic and we have introduced a much wider range of
refillable water bottles into our stores. A number of our London
Heathrow Airport Terminal stores now host water refilling
stations, where customers can refill their re-usable water bottles
free of charge.

Sustainable forestry

Paper-based products are a core part of WHSmith's business
and we are committed to minimising the environmental impacts
from paper saurcing for our own-brand products. We will only
use recycled material or virgin [i.e. non-recycled] material from
known, legal, well-managed and credibly-certified forests.

As part of our work towards this objective, and i line with the
requirernents of national and ynternational timber regulations,
we carry out an in-depth and rigorous assessment of supplier
timber-sourcing systems. We have set recycled or certified
timber materials as @ minimurn standard, which gives additional
assurance thal materials originate from low risk sources.

A copy of our Sustainable Forests Policy is available on our
website at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability.

Our sourcing teams work with our suppliers to help them
understand our requirerments and how the data they provide is
needed to demonstrate that any paper, card or wood used in a
WHSmith product is sourced from 3 certified or recycled source.
We can now demonstrate through certification that 99.3 per cent
of our stationery products contain matenals originating fram
certified and recycled material, and we are aiming for

100 per cent by next year.

People

Our employees and those who work for us in our supply chain
and for aur business partners are vita to our success. They make
our business and are critical ta our customers experiences and
perceptions of WHSmith, We want to attract, motivate and retain
the best people to deliver great customer service and help our
business ta grow. :

The Group employs appreximately 11,000 peapte, primarily in the
UK, and is proud of its long history of being regarded as a
responsible and respected employer. We have a full suite of
employee policies and further infarmation is preduced below and
in pur Cade of Business Conduct available on our website at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability.

Diversity and inclusion

WHSmith recognises that talented people are core to the success
of our business, whatever their age, race. religson, gender, sexual
orientation or physicat ability. We are committed to promating a
culture of equality and diversity thraugh our policies, procedures
and working practices. We want 1o ensure that all our employees
receive equal and fair treatment, and this applies to recruitment
and selection, terms and conditions of employment, promation,
training, development opportunities and employment benefils.
We believe in creating a culture throughout the Company that is
free from discrimination and harassment and will not perrnit or
tolerate discrimination in any form.
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We have developed a new diversity and inclusien action plan te
deliver our goal of creating an environmenti where everybody is
welcome, ¢an thrive, and is valued for their contribution. It is
focused on data and systems, communication and engagement,
and partnership and collaboration. We have improved the guality
of data and information that we hold in relation to employee
diversity and developed our internal communication processes
with greater use of relatable. persanal stories to cultivate a
shared understanding of different perspectives,

We have signed several industry charters, committing to making
progress an improving diversity and inclusion in our business.
This year we became one of eight founding members of a
collaboration community called Diversity in Retail, which is
dedicated to increasing diversity and inclusion at all levels within
organisations in the retail sector. We are also signatories to the
British Retail Consortiurn’s Diversity and Inclusion Charter,

We have & range of activities designed ta promote mare women
into seniar positions, including a balanced succession planning
process. Mentaring plays a critical role in the development of our
talent pipeline at all levels, providing targeted one-to-one support
from a moare senior rale madel. We continue to work with
‘Everywoman’ who provide a hast of personal development tools
aimed at women, including monthly webinars, workbooks and
relevant career development articles. The partnership also
provides our employees with links to an external netwark of
professional women in other organisations $o that contact,
connections and relationships can be made easily.

We are continuing to build our understanding of diversity and
inclusion and to look at ways to increase ethnic diversity at senior
levels in our arganisation. We have signed the Race at Work
Charter and have established a Dwversity Forum. chaired by our
Group Chief Executive. where employees are encouraged to
provide feedback, commentary and suggestions for improving
diversity and inclusion in WHSmith.

We benchmark our diversity profile versus our peers and the
national average to ensure that our employee profile and that
of our managernent team reflect aur commitment to diversity.
Our latest gender pay gap report can be found on qur website.

In terms of equal opportunities, the Company gives full and fair
consideration to applications for employment when these are
recerved fraom disabled people. Should an employee become
disabled when warking for the Company, we will endeavour to
2dapt the werk environment and provide retraining if appropriate
so that they may continue their employment. Training, career
develecpment and promotion cpportunities are equally applied for
all our employees, regardless of disability.

Learning and development

Our learning and development programmes are designed to
support our employees as they develop their careers. We provide
a range of learning opportunities and initiatives that are designed
to help our employees develop their skills and experience,

These include online courses, workshops, mentaring and
coaching. We review and develop these activities to ensure that
they continue to meet the requirements of our business and the
learning and development needs for our ermployees.

Individuats have regular career conversations with their
rnanagers during the year, with more format performance
reviews taking place annually In additson to monitoring
performance, we also use & model of employee potential to help
us to identify, develop and retain our talent within the business.

To ensure the safety of employees and customers during the
Covid-19 outbreak, we rolled out online training for all store
colleagues ko ensure they were fully aware of the operational
changes and health and safety precautions introduced in
response to the pandemic. All employees in store-based rates
were required to complete and pass the training course prior to
returning to work.

Employee share ownership

The Company operates an HM Revenue & Customs Approved
Save-As-You-Earn share option scherne [ Sharesave Scheme'}
which provides employees with the opportunity to acquire shares
in the Cormpany Approximately 660 employees participate in

the scheme.

Our employees: key information

The tables below show a breakdown of the composition of the
Board as at year end, and gender diversity statistics for ditferent
cohorts including all employees, both UK and non-UK based.

Gender diversity for the Board lyear end headcount]

Tenure Male/Female

0-1vyear i Male 5 63%

1-3years 4 Fernale 3 37%

3-byears 0

45-9 years 1 Executive/non-executive

10+ years 2 Executive 2 25%
Non-executive b 75%

Male Fernale

Group Executive 7 78% 2 22%

Committee

Members'

Senior managers? 46 468% 22 32%

Managers® 315 48% 345 52%

All employees 4,052 35% 7.488 65%

¥ Group Execuiive Committee Members are ihose why have responsibility for planning, Girecling or controiting the aclivities of the Company

2 Includes Group Execulive Commiltee Members and colleagues graded at levels ane and two below

3 Includes head olfice calleagues graded at the tevel below 1 plus Store Managers, Cluster Managers and Post Oitice Managers
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Strategic report

Our journey to a better business continued

Safety and wellbeing

We are committed ta maintaining high standards of health and
safety. The management team monitars key safety performance
indicators; and an Annual repert detailing trends, performance
and recormmendations is presented to the Board, The business
has a Health and Safety Commitiee that comprises employee
representatives and professional health and safety advisers.

We provide an ongoing programme for staff in stores, consisting
of safety traiming tailored to specific roles within store that focus
on key 1ssues such as fire safety, manual handling and stips, trips
and falls. A copy of our Health and Safety at Work Palicy is
available on cur website at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability and
is the basis for our health and salety management system which
sets out our procedures and processes.

We beiieve that supporting the mental wellbeing of our
employees 1s just as important as locking after their physical
health and safety. Our strategy to promote mental wellbemg has
three main objectives: to improve awareness and reduce stigma;
to raise lhe tevel of mental health support across the business;
and develop a culture which promotes good mental health.

We work in partnership with accredited organisations. such as
Time to Change, and mental health charities including MQ, the
mental health research charity; PlaceZBe, the leading natianat
children’s menlal heaith charity; and CALM, a movement against
male suicide.

We worked closely with Mental Health First Aid (MHFA] England
to create 3 tailored approach to traning and over 1,100 line
managers have received a hatf-day MHFA awareness course.
We have an equal number of mental and physical health

first aiders,

This year, we also launched a new scheme in association with
Salary Finance. through which employees can access free
financial education and loans at lower interest rates than those
offered by traditional lenders, Employees pay down their existing
debts by replacing them with a single. low-interest employee loan
which enables them to build a positive credit history.

Human rights

We are committed to ensuring full respect for the human rights
of anyone working for us in any capacily and we are cornmitted to
ensuring there is fair and safe wark for all employees throughout
our supply chain. We have developed a due diligence process to
make sure we are identifying and assessing any potential and
actual nsks, and that we are providing appropriate risk control,
mitigation and remedy where needed. Our appreach to human
rights is taid out in our Human Rights Policy (available at
whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability] which provides further
infermation on our due diligence processes and the minimum
requiremnents that everyone working for and on behalf of
WHSmith must meet.

We have identified six priority areas tor protecting human rights
in our supply chain: health and safety; freedom of association and
collective bargaining; access to grievance mechanisms; working
hours and overtime; preventing modern slavery and gender
equality. We work with suppliers and other third parties to
develap and progress targets and action plans for improvermnents
across these areas.

We take a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery.

Our Modern Slavery Statement {available at whsmithple.co.uk/
sustainability) sets out the steps we have taken to prevent
rnodern slavery in our own operations and supply chain,

Sourcing responsibly

One of our key sacial risks is the need for us to sowrce products
sustainably, ensuring that workers in aur supply chain are treated
well, and that their human rights are respected. WHSmithis a
member of the Ethical Trading Initiative, an altiance of
caompanies, trade unions and NG0s that pramaotes respect for
workers’ rights around the globe. Our Responsible Sourcing
Standards are based on the ETI Base Code and underpin our
strategy and sustainable sourcing aclivities. We will only place
orders with suppliers whao are cornmitted to working towards
compliance with these standards, and we endeavour to bring
about continual improverment through a programme of factory
audits and ongoing engagement.

Qur in-house audit and engagernent team conducts audits of

our own-brand suppliers a! least every two years, assessing
compliance with our Code of Conduct and grading suppliers
Gold, Silver, Bronze and Unacceptable. We use a mix of
announced and unannounced audits and a factory must be
graded Bronze or above if we are to work with them. The Board
reviews our responsible scurcing strategy annually, looking at our
audit and engagerment pragramimes, emerging trends and risks,
targets and perfarmance.

To supplement the information we gain from supplier audits,
our,team atso spends a significant part of its time engaging with
suppliers on an ongoing hasis to build stronger and more
transparent relationships. The team’s engagement fecuses on
resolving specific issues identified during audits and on delivering
wider projects to help suppliers deliver on key areas such as
worker representation or health and safety. We have an
independent hotline for workers to report issues they are
concerned about, which we then investigate and follow up with
suppliers to ensure they are addressed.

Communities

WHSmith is at the heart of communities across the UK and we
are committed to making a positive impact wherever we operalg.
As a major retailer of books and stationery, we are particularly
passionate about literacy and life-long learning. We are a
lang-term advocate for the development of reading and writing
skills and we have provided belp aver many years to children and
young people who need additional support.
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We have a long-term partnership with the National Literacy
Trust, and this year we continued our support for their Young
Readers’ Programme, providing books and ather materials for
schools in socio-ecanomically disadvantaged areas of the
country. In addition, the WHSmith Group Charitable Trust
provided financial support for the programme. supported by
daonations from WHSmith customers and employees.

This year we joined forces with the National Literacy Trust,
Macmiltan Children’s Books and Marcus Rashford, MBE. to
donate books and provide financial support to help those children
most in need to develop thewr reading and writing skitls. For every
copy of Marcus's book, Yeu Are a Champion: How to Be the Best
You Can Be', that we sold, we agreed to gift a copy for distribution
to those most unlikely to own a book of their own. We also
provided an opportunity for customers to donate to help the work
of the National Literacy Trust through our till points and website.
The carmpaign has raised over 30,000 books and £40.000 in the
space of a few months. We also gifted a further 1,500 books to
schaol libraries as part of the campaign.

WHSmith continues to tzke a leading role in the delivery of the
World Baok Day initiative, which 1s the biggest annual celebration
of books and reading in the UK. World Baok Day took place this
year under the continuing impact of Covid-19. Normally cur
stores run special events such as competitions, fancy dress and
author signing sessians, but many cf these had te be curtailed
this year. We were still able to redeemn 244,000 book vouchers
enabling chitdren to choose cne of the special World Book Day
baoks or offset the cost against any of our children's ranges of
books. We also partnered with the WHSmith Trust to danate
WHSmith vouchers to schoals across the UK for them to choose
books to increase their school library resources. Over 250
schools were helped in this way with £25,000 of vouchers

being denated.

This year, through our charity partnerships, colleague and
customer fundraising and in-kind donations we have donated
nearly E1millon to charities and other good causes. The full
exient of our communily investment activity, measured in
alignment with the B4SI (formerly the Lendon Benchmarking
Groupl reporting mmodel, is outlined in our Sustainability
Report 2021.

Full details of how we angage with charilies and other good
causes are set out in our Code of Business Conduct {available
at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability]

Principles and responsible practice

We aim to always acl with integrity, making the right decistons
and demonstrating the appropriate behaviours to earn the
respect of our customers and all those with whom we do
business. Qur Code of Business Conduct available on our website
sels out how our business operates, and what is expected aof
every person who works for and on behalf of WHSmith. Qur Code
includes our policies retating to indwidual conduct, including
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures, conflicts of interest
and data protection, as well as those relating to how we work
together, including diversity ang inclusion, anli-harassment and
bullying and health and safety. it also sets out bur business
standards in relation to fair trading practices, such as pricing and
marketing, quality and product safety, trade controls, competitian
and supply chain practices.

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption

WHSmith prides itself on its values and commitment to acting
with integrity throughout the arganisation and we will not
tolerate bribery, corruption or extortion in any form, either within
our own operations ar in those businesses warking on our behalf.
Our Code of Business Conduct sets out in detail how those
warking for us should behave and what they should do if they are
confronted with bribery or corruption. We require all employees
and anyone working for us in any capacity to comply with the UK
Bribery Act, in addition to any local anti~bribery and anti-
corruption taws, Qur Code states that employees or others
working on our behall musl never offer or accept any kind of
bribe, and that our subcontractors, consultants, agents and
others we work with must have similar anti-bribery and
corruption measures in place.

All employees are required to confirm that they have read and
accept our Code of Business Conduct an an annual basis and are
encouraged to report any suspected breaches wsing our
confidential Speak Up hetpline.
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Strategic report

Non-financial reporting statement

The Journey to a Better Business section of the Annual report on pages 79 to 35 and the WH3mith Sustainability Report contain
awide range of information aboul the ervironment, employees and social matters. The table below sets out where infarmation on
non-financial reporting matters can be found within our Annual report. Our full Sustainability Report is availlable on our website at
whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability. The due diligence arrangements for each topic are included in the respective policy documentation

on Gur website,

Mon-financial matter Polities and standards which govern our approach Pages
Business model Business model and KPis 4and 20
Principal risks and uncertainties 2028
Envircnmental matters Journey to a Better Business - Planet 29t0 32
Sectian 172 staterment 37to 4l
Principal risks and uncertainties 26
Employees Journey to a Better Business - People 321034
Section 172 statement RCYA( Y]
Principal risks and uncertainties 25
Director’'s report 85
Sociai matters Journey to 3 Better Business - Communilies 34to35
Section 172 statement 37t0 40
Principal risks and uncertainties 24and 25
Respect for human rights Journey to a Better Business - People 34
7 Principal risks and uncertainties 24and 25
Anti-corruption and znti-bribery matters Journey to a Better Business - Prinaiples and Responsible Practice 35
Principal nsks and uncertainties 261026
Non-financial KPls Our journey to a better business 29035
Remuneration Committee report 581084
Principal risks and uncertainties Our approach ta risk management 21
22t0 28

Princrpal risks
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Section 172(1) statement

This statement describes how the directors have had regard to
the matters set out in Section 172 of the Compantes Act 2006
[the ‘Act’] in exercising their duty to promote the success of the'
Company for the benefit of its members as a whole.

Section 172 of the Act requires a directar of a company to act
in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would most likely
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its
members as a whole. In daing this, Section 172 requires a
director to have regard amongst other matters to the:

a) likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term;
b) interests of the company’s employees;

¢] need to foster the company’s business relationships with
suppliers, custorners and others;

dl impact of the company’s operations on the community
and emvaronment;

el desirability of the company maintawning a reputation for high
standards on business conduct; and

fl need to act fairly as between members of the company.

Information on how the Board operates can be found in the
Corparate governance report on pages 41 to 48.

Examples of how the directors have had regard to the matters set
out in Sectien 172 when discharging their duties are set out in the
following pages.

Key stakeholder groups ¢an be impacted in different ways by
decisions which are taken by the Board. The directors consider
that the groups listed below are the Company’s key stakeholders.
They are identified as those most likely to be affected by the
principal decisions of the Board:

+ Employees: the people at WHSmith are its greatest resource
and the strength of the husiness depends on committed
colleagues who feel engaged, motivated and appreciated.

Our ernployees expect to feel valued, be rewarded fairly, treated
with respect and dignity and have opportunities for personal
growth and career development.

Custorners: customers are why we exist - maintaining their
loyalty and enthusiasm for our brands is critical to our success.
Our customers expect that the Company offers a wide range of
praducts at an accessible price, 15 responsive to their needs
and trades fairly and responsibly.

Investors: our snvestors include individual and institutional
shareholders and providers of debt and financial capital, such
as banks and bondholders. Access to liquidity is vital to the
long-term performance of the business and the Board works
to ensure that the Company's investors and banks have 3
strong understanding of our strategy and performance.
Investors want a return on their investrment, delivered in a
responstble and sustainable way.

Suppliers and tandlords: mutually trusted pértnerships with
suppliers and landlords are vital in enabling the Company to
offer a wide range of guality products at affordable prices from
optimal! store locations. Our delivery partners look to the
Company for a productive business relationship, allowing them
to further their own businesses.

« Communities and the environiment: cammunity acceptance
and respect for the environment provide us with a licence to
operate. The Company is committed to operating responsibly,
helping local communities and good causes where it can add
the most value and minimising its impact on the environment

« Pensioners: the Company is committed to ensuring that it
meets its obligations to current and past employees who rely
upon it to fund their pensions.

The Company engages with these stakeholder groups regularly

to ensure that the Board is aware of their views and interests.

These stakeholder views and concerns are integral to ensuring

a considered and balanced approach to the Board's decision-

making processes.
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The Board accesses information from stakeholders through a
number of methods including direct engagement by Board
members, far example, through store visits and meetings with
stakeholder groups such as employees. investors and suppliers,
and indirectly through the review of reports and updates from
senior executives who rmeet regularly with stakeholder groups.

Employees
The Board engages with employees through a number of
different methods:

= the Group Chief Execytive and other senior executives hold
regular face-to-face updates with employees on matters
including the Group's strategy and business performance,;

senior executives attend business meetings throughout the
year, including business executive meelings, trading meetings
and risk committee meetings;

employee engagement surveys are held reqularly to gather
staff views on working for WHSmith. In the Company’s head
offices, the businesses run quarterly employee forums where
team representatives are encouraged 1o raise any issues or
concerns. A number of the senior executives also have direct
mailboxes for employees to raise any 1ssues, guestions or
concerns and these are reporled to the Board by those

seniur executives;

Sirmon Emeny is the designated non-execulive director far
warkforce engagement and leads on ensuring effectve
engagement with the workforce. Siman Emeny has. during the
year, joined semior executives on calls with their teams, for
example, he joined Heidi Reynolds, Retail Director, High Street,
on her regular Ask Heidi’ call with her team and has atso
attended the High Street and Travel employee forums;

during the financial year, the Group Chief Executive and other
senior executives held weekly briefings via webinars for all
employees. At the briefings, employees were given the
eppertunity to ask questions on any issues relating to the
operation of the Company, inctuding on rermuneration, working
canditions and performance;
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Strategic report

Section 172(1) statement continued

employees are given reqular written updates and reminders
on operational issues. This year, this included regular
communications on the Company’s wide-ranging support
programmes, such as our Employee Assistance Programme
to support with counselling services, the WHSmith Benevolent
Fund to support employees and their families with financial
hardship and ways {o access trained Mental Health First Aiders
if needed; and

the Group HR Directer provides regular updates to the Board
on emnpluyee-related matters, including staff retention rates,
learning and development, gender pay gap. dwersity and
nclusian, staff surveys and workforce remuneratian,

The Audit Committee has oversight of the Company's
whistleblowing policy on behalf of the Board. The Company's
whistleblowing helpline allows employees to raise concerns
regarding misconduct and breach of the Company’s policies.
The Audit Committee receives reports on any matters of concern
raised by employees, reviews the whistleblowing arrangements
which are then discussed by the Board.

The key topics and feedback that the Board obtained from gur
engagement with our employees this year included:

Restructuring: as a result of the ongoing impact of Covid-19 and
the impact on footfall on the high street, the Board reviewed the
operating structure of the High Street stores and agreed the
implernentation of a change programme to introduce greater
in-store employee flexibility. The High Street business consulted
with employees and urions/employee representative groups on
the new operating structure, Following the implementation of the
changes the High Street business has increased the number of
sales assistants enabling the business to trade more effectively
across the week.

Return to the office: after a prolonged period of home-working
for many employees. some raised questions and concerns about
the return to office working, and a desire for flexible working
arrangements. The Board received an update from the HR
Director on the Company’'s new approach to agile working for
head office employees in advance of the Company asking
employses to return o the office. The Board believes that it is
important to retain a balance for employees to work flextbly but at
the saime lime maintaining the high performing culture which is
important to the long term success of the Company. In advance
of a return to the oftice, employees were provided with
information and quidance on these matters in order to help
provide clarity in an uncertain and worrying time.

Providing a safe working environment: the safety and weltbeing
of our staff continues to be a prierity for the Board. The Board is
very proud of our stare colleagues who have done an outstanding
job in serving customers. The Board aversaw the ongoing
applicatian of safety measures for all employees in line with
government guidelines and advice, which include sacial
distancing measures, PPE far colleague use, hygiene stations,
protective screens at till points, enhanced clganing and
encouraged use of self-checkout or contactless payment.

Ihe Company’s distribution centres continued to be operational
with effective social distancing measures in place and head office
staff continued to wark from home, where possible. The Beard
was updated on the Company’'s programmes to promote
employee wellbeing, for exampte, through cur mental heslth first
aider programme and annual Welibeing at Work week.

Diversity and inclusion: our Diversity and Inclusion [D&I)
Committee continued to recewe feedback from employees on the
Company's appreach to equality and inclusion. The Board
recognises the importance of a diverse workforce and an
inclusive culture. The Board was updated on the Company D&
activities which took place this year and is suppaortive of plans for
further actiity in the forthcoming months.

Customers

The Company regularly listens to its custormers and respands to
their feedback. The Company’s store teams and dedicated
customer service team are in constant dialogue with customers,
and ensure that customer feedback is communicated to the
relevant parts of the business and taken into account as the
business develops and implermnents its policies, operational
activities and product ranges.

The Board receives regular updates on customer feedback and
service standards across the stores and has put systems (in place
to ensure that it complies with all relevant product safety
legislation. During the year. the Board tock all necessary steps to
help ensure the safety of customers whilst visiting the stores by
ensuring that the Company complied with all relevant social
distancing measures. The Board took the decision to keep the
stores open to support the communities they serve.

Other key feedback that the Board obtained frem engagement
with customers related to the nature of store environments, the
availability of products, value for money, online offerings,
customer service and ethical trading. As a result of this feedback,
we have extended our categories and ranges to reflect the
specific needs of our customers. The Company aims to offer
customners a choice of products at compehitive prices acrass atl
store formats. The Board also approved new targets to reduce
the environmental impact from packaging by remaoving it,
switching ta more eco-friendly options and minimising waste.
The Board also recognises that we will need to work with our
suppliers in order to achieve our targets. You can read more
about our environmental and responsible sourcing activities in
the Non-financial information statement on pages 29 te 36.
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Investors

The Board recognises the importance of communicating with

its shareholders to ensure that its strategy and performance are
understood. The Group Chief Executive and CFO/COC update

the Board following meetings with major shareholders. and when
requested to do so, the Chairman and non-executive directors
also attend those meetings.

During the year. the Company provided updates on developments
in trading in the farm of stock market announcemen iy Lo ensure
that all shareholders were informed about the impact of Covid-19
on the business.

The Company engages with investors in one-to-one meetings to
discuss specific elernents of the business. We communicate with
shareholders through aur results presentation, AGM, investor
roadshows, and our investor relations department. As a resutt of
Covid-19 restrictions we were not able to held a physical AGM in
January 2021 Notwithstanding the restrictions. the Board
considered it important that all shareholders were provided with
the opportunity to raise questions. To enable this, shareholders
were invited ta submit questions ahead of the meeting and the
Directors’ responses were made available on the Company's
website. The next AGM will be held at the offices of Herbert Srith
Freehills LLP, Exchange House, Primrase Street, London EC2A
2EG at 11.30 am on Wednesday 19 January 2022. The Notice of
AGM 2022 is now available to view and download from gur
website at whsmithple.co.uk.

The Board receives reports and updales on shareholder relations
at each meeting lo ensure that the Board and its Cammittees are
keplinformed of invesicrs” and advisers’ views on strategy and
corporate governance,

Ouring the year, the Chairman spoke to sorne of Company’s
largest shareholders to discuss the Board's succession plan and
composttion of the Board The Remuneration Committee also
consylted with the Company's largest shareholders and
shareholder representatives an its proposed new remuneration
policy in anticipatian of presenting the new policy te shareholders
at the 2022 AGM. For more information, please see the
Remuneration report on page 58.

A key issue for the Board during the year was the approach that it
took to improve the Company’s liguidity position as a result of the
impact of Covid-19 on its trading and financial position, and when
taking decisions, carefully considered the interests of ilg
employees, custorners, shareholders and suppliers. in April 2021,
the Beard consulted with shareholders, investors and banks in
order to secure new financing arrangements to strengthen its
balance sheet, working capital and liguidity position. The new
financing arrangements include a new £250m revolving credit
facility [previously £200m)] with an extended maturity until April
2025 and provided by an expanded syndicate of lending banks.

In addition, the 1ssue of 2 £327m convertible bong provided
£50m of new capacity for the Company to fund the opening of
over100 new Travel stores won and yet to open over the next
three years and new growth oppartunities. The remainder of the
proceeds was used to partially pay down the £400m term loans
from bath the Marshall Retail Group and InMotion acquisitions.
The maturity of the new £133m term loan is aiso Apnl 2025.
Yau can read more about the Company’s finances on pages
9810 162.

The Board aiso considered the Group's capitat allocation policy.
The Board rewewed the trading performance and liquidity
position of the Company in order lo pregress the Company's
long-term strategy and manage any ongoing Covid-19 disruption.
The Board looked at the increased need for capital expenditure
in respect of new slore wins and the likely recovery of travel in the
UK, North America and the other markets in which we operate
during the year. The Board recognises the smpartance of
providing our shareholders with consistent and reliable dividend
returns but, with so much uncertainty around the course of the
pandemic and its economic effacts, the Board believed it was
sensible and appropriate to suspend the payment of dividends

to shareholders for the duration of the financial year ended

31 August 2021 to protect the Company’s balance sheet.

The Board will continue to keep its capital allocation policy
under review.
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More information on how the Board engages with its
shareholders can te found in the Carporate governance report
on pages 47 and 48,

Suppliers/landlords

The Board is provided with information about key suppliers as
and when relevant to Board discussions, including when approval
of material contracts/teases is required. The Company aims {o be
a trusted partner for suppliers and landlords, with established
policies covering the way in which we transact with them.

The Company engages with its supptiers and tanclords in 5
number of ways including:

+ direct engagement via individual supplier and
landlord meetings;

s supplier conferences for major graups of suppliers such as
trade suppliers for individual businesses or geographies, or
suppliers of Goods Not for Resale; and

¢ suppler feedback surveys.

The Company has a well-established ethical trade programme
aimed atimproving labour standards for workers in our supply
chain and to ensure that gur products are sourced respansibly.
The Board receives an annual update from the Company's Head
of Sustainability on how the Campany 1s meeting its obligations
and to ensure the Board 1s kept informed cf developing

best practice.
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Section 172(1} statement continued

The Board has ensured that the Company has maintained a
dialogue with suppliers and landlords to mitigate disruption and
understand their concerns as a result of Covid-1%. The Company
continued to pay most of its suppliers and tandlords during the
year in accordance with agreed contractual terms or negotiated
rent deals. The Board will also ensure that the Company will
continue to work closely with cur suppliers to manage any
changes in the supply chain as a result of Brexit.

This year, the Board approved a target to reduce our Scope 3
einissions by engaging with suppliers representing approximately
50 per cent of our emissions to ensure they bave plans in place to
decarbonise in line with a science-based target to maintain
global warming to 1.5°C. The Company also continues to work
with suppliers to reduce waste from packaging and from
single-use plastics. This year, we worked with suppliers of
packaging for our enline business to ensure materials were
plastic free and fully recyclable,

The Board also continued to explore new business opportunities
during the year We warked with our UK Airpart landlords to win
30 technology stores across all UK airports. These stores will
trade under the InMotion brand, the Company’'s market-leading
US technology business in travel locations which was acquired in
November 2018. Combining our learnings and expertise from
North America, these stores will provide Airport passengers with
a superior customner service experience and a combination of
premium products from brands such as Apple, Bose and
Samsung, as well as an extensive range of tech accessories,
The Board believes that in a fully recovered travel environment
these stores will deliver significant shareholder returns.

Community and environment

The Board places greatimportance on ensuring that the
Company helps community groups and gocd causes that are
closely aligned with the business, and that it operates in a way
which minimises the impact on the envirenment.
Engagement with communily groups and others includes:

= regular meetings with key charity partners, including the
National Literacy Trust, mental health charity pariners and
other charity cornmunity organisations located close to
our stores;
* engagement through meetings, correspondence and survey
responses with nen-governmentat organisations, trade bodies
and others with an interest in community and erwirgnmental
activities, inchuding the Ethical Trade Initiative. WWF and COP,;
and i
questions, views and concerns through the
corporate.responsibility@whsmith.co uk inbox which is
available for anyone to make contact with the Company on
any issues relating to community or the environment.

The Board received regular updates an the Campany’s key
community and environrment activities from the Head of
Sustainability. This year. the Board reviewed progress against
the objectives defined in the Company’'s sustainability stralegy
approved by the Board last year. which relate to the most
important environmental and social issues for the business.
These include a scignce-based target for carbon emissions in
Lne with reductions reguired to limit global warming to 1.5°C,
and reaching net zero for Scope 1and 2 emissians by 2025.
The Board also took the decision to create a new Cammittee
which will help us manage our sustainability strategy, our
Journey to a Better Business across the three themes of Planet,
People and Communities. You can read more about the work of
the ESG Committee on page 29. Further details are provided in
our 2021 Sustainabitity Report available at whsmithplc.co.ul/
investors/results-reports-and-presentatians/carporate-
responsibility-reports.

The Board also decided to continue with the long-term focus

on children’s literacy and to work in portncrship with others to
tackle inequalities in the abibity of children to read and write.

It endorsed the launch of a partnership between the Company,
the Natianal Literacy Trust and Macmillan Children's Books,
supported by Marcus Rashford MBE, to ensure every child in the
United Kingdem has access to a book of their own.

Further details are provided in the Strategic report on pages
34 10 33

Defined benefit pension fund

Curing the year, the Board engaged with the Trustees of the
WHSmith Pension Trust, who have a fiduciary duty ta the
members and beneficiaries of the Company’s defined benefit
pension scheme, to ensure that the scheme is subficrently
funded. The CFO/COO and the Finance Director - Group regularly
meet with the Chair of the Trustees and attend the Trustee
meelings to report on annual and interim results. The Board
agreed with the Trustees, the latest trienniat valuation, and
funding plan to ensure that the Company’s defined benefit
pension scheme remains well-pasitioned lo meet its liabilitres.

This Strategic report was approved by the Beard on
11 November 2021.

On behalf of the Board

Carl Cowling )o
Group Chief Executive '
11 November 2021 .
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Corporate governance report

The Board is committed to achieving the highest

standards of corporate governance.”

Henry Staunton
Chairman

Board role and effectiveness

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving
the highest standards of corporate governance.

As Chairman, my role is to run the Board to ensure
that the Company operates effectively and ensure
that the Board works collaboratively and has the right
balance of skills, knowledge, independence and
experience to assess, manage and mitigate risks.

This report, which forms part of the Directors’ report, provides
details of how the Company has applied the principles of, and
complied with, the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 [the
‘Code’}. A copy of the Code is available publicly from fre.org.uk.

Culture

We have been serving customers through our presence in town
centres, travel hubs and hospitals for over 225 years, providing a
retail destinglion of choice and a sense of community for
thousands of customers every day. We have a presence in 30
countries, employ 11,000 employees, source products from
thousands of suppliers and play an impartant part in creating
vibrant and suslainable local economies.

We recognise we have an obligation 1o grow our business
sustainably, providing financial returns for our shareholders,
whilst maintaining high standards of environmental stewardship
and social equity. In delivering these obligations, it is important
that our employees, business partners and suppliers are able to
make the right decisions. We support them with a strang
values-based culture, ongoing training and development. and a
solid foundation of respensible business governance, policies and
programmes. You can read more about our culture on page 46,

- Stakeholder engagement

As a Company. we have a long-standing commitment to high
standards of corporate responsibility, which includes considering
the interests of a broad stakehalder group in making business
decistons. The Board remains focused on atl our stakeholders.
including our workforce, customers, shareholders and the
communities we are part of. You can read about our engagement
with shareholders on pages 47 and 48, our commitments to
<ustomers, workforce and community matters on pages

29 to 40 and our approach to rewarding our workforce in the
Rermuneration report on page 47

]

There are already a number cof effective employee engagement
processes in place across the Group. including the employee
satisfaction survey and emplayee forums, Simon Emeny is the
designated non-executive director for workforce engagemnent
and leads on ensuring effective engagernent with the workforce.
Simen Emeny attended a number of employee forums
throughout the year to gain a better understanding of thew views
and concerns. Simon Emeny met the Group HR director to review
the outcomes from the satisfaction survey Feedback relating to
workferce engagement has been reported to the Board and
Committees. Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 {the ‘Act’]
sets out that a director should have regard to stakeholder
interests when discharging their duty to prormote the success

of the Company. You can read how the Board has had regard

to Section 172 of the Act on pages 37 1o 40.

adueuJanuh aeiodion

Creation of an ESG Committee

In order ta help us manage our sustamability strategy, qur
Journey to a Better Business across the three themes of Planet,
People and Communities and ensure that it is central to what we
do, we look the decisien to create a new Cormmittee which will
assist the Board in providing oversight of the implementation of
the strategy. You can read more about the ESG Committee on
page 48.

Board changes

The Board has continued to give extensive thought to the rotation
of long-serving directors given the ongoing impact of Covid-1% on
the Company. As part of the succession plan, Suzanne Baxter,
who was the Chair of the Audit Committee, stepped down trom
the Board at the Company's Annua! General Meeting [AGM) in
January 2021. Annemarie Durbin, Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, who will have served on the Board for nine years will
step down from the Board at the Company's AGM in January
2022. During the year, the Board appointed Nicky Dulieu and

Kal Atwal as non-executive directors. Nicky Dulieu replaced
Suzanne Baxter as Chair of the Audit Committee. On 28 October
2021, the Company announced the appointment of Marion Sears
who wilt join the Board as a non-executive director and Chair of
the Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2022,
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Corporate governance report continued

The Company has commenced a search for my replacement and,
at the request of the Board, | have agreed to stay on until my
successer is appointed in 2022. The Board believes that this
staggered approach ta replacing long-standing directors is in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders as it will
allow the Board to refresh itself whilst at the same time retaining
valuable expertise and knowledge as the Company laoks to
recover fram the impact of Covid-19.

| would like to thank Annernarie for her valuable contribution and
strong commitment tu Le Company.

Covid-19 response

Unfortunately, as with the wider economy and sociely more
generally, the Company and its stakeholders have continued to
be impacted by Covid-19. The Board has, throughout this crisis,
taken decisive action in order to mitigate the impact of Covid-19
on the Company and its stakeholders. You can read more about
the action the Board took as a result of Covid-19 on page 45 and
the impact that Covid-19 has had on the Company in the
Strategic report on pages 2 to 40.

2SNk

Henry Staunton
Chairman

11 November 2621

Corporate governance statement

This report, which torms paet of the Direclors’ report, together
with the Strategic report and Directors’ remuneration report
provides details of how the Company has applied the principles of
the Code.

Througheut the year ended 31 August 2021 and up to the date of
this report. the Board considers that it has complied with the
provisions of the Code except as follows:

1. Chairman’s tenure [Provision 19): Henry Staunton’s tenure as
Chairman of the Company. Henry Staunton was appointed to
the Board in September 2010 and became Chairman in
September 2013. The Board believes that it is important to the
ongoing success of the Company that Henry Staunton remains
as Chairman as the Company locks to recover from the.
impact of Covid-19. Henry Staunton continues to provide
invaluable help and support to Carl Cowling, Group Chief
Executive. He is continuing to help lead the recovery of the
Company following the impact of Covid-19. The Board believes
that Henry Staunton continues to act and perform effectively
as Chairman. For these reasons, while mindful of Provision 19
of the Code that requires that the Chairman should not remain
in post beyond nine years from the date of their first
appeintment to the Beard. the Board believes that it is in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders that Henry
remains as Chairman of the Board for an extended period.
The Board has commenced a search for Henry Staunton’s
replacement and, at the request of the Beard, Henry Staunton
has agreed to stay on until his successor is appointed in 2022
The Board believes that this staggered approach te replacing
long-standing directors is in the best interests of the Company
and ts shareholders as it will allow the Board to refresh itself
whilst at the same time retaining valuable expertise and
knowledge as the Company locks to recover from the impact
of Covid-19.

2. Pension Alignment (Provision 38): The persion centributions
for Carl Cowling and Robert Maarhead reflect the historical
retirement benehts available ta employees that joined the
Company at similar times. The Board recognises that the
contributron rates under these arrangements are higher than
the majority of the current workforce and, as such, the
pension contribqtion for any new executive director is now

aligned with the majority of the workforce which is
approximateiy three per cent. The pension contributions for
Cart Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be reduced to align
with the wider workforce rate from 1 January 2023,

3. Workfarce engagement on executive remuneration [Provision
41): The Remuneration Committee has a clear and
transparent approach to remuneration which 1s set outon -
pages 58 to 84 in the Directors’ remuneration report
Whilst the Campany undertakes extensive engagement with
aemployees on a wide range of issues, including remuneration,
working conditigns and performance of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee did not directly consult with the
widter warkforce on executive remuneration. Details of how
executive directar pay is considered in the context of the wider
waorkforce is set aut on page 67 of the Directors’
remuneration report.

The Company's disclosures on its application of the principles of
the Code can be found on the following pages:

Board leadership and Company purpose
Chairman’s letter
Purpose, values and culture

See pages 41 and 42
See pages 41 and 44

Strategy See pages 2 to 40
Shareholder and stakeholder engagernent  See pages 37 to 40
Division of responsibilities

Leadership, commitment and Board support  See page 43
Composition, succession and evaluation

Board evaluation See pages 43 and 46
Nominations Comrittee report See pages b4 and 55
Audit, risk and internal control

Risks, viahility and going concern See pages 50 and 52
Audit Committee report See pages 47 1o 53
Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration report See pages 58 10 84

The information that is required by Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules [DTR) 7.2 to be contained in the Company’s
Corparate governance statement is included in this Corporate
governance report, in the Directors’ remuneration repart on
pages 58 to B4 and in the Directors’ report on pages 85 to 87.
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Operation of the Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised the Chairman,

two executive directors and five independent non-executive
directors. Short biographies of each of these directors, which
illustrate their range of experience, are set out on pages 56 and
57. There is a clear dwision of responsibility at the head of the
Company: Henry Staunton [Chairman) being responsible for
running the Board and Carl Cowling (Group Chief Executive]
being responsible far implementing strategy, leadership of the
Curnpany and manaqing it within the authorities delegated by
the Board. Simon Emeny is the Senior Independent Directar,
The Board structure ensures that no individual or group
dominales the decision-making process.

All the directors, whose biographies are on pages 56 and 57,
served threughout the financial year ended 31 August 2021
and up to the date of this report with the exception of:

1. Nicky Dulieu who was appointed as a non-executive director
on 9 September 2020.

2. Kal Atwal who was appointed as a non-executive director
on 1 February 2021.

All of the non-executive directors who served during the year -
and up to the date of this report are considered by the Board
to be independent.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary and may take independent professional
advice at the Company’s expense in the furtherance of thew
duties. The Board receives appropriate and timely information,
with Board and Committee papers normally being sent out a

week before meetings take place. The need for director traming
is regutarly assessed by the Board.

The interests of the directors and their immediste families in
the share capital of the Company, aleng with details of directors’
share awards, are contained in the Directors’ remuneration
report on pages 56 to 84

At no time during the year did any of the direciors have a malerial
interest in any significant contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

Attendance at Board meetings

The Board met 14 times during the year. The number of Board
meetings was comparable te the previous financial year as a
result of the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the Company. It is
expected that all diectors attend Board meetings and
Committee meetings unless they are prevented from doing sa by
prior commitments. The minimum time commitment expected
from the non-executive directors Is one day per month
altendance at meetings. together with attendance at the AGM,
Board away-days and site visits, plus adequate preparation time.
Where directors are unable to attend meetings, they receive the
papers for that meeting giving them the opportunity to raise any
issugs and give any comments to the Chairman in advance of the
meeting. Following the meeting, the Chairman briefs any director
not present on the discussions and any decisions taken at

the meeting.

The following table shows the number of Board and Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 August 2021 and the
attendance record of individual directors:

Number of meetings attended

Board Audit Nerninations Remuneration
Directors and role Board skills and competencies hd £ 2 8
Henry Staunton Finance and retail expertise; strong board leadership and 14 of 14 - 2of2 Bof8
Chairman considerable governance experience.
Kal Atwal Marketing and digital expertise; entrepreneurial approach 9 of 14 2of & Tof2 3of8
Non-executive director  to business.
Carl Cowling Strategic and retail expertise; strong leadership of the Group and 4ot 14 - 20f2 -
Group Chref Executive creation of shareholder value.
Nicki Duliey Finance and retail expertise; extensive knowledge of retail and 14of 14 4ofé 20f2 8of8
Non-executive director  cuslomer service.
Annemarie Durbin Legal experience and knowledge of regulatory and compliance Vhof 14 4ofd 20f2 8of8
Non-executive director  matters; extensive board experience.
Simon Emeny Commercial expertise and a wealth of consumer facing experience.  14of 14 4of4 20f2 8of8
Non-executive director
Robert Moorhead Retail and financial expertise; deep understanding of the Groupand 14 of 14 - - -
CFG/CO0D strateqgy, and creation of shareholder value.
Maurice Thampson Board and financial expertise; extensive strategic knowledge and 14of14  4of4 20f2 Bof8

Non-executive director  experience.

al Nicky Duligu was appointed as a direclor of the Company oh 9 September 2020.
bl Kal Atwal was appointed as 3 director of Ihe Company on 1 February 202t

£} Kal Alwal was unable to attend one meeting of the Remuneration Committee due to 3 prigr commitment which had been arranged before the meating was convened. She recened the papers in

advance of lhe meeting and gave her comments lo the Chair.

d] Hensy Staunten, Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead were invited to and allended all laur meetings of the Audil Committee.

el Roberl Moorhead was invited |o and attended two meelings af the Nominations Commuttee.

I Carl Cowling was inviled lo and allended all eighi meetings of the Remuneration Commillee. Robert Moorhead was inviled to and attended Iwo meetings of the Remuneration Commities,

gl Suzanne Baxier stepped down [rom the Board on 20 January 2021. Prior s leaving the Company she allended five meetings ol the Board,
hi The Board and the Remuneration Commitlee have mel twice and Lhe Audil Committae and the Nominatisns Cammitiee have met once since 31 August 2021.

AlLthe direclors aliended the meetings.
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

Matters Reserved for the Board

The Board manages the Company through a formal schedule of
matters reserved for its decision, with its key focus being on
creating long-term sustainable shareholder value. The significant
matters reserved for its decision include: the overall
management of the Company; approval of the business model
and strategic plans including acquisitiens and disposals; approval
of the Company’s commercial stralegy and operating and capital
expendsture budgets; approvat of the Annual report and financiat
statements, raterial agreements and non-recurring projects;
treasury and dividend policy; control, audit and risk management;
executive remuneration; and environmental, social and Corporate
governance matters.

The Board has a forward timetable to ensure that it allocates
sufficient time to key areas of the business. The imetable is
llexible encugh for tems to be added to any agenda as necessary.

The Board's annual business includes Chief Execulive’s reports,
including business reports; financial results; strategy and
strategy updates, including in-depth sessions on specific areas
of the business and strategic initiatives; consideration of
potential acquisitions and meeting with new management teams;
risk.management; dividend palicy; invester relations, health and
safety; whistleblowing; Board evaluation; governance and
compliance; communications and the Annual report.

During the year, the Board assessed the basis on which the
Company generates and preserves value over the long-term and
considered the gpportunities and risks te the ongoing future
success of the business, the sustainability of the Company’s
business model and how its governance contributes to the
delivery ol its strategy. Further information on the nsks and
opportunities to the future success of the Company can be found
in the Strategic report on pages 21 to 28,

Board Activities in the financial year ended 31 August 2021

Strategy
= Approvat of new banking facility arrangements and issue of * Review the strategic plans for each of the
convertible bond businesses
= Oversight of Group performance against strategy and budget *» Three-Year Plan
* Updates on the management of the impacts of Brexit + Project approvals
+ Approval of corparate responsibility strategy and report * Corporate strategy updates
* Expansion of technolegy and accessories stores in UK airports
Covid-19 - 3 e emr— e e e oL e o e e s - i < . A

* Updates on Group response to Covid-19

+ Updates on ensuring the safety of customers and colleagues

= Re-cansideration of strategic priorities as
a result of Covid-19

_Financial and Operational performance

and the Annual report
» Going Concern and Viability Statements
+ Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

« The Company's preliminary and interim results, trading statements

* Dividend, treasury and lax strategies
= Approval of the budget
s Approval of capital expenditure

Other Stakehotder Engagement

« Custormer initiatives and experience updates

« Updates on ensuring the safety of

Customers en: ( .
customers in line with government advice
Shareholders | *® Annual General Meeting documents; inwiting shareholder questions = Investor Relations updates
ahead of meeting and publication of responses a |ssue of convertible bond
+ Consultation on new remuneration policy
+ Consultation on Boary composition
Employees + Annual heatth and safety review = Modern slavery update and statement
= Company values and culture * Talent, succession planning and leadership
¢ Inclusion and diversity update * Employee engagement insights
* People operations proposal = Cender pay gap reporting
= Mental health wellbeing plan » Consideration of workforce pay including
» Approval of sharesave invitation the annual pay review
* Introduction of agile working
.Governance and Risk . ’ i

* Risk framework and internal control review
* Regulatory compliance updates

» Litigation and disputes updates

» Group Delegation of Autharity Policy review
» Board evaluation process-

» Principal risks and uncertainties review
* Canflicts of Interest and new appointments
» Terms of Reference review

« Formation of ESG Committee and
associated updates
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Covid-19

This year's results have again been severely impacted by
Covid-19 and, as a result of which, the Company made s Headline
loss before tax and non-underlying items’ of £55m in the financial
year ended 31 August 2021. You can read more about the actions
the Company has undertaken on pages 8 to 19. The Company will
also not pay any dividends in respect of the financial year ended
31 August 2021.

The Board tank the following cteps during the yea is response to
Covid-19:

Board actions: The Board was provided with regular updates
fram senior executives an all aspects of the impact of Covid-19,
including the safety and wellbeing of our employees and
customers, government advice, lockdowns, financing, supplier
and landlord impacts, consumer behaviour and

scenario planning.

The Board also recewed regular information on the Company’s
liquidity position, trading and financial data. In April 2021 the
Cormpany consulted with shareholders and banks in order to
secure new financing arrangements to strengthen its balance
sheet, working capital and liquidity position. The new financing
arrangements include a new £250m revolving credit facility
[previously £200rm with an extended maturity untit April 2025
which 15 provided by an expanded syndicate of lending banks.

In addition, the issue of a £327m cenvertible bond provided

E50m of new capacity for the Campany to fund the opening of
approximately 100 new Trave! stares won and yet ta open over the
next three years and new growth opportunities. The remainder of
the proceeds was used to partially pay down the E400m term
loans from toth the Marshall Retail Group and InMotion
acquisitions, The maturity of the new £133m term loan is also
Aprit 2025. You can read more aboul the Company's finances on
pages 16 to 19.

Community support: During the further lockdowns during the
year, the Board took the decision to keep mosl of the Company’s
High Street and hospital stores open so that we could continue as
an essential retailer ta serve the commuanities in which we
operate. The Board alse took all necessary steps to hetp ensure
the safety of customers whilst visiting our stores by ensuring that
we complied with all refevant social distancing measures.

Protecting our employees: The safety and wellbeing of our staft
-has been a priority throughout the year. We are very proud of our
store colleagues who have done an outstanding jeb in serving our
custormers. Safety measures were put in place across all our
stores in line with government guidelines and advice, and
included social distancing measures, PPE for colleague use,
hygiene statians, protective screens at till points, enhanced
cleaning and encouraged use of self-chackout or contactiess
payment. Our distribution centres remained operational with
effective social distancing measures in place and head office staft
worked from home, where possible. Carl Cowling and other
senior management continued lo hold regular online briefings
for all employees. At the briefings, employees were given the
oppostunity to ask questions on arty issues retating to the
operation of the Company. Additionally. we have provided regular

reminders to staff on our wide-ranging support plan, which
includes access to trained Mental Health First Aiders and our
Employee Assistance Programme which offers all employees
access to free, 24/7 confidential telephone, online and face-to-
face advice for problems they may be experiencing at home or
work. Employees also have access to the Company's Benevolent
Fund charity, which can provide financial assistance in cases of
significant hardship and provide recuperative holidays and

care breaks.

Board evaluation

The performance of the Board, its Committees and its individual
directars is a fundamental component of the Company's success.
The Board regularly reviews its own performance and carried
out a formal evaluation in June 2021, The Board, i accordance
with the Code, appointed an external evaluator, EquityCulture
Limited, to carry out the Board evaluation this year
EquityCulture provides board evaluation services and has no
other connection with the Company ar any individual directors.
EquityCulture have reviewed and agree with this disclosure on
the Board evaluation undertaken by them. The main areas
constdered during the evaluation were strategy, operations and
risk; succession planning; and Board and Committee meetings.
The Board evaluation process was as follows. [i] EquityCulture
and the Chair agreed a set of questions specifically drafted for
the Company's Board Evaluation. The questions were designed
to focus the evaluation by Board members in a number of key
areas and to cover the performance of the Board and its
Commitiees; lii} EguityCulture used the agreed questions as the
basis for interviews with each of the directors and then produced
a repoit which compiled the results of the evaluation exercise;
[in) the Chairman reviewed the results of the evaluation exercise
and shared them with Board members in September 2021; and
liv) in November 2021, the Board reviewed the results and agreed
actions for 2022.

The results of the assessment confirmed the strength of the
management of the Company. a shared focus and deep
understanding of the business. a sound governance framework
and practices compliant with the Cade. Adddionally the culture of
the Board remains very good, being open and frank. whilst also
supportive and coliaborative. As a result of the review, the Board
agreed an action plan that will be implemented in the financial
year ending 31 August 2022 and will include continued focus on
executive and non-executive succession planning and the overall
composition of the Board; keeping the strategy under review and
focusing on the priorities of each business to deliver shareholder
value; increasing focus on people 1ssues and retention of key
senior executives; and steps to improve the Board's procedures
and effectiveness, including the effectiveness of the annual
strategy session. The Board revewed the agreed acticns
foliowing the internally facilitated evaluation carried out in 2020
and agreed that good progress had been made in respect of
these actions, mcluding in respect of the Company's Board
successicn ptan [most notably, the sppointment of two new
non-executive directors and the ongoing search for a successor
to the Chairman) and impravements in the Board's pracedures;
for exarmple, how the Board is updated on the key strategic

WH Smith PLC Annual Repert and Accounts 2021 45

axieusanoh jea0dioy



Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

initiatives which were identified at the Board strategy session.

In addition 1o the Board and Committee evaluation process, the
Group Chief Executive reviews the performance of the Chief
Financial Officer/Chsef Operating Officer [ CFO/CO0) and other
senior executives. The Chairman reviews the performance of the
Group Chief Executive.

The Chairman also undertook a ngarous review with each of the
non-executive directors to assess their effectiveness and
commitrment to the rote. During the year, the Chairman had
regular meelings with the non-executive directors, without the
executwe direclors present, to discuss Board issues and how to
maintain the best possible teamn. The Board is satished that each
of the non-executive directors dedicates sufficient time to the
husiness of the Company and contributes to its governance and
operations. The Senior Independent Director met the cther
nan-executive directors 1o undertake a rigorous assessment of
Henry Stauntan's performance given that he has served as
Chairman for eight years and has been on the Board for eleven
years. The non-executive directars confirmed that there are no
relationships ar circumstances which are Llikely to affect. or could
appear ty affect, his judgemnent or independence. The non-
execulive directors, taking into account the views of the executive
directors, concluded that Henry Staunton continues to act and
perform ettectively as Chairman and demcnstrates his
commitment Lo the role.

Succession planning and culture

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, directors are
required to retire and submit themselves for re-election every
three years and new directors appointed by the Board offer
themselves for election at the next AGM following their
appeointment. However, in accerdance with the Code, the Board
has agreed that all directors wishing to be appointed will stand
for election or re-election at the forthcoming AGM. At the last
AGM on 20 January 2021, all the directors at that time [aside
frarm Suzanne Baxter} stood for election or re-election and were
duly elected with a range of 21.01 per cent to 99.12 per cent of
votes cast by sharehotders.

The Company’s Articles of Association give a power to the Board
ta appoint directors and, where natice is given and signed by all
the other directors, to remeove a director from office.

During the year ahead, the Board will continue to focus on
succession planning to ensure the readiness of internal
candidates for all key roles across the business. The Boaid is
cormimitted te good governance, culture and leadership,
recognising that these are key considerations for a strong,
sustainable business and that the tone comes from the top.
Our busihess model on page 4 outlines the importance of
having the right people and skills; and operating responsibly.
The Campany's values, behaviours and culture will continue
to form an important part of the Board's discussions.

The Nominations Committee will continue to support the Board
by ensuring that culture is built into recruitment and
succession considerations.

The Board monitors the culture of the business in a number of
ways. including: through interaction with executives, members of
the senior management team, and other employees in Board
meetings and on visits to stares and other Company locations,
thraugh regular Board agenda items and supporting papers.
covering risk management, internal audit reports and fotlow-up
actions, custamer engagement, health and safety, employee
engagement and retention, whistleblowing and regulatory
breaches; reviewing the results of staff surveys, looking at a
range of employee indicaters, including engagement. retention,
absence, learning and developrent, gender pay, diversity,
workforce composition and demographics; and engaging with
other stakeholders, as described in the Corporate governance
report. During the year, the Board was satisfied that the policy,
practices and behaviour of the Board and employees were
aligned with the Company's purpose. values and strategy.

The Board recogrises the importance of being visible and
accessible to customers and employees. During the year the
non-executive directors accompanied management on site visils
to the High Street and Travel stores. The Board believes that site
visits provide directors with valuable insights into the business,
helping to deepen their knawtedge and understanding of the
Company When joining the Board, a new non-executive director
typically meets individuaily with each Board member and senior
management to give them insight into all aspects of the
business, including our strategy, culture, values, sustainability,
governance, and the opportunities and challenges facing the
business. The Company Secretary briefs them on policies, Board
and Cormnmittee procedures, and core governance practice.

They visit 3 number of business locations and meet key advisers.
They also receive induction materials including recent Board and
Cormmiltee papers and minutes, strategy papers. investor
presentations, Matters Reserved for the Board and the Board
Committees’ Terms of Reference.

During the year, Nicky Dulieu and Kal Atwat participated in an
induction pregramme, details of which are set out below:

 access to Board papers and minutes; briefing paper on the
guties of directors; Terms of Reference for Commitiees; Group

policies and procedures including the Code of Dealing:

« meetings with senior management. including the managing
directors of the Group's businesses, Group HR Director, Group
Risk Director, Investor Relations and Legal Director/
Company Secretary:

» meelings with advisers; and

* store visits.

The Board considered and approved that Kal Atwal could be
appointed as a non-executive director of Whitbread PLC, with
effect from 1 March 2021. The Board concluded that there was no
conflict in Kal Atwal being appointed to the board of Whitbread
PLC and that the demands associated with a non-executive
director role would not affect her commitment to the Company.
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Diversity policy

The Board values diversity in all its ferms, bath within its own
membership and at all levels of the Group. The Board is highly
supportive of the iniliatives the Campany has in place ta promote
dwersity throughout the business. The Board believes that
dwersity in its widest sense is a key component to the success of
the Company and receives reparts on the Company's diversity
profile to ensure that our workforce reflects our commitment to
dwersity. The Board aims to ensure its membership, and that of
the wider Graup, reflects diversity in its broadest sense so that it
has a combination of demographics, skills, experience, race, age,
gender. education and professional background thereby providing
a wide range of perspectives, insights and challenge needed to
support good decision-making. The Board's diversity policy aims
to ensure that the Board nominations/appointments process is
based on fairness, respect and inclusion, and that the search far
candidates will be conducted with due regard ta the benefits of
diversity. It is the Company’s aim to achieve a mimimurm of a third
of women at Board and senier levels. The Board alse supports
the recommendations of the Parker Review on ethnic diversity
and has met the "1 by 24 target. The Board recognises that there
15 mare to do to increase the ethnic representation across the
Company. For additionat information on diversity and inctusion,
see pages 94 and 55, In order to improve the diversily of the
Company's senior management team, the Company introduced a
new recruitment pelicy requiring that there is a shortlist of a
Minimum of six candidates for each vacancy of which 50 per cent
must be fermale and at least ene must be from a black or minority
ethnic background. The Remuneration Committee included the
Company's cornpliance with this pelicy as a personal objective far
the Group Chief Executive for the annual bonus plan in the
financial year ended 31 August 2021. The Company also has 2
Diversity and Inclusion Committee consisting of employees from
across the Group together with the Group Chief Executive and the
Group HR Directar. The Committee met three times during the
financiat year ended 31 August 2021 and made recommendations
on how the Company can improve its diversity

Further information on diversity can be found in the Nominations
Comimittee section on pages 54 and 55 and is set out in the
Employees section of the Strategic report on pages 32 to 34.

Risk management

The Board has oversll respansibility for the Group’s system of
risk management and internal cortrol fincluding financial
controls, controls in respect of the financial reporting process
and operational and cormpliance controls] and has conducted a
detailed review of its effectiveness during the year to ensure that
management has implemented its policies on risk and control.
This rewew inciuded receiving reports from management,
discussion, challenge, and assessment of the principal risks.

No significant failings or weaknesses were identified from this
review. In addition, the Board also received presentations from
management on hegher risk areas, for example, the ongoing
impact of Cavid-19, supply chain, risks arising from Brexit and
increasing the Company’s food offer. The Board has established
an organrsational structure with clearly defined lines of
responsibility which identify matters requiring approval by the
Board. Steps continue lo be taken to embed internal control and
risk management further into the operations of the business and

to deal with areas that require improvermnent which corme to the
attention of management and the Board. Such a system is,
however, designed to manage rather than elminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can anly provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for
identifying, evalualing and managing emerging and principal
risks faced by the Group, including those 1ishs relating to social,
environmental and ethical matters. The Board undertakes a
robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks.

The Board confirms that the processes have been in place for the
year under review and up to the date of this report and that they
accord with the Financial Reporting Council [ FRC’) Guidance on
Risk Management, Inlernal Control and Related Financiat and
Business Reporting (the Risk Management and Internal Cantrol
Guidance ). The processes are regularly reviewed by the Board.
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group together
with the procedures and processes for idenbifying, managing and
the steps taken te mitigate principal and emerging risks can be
found i the Strategic report on pages 21 o 78.
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Further informatian on internal controls ang risk management
can be found in the Audit Committee report on pages 47 to 33.

Engagement with shareholders

The Board's primary role is to pramate the success of the
Company and the interests of shareholders. The Board is
accountable to shareholders for the performance and activilies
of the Group. The Company recognises the importance of
communicating with its shareholders to ensure that its strategy
and performance are understood. This is achieved principally
through the Annual report and accounts and the AGM. In addition,
a range of corporate information. including all Company
announcements and presentatiens. is available Lo investors on
the Company’s website whsmithplc.co.uk.

Formal presentations are made to instituticnal shareholders
following the announcernent of the Company’s full year and
interirm resulls. The Board recognises that the AGM is normatly
the principal forum for dialogue with private shareholders.

All directors normally attend the AGM and are available to
answer questions that shareholders may wish to rase. As a
result of Covid-19, the Company did nat hold a physical AGM in
January 2021 but gave sharehelders the oppartunity to ask
questions in advance of the meeting. The questions and answers
were published on the Company’s website (whsmithpic.co.uk/
response-shareholder-questions-2021-agm). At the time of
writing, UK public health regutations and guidance allow us to
return to an in-person meeting this year, with shareholders
physically able to attend the AGM should Lthey wish to do so.

We will continue to review our AGM arrangernents in light

of the latest government Covid-19 guidance, and therefore
shareholders are encouraged to monitor the AGM page

of the Company's website www.whsmithplc.co.uk/investors/
shareholder-centre/agm for any updates.
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Corporate governance report continued

The Board as a whole is kept fully informed of the views and
concerns of major sharehoiders. The Group Chief Executive and
CFO/CO0 update the Board fallowing meetings with major
shareholders and analysts’ briefings are circulated to the Board.
The Head of Investor Relations also carries out a regular
programme of work and reports to the Board the views and
information needs of institutional and major investors. This is
part of the regular contact that the Group maintains with its
institutional sharehslders. When requested to do so, the
Chairman and non cxecutive directors dllend meetings with
major shareholders. The Chairman spoke to some of the
Company's largest shareholders to discuss the Board's
succession plan and composition of the Board. Following the
2021 AGM, at which a significant minority of shareholders voted
against the Directors’ remuneration report, the Chair of the
Remuneration Committee sought the views of the Company's
largest shareholders and representatives in respect of the
Cempany's new rermuneration policy and Carl Cowling's salary.
The feedback from those shareholders who engaged in the
consultation process was supportive of the proposed changes
to the Company’s remuneration policy. The feedback was
informative for both the Board and the Remuneration Committee
when finalising the Company's remuneration policy, which will be
considered by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM, and Cart
Cowling's salary.

Anti-corruption

The Company has continued to enhance its policies and
procedures in order to meet the requirernents of the Bribery Act
2010. These policies and procedures include training for
individuals to ensure awareness of acts that might be construed
as contravening the Bribery Act. The Group’s policy on anti-
bribery and corruption is included in the Company’s Code of
Business Conduct at whsmithple co.ubk/sustainability.

Fair, balanced and understandable

The Board confirms that it considers the 2021 Annual report and
accounts, taken as a whole, s fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the infermation necessary for shareholders to
assess the Company's position and performance, business
model and strategy.

Discussion of the Board's assessment of the Annual report and
accounts is described in the Audit Committee report on pages
51 and 52.

Board Committees

The Board delegates specitic responsibilities to the Board
Committees, being the Audit, ESG, Nominations and
Remuneration Committees. Details of the role and
responsibitilies of the Audit Committee can be found on pages
49 to 53, the Nominations Committee on pages 54 and 55 and
the Remuneration Committee on pages 58 to B4. The role and
responsibilities of each Committee are set out in formal terms
of reference which are available on the Company’s website
whsmithplc.co.uk,

Approvals Committee

The Approvals Committee facilitates the internal approvals
process by approving matters as delegated by the Board.

The Approvals Committee comprises the Group Chief Executive
and the CFO/CQO.

Disclosure Committee

The Disclosure Commuttee is responsiale for ensuring
compliance with the Cornpany’s obligatiens under MAR

and the maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures.
The Disclosure Committee comprises all of the directors

of the Company and the Company Secretary

ESG Committee

The ESG Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving
Comnpany strategies, policies and performance in relation to
environmental, social and governance matters and ensuring
those strategies are integrated with the core business sirategy of
the Group. The Committee is alsc responsible for approving key
performance indicators, short-, medium- and long-term ESG
targets and monitoring progress towards achievement of those
targets on a reqular basis. The Committee comprises a majority
of independent non-executive directors. The members of the
Cornmittee are Kal Atwal [Chairl, Carl Cowling, Nicky Dulieu.
Annemarie Durbin, Simon Emeny, Henry Staunton and Maurice
Thompson. As the first meeting of this Commuttee will be in
Novernber 2021, the work of this Cornmittee will be rmore fully
described in next year's Annual report.

Remuneration Committee

Information on the composition and activities of the
Remuneration Committee can be found in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 58 to 84.
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Audit Committee report

bk

| am pleased to present my report on the activities
of the Audit Committee for the financial year ended

31 August 2021.”

Nicky Dulieu
Chair of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee report

Dear Shareholder

As Chair of the Audit Committee, | am pleased to present my
report on the activities of the Audit Committee for the financial
year ended 31 August 2021. Our principal abjectives are to
oversee and assist the Board in its responsibility to produce a set
of Annual report and accounts which are fair, balanced and
understandable and to prowide effective financial governance in
respect of the Group’s financial results, the performance of both
the internal audit function and the external auditors, and the
managemeant of the Group's systems of internal control, business
risks and retated cempliance activities.

The other members of the Committee are Kal Atwal, Annemarie
Durbin, Simon Emeny and Maurice Thompson, who are all
independent non-executive directors. The Board considers that |
have recent and relevant financial experience, as required by the
Cede, and that the Committee, as a whaole, has competence
relevant to the sector in which the Company aperates. At the
invitation of the Committee, the Chairman of the Board, the
Group Chief Executive, the CFO/COQ, the Director of Audit and
Risk, representatives of the Group's senior management tearn
and of the external auditors attend meetings. The Committee has
regular private meetings with the external and internat auditors
during the year.

Asummary of the activities undertaken by the Committee during
the year is as follows:

= considering the impact of Covid-19 on the Company and its
financial results, including the asset impairment charges that
have been recogmised at the year end;

considering papers from management on the significant
financial reperting judgements made in the preparation of the
Interim report and the Annual report and accounts;

considering the Company's going concern statement and
papers from management which cansider the liquidity of

the Group;

considering the Company’s viability statement and papers from
management, which considers the long-term viability of

the Group:

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting.
internal control policies and procedures for the identification,
assessment and reporting of risk, including cyber security
and tax; )

monitoring the integrity of the Group's financial statements
and trading statements; ‘

assessing and recommending to the Board that the Annual
report is fair, balanced and understandable:

reviewing the Interim report and the Annuat report and
accounts, including, where relevant. corpliance with the
Listing Rules, Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules,
Code and statutary reporting requirements and recommending
those documents for Board approval;

considering the Company’s emerging and principal risks and
uncertainties and reviewing the mitigating acticns that
management has taken to ensure that these risks are
appropriately monitored and controlled;

considering the Company’s systems and frarework of controls
designed to detect and report fraud and money laundering;
receiving the reports from Internal Audit in respect of calls to
the Company’s cenfidential Speak Up helpline;

receiving reports and presentations from members of the
Company's seniar management and its business risk
committees on areas of the Company’s control and risk
management processes,;

receiving and reviewing reports fram the Internal Audit and
Risk teams and reviewing and agreeing their annual plans;
holding private meetings with the external and

internat auditors;

considering the impact of Brexit on the Company;

agreeing the scope of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP's [[PwC']
annual audit plans, assessing the effectiveness of the external
audit process and considering the accounting, financial control
and audit issues reported by PwC that flowed from their work;
reviewing external auditor independence and approving the
policy on the engagement of PwC to supply non-audit services;
negotiating and agreeing the audit fee;

undertaking a performance review of Internal Audit and the
external auditors; ‘

reviewing the Company's treasury policy;

approval of the Group Tax Strategy:

receiving updates on the policies and procedures for the
General Data Protection Regulation [GDPR).

considering and approving the report cn the Company's
payment practices,

aauewsarab aeiodios

assessing new accounting standards; and
reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference.
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Corporate governance report continued

FRC Audit Quality Review

The Company recewed a letter on 27 July 2021 from the Financial
Reporting Council [FRC) noting that st had carried out a review of
PwC’s audit of the Company's financial statements for the year
ended 31 August 2020. We were pleased with the outcome of the
FRC's Audit Quality Review [AQR) which reported no key findings
and a number of good practice matters and the Committee
concluded that it had ne concerns about the quality of the

2020 audn .

Significant financial reporting issues and areas

of judgement

In preparing the financial statements, there are a number of
areas requiring the exercise by management of particular
Judgement, [he Commuttee's role 1s {o assess whether the
judgernents made by management are reasonable and
appropriate, In order to assist in this evaluation, the CFO/CO0
presents an accaunting paper to the Committee twice a year,
setting out the key financial reporting judgements, and other
papers as required. The main areas of judgement that have been
considered by the Cornmittee in the preparatton of the financial
staternents are as follows:

Going concern

The Committee reviewed and challenged management’s
assessment of forecast cash flows for the period to 28 February
2023 including sensitivity to trading and expenditure plans, and
for the potential impact of uncertainties including Covid-19 and a
macreeconomic downturn The Committee also considered the
Greup's financing facilities and future funding plans. Based on
this, the Committee confirmed that the application of the going
concern basis for the preparation of the financial siatements
continued to be appropriate, with no material uncertainties.

The Committee received a report from PwC on the work
undertaken to assess going concern and specifically discussed
the conient of the disclosures made in the going concern
statement in the Annual report and the basis of preparaticn
within Note 1 of the financial statements on page 103.

The going concern statement is set out in the Directors’ report on
page B7. For further information see Note 1 of the financial
statements on page 103.

Impairment review of store assets

The Committee received and considered a paper from
management cavering the judgernents made in respect of the
impairment testing of the Group’s praperty, plant and equipment
and right-of-use stere assets. The paper recognised that there
was an iIncreased risk of asset impairment at 31 August 2021
given that sales and cost pressures and the resultant forecast
reduction of future profitability in some stores caused by Covid-19
or otherwise may adversely impact the recoverable value of
assets used within the store portfolio. The Committee noted that
management had considered the trading results of each store for
the year and noted that where a stare is loss-making and is not
expected to return to profitability in the near future, an
impairment charge is recognised over the assets that cannot

be recycled and their value recovered through the generation

of fulure trading profits within the store portfolio. Given that
management has continued to report on the performance of the

business on 3 pre-IFRS 16 basis within its Alternative
Performance Measures alongside the statutory measures
derived under IFRS 14, the paper and discussions considered
impairment assessment of store assets on both bases.

The Committee challenged management o the assumplions
used within the impairment models and received and discussed
a paper fram PwC on their work in this area, which specifically
considered and reported on their challenge and assessment of
the key assumptions used and that the resultant charges were
altocated appropriately. The Committee was satisfied that the
approach adopted by management was sufficiently robust to
identify when an impairment charge of store assets needs to be
recognised and how it should be assessed and reported.

Goodwill and determination ol operating segments

The Committee considered a paper from management on
goodwill. This set out the determination of the cash-generating
units {'CGUs’| to which goodwill has been allocated across the
Group. the carrying value of goodwill, the results of the vatue-in-
use calculations and the outcames from impairment testing.
The Committee discussed the Company's approach to allocating
goodwill between the revised operating segrments of Travel UK,
North America and Rest of the World. The disclosures in respect
of goodwill were also reviewed.

The Committee discussed PwC's paper to the Commuttee which
set out their work undertaken in respect of goodwili and
considered the approach to the accounting, CGU determination,
irpairment testing and disclosure used by the Company.

Convertibie bond

The Committee considered a paper fram management on the
accounting treatment of the convertihle bond. It discussed the
judgements taken in respect of the accounting treatment of the
conversion option on initial recognitien of the bond and the
valuation methadology applied. The Committee was satisfied that
the judgements taken, and the resulling accounting treatment
applied, are appropriate. The Committee also considered the
disclosure included by management in the Annual report

and accounts.

Inventory valuation

The Committee received a paper from management on
accounting for and valuation of inventory. noting in particular the
impact of Covig-19 on trading. It discussed the judgements made
by management, with specilic consideration given to inventory
provisioning [both on an underlying and non-underlying basis).,
including provision for cut-of-date, slow moving or absolete stock
and the classification and disclosure of related charges in the
income staternent and financial statements. The Committee also
received a paper from PwC regarding the audit work they
performed aver the vatuation of inventary and the presentation

of inventory provision charges in the income statement split
hetween underlying and non-underlying. The Committee is
satisfied that the process and judgement adopted by
management for the valuation of inventery is sufficiently robust
to establish the value of inventory held and is satistied as to

the appropriateness of the Cornpany’s provisioning policy and
presentation of inventary provisions.

50 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



One-offtransactions

The Committee considered the presentation of the financial
statements and. in particular, the use of alternative performance
measures and the presentation of non-underlying items in
accordance with the Group accounting policy. This policy states
that adjustments are only made ta reperted profit before tax in
determining an alternative performance measure where charges
are nof censidered part of the normal operating costs of the
business, are non-recurring or are considered exceptional
because of thewr size, nature ar incidence. The Committee
receved detailed reports from management outlining the
judgements applied in retation to the non-underlying costs
incurred during the year. These costs were attributable te the
costs arising as a result of the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the
Group including restructuring costs, asset impairment charges.
the cost of writing down slow moving or obsolete inventory and
costs of refinancing. This was an area of major focus for the
Commiltee which was cognisant of the need to ensure that costs
were approprigtely classified and that the disclosure of the
nan-underlying items was sufficient for users of the financial
statements 1o understand the nature and reason for the costs.
The Committee challenged management on the nature of costs
classified as non-underlying, particularly discussing the factors
underpinning the Covid-19 related costs and seeking specific
input from PwC. PwC outlined the delails and nature of the audit
work carried aut by them in this area, along with their
consideration of the disclosures presented by management and
the appropriateness of the cost classifications adopted.

Pepsions

The Committee assessed the accounting treatment adopted by
management and the application af IAS 19 in relation to the
WHSmith defined benefit pension scheme The Commitiee
considered the current guidance and requirements in respect of
pensions acceunting, reviewed the jJudgements made in respect
of the assumptions used in the valuation of the Company's
obligations under the scheme and the recagnition of future
liabilities in respect of comritted scheme contributions on the
balance sheet. A detailed report on pensions accounting and
related disclosures was provided by the auditor which set out the
work performed including their challenge and assessment of key
scheme valuation assumptions compared to their independently
observed ranges.

Viability statement

The Committee reviewed the process and assessment of the
Company’'s praspects made by management in support of its
langer-term viability statement. includ:ng:

* the rewiew period and alignment with the Company’s internal
plans and forecasts and with its work to support the going
concern basis of presentation for the financial statements;

the assessment of the capacily of the Company to remain

wable after consideration of future cash flows, borrowings and

mitigating factors; and

+ the madelling of the potential financial impact of certain of the
Company's principal risks materialising using severe but
plausible scenarios, including the impact of Covid-19. on the
Company's financial performance.

The Committee considered the viability statement and related

analyses alongside its work on going concern, as set out in this

report on page 90. It also discussed the clarity and

appropriateness of the disclosures made within the viability

statement and discussed these with PwC.

The viability staternent 1s set out in the Strategic report on
page 28.

Fair, balanced and understandable assessment

At the request of the Board, the Committee has considered
whether, in its opinicn, the 2021 Annual report and accounts,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and that
it provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Company’s position and performance, business model and
strategy. The Committee was assisted in its review by a number
of processes, including the following:

« the Annual report and accounts is drafted by senior
management with overall co-ordination by a member of the
Group Finance team to ensure consistency across the
relevant sections; .

an nternal verification precess is undertaken to ensure
factual accuracy:;

an independent review is undertaken by the Director of Audit
and Risk to assess whether the Annual report and accountsts
fair, balanced and understandable using a set of pre-defined
indicators [such as consistency with internally reported
information and investor communications];

comprehensive reviews of drafts of the Annual report and
accounts are undertaken by the executive directors and other
senior management;

* an advanced draft is reviewed by the Board and the Company’s
Legat Director and, in relation to certain sections, by exiernal
legal advisers; and

the final draft of the Annual report and accounts was reviewed
by the Committee prior to consideration by the Board.

-
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Corporate governance report continued

in the current year, the Committee specifically considered the
disclosures made in respect of the impact on the business of the
Covid-19 pandemuc and the presantation and explanation of the
statutory and alternative performance measures. This included
cansideration of the use of measures derived consistently with
IFRS 16 {Leases) and APMs derived on a pre-IFRS 14 basis [IAS
17). These pre-IFRS 16 APMs have been adopted to help to
demonstrate the underlying, year on year performance of the
business following the introduction of IFRS 16 during the prior
year and its material impact on the Croup’s resulls.

Following its review, the Committee advised the Board that the
Annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, was considered ta
be fair, balanced and understandable and that it provided the
information necessary for shargholders to assess the Company's
position and perfermance, business model and strategy.

Risk management and internal controls

The Committee menitors and regularly reviews the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management processes and internal financial
and non-financial controls. The key features of the risk
management process that were in place during the year are

as follows:

» each business conducts risk assessments based on identified
business objectives, which are reviewed and agreed annually
by the executive management of each business. Risks are
considered in respect of strategy, reputation, operations,
financial and compliance and are evaluated in respect of their
potential impact and likelhood. These risk assessments are
updated and reviewed quarterly and are reponed to
the Committee:

* a Group nisk assessment 1s alsa undertaken by the Internal
Audit tearm, which considers all areas of potential risk across
all systems, functions and key business processes. This risk
assessment, together with the business risk assessments,
forms the basis for determining the Internal Audit Plan,

Audit reports in relation to areas reviewed are discussed and
agreed with the Committee;

the Internai Audit team meets annually with all senior
executives, to undertake a formal review and certification
process in assessing the effectiveness of the internal controls
across the Group. The results of this review are reported Lo
the Committee;

the Committee confirmed to the Board that it has reviewed the
effectiveness of the systems of internal control, including
financial, operational, and compliance controls and risk
management for the period of this report, in accordance with
the Code and the Risk Management and Internal

Contral Guidance;

the Board is responsible for approving the annual budget and
the three-year plan, for appraving major acquisitions and
disposals and for determining the financial structure of the
Company. including treasury and dividend policy.

Monthly resuits, variances from plan and forecasts are
reported to the Board; '

= the Committee assists the Board in the discharge of its duties
regarding the Group's financial statements, accounting policies
and the maintenance of internal business, operational and
financiat controls. The Committee invites input and attendance
from members of the senior management team of the Group
at its meetings to discuss the design and operation of key
business and internal controls and the assessment of risks
that affect the Group. The Committee provides a link between
the Board and PwC through regular meetings;

the Company has established internal controt and risk
management systems in relation to the process for preparing
consolidated financial statements. The key features of these
systems are that management regularly monitars and
considers developments in accounting regulations and best
practice in financial reporting and, where appropriate. reflects
developments in the consolidated financial statements.

PwC also keeps the Comemittee appraised of these
developments; the Committee and the Beard review the draft
consolidated financial statements. The Committee recewnes
reports from management and PwC on significant judgements,
changes in accounting palicies, changes in accounting
estimates and other pertinent matters relating to the
consolidated financial statements, and provides robust and
independent challenge to management where appropriate; and
the full year financial statements are subject to externat audit
and the hatf-year financial statements are reviewed by the
external auditor;

the Internal Audit team advises and assists management in the
establishment ang maintenance of adequate internal controts
and reports to the Commitiee on the effectiveness af

thase controls;

there is a comprehensive system for budgeting and ptanning
and for monitoring and reporting the performance of the
Company's business to the Board. Monthly results are reported
agamnst budget and prior year, and forecasts for the current
financial year are regularly revised in light of actual
performance. These results and forecasts cover profits, cash
flows, capital expenditure and halance sheets;

* routine reports are prepared to cover treasury activities and
risks, for review by senior executives, and annual reports are
prepared for the Board and Commuttee covering tax, treasury
policies, insurance and pensions; and

the Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
health and safety in alt its business activities. These standards
are set out in the Company’s Health and Safety Policy, which is
regularly reviewed by the Board. A copy of aur Health and
Safety Policy is available at whsmithplc.co.uk/sustainability.
The Risk Managament team works with the business to assess
health and safety risks and introduce systems to mitigate
them. All reportable accidents are investigated and targets sre
set to reduce the level of incidence.

The Director of Audit and Risk attends the meetings of the
Commitiee to discuss the above matters.
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External auditor

During the year PwC reported to the Committee an their
independence from the Company. The Cormnmittee and the Board
are satisfied that PwC has adeguate policies and safeguards in
place to ensure that auditor objectivity and independence are
maintained. The Committee has racommended to the Board the
re-appointment of the external Auditors for the 2022 financial
year and the directors will be proposing the re-appointment of

" PwC at the farthcorning AGM.

PwC were first appointed as external suditors at the 2015 AGM,
following a competitive tender process completed in 2014,
Jonathan Lambert was appointed as the PwC audit partner and
Sentor Statutory Auditor at the cenclusion of the 31 August 2019
year end

In accordance with applicable law and regulation, the Company is
required to conduct a competitive audit tender by December
2024. tn line with the Company’s policy for the external audit
contract to be pul out to tender at least every ten years, and in
compliance with the rules on mandatory audit rotation, the
Committee propose that a competilive tender process is likely to
be held in 2023. The Committee considers that a competitive
tender is in the best interests of our shareholders as it will allow
the Company o appoint the audit firm that will provide the
highest quality, most effective and efficient audit.

The Committee witl continue to monitor the appointment,
effectiveness and independence of PwC as external auditors,
as well as considering whether this proposed timing remains
appropriate in light of business developrments, applicable law
and regulation,

In ting with our terms of reference, the Committee undertook a
thorough assessment of the quality, effectiveness, valug and
independence of the 2020 year end audit provided by PwC.

The Director of Audit and Risk prepared a questionnaire seeking
the views and feedback of the Board, together with those of
Group and dwvisional management, and it formed the basis of
further discussion with respondents. Input was sought from
Committee members and from members of the management
tearn on areas including the auditor's expertise, professionalism,
independence and challenge; their planning and audit approach;
the quatity and content of reporting and the outputs from the
audit; and governance of the audit including assessment of team
members’ performance and independence. The findings of the
survey were considered by the Committee and concluded that
PwC continued to perform effectively and remains independent.
As a result, PwC's re-appointment as external auditors at the
forthcoming AGM is recommended to shareholders.

The Committee has a fermal policy on the Company's
relationship with its external auditors in respect of non-audit
work to ensure that auditor objectivity ang independence are
maintained. The policy 15 reviewed annually by the Commitlee
and was updated fotlowing the intreduction of the FRC Revised
Ethicat Standard 2019. The only significant non-audit wark
undertaken by PwC in the financial year ended 31 August 2021
related to the interim review. The auditors may only provide such
services if such advice does not conflict with thewr statutory
responsibilities and ethical guidance. The Committee made
enquiries of PwC and management and were satisfied that ne
such conflict existed.

On bebalf of the Audit Committee, my approval is required before
the Company uses PwC for non-audit services as specifically set
out i the policy, or if the fees exceed £25.000 per matter.

The Committee is satisfied that the Company was compliant
during the year with both the Code and the FRC's Ethical and
Auditing Standards in respect of the scope and maximum level of
permitted fees incurred for non-audit services provided by PwC.
For the financial year ended 31 August 2021 the nan-audit fees
paid to PwC were £134,100, of which £135,000 related to the
interim review, and the audit fees payable to PwC were
£1.450,000.

The Company has complied during the financial year under
review, and up ta the date of this report, with the provisians of the
Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market
Investigation [Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes
and Audit Committee Responsibilities] Order 2014.
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Nicky Dulieu
Chatir of the Audit Committee |

11 Novernber 2021
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance report continued

Nominations Committce report

The Committee will continue to focus on
succession planning and talent management for

key rales in the business.”

Henry Staunton
Chair of the Nominations Committee

Nominations Committee

Dear Shareholder

As Charr of the Nominations Committee, | am pleased to present
my report on the activities of the Nominations Committee for the
financiat year ended 31 August 2021, The Commitlee’s principat
responsibilily is 1o ensure that the Board comprises indwviduals
with the requisite skills, knowledge, independence and
experience to ensure that it 1s effective in discharging its
responsibilities and ensure that appropriate procedures are in
place for the normination, selection and succession of directors
and senior executives, .

The Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive directors. The other members of the Committee are
Kal Atwal. Carl Cowling, Nicky Dulieu, Annemarie Durbin, Simon
Emeny and Maurice Thompsen. In the event of any matters
arising concerning my membership of the Board, | woutd absent
myself from the meegting as required by the Code and the Senior
Independent Director would take the Chair.

The Comrmittee met twice during the year. The principal matters
discussed at the meetings were succession planning for Board
and senior executives, the appointment of two new non-executive
directors, career planning and identifying talent across the
businesses and reviewing the work that has been undertaken

in respect of improving diversity in the Company’s senior
executive group.

In accordance with the Board's succession plan which aims to
broaden the diversity of candidates to join the Board. the
Committee agpointed an external recritment consultant,
Annabel Richards Limited, to assist in the process of
identification of potential candidates to join the Board generally
and as a replacement for Annemarie Durbin who will, after nine
years, step down from the Boardg at the forthcoming AGM.

For each search, Annabel Richards initiated a search which
produced a langlist of candidates, which was then reduced o a
shortlist of candidates. These shortlisted candidates were
interviewed by members of the Corinittee and the CFO/COQO,
and feedback on each candidate was compiled. As a result of
these searches, Kal Atwal was appainted as a non-executive
director on 1 February 2021 and Marion Sears will join the Board
as a non-executive director on 1 February 2022. | contirm that
Annabet Richards has no other relationship with the Company or
individual directors.

The Committee keeps itsetf updated on key developments
relevant to the Company, including on the subject of diversity

and inclusion, informatian on diversity, including gender,

in respect of the Board and the Company is st out in the
Employees section of the Strategic repart on pages 32 10 34.

The Board believes in creating throughout the Company a culture
free from discrimination in zny form and is proud of its long
history of being regarded as a responsible and respected
employer. The Board believes that the benefits of a diverse
workforce will help the Company achieve its strategic abjectives.

The Committee is fully committed to supporting diversity and
inclusion at Beardroom and senior executive level in compliance
with the Code and recognises the importance of diversity in
effective decision-making. The long-term aim is to increase the
diversity of our Board in all forms. The importance of diversity
extends beyond the Board to senior management and throughout
the Company. The Committee monitors the progress made to
increase diversity at Board and senior management leveis and
compliance with targets ang best practice recommendations set
for gender diversity by the Hampton-Alexander Review and for
ethnic diversity by the Parker Review.

The Hampton-Alexander Review recommended that by 2020
there would be at least 33 per cent female representation at the
Board, Executive Committee positions and direct reports of the
Executive Committee [‘Senior Management Team'). We are
pleased to report that as at 31 August 2021, three women and five
men served on the Board, which meant that 37.5 per cent of our
Board were female Our Group Executive Team has two out of
nine positions held by women {22 per centl, OF their direct
reports, 22 out of 46 positions [32 per cent] are hetd by women.
The Committee is mingdlut of the recommendation of the Parker
Review Report to have at least one Director from a non-white
ethnic minority by 2024 and is satisfied that aur Board currently
meets this recommendation.
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During the year under review, the Company had 37 per cent
women on the Board, 22 per cent in the Group Executive Teamn
and their direct reports and 32 per cent in the management
team. The Board is comrnitted to strengthening the pipeline of
women in senior roles across the business and an action plan
has been agreed to take turther steps to improve workplace
diversity. Actions include the provision of mentoring, as well as
focused initiatives to better understand the challenges faced by
under-represented groups emplayed within the Company

The Company has a Diversity arud liciusion Committee consisting
of employees from across the Group together with the Group
Chief Executive and the Group HR Director. The committee has
met three times during the financial year ended 31 August 2021
and has made recommendations on recruitment, and engaged
with our customers and employees to mark cuttural and diversity
related events during the year. These recommendations have
been acted upon and adapted by the Company.

The Company requires gender balanced shortlists for all internal
and external recrutment at a senior executive level to ensure
that we attract more women at senwor level. Further information
on ihe gender balance of those in senior ranagement and their
direct reports is set out in the Strategic report on page 33.

The Company continues to work with 'Everywoman’ who provide
3 host of personal development toals aimed at women and also
provide our employees with links ta an external network of
professional wornen in other organisations.

The Board recognises that diversity is not limited to gender, but
includes skilts, experience, ethnicity, disability and sexual
arientation. The Board is committed to having a diverse and
inclusive leadership tearmn and will monitor ethnic diversity across
the Group. The Company's recruitment policy requires that for all
senior management roles there must be a shortlist which
includes at least one candidate from a non-white minority ethnic
background. We will continue ta appoint on merit, whilst aiming
to broaden the diversity of the talent pipeline.

Further information on diversity 15 set out in the Employees
section of the Strategic report on pages 32 to 34.

The Committee will continue to focus on succession planning and
talent managerment for key roles across the business, to ensure
the Company develops a pipeline of high-quality internal
candidates for senior management roles. Waork is being
undertaken to ensure succession arrangements are in place for
Board mernbers and key management. Simon Emeny, the Senor
independent Director, has. on behalf of the Board, commenced

a search for my replacement as Chairman. The Company has
appointed an external recruitment consultant, Lygon Group.

to assist in the process of identification of potential candidates.

The latest Board evaluation report confirmed that the culture

of the Board is excellent, being very open and cotlaborative.

The Board continues to have a broad mix of skills, diversity,
experience and talent, which enables the Board and the
Committees to work effectively. The report also confirmed that
the Board is well led and has respended effectively to the issues
arising from Covid-19.

Henry Staunton
Chair of the Nominations Committee

11 November 2021

X
AL K
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Directors’ biographies -

Henry Staunton
Chairman

Date of appeintment: 1 Seplember 2010, Henry was appoinled as
Chairman on 1 September 2013. Herry will step down as Chairman
in 2022

Committee membership: Chair of the Nominatians Commitiee 2nd a
mermnber of the ESG Committee and Remuneration Commitles.

Skills and experience: Henry brings a breadth of experience and
leadership in both execulive and non-executive roles. He has extensive
finance, media and retail experlise and is Chairman of Capital and
Counties Properties PLC. He was previously the Finance Direclor of
Granada and ITV. Chairman of Ashiead Group, Phoenix Group Holdings
and Vice Chairman of Legal and General PLC.

Robert Moorhead

Chief Financial
Officer and Chief
Operating Officer

Date of appointment: | December 2008.

Skills and experience: Robert has over 25 years of retail and financial
management experience, which has proved invaluable in his role as
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer. He has a deep
undersianding of the Group s businesses and strategy and has a strong
track record of creating shareholder value. He is a Chartered Accountant
and joined WHSmith in 2004 as Retail Finance Director. He is a non-
executive direclor and Chair of the Audit Committee ol The Walches of
Switzerland Group PLC. Previously, he was Group Finance Director al
Specsavers Gptical Group and Finance and IT Girectar of World Outy Free
Europe. He also hetd a number of roles at B&Q and Kingfisher Group.
He started his career at Price Waterhouse,

Carl Cowling

Group Chief Executive

Date of appointment: 24 February 2019. Carl was appointed as
Group Chief Executive on 1 November 2019

Committee membership: Nominations Committee and ESG Commiltee.

Skills and experience; Carl has considerable retail experience and has
been instrumental in the development and execution of the Company's
strategy. His strang leadership and strategic expertise enable him ta
tead the Group and create shareholder value. He joined WHSmith as
Managmg Director, Travet in November 2014.1n 2017 he was
appainted Managing Directar, High Streel. Prior to joining WHSmith,
Carl was Managing Oirector of. Global partnerships at Carphone
Warehouse and previously spent over a decade at Dixons where he held
the roles of Ecommerce Director, Commercial Director and Managing
Director of the airport retailing business, Dixons Travel.

Kal Atwal

Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 1 February 2021

Committee membership: Chair of the ESG Committee and a
member of the Audit Cammitiee, Remuneration Commiliee and
Nominations Committee.

Skills and experience: Kal has substantial markeling and digilat
expertise. She spent 16 years at BGL Group and held several rales,
inctuding Founding Managing Director of comparethemarket.com and
Group Director responsible for brand-led businesses, group sirategy
and corporate communications. Kal was also Chair of Simply Coak prior
to its sale to Nestlé. Kal is a non-executive director al Royal London
Group, Admiral Financial Services, a subsidiary of Admiral Group Pic,
Whitbread PLC and 2 board advisar fur Simply Cook Limited.
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Annemarie Durbin
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 3 December 2012,

Committee membership: Chair of the Remuneration Commitlee and a
member of the Audit Committee. ESG Commillee and Nominations
Committee. Annemarie will step down as a non-executive director
lollowing the Campany’s forthcoming AGM.

Skills and experience: Annemarie’s international background and her
tegal experience and knowledge cf regulatory and compliance matters
provides a valuable contribulion to the operation af WHSrmith, Sheis a
non-executive director and Chair of the Remuneraticn Committee ol
Sanlander UK PLC, Persimman PLC and Petershill Partners PLC and
Chair of Cater Allen Limited. Previously. she was a non-executive direcior
of Ladbrokes Coral Group PLC and was Chair of the Listing Authority
Advisgry Panel. She has 25 years international banking experience,
parlicularly across Asia, Alrica and the Middle Easl, operaling at Beard
and Executive Commitlee level. In addition to her directorships,
Annernarie I1s an executive coach and a conilict mediator.

Maurice Thompson
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: 24 February 2019,

Committee membership: Member of the Audit Committee, ESG
Committee, Remuneration Commuttee and Nominations Cammittee.

Skills and experience: Maurice has subslantial Board and financial
experlise, with over 30 years of experience in the international banking
induslry. He is able to draw upan his extensive knowledge of financial and
strategic experience to assist the Board and its Commitlees.

He previously held the pesilion of Chief Execulive of Citibank in the UK.

Simon Emeny
Non-executive direclor

Date of appointment: 24 February 201 9.

Committee membership: Semior Independent Director and @ member
of the Audit Committee, ESG Commitlee, Remuneration Comnittee
and Nominations Committee.

Skills and experience: Simon has a wealth of consumer-facing
experience, including transport hub sites, and brings this broad range
of skills and commerciat expertise 1o the Board and its Commitiees.

He is Group Chiel Executive of Fuller, Smith & Turner PLC, a role he has
held since 2013. Simon was prewously the Senior Independent Directer
of Dunelm Group PLC.

Nicky Dulieu
Non-executive director

Date of appointment: ¢ September 2020,

Committee membership: Chair of Lhe Audit Committee

and a member of the ESG Commutiee, Remuneration Committee

and Nominations Commitlee.

Skills and experience: Nicky has substanliat financial and retai
expertse. She trained as an accountant and held various strategic and
financial roles within Marks & Spencer Group PLC over a 23-year period.
In 2006, Nicky joined the Board of Hobbs Limited as Chief Operating
Officer and Finance Direcior and was Chief Execulive from 2008 until
2014, With her finance and retail expertise, she 1s a valuable member of
the Board and Chair of the Audil Commitige. She is @ nan-executive
director at Redrow PLC, Marshall Motor Holdmgs PLC and Adnams PLC.

lan Houghton is Company Secretary and Legal Director
and was appointed in Seplember 1978,

Previous directors who served during Lhe financial year ended
3} August 2021:

Suzanne Baxter stepped down as a director of the Company
on 20 tanuary 2021.
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report

The Company believes that its approach to total compensation has

served the Company well. The proposed changes to the Directors’
remuneration policy are fully aligned to the Company’s strategic plan.
They are also in keeping with the Company’s culture that promaotes

superior value creation in a responsible and sustainable way.”

Annemar ie Durbin
Chair of the Remuneration Comrmittee

Annual statement from the
Remuneration Committee Chair

Dear Shareholder

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee [the Committee’],
| am pleased to present the Directors’ remuneration report for
the financial year ended 31 August 2021. This repert cavers
three areas:

* the forward-looking Directors’ rernuneration policy which 1s
subject 10 a binding shareholder vote at our 2022 AGM as set
out on pages 6110 72; '

= the annual Directors’ remuneration report [ report’] setting out
details of the implementation of our Directors’ remuneration
policy in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 as set out on
pages 72 to 84. This report 1s subject to an advisory vote at our
2022 AGM; and

» an explanation of how the proposed Directors’ remuneration
palicy well be imptemented in the financial year ending
31 August 2022 as set out on page 75 also forms part of
the Report.

The Remuneration Committee helieves that the management
team has performed to a truly exceptional level this year.

In addition to steering the business through an extraordinarily
gifficult perigd, their actions have been fundamental in
establishing a commanding position from which the Company
can build back stronger going forward. More details of the
actions taken are set out below. Of particular note has been the
winning of all 30 technology stores in UK airports and the circa
100 stores won ang yet to open in Travel over the next three
years. The Board believe that this management team is pivotat to
the future success of the business. When balancing the interests
of all stakeholders in our decision-making, retaining and
motivating the management team for the future success of the
business has been one of our primary objectives

Directors’ remuneration policy

Our Directors’ remuneration policy focuses on an apgroach to
pay which, we believe, is in our sharehoiders” best interests and
promotes the long-term success of the Company. Whilst it

provides executive remuneration packages which are competitive,

there is a very clear bias to variable pay with stretching anc
rigorous perfermance measures and conditions designed to
deliver superior returns for sharehalders over the long term.

Our existing remuneration policy was supported by 98.78 per cent
of shareholders at the 2019 AGM The future policy [subject to

shareholder approval} incorporates the following changes to
further bring the palicy in line with governance best practices.

« introduction of forward-looking post-cessation share
ownership gurdelines;

inclusion of appropriate ESG metrics into the LTIP from
September 2022;

aligning the bonus opportunity for the two execute directors
at 160 per cent of salary i.e. ta increase Robert Moorhead's
bonus opportunity from 130 per cent to 160 per cent in order to
recognise his impartance to the recovery and future success of
the Group; .

inclusion of ability in exceptional circumstances only to pay a
bonus of up to 20 per cent of maximum for strong personal
perfarmance when financial thresholds have not been met,
noting that this gives less flexibility than many other
companies, and

re-confirmation that executive director pensions will be atigned
with the wider workforce from 1 January 2023.

Our Directors’ remuneration policy has worked well supparting
the Company’s long-term strategy to create shareholder value.
You can see how the Comipany has, over the past ten years,
generzted shareholder value over this period in the TSR graph
on page 77.

The Company's rernuneration phitosophy can be summarised as
providing at or betow the median of market levels of fixed pay but
with the opportunity to earn upper quartile levels of remuneration
for exernplary performance aimed at delivering superior returns
for shareholders in a responsible and sustainable way over the
lang term. Further details of the proposed changes ta the
Company's remuneration policy are set out on pages 61to 72,

Business Context: “Building Back Stronger as a result
of management actions”

Although inevitably Covid- 19 has continued to impact the
Company during the financial year ended 31 August 2021,
management has exerted considerable effort to sirengthen and
reshape the Company during the year focusing on initiatives
within its control. These have supported the Company in the
short term and will put the Company in & strong position 1o
emerge stronger as all our markets racover. As global travel
restrictions have eased, the Company has seen a return to
travelling. led first by domestic travel and ther shart-haul.
Long-haul travel will be the last to recover. Most industry
forecasts, including the Airports Council International ["ACI"),
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do not expect passenger numbers to return to 2019 levels uniil
2024. In order to "build back stronger”, management has:

» worked with Travet landlords and building on the Company’s
strong relationships to create opportunities for winning new
business, extending key contracts and improving the quality
and location of the space where the Travel business operates.
The expansion af InMotion into the UK through the winning of
all technology stores in UK airports is a good example of this
in practice. As at the end of October 2021, the Travel business
had won approximately 100 stores which have yet 1o open,
including the 30 InMotion stores in UK airports;

investeg capex in strategically important projects which set
up the Group well for the future, such as our refitted stores at
London Heathrow Terminal 5 and our stores at the new
termingl at Manchester Airport; '

focused on growing average transaction values across
the Group;

extended categories and ranges lo reflect the specific needs
of our customers in each location where we operate.
Management have done this through a forensic attention to
space. cross category promotions, merchandising, store
layouls and store refits;

grown the Cormpany’s internet proposition by extending product
ranges, investing in our websites, marketing, fulfilment and
distribution and building customer engagement through

social media;

actively taken steps to improve the Company's envirenmental
footprint and was recognised as a leader in ESG through
inclusion in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index;

maintained a sharp focus on costs, minimising discretionary
spend and managing the Company’s cash burn; and

secured the Company’s financial position through the
agreement of new bank financing arrangements and the issue
of the convertible bond. The Company is not, and has not,
participated in any gevernment-backed loan arrangements.

Whist the financial positicn has clearly been impacted by
Covid-19, the Committee considers that these changes [and
particularly the expansion of InMotion in UK airports] have
enhanced this potentially high growth part of our business
giving an optimal platform to benefit shareholders as this
market returns.

As a result of management actions undertaken during the
financial year the Company reduced the Headline loss before tax
and non-underlying items' of E149m made in the second half of
the financiat year ended 31 August 2020 to a Headline loss before
tax and non-underlying items' of approximately £36m in the
same peried this year. In this context, the Committee decided that
both executive directors have performed at an exceptional level.

Nevertheless, we recognise that the Company has continued to
be significantly affected by Covid-19 and continued to access
government support in the form of rates relief and furlough
support during the financial year ended 31 August 2021.

The Company aims tc be a responsible partner to its other
stakeholders. You can read more about the Company's
stakeholders in the Caompany's 5.172 statement on pages
371040

1 ARernalive pertormance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154

During the year, the Company maintained z regular dialogue with
employee representative groups, unions, shareholders, suppliers
and landlords to ensure that all stakeholders have a common
understanding of the impact of Covid-19 on the Company.

We have recognised the performance of employees across the
Company with approximately 1,750 colleagues receiving a bonus
under the annual honus plan for the financial year ended

31 Auqust 2021.

For the financiat year ended 31 August 2021 the Company
delivered a positive Headline EBITDA' of £17m. Whilst Headline
EBITDA' was positive, no dividends have been declared for the
financial year ended 31 August 2021. However, the Committee
noted that shareholders had seen an increase of approximately
39 per cent in the Company's share price as a result of the
Company's overall financial improvemnent during the financial
year ended 31 August 2021,

The Committee took alt of the abave factors into account when
reaching its decisions on executive director remuneraticn for the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 and these dectsions are set
out betow

Recap on 2019/2020 remuneration decisions and
rationate for 2020/21 outcomes

Bonus

Sharehalders will recall that the Cornmittee made no bonus
award 1o the executive directors for the financial year ended

31 August 2020. This was despite the Company performing very
strongly for the first six months of the financial year and
performing strongly against their personal objectives.

For the financial year ended 31 August 2021, the bonus target
was set using Headline EBITDA' as the primary metric rather
than Headbne profit before tax’ This was hecause the Company
was expected to deliver a PBT loss for the financial year albeit at
a much reduced level than the previous financial year.

Far the bonus plan, the Company slightly exceeded the targat
Headline EBITDA' level and the Committee determined that both
executive directors performed to an exemplary level. You can read
about the actions that the executive directors took to build back
stronger on pages 38 and 59. The executive directors persenal
objectives are set out on pages 80 and 81 However, recagnising
the experience of shareholders and other stakehaolders during
the financial year ended 31 August 2021, the Committee believed
that it was appropriate to exercise downward discretion to reduce
the formulaic annual bonus cut-turn to ane-times salary for Carl
Cowling [a 22 per cent reductionj and by the same percentage for
Robert Moorhead.

The Committee took this decision in order to balance the
experience of shareholders and other stakeholders during the
financial year ang to recognise the proactive steps taken by
managernent which, we believe, will create significant
shareholder value in the future. The level of discount is a matter
of judgement but was arrived at in the round looking at the
out-turn for other senior employees and noting that the executive
directors dig not recewve 8 bonus for the previous financial year
and that the 2018 LTIP has not vested as a result of the ongaing
impact of Covid-19 and lapsed on 1 Novemnber 2021. Overall, this
reduced bonus was felt appropriate. This resuited in Carl Cowling
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

receiving a bonus of £550,000 and Robert Moorhead receiving 2
bonus of £357.500. The Committee agreed that 23 per cent of the
bonus should be deferred in accordance with the rules of the
Company's Deferred Bonus Pian.

The Committee believes that the senior management team, and
in particular the executive directors, have provided outstanding,
inspiring and resourceful leadership during another year of
uncertainty and disruption. Accordingly. the Committee believes
that the remuneration of the executive directors is proportionate
<nd appropriate when taking into account the experience of the
Company's stakeholders and the government support recetved by
the Company.

For the financial year ending 31 August 2022, the Committee has
reverted to the normal pre-Covid-19 practice of setling Headline
PBT as the financial metric for the annual bonus plan.

Salary

Shareholders will also recall that when Carl Cowling was
appointed CED in Novermber 2019, his base pay was set at a
lower level than his predecessor and lower than the market
median for FTSE250 CEOs. At the time, we explained to
shareholders that, subject to personal performance, the intention
was to increase Carl Cowling’s base salary in £25,000 increments
in April 2020, 202t and 2022.

The Committee had previously assessed Carl Cowling’s personal
performance for the financial year ended 31 August 2020 and
determined that this was exemplary, particularly in the context
of Covid-19 and therefore announced an intention to make the
scheduled increase with effect from April 2021. At the 2021 AGM
a significant minority of sharehelders did not support this
approach. As a result, the Campany announced that it would
defer making this award until at least the end of the financial
year ended 31 August 2021. The Commitiee also confirmed that
it would engage with shareholders and advisory bodies and that
it would consider the feedback received in developing the 2022
Directors’ remuneration policy. which is being put to a vote &t the
2022 AGM.

Having done that, and in the context of Carl Cowling's continued
exemplary performance, when consulting with our largest
shareholders on the new Directors’ remuneration policy, we
advised that the deferred £25,000 increment had been made with
effect from 1 September 2021 and that there is an intention
{subject to continued personal performance) for the final
increment to be awarded with effect from 1 April 2022 in
accordance with the onginal tntention shared with shareholders
in 2019. This will take Carl Cowlings base salary to £600,000
fram 1 April 2022.

The current market median for CEDs in the top half, by market
cap, of the FTSE250 is £628,000 so, even after the previously
announced increments, Carl Cawling will continue to receive

a base salary below market med:an.

The Committee is mindful that the decision to increase the CED's
salary was a judgement and sorne shareholders may have
preferred a further deferment. Carl Cowling became CED on

-1 November 2019 so, consistent with best practice, his transition

to the agreed higher salary [which remains below the market
median) consistent with our general philasophy, will have taken
two and a hall years. It was felt that further delaying the increase
was not appropriate given the current demand for experienced
retail executives from PE-backed companies and demanstrates
our commitment to the remuneration package agreed on his
appointment. It should also be noted that the Company has not
defaulted to regular annual increases to its executive directors
and that Robert Moorhead has not received any pay increase
since May 2019, Honouring our commitment to an executive
who is now fully experienced in role and has performed at an
exceptional level is considered both right and fair.

LTIP

The 2018 LP vesting percentage is determined by the growth in
the Company’s Headline EPS and TSR over Lhe Lhree-year
perfarrmance period which ended on 31 August 2021.

The Company did not meet the performance targets for the 2018
LTIP and the awards lapsed. The Committee determined that the
formulaic out-turn under the LTIP was appropriate and should be
applied without discretionary adjustment.

in terms of long-term incentives, in last year's Annuai report we
advised shareholders that, for the financial year ended 31 August
2021, the LTIP award would have only one metric, TSR, rather
than the usual two metrics {EPS and TSR], The Commiltee is
propasing that, as done pre-Cavid- 19, the LTIP performance
targets for the financial year ending 31 August 2022 will be based
on Headline EPS lwhich as consulted on with shareholders
during 2020 wilt be assessed on a pre-tax basis fram this grant
anwards) and on relative TSR.

The Committee agreed that the LTIP performance targets far the
financial year commencing 1 September 2022 will include ESG
targets which will be based on the Company’s Corporate
Responsibility Strategy. namely Planet, People and Communities.
Further details of this will be developed and disclosed in the 2022
Directors’ rernuneration report.

Finally. as you may be aware, this 1s my last leiter to you as Chair
of the Committee. Having served nine years on the board, 1 will be
stepping down as Chair of the Committee at the AGM and
handing over to Marion Sears, who will take up the position when
she joins the Board on 1 February 2022. Marion Sears has a
wealth of experience of remuneraticn issues. | will be availabie at
the Annual General Meeting to answer any questions about the

work of the Committee.
- <=

Anneémbrie Durbin’
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

11 November 2021
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This Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with
the Large and Medium-Sized Cornpanies and Groups (Accounts

- and Reportst Regulations 2008, as amended in 2013, 2018 and
2019 [the 'Regulations’), LR 9.8 of the UKLA Listing Rules and the
UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the ‘Code’).

1. Information subject to audit
The following information has been audited by PwC:

* Section 4.4 - Summary of non-executive directors
remuneration 2021;

e Section 4.5 - Summary of executive directors’
remuneration 2021; ‘

* Section 4 6 - Payments made to former directors;

« Section 4 7 - Payments for loss of office;

* Section 4.12 - Annual bonus targets;

= Section 4.13 - Share plans; and

* Section 4.17 - Directors’ interests in shares.

2. Background to Directors’ remuneration policy

The Company’s Directors’ remuneration policy can be
summarised as providing at or below the median of market levels
of fixed pay but with the opportunity to earn upper quartile levels
of remuneration if the executive directors deliver superior returns
for shareholders,

Executive remuneralion packages are structured so that they:

* are aligned to the Company's strategy to deliver shareholder
returns and promote its long-lerm success;

* are aligned with the interests of shareholders;

¢ are competitive and provide a very clear bias to variable pay
with stretching and rigerous performance measures
and conditions,

+ do not premate unacceptable behaviours ar encourage
unacceptable risk taking;

+ include robust malus/clawback provisions and haolding periods
which permit the recoupment of variable pay if the pay-out was
based on misstated financial resulis, an error or incorrect
information, if the Committee concludes that circumstances
arose during the bonus year or vesting period which would
have warranted summary dismisszl of the incividual
cancerned or if there is an insolvency having regard to the
Committee’s assessment of the involverment of the individual to
such event; and

take into account Company-wide pay and
employment conditions.

The key changes to the Company’s Directors’ remuneration
policy are:

s The introduction of post-cessation share ownership guidelines
requiring executive directars to retain the policy level (300 per
cent of salary for the CED and 250 per cent for other executive
directors) far two years post-cessation. This will apply to both
new awards from the adoption of the policy and alt
unvested awards.

Annual bonus plan: this currently operates as a matrix of
financial targets and personal performance, where failure to
achieve the threshold financial level resutts in no benus
payment. While this is felt appropriate in most cases. Covid-19
has clearly demonstrated that it can unfairly penabise executive
directors where they meet their personal objectives but the
financial threshold 1s not achieved and, theraefore, no bonus is
paid. Consistent with other companies operating similas plans,
we propose introducing the ability to pay a bonus of up to 20
per cent of maximum if the Committee considers in
exceptional eircumstances that the personal or other non-
financial performance warrant payment of a bonus against
pre-set targets noting that this aclually constrains discretion
compared with some companies’ response to Covid-19. Itis
envisaged that this would only be invoked in exceptianal
circumstances. The Committee also believes that itis
appropriate to align the bonus appartunity for the two executive
directors at 160 per cent of salary [i.e. to increase Robert
Moorhead's bornus opportunity from 130 per cent ta 160 per
cent] in order to recognise his importance to the recovery and
future success of the Group. The Committee believes that
increasing Robert Moorhead's variable pay rather than his fixed
pay 15 in line with the Company's remuneration policy which
has served the Company and sharehalders well in the past.

Introduction of ESG metrics to the LTIP: no changes to the LTIP
plan are proposed. The Committee has agreed that the
Long-Term Incentive Plan for 2022 will include ESG targets
which are relevant to the Company. The targets will be selected
from ESG targets associated with the Company’s sustainabitity
strategy, a Journey to a Betler Business [for more information
on the Company’s sustainability strategy see pages 29 to 351,
The sustainability strategy has been developed foltowing
detailed consideration af the views of different stakeholders, to
ensure that the areas of focus are material and directly linked
to the Company’s business strategy. Material and measurable
ESG targets will be selected by the Committee for inclusion in
the LTIP for the grant in 2022. Typically, the performance
measures have been linked to EPS and relative TSR It is
proposed that, from the grant in 2022, the performance
measures will be 40 per cent pre-tax EPS, 40 per cent relative
TSR and 20 per cent ESG.

Pensians: the Company has already committed to align
executive director pension contributions to the all-employee
level, approximately three per cent, frorn 1 January 2023.
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

3. The Directors’ remuneration policy
The Committee presents the Directors remuneration policy, which will be put ta a binding vote at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and, subject to shareholder approval, will take immediate effect.

As part of its review of the remuneration policy. the Cemmittee has considered the factors set out in Provision 4B of the Code.
In cur view, the proposed Policy addresses those faclors as set out below:

Simplicity * the Directors’ remuneration palicy and our approach to its impiementation are simple, appropriately designed
and well understood, reinforcing the Group’s culture as well as strategy;

* the Committee reviews performance metrius and targets each year to ensure that they continve to be clear and
aligned to delivery of the strategy;

Predictability = the perfarmance measures used in the incentive plans are well aligned to the Group’s strategy and goals, with
stretching and achievable targets: the maximum awards under any award are clearly stated and, therefore,
predictabte;

Proportionality | * the balanced approach is proportionate and drives behaviours that promote high performance and sustainable
growth to drive the long-term success of the Company for the benefit of all stakeholders, without encouraging or
rewarding excessive risk-taking; )

* the Committee retains suifficient discretion to adjust formulaic incentive gutcomes er require the repayment of
previous awards to ensure that poor perfermance is not rewarded;

Risk * the Committee reviews and sets performance targets each year to ensure that they drive the right behaviours and
are appropriately stretching without encouraging unnecessary risks;

* risk management is operated through annual bonus deferral, LTIP holding periods and, if approved, our new
policy will introduce post-ermployment shareholding;

* malus and clawback provisions apply to the arnual bonus, DBP and LTIP;

Clarity = the Committee maintains a continual dialogue with shareholders and proxy agencies to understand their views.
We consulted with shareholders on remuneration arrangements, listening to and taking into account the
feedback we received when geveloping the new rernuneration policy;

* our approach to disclosure is ransparent with clear rationale provided on its maintenance and any changes
to policy;

* when considering remuneration for executive directors and senior management, the Commiltee takes into
account the pay and conditions of employees across the Group and, where appropriate. exercises oversight of
remuneration throughout the Company;

Alignment to + the Committee assesses performance under the annual bonus plan against @ range of objectives, including these

Culture related to our values and strategy:;

the introduction of ESG targets to the LTIP from the grant in 2022 will further help to ensure incentive schemes
drive behaviours consistent with Company purpose, values and strategy.

The Committee has the discretion to amend the Directors’ remuneration policy with regard to minor or administrative matters where
it would, in the opinion of the Committee, be inappropriate to seek or await shareholder approval.
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Future policy table
3.1 Executive directors

The following table explains the different elements of remuneraticn we pay to our executive directors:

Element and purpase

Policy and opportunity

Operation and perfor mance measures

' Base salary

This is the basic element of
pay and reflects the
individual’s role and position
within the Group, with some
adjustment to reflect their
capabulity and contribution.
Base salary s used to attract
and retain executive
directors who can deliver our
strategic objectives and
create shareholder value.

» While base salaries are reviewed each year, the
Company's palicy is not automatically to award
an inflationary increase. When reviewing sataries,
the Committee takes mto account a range of
factors including the Group's performance,
market conditions, the prevailing market rates
for similar positions In comparable companies,
the responsibitities, individual perfarmance and
experience of each executive director and the
level of salary increases awarded to employees
threughout the Group.

Base salaries are benchmarked against both .
FTSE 250 cornpanies and other leading retailers.
While the Committee applies judgement

rather than setting salaries by reference to a
fixed percentile position, its general approach

is to constrain base salaries to a medhan or
lower level.

While the Committee’s general approach is to
keep salaries at or below median, and, in the
normal course, would not expect salary
increases to be higher than the average far olher
head office staff, given the need for a formal cap.
the Committee had limited the maximum salary
in the previous policy which it may award to
£680,000 las increased by RPI from January
2019, approximately £739.000 at the year end).
No changes to this cap are propased.

= Base salary is paid monthly in cash.

« Base salaries are reviewed typically annually with
any changes normally faking effect from 1 Aprit.

sauetsanob ajesodion

Benefits

To provide other benefits
valued by the recipient which
assrst them in carrying out
their duties elfectively.
Competitive benefits assist
in attracting and retaining
executive directors.

Provide market competitive benefits in king.

The Company may periodically amend the
benefits available to staff. The executive
directors would narmally be eligible to receive
such amended benefits on similar terms to all
senior staff.

The value of benefits {other than relocation costs]
paid to an executive director in any year will not
exceed £80,000. In additian, the Committee
reserves the right ta pay relocation costs in any
year or any ongoing ccsts incurred as a result of
such relocation to an executive director if
considered appropriate to secure the better
performance by an executive director of their
duties. In the normal course, such benefits would
be limited to two years following a relocation.

¢« Benefits received by executive directors comprise
a car allowance, staff discount, private medical
insurance and life assurance.

* While the Caommittee does not consider it to form
part of benefits in the normal usage of that term,
it has been advised that corporate hospitality
{whether paid for by the Company or another]
and business travel for directors may
technically come within the applicable rules
and so the Committee expressly reserves the
right to authorise such activities within its
agreed policies.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element and purpose

Policy and opgattunity

Operatien and performance measures

Pension

To aid retention and remain
campetitive within the
marketplace, The pension
provides an income following
retirement.

* Provide an employer-spansored pension plan or
equivalent cash allowance. Pension contributions
lor cash in lieu} for new executive directors will
be aligned with the average rate available to
UK-based colleagues more generally,
approximately 3 per cent of satary but subject to
periodic review. The pension contribution for Carl
Cowling is 12.5 per cent and Rebert Moorhead is
25 per cent of base satary until 31 December
2022, [twill reduce to align with the wider
warkforce rate, approximately 3 per cent of
salary, from 1 January 2023,

« All executive directors are eligible to participate
in the Company’s defined contribution perision
plan and/far receive a salary supplement in lieu
fwhich is not taken into accourt as salary for
calculation of bonus, LTIP or other benefits).

= Although the mix may change, currently up to
five per cent of satary is paid info a registered
pension and up to 20 per cent by way of a salary
supplement. If the individual elects to receive the
five per cent direct le.g. to avoid breaching HMRC
limits), employers’ NICs are deducted from that
elernent.

_Annuat bonus

To motivale employees and
incentivise delivery of annual
performance targets.

* During the policy period the bonus patential is
160 per cent of base salary with target levels at
48 per cent of maximurn and threshold-bonus
levels at 14 per cent of maximum,

*» Clawback provisions agpply to the annuat
borus plan.

* Bonuses are paid in cash and shares. Any bonus
payable over target is deferred into shares for 2
period of up to three years under the Company’s
Deferred Bonus Plan [DBF} The shares are
released one third on each anniversary of
assessment.

= The performance measures applied may be
financial or nen-financial and corporate,
divisional or individual and in such proportions as
the Cormmittee considers appropriate. As set out
on page 79, currently under the annual bonus
plan. partiipants can earn a banus based on the
achievernent of a finanoal target and a personal
rating measured against one or more specific
lfinancial and/or non-financial) objectives.
The maximum level of benus paid to a participant
in the plan 1s dependent on the achievernent of
both the maximum target for the financial target
and the highest personal performance rating

= In exceptional circumstances, up to 20 per cent
of the maximum bonus apportunity may be
payable independent of the financial aut-turn.

* The appropristeness of performance measures
is reviewed annually 1o ensure they continue to
support the Company's strategy.

* Once set, performance measures and targets
will generally remain unaltered unless events
occur which, in the Committee’s opinion, make it
appropriate to make adjustments to ensure they
operate as originally intended and to take
account of events which were not foreseen when
the performance targets were originally set.
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Element and purpose

Palicy and opportunity

Operation and performance measures

,Long-term incentives

.
-

To motivate and incentwmse
detivery of sustained
performance over the
tong-term, the Group witl
operate the Long-Term
Incentive Plan [ LTIP).
Awards delivered in shares
to provide further alignment
with shareholders.

* The normal policy 1s to award executive directars
with shares with an initial face value of up to 350
per cent of base salary each year under the LTIP.
In practice, awards of 335 per cent for the Group
Chief Executive and 310 per cent for any other
executive director are made annually.

¢ The LTIP will credit participants with the benefit
of accrual for dividends paid over the
performance and any holding period.

* Malus and clawback previsions lin respect of
both unvested and vested paid awards) apply to
the LTIP.

 Awards are subject to a combined vesting and
holding period of at least five years preventing
the delivery and sale of shares until the end of
the holding period.

* The Commitiee may set such performance
conditiens as it considers appropriate (whether
financial or non-financial and whether corporate,
divisional or individuall over a period of al least
three financial years.

Once set. performance measures and targets
will generally remain unaltered unless events
occur which, in the Committee’s opinion, make
it appropriate to make adjustments to the
performance conditions, provided that any
adjusted perforrmance condition IS, in #s opinion,
neither materially more nor less difficult to
satisfy than the original condition.

Execuiive directors can earn up to 25 per cent
of the award for threshold performance.

The Company will honour the vesting of all
putstanding awards granted prior to this
remuneration policy coming into force in
accordance with the terms of such awards.

‘All-employee shareplans

To encourage share
ownership by employees,
thereby allowing them to
share in the long-term
sutcess of the Group and
align their interests with
those of the shareholders.

* Executive directors are able to participate in
all-employee share plans on the same terms as
other Groyp emptloyees.

Sharesave - individuals may save up to such limit
as permitted by the relevant tegislation [currently
£500 each monthl for a fixed period of three
years. At the end of the savings period,
individuats may use their savings to buy ordinary
shares in the Company at a discount of up to

20 per cent of the market price set at the launch
of each scheme.

In line with the governing legislation, no
performance conditions are attached to options
granted under the Sharesave Scheme.

In addition, executive directors may participate

in other comparable ali-employee incentives on
the same basis as other employees.

Noles to the policy table

1 Slaling

Is lor each el

1 of remuneration

Whare the Latle relers 1o the maximum amount that may be paid in respecl of any element of the policy, these will aperale simply as caps and are not indicalive of any aspiralion. in particular. the
salary cap is not aspirational and the Commiltes envisages maintaining its approach to salary increases !

2 Payments frem exisling awards

Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead are eligible Lo receive paymenl from awards made belore the approval and imptementation of the previous remuneralicn policies or payments enwsaged under
Ihose paolicies. Details of Ihese awards can be tound in Lhe annual Direclors’ remuneralson report on page 82. The Company will similarly honour pre-exisiing commitments Made Lo any other new

Board members

.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

3.2 Parformance measure selection and approach

to target setting
Annual bonus plan
The performance targets used under the annual honus plan are
set annually to support the Company's strategic priorities and
reinforce financial performance. The perfoermance targets are
typically set by the Commuttee based on a range of factors,
principally the Company's budget as approved by the Board either
prior to or shortly following the start of the financial year.
The Committee agreed that the performance targets for the
annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021
should be based on Headline EBITDA" in order to focus the
managernent team on the Group's free cash flow as a result of
the ongoing impact of Cownd-19. The Commuttee, i setting the
bonus targets for the financial year ended 31 August 2021, was
mindful of the impact of Covid-19 on the Company and the
markets in which we operate and took into consigeration market
consensus for the financial year ended 31 August 2021,
The Committee agreed that the range used to determine the level
of pay-out under the bonus plan in respect of the financial targets
should be widened given that the Committee agreed that the
proposed target pay-out under the bonus plan was stretching,
given the uncertainty created by Cowd-19

Participants can earn a bonus based on the achievement of a
financial target, for example, Headline EBITDA' and a personal
rating measured against one ar more specific financial and/or
non-financiat objectives, including ESG targets. The maximum
tevel of bonus paid to a participant in the plan s dependent on
the achievernent of both the maximum target for the financial
target and the highest personal performance rating.

The Committee sets a threshold pay-out target and a maximum
pay-out target with straight-tine vesting between the targets,

In exceptional circumstances, up to 20 per cent of the maximum
bonus apporiunity may be payable independent of the financial
out-turn For on-target achievernent of the tinancial target and a
good personal rating. an executive would earn approximately 48
per cent of the maximum bonus available under the plan.

Any bonus in excess of the an-target level is deferred into shares
under the DBP. One third of the shares are released on each
anniversary of the date of grant.

Different bonus measures and targets may apply in subsequent
years within the overall canstraints of the plan.

1 Alternative performance measure defined and explained in 1he Glossary on page 154

Long-term incentives

The Committee regularly reviews the performance targets
applicable to the LTIP to ensure that they align with the
Company's strategy and reinforce financial perfarmance.

The Committee may change the measures and/or targets in
respect of subsequent awards. The Committee believes that a
combination of financial, market-based conditions and corporate
responsibility as the basis for the performance targets for the
LTIP is best suited to the needs of the Company and its
shareholder s in order to reward sustained leng-term
performance and the creation of shareholder value. However, the
performance targets for awards made under the LTIP in the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 were solely based on relative
TSR given the difficulty in putting in place meaningful EPS targets
as a result of the impact of Cavid-19 on the Company and the
wider global economy.

The Committee is proposing that any awards made in the
financial year commencing 1 September 2021 will be 50 per cent
based on Keadline pre-tax Earnings per Share and 50 per cent
based on relative TSR over three financial years ending 31 August
2024 cornpared with the FTSE All Share Retailers and that any
awards made in the financial year commencing 1 Septernber
2022 will be based on the following targets each measured over
the three financial years to 31 August 2025,

40 per cent based on Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share
(calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis]. EPS has for some years
been defined as fully diluted pre-exceptional items and
excluding |AS 19 pension charges together with other
adjustrnents as considered appropriate by the Committee
[although practice has been ta make Limited adjustments)].
The definition of EPS remains unchanged except that, as
consulted with sharehclders in 2020, it will be assessed on a
pre-tax basis; ’

40 per cent based on relative TSR over three financial years
compared with the FTSE All Share Relailers index.
Threshold vesting will aceur for TSR in line with median

and maximurm vesting will occur for TSR in line with the upper
quartile of the comparator group; and

20 per cen! based on ESG measures which will be developed
over the course of the next year based on the Company's
Sustainability Strategy, namely Planet, People and
Communities. Further details of this will be developed and
disclosed in the 2022 Directors’ remuneration report.
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Malus/Clawback

The benus plan, DBP and LTIP rules include a provision for
clawback [before or within 2 period of three years following
payment or vesting or earlier change of control) of a bonus or
award if [a) the Company materiatly misstated s financial results
and as a result the bonus or award was made. paid or vested to a
greater extent than it should have been, [b] the extent to which
any performance target or other condition was met was based on
an error orinaccurate or misleading infarmation or assumptions
and a5 a result any honus or award wes made, paid or vested to a
grealer extent than it should have been; fc] the Committes
concludes thal circumstances arose during the banus year or
vesting period which would have warranted summary dismissal
of the individual concerned, or [dl there is an insolvency having
regard to the Committee’s assessment of the involvement of the
individual ta such event.

Exercise of discretion

In line with market practice. the Committee retains discretion in

relation to the operation angd administration of the annual bonus

plan. BBP and LTIP. This discretion includes, but is not limited to:

= the timing of awards and payments;

* the size of awards, within the averall limits disclosed in the
policy table;

the determination of vesting, including the discretion to
override formulaic outcomes, where appropriate, ensuring that
the outcome reflects the Company's and the executive's
performance as well as the experience of shareholders and
stakeholders, including employees, more generally;

the treatment of awards in the case of a change of control fthe
DBP excepted) or a restructuring of the Company;

* the treatment of leavers within the rules of the plan and the
termination policy summary shown on page 70; and
adjustments needed in certain circumstances [far example,

a rights issue, & corporate restructuring or a special

interirm dividend].

While performance condHions will generally remain unchanged
once set, the Commuttee has the usual discretions to amend the
measures and targets m exceptional circumstances [such as a

major transaction} where the unamended conditions would cease-

to operate as intended. Any such changes would be explained in
the subsequent annual Directors’ remuneration report and, if
appropriate, be the subject of consultation with the Company’s
major shareholders. Consistent with best practice, the annual
bonus plan and the LTIP rules also provide that any such
amendment rmust not make the amended condition materially
less difficult to satisfy than the original condition was intended to
be prior to the occurrence of such event.

3.3 Statement of consideration of employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and differences to executive
director policy

Our employees are a key component of the Company’s

perfarmance and our overall reward strategy aims to suppori

this. When considering remuneration arrangements for executive
directors and senior management, the Comimitiee takes into
account the pay and conditiens of employees across the Group.

The Committee recewves in-depth data regarding employee

remuneration from the HR director on wider workforce pay and

conditions and, where appropriate, exercises oversight of
remuneration throughout the Group. The employee remuneration
data submitted to the Commuttee was prepared in respect of
head office and store employees and was hased on data provided
by Willis Towers Watson and Alan Jones Retail surveys,

Following discussion, the Committee accepted a number of

recommendations to adjust the pay of some head office and store

based employees.

Although the Cammittee did not farmally consutt with the wider
workforce on executive remuneration, each business has an
employee forum at which all aspects of the business are
discussed. Employees are also invited to participate in the annual
Engagement Survey where their views on all aspects of working
conditions can be collected and shared with the Committee and
the Board. The Company is proud of its long history of being
regarded as a responsible and respected employer and regutarly
reviews the overall structure of pay practices across the Group
and the wider retail sector to ensure it remains compebitive and
is able to retain and attract employees.

Our approach to reward for our employees is based an the
following principles:

competitive: setting pay with reference to internal relativity
and external market practices;

simple: helping all employees to understand how they

are rewarded;

fair: achieving consistent outcormes through flexible and
transparent policies; and

sustainable: aligning reward to business strategy

and perfarmance.

All employees are entitled to base salary and benefits, including
pension and staff discount. Eligible employees recewe private
medical cover and are able to participate in the Company’s
Sharesave plan and thereby become shareholders in the
Campany. Our Employee Assistance programme offers all
employees access to free, 24/7 confidential telephone, online and
face-to-face advice for problems they may be experiencing at
hame or at work. Employees also have access to the Company's
Benevolent Fund charity, which can provide financial assistance
in cases of significant hardship and provide recuperative holidays
and care breaks.

L ]

Participation in a pension plan is offered to all employees on a
contributory basis and we have approximalely 5,520 ernployees
in cur pension ptans.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

3.4 Managing conflicts of interest

In arder 16 avoid any conflict of interest, remuneration is
managed through well-defined processes ensuring no individual
is invalved in the decision-making process related ta their own
remuneration. In particular, the remuneration of all executive
directors is set and approved by the Committee; none of the
executive directors are involved in the determination of their own
remuneration arrangements. The Comimittee also receives
support from external advisors and evaluates the support
provicied by those advisors annually to ensuie thal advice is
independent, appropriate and cost-effective.

3.5 Statement of consideration of shareholder views

The Committee maintains a continual dialogue with our major
shareholders and proxy agencies to understand their views,

Any major changes to the policy or its operation would be subject
to prior consuttation as necessary.

As part of the current policy review process, the Committee
consutted with approximalely 60 per cent of the shareholder
register. The Chair of the Remwuneration Committee wrote to the

Statutory charts - valuation assumptions

Company's largest investors and shareholder representatives
setting out the proposed changes to the existing remuneration
policy and made herself available for meetings as requested by
investars. The views expressed by investors were supporlive of
the proposed changes given the introduction of post-cessation
share ownership guidelines and ESG performance targets for
the LTIP The views of shareholders were considered by the
Committee and formed part ef the final policy as set out in
Sectian 2 on page 61.

3.6 Total Remuneration apportunity

The graphs below indicate the level of remuneration that could
be received by each executive director in accordance with the
Directors’ remuneration policy in the first financial year to which
the new policy applies li.e. financial year ending 31 August 2022)
at different levels of performance. The potential total rewards
are based on the Company’s Directors’ remuneration policy.

Fried - The minimum scenarso rellects base salary, pansion and benefits, besng lhe only elemenls of the remuneration package not Linked to performance. No salary increase has been assumed in
respect of the Apnil 2022 salary review for Robert Maorhead, althaugh Lhe charts do nclude the satary increase for Carl Cowting in April 2022 a5 set oul on page 73

Annual bonus - The on-largel scenario rellects fixed remuneralion as above, plus the larget levet of perfermance for the annuat banus plan which is 8 per cent of maximum annwas banus; and for the

LFIP awards, threshald vesting levels have been assumed.

LFIP - The maximum scenano reflects fixed remuneration as abave, plus the maximum level of performance for the annuat bonus pian of 160 per cenl of base salary. and tor Lhe LTIP awards,

maximum vesting levels have been assumed.

Addirianat LTIP 50 per cenl increase in share price - 85 lor Ihe maxirmum scenario above, plus an increase in the value of Ihe LTIP of 50 per cent across the relevant performance period ta reflect
passible share price apprecsation. Consistent wilh the reporting requiations, this does nod separately include Lhe impact of dividend acereal.
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3.7 Recruitment remuneration policy :
The Company’s recruitment remuneration policy aims to give the Cammittee sufficient flexibility to secure the appointment and
promotion of high-calibre executive directors te strengthen the management team and secure the skill sets to deliver the Company's .

strategic objactives.

The starting point for the Committee will be to loak at the generat policy for executive directars as set out above, and structure

a package in accordance with that policy. Although the Regulations provide that, technically. the caps on fixed pay within the

gentral policy will not apply on the recruitment of an executive, the Committee would seek not to exceed those caps in practice.

In addition. ignoring any special buy-out arrangements which may prave to be necessary, the annual bonus and leng-term incentive
compensation arrangements will operate (including the maximum award levels) within the limifs as set out in the Future policy table
in Secliun 3.1 for executive directars on pages 63 to 65.

When an internal appointment is made, any pre-existing obligations will be honoured and payment will be permitted under the policy.
However. the Committee may adjust any pre-existing obligations to reflect the new appointment where it is considered appropriate to
do sp.

For external and internal appointments, the Cammittee may agree thal the Company will meet certain relocation expenses and legal
fees as it considers to be appropriate.

Where it is necessary to make a recruitment-related pay award to an external candidate to buy out entitlements under a previous
employers plan, the Company will not pay more than the Committes considers necessary and will in all cases seek, in the first
instance. to deliver any such awards under the terms of the existing incenlive pay structure. It may, however. be necessary in some
cases to make such buy-out awards on terms that are more bespeke than the existing annual and equity-based pay struciures at the
Company in order to secure a candidate. '

Any buy-out awards for external appointments, whether under the bonus plan, LTIP or otherwise, will be capped at the commercial
value of the amount forfeited and will take account of the nature, time-horizons and performance requirements af these awards.

in particular, the Committee will seek ta ensure that any awards being forfeited which were subject to outstanding performance
requirernents [other than where substantially complete] are bought out with replacerent performance requirements and any awards
with service requirernents are, again, bought out with simitar terms. However, exceptionally the Committee may relax those
cbligations where it cansiders it to be in the interests of shareholders and thase factors are, in the view of the Commuttee, equally
reflected in some other way, for example, through a significant discount to the face value of the awards forfeited.

3.8 Contracts of service and policy on payment for loss of office
Executive directors are on rolling service contracts with no fixed expiry date. The contract dates and notice periods for each executive

director are as fallows:

Date of contract Notice period by Company Motice period by directar
Carl Cowling 26 February 2019 12 months 12 months
Robert Moorhead 8 October 2008 12 months 9 months

Carl Cowling’s service contract provides for notice of 12 months from either party, permits summary dismissal with no compensation
in specified cases, has no special provisions in the event of a change of cantrol and limits the maximurm sum due on termination to
base salary only for the natice period. Robert Moorhead's service contract provides for notice of 12 months from the Company and
nine months from Robert Moorhead and has no special provisions in the event of a change of control and imits the maximum sum
due on termination to base salary only for the notice period Copies of the service cantracts may be mspected at the registered office
of the Company

It is envisaged that any new executive director would jain with a contract which is ng more favourable than that summansed in respect
of Carl Cowling. In practice. the facts surrounding a termination may be complex and de not always fit neatly into defined categories
for ‘good’ or ‘bad’ leavers. Therefore, 1t is appropriate for the Committee to consider the suitable treatment on a termination having
regard to all of the relevant facts and circumstances available at that time. This policy applies both to any negotiations linked 1o notice
pericds an a termination and any treatment which the Committee may choose to apply under the discretions available ta it under the
terms ot the annual bonus plan, DBP and LTIP. The potential treatments on termination under these plans [which are governed by the
relevant plan rutes) are summanised in the table below.
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Reasyn for leaving

Timing of vesting/payment

Calculation of vesting/payment

Annuat bonus

* 'Bad leaver’ [all cases other than‘
those specified beiow]

* Not applicable

+ No bonus te be paid for the financial year

= Redundancy, retirement or
otherwise at the Committee’s
diseretion

* At the end of the financial year

» Bonuses wilt only be paid 1o the exlent that the
performance measures have been met. Any bonus will
be paid on a time pro-rata basis

* Change of control

* Cantnuation of plan or
acceleration due to change
of control

« The Committee may decide that the end of any bonus
year should be accelerated to the date of the event with
appropriate pro-rating of any payment

Deferred Bonus Plan -

T liremd M L oea P R -

L

- -+

- A

» Dismissal for misconduct

* Not applicable

= Vested and unvested awards lapse

¢ All other cases

* Vesting: al the end of the relevant
vesting period [save in the case of
death where vesting occurs
immediately] untess the
Committee decides otherwise in
exceptional circumstances

+ Awards vest over the original number of shares

¢ Change of control

* On change of control

» Awards will vesl over the original number of shares.
Awards may be exchanged for awards over shares in
the acquiring companry in the event of an internal
reorganisation

LTip

* ‘Bad leaver' [all cases other than
those specified below)

* Not applicable

» Vested and unvested awards lapse

* Il health, injury, permanent
disability, retirernent with the
agreement of the Company,
redundancy, sale of a division or
subsidiary or if the circumstances,
in the opinion of the Cammittee,
are exceptional

* Vesting: at the end of the relevant
performance period

* Exercise at the end of any
relevant holding period

* For prescribed 'good leavers', generally, awards vest
over the original timescales, subject to the original
performance conditions. Awards are pro-rated for time
unless the circumstances, in the opinion of the
Committee, are exceptional

= Where the Commitiee determines that the
circumstances are exceptional such that a participant
is not a ‘bad leaver’, awards vest over the oniginat
timescales, subject to performance measurement and
time pro-rating

* Death

* Vesting: at the discretion of the
Committee

= The Committee has discretion to disapply performance
condiions and may allow immediate vesting. Awards
may be pro-rated for time {as nated above]

* Change of control

* On change of control

» Awards will vest to the extent that any performance
conditions have been satisfied and will be reduced
pro-rata to take account of the performance pertod not
cornpleted [as noted above), unless the Cammittee
decides otherwise. Awards may be exchanged for
awards aver shares in the acquiring company in the
evenl of an internal rearganisaticn

In respect of all-employee plans, including Sharesave, the executive directors are subject to the same leaver provisions as all

other participants.

If additional compensation is required to be considered, such as on a settlement agreement, the Committee will consider sl relevant
Commgrcaa.l factors affectmg the specific case. If the Committee deems it necessary, the Company may enter into agreements with an
executive director, which may include the setttement of liabilities in return for payment(s|, incluging reimbursement of legal fees and

outplacement services.
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3.9 Chairman and non-executive director fees
The following table explains the dilferent elements of the remuneration that is paid to the Chairman and non-executive directors.

All payments made (o the Chairman are determined by the Committee. The Chairman does not participate in any bonus or share
plans. The fees paid to non-executive directors are determined by the Chairman and the executive directors [being the Board
excluding the non-executive directors themselves} and are paid in cash. The levels are set to take into account the required time
commitment and the fee payments for non-executive directors of simiiar erganisations. Non-executive directors do not participate in
any honus or share plans, Thie current fees payable to the Chairman and the non-executive directors are set out on page 74.

Non-executive directors’ letters of appointment
The Chairman, who has a letter of appointment, 1s appointed for an initial term of three years. The appointment rmay be tecrminated

at any time by either the Company or the Chairman without notice. The nan-executive directors, who have letters of appointment, are
also appointed for an mnitial term of three years. The Chairman and non-executive directors may be invited to serve for up to a further
twa terms [nine years in total] Any term renewal s subject to Board review and re-election at the Company’s AGM. There is na right
to re-nomination by the Board, either annually or after any three-year period. These appointments can be terminated at any time by
either the Cornpany or the non-executive directar without notice. Copies of the letters of appointment may be inspected at the
reqistered office of the Company.

In light of the Covid-19 pandemic. we announced that Henry Stauntan, Chairman, would remain as a director of the Company until
2022. Information on the Company's succession planning is set out in the Norminations Committee report on pages 54 and 55.

Chairman and non-executive direc'tors Original appoimtment date Term end dale
Heney Staunion : 1 Septernber 2010 31 Decernber 2022
Kal Atwal 1 February 2021 3t January 2024
Nicky Dulieu 9 September 2020 8 September 2023
Annemarie Durbin 3 December 2012 19 January 2022
Siron Emeny 26 February 2019 25 February 2022
Maurice Thompson 26 February 2019 25 February 2022

Under the Company's Articles of Association, all directors are required to cetire and submit thernselves for re-election every three

years. However, in accordance with the Code, the Board has agreed that all directors will stand for re-election at the forthcorning AGM.

Operation and perfor mance measures

Element and purpose Policy and opportunity
Annual fees » The fees paid to the Chairman and the fees of the other + Fees are paid monthly in cash.

: non-executive directors aim to be competitive with other fully | o Foe tevels for the Chairman and the non-
listed companies of equivalent size and complexity. Fee levels executive direclors are reviewed periadicaly
are periodically reviewed by the Board {for non-executive [the last review being in March 2018) with the
directors] and the Committee (for the Chairman}. In both nexi review due in March 2022
cases, the Company does not adopt a quantitative approach . )

g oo . The Company reserves the right to change how
to pay positioning and exercises judgernent as to what it the elemgntsyand weightings%vithin the gverall
considers to be reasonable in all the circumstances as fees are paid and to pay 3 proportion of the fees
regards quantum. _ _ in shares within this Linit if it is considered

=+ Additional fees are paid to non-executive directors who chair appropriate to do s0.

a Board Committee [excluding the Nominations Committeel
and to the Senior tndependent Director |'SID) and additional
fees may be introduced from time to time for other
responsibilities.

* All fees are subject to the aggregate fee cap for directors in
the Articles of Assaciation (currently £750.000 per annum).

» Non-executive direclors do not participate in incentive
arrangements.
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Corparate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element and purpose Policy and oppartunity Operation and performance measures

Benefits = In line with other employees, the Chairman and the » It is not the current practice of the Company to

non-executive directors receive an employee staff discount. provide benefits to the Chairmar or the non-
executive directors {other than the emplayee staff

discount). However, while the Comrritiee does
not consider .t to farm part of benefits in the
normal usage of that term, it has been advised
that corperate hospitality [whether paid for by the
Company or another) and business travel for
directors may technically come within the
applicable rules and so the Committee expressly
reserves the right to autharise such activities
within its agreed policies and within the overall
limits.

« Neither the Chairman nor any non-executive
directors will participate in any varisble pay
arrangements.

» Any other benefits would count towards the

[ overall fee cap.

4. Annual Directors’ remuneration report

The Coimmittee presents the Annual repert on remuneration which, together with the introductary letter by the Char of the
Commitiee on pages 58 to 60, will be put to shareholders as an advisory vote at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

4.1 Remuneration Committee
The Cammittee Chafr is Annemarie Ourbin. The other memtiers of the Cormmittee are Kal Atwal, Nicky Dulieu, Simon Emeny, Henry

Staunton and Maurice Thompson. At the invitation of the Commuitiee, the Group Chief Executive and representatives of the
Committee’s external independent remuneration advisor regularly attend meetings.

The Cammittee met eight times during the year. All Cormnmiltee members are expected to attend meetings. The table on page 43 in the
Corporate governance reporl shows the number of meetings held during the year ended 31 August 2021 and the attendance record of
individual directors.

In order to avoid any canflict of interest, remuneration is managed through well-defined processes ensuring no individual is involved in
the decision-making process related ta their own remuneration. In particular, the remuneration of zll executive directors is set and
approved by the Cornmittee; none of the executive directors are involved in the determination of their own remuneration
arrangements. The Committee also receives support from external advisors and evaluates the support provided by those adwisors
annually to ensure that advice is independent, appropriate and cost-effective.

Ouring the year, the Committee continued to receive advice from FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP {FIT], which is a member of the
Remuneration Consultants Group [the prolessional body and adheres to its code of conduct. FIT was appointed by the Committee and
has no alher relationship with the Company or with any individual directors. The Committee 15 satisfied that FIT continues to provide
objective and independent advice. FIT's fees in respect of the year under review were £72,092 lexctuding VAT) and were charged on the
basis of FIT's standard terms of business.

lan Houghton, Company Secretary. also materially assisted the Committee in carrying out its duties, except in relation to his own
remuneration. No directer or manager is involved in any decisions as to their own remuneration. The Group Chief Executive also
attends Committee meetings but excludes himself in relation to discussion of his own remuneration, as does the Chairman.

The Committee mantains an ongoing dialogue with our major shareholders and proxy agencies to understand their views. Any major
changes to the policy or its operation would be subject to prior consultation as necessary.
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Key Committee activities during the year

Alignment to strategy
and wider workforce

Assessed the ongoing alignment of remuneration structures, measures and targets to the strategy.
Reviewed wider workforce remuneration.

Reviewed the gender pay gap report and recommended to the Board that the gender pay gap report
be published.

Shareholder
Engagement

Considered nvestor feedback, particularly on the remuneration policy

Pay for perfnrmance

Astocsed performance against Laiyels set for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 annual bonus and 2018
LTIP and considered whether any discretion should be used to adjust formutaic outcornes if necessary.
Reviewed and approved targets for annual bonus and LTIP

Reviewed the performance of the execulive directars against personal objectives

Cansidered remuneration to ensure that it retains and motivates the excellent managernent team.

Governance Reviewed and considered consequences of the changing investor, governance and reporting requirements.
Reviewed progress of the executive directors against shareholding requirements.
Approved the 2020 Directors’ remuneration report.

Pay Pastponed the proposed increase ta Carl Cowling's salary in April 2021 and agreed that Robert Moorhead would

not receive a pay increase in the financial year ended 31 August 2021,
Reduced the pay-out under the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021.

4.2 implementation of Directors’ remuneration policy in the financial year ended 31 August 2021
This section sets aut how the Directors’ remuneration policy has been implemented in the financial year ended 31 August 2021,

Element of pay

Implementation of policy

Executive directors

Base salary

Carl Cowling was appointed as Group Chief Executive on 1 Novernber 2019 on a lower salary than his
predecessor. The Committee, in accordance with best practice; indicated in the 2019 Directors’ remuneration
report that it would, subject to performance, increase Carl Cowling's salary in £25,000 increments in April
2020, 2021 and 2022. Given the impact of Covid-19, the April 2020 increase was deferred to 1 July 2020 and
Carl Cowling donated his increase ta charity until Octeber 2020, Following the shareholder vote at the 2021
AGM, the April 2021 increase was deferred to September 2021. Accordingly, Carl Cowling's salary increased to

| €575,000 with effect from 1 September 2021.

The current salaries are: Carl Cowling ~ £575,000; and Robert Mocrhead - £440.000.

Benefits

No changes were made to these elemenits af remuneration within the financial year ended 31 August 2021
[although the cost of providing benefits may change without any action by the Companyl.

Executive directors received a car allowance, private medical insurance and life assurance, in addition to other
benefits, during the financial year ended 31 August 2021,

Pension

Cart Cowling received a total benetit equivalent to 12.5 per cent of base salary and Robert Moorhead recerved
a total benefit equivalent to 25 per cent of base salary. During the financial year ended 31 August 2021,

Carl Cowling and Robert Moarhead received all of thewr penston contribution as a salary supplerment after
applying for fixed protection. Part of the amount otherwise paid to the Company’s defined contribution scheme
was reduced to reflect the requirement to pay employers’ Nalional Insurance.

Annual bonus

The reduced bonus payable for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was: Carl Cowling - £550,000 and
Robert Moorhead - £357,500. Any bonus paid in excess of the on-target level is normally deferred into shares.
The formulaic out-turn was reduced by 22 per cent to reflect that, despite the exceptional achievernents of
management, the out-turn was still a Headline loss and that no dividends were payable.

The bonus is assessed against a sliding scale financial target and is then moderated {on a downwards caly
basis) by reference lo the achievernent of personal objectives.

Further information on the bonus payments to Carl Cowling and Rebert Moorhead and their achievernent

of their personal objectives is set gut on pages 80 and 81.
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Carporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Element of pay implemeniation of palicy
Long-term incentives Annual LTIP awards were set at the policy levet being 335 per cent for Carl Cowling and 310 per cent for Robert
Moorhead. -

The terms of and the performance measures apglicable to the LTIP awards made in the financial year ended
31 August 2021 are described on page 81. .

Vesting of LTIP awards is determined based on the following measure: 100 per cent is based on relative TSR.
The performance period is three years. There is a subsequent two-year holding period.

The Committee approved this perfarmance measure as it is directly linked to the objectives set outin the
Group's strategy; there is a direct link with shareholder value and there is a clear line of sight for participants
between performance and reward.

As disclosed in laslt year's report, consistent with the Code provisions, the Committee retains & broad discretion
to reduce vesting levels, including if it considers that there would otherwise be a windfall gain or if
managerment fail to deliver on the Company’s ESG expectations.

The Comrnittee took the decision at its meeting in October 2020 not to adjust the financial targets for the
autstanding LTIP awards. The Carmnpany partially met the performance targets for the 2017 LTiP with 13 per
cent of the award vesting notwithstanding the significant impact of Cavid-1% an the Company in the second half
of the financial year ended 31 August 2020. The award granted in Novernber 2018 has lapsed and it 1s Ukely
that the award granted in Novernber 2019 will alsa lapse.

Shareholding guidelines | Carl Cowling is required to hald 300 per cent of salary in shares. Rabert Moorhead is required to hold 230 per
cent of salary in shares. In accordance with the Directors’ remuneration pelicy, Cart Cowling is expected to
achieve comphance with the shareholding reguirernent within six years of him joining the Board on 26
February 2019.

As at 31 August 2021 Carl Cowling heid 23.051 shares with a vatue of £376,192 [approximately 68 per cent of
salary{ and Robert Maorhead held 197,973 shares with a value of £3,230,919 lapproximatety 735 per cent of
salaryl.

Malus/clawback The annual banus plan, DBP and LTIP rules included a provision for clawback [before or within a period of
three years in the case of the LTIP and DBP following payment or vesting or earlier change of controll of 2
bonus or award if (a) the Comparny materially misstated its financial results and as a result the bonus or award
was made, paid or vested {0 3 greater extent than it shoutd have been (b} the extent to which any performance
target or other condition was met was based on an error or inaccurate or misleading information or
assumptions and as a result the bonus or award was made, paid or vested to a greater extent than it should
have been [¢) the Committee concludes that circumstances arose during the bonus year cr vesting penicd
which would have warranted sumnmary dismissal of the individual concerned or [d] there is an event of
insolvency having regard to the involvement of the individual executive in the circurnstances which led to such
insolvency.

Non-executivedirectors , o R o :
Annual fees Current fees are £235.000 for the Chairman of the Board and £55,000 for the rale of nop-executive director with
additicnal fees of:

(i £12,000 payable for the role of Senior independent Director (SID]; and

(it £12,000 payable for being the Chair of the Audit or Rermuneration Committee
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4.3 Impiementation of Directors’ remuneration policy in the financial year ending 31 August 2022

The Committee envisages that there will be no changes to the implementation of the Directors’ remuneration policy, beyond the
proposed changes to the policy sat out on page 61, during the financial year ending 31 August 2022. The policy in respect of the
executive directors will be applied as follows:

Element of pay Implementation of pelicy -
"Executive directors ' ST e ST e o
Base salary Carl Cawling's salary will increase ta £400.000, subject to his persenal perfarmance, with elfect fromm 1 Apyil
2022. Robert Mogrhead will be eligible, in line with other head office staff, for any increase in salary followtng
the March 2022 1 eview. IL is praposed that Garl Cowling will be eligible, in line with other head office staff, for
any increase in salary following the March 2023 review.
Benefits No changes are expected to be made to these elements of remuneration within the financial year ending
31 August 2022,
Pension No changes are expected to be made to these elements of remuneration within the financial year ending

31 August 2022. Any new executive director would have their allowance aligned te that available to the majority

of UK-based employees. The pension contributions for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be reduced to
align with the wider workforce rate of approximately 3 per cent from 1 January 2023.

Annual bonus

The bonus opportunity for Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead will be 160 per cent of annual salary. lNis
envisaged that the bonus metrics will be based on a matrix of financial and personal performance.

Arty bonus in excess of the on-target level will be deferred into shares,

Long-term incentives

Annual LTIP awards will again be set at the policy level [335 per cent of salary for Cart Cowding and 310 per
cent for Robert Macrhead). Vesting of LTIP awards is determined based on the following measures: 50 per
cent is based on EPS growth and 50 per cent 1s based on relative TSR, The number of shares vesting for
threshold performance is 25 per cent. The EPS performance targets will be based on the growth in Headline
pre-tax Earnings per Share. The TSR condition remains a median to upper quartile scale relative to the FTSE
All Share General Retailers Index constituents.

Shareholding guidelines

Carl Cowling 1s required to hold 300 per cent of salary in shares and Robert Moorhead is reguired to hold

250 per cent of salary in shares, As set outin the proposed Directors’ rermuneration policy, the Committee 1s
intraducing formal post-employment shareholding requirements which wilt apply if shareholders approve the
Directors’ remuneration policy at the AGM in January 2022. The post-cessation share ownership guidelines
require Carl Cowling to retain 300 per cent of salary and Robert Moarhead [cther executive directors) to retain
250 per cent of salary for two years post-cessation of employment. This requirernent will apply Lo bath new
awards from the adoption of the policy and all unvested awards,

Malus/clawback

The rules of the annual bonus plan, the LTIP and the DBP include & provision for clawback before or within a
period of three years following payment of a bonws if [a) the Company materially misstates its financial results
and as a result the honus is made or paid to @ grealer extent than it should have been (bl the extent to which
any performance target or other condition is met is based on an errar or inaccurate or misleading information
or assumptions and as a result the bonus is paid to a greater extent than it should be (c] the Committee
concludes that circumstances arose during the bonus year which would have warranted sumimary dismissal
of the individual concerned ar (d) there is an event of insolvency having regard to the involvement of the
individual executive in the circumslances which led to such insolvency.

The policy in respect of the non-executive directors will be applied as follows:

Element of pay Implementation of policy
.Non-executive direclors 1
Annual fees The fees of the Chairman and non-executive directors will be subject to a review in March 2022,
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

4.4 Summary of non-executive directors’ remuneration 2021 (audited)

The table below summarises the total remuneration for nan-executive girectors as a single figure for the financiat year ended
31 August 2021. Nen-executive directors are not paid a pension and do not participate in any of the Company's variable
incentive schemes:

Base fee” Committee/SiD fee Benefits* Total

£0np oo £000 £000
2021 2010 201 020 2021 2020 21 2020
Henry Staunton ‘ 235 223 - - - - 235 223
Kal Atwal®! 32 - -, - -1 - 32 -
Nicky Duliey® ) 54’ - 7 iy 1; - 62 -
Annemarie Durbin ' 55 52" 12 11 -’ - 67 . 63
Simon Emeny 55 52 12 7. - - - &7 99
Maurice Thornpson ' 55 52, -1 - - 1 55 33

Directors who resigned during the year

Suzanne Baxterk! 21! 52 S 1 - - 26 63

ab Benefils primarity consist of Iravel and subsistence costsincurred in the normal course of business, in relation te meetings ¢n Board and Commitiee malters and other Company events which are
considered laxable.

t) Hal Atwal was appointed as a noa-execulive director on 1 February 2021},

cf Suzanne Baxter slepped down as a director of the Company on 20 January 202).

dl Nicky Duliey was appainted as a non-executive direclor on 9 September 2020.

el The direclors took a 20 per ceat voluntary redutiion in salary/fees during Ihe lockdown period between April lo June 2020,

4.5 Summary of Executive directors’ remuneration 2021 (audited]
The table below summarises the total remuneration for executive direclors as a single figure for the financial year ended
31 August 2021:

Total fixed Annuat ’ Total variable Total
Salary* Benefits Pension® remuneration bonus* Lre remuneration remuneration
£'000 €000 {£'000 £'608 [y £000 {066 [
2027 2020 2021 2020 won 2020 021 020 021 202 1) 070 021 2020 202 2020
Carl Cowling S50 482 14 14 49 &0 633, 55! 5% - - 52 550 52 1,183 408
Robert Moorhead 440 418 14 14 107 102 541" 534° 358 - - 81 358 81 M9 615
Total £000s 990 200 28 28 176 162 1194 1090 908 -+ -~ 1337 908 133 2102 17223

Cart Cowling and Roberl Moorhead Look 3 20 per cent reduction in satary during the tockdown periad, March 10 June 2020 Carl Cowling s salary increased ta £550.000 with eifect from ¥ July 2020

2nd to £575,000 wilh effect from 1 Septemnber 2021,

Benefils relate mainly (e the provision of a car allowange, private medical insurante and life assurance.

The performance measures for the annual bonus, and achievement agamst them, are sel oul on pages 80 and 8). For the yeor under review, Carl Cowding had 1he opportunity io receive an annual

bonus up to 3 maximurn of 160 per cent o! his base salary and Rober| Moorhead had the opportunily to receive an annual bonus of up ta a maximum of 130 per tent of base salary. The calculaled

ouicome under this measure may be moderaled |downwards ontyl by Lhe Cammiltee having regard Lo personal perlormance ralings. The Company's Headline EBITDAf was £19m. alter Lhe
exercise of negalive discrelion, Carl Cowling received a reduced annual bonus of £550,000, of which 23 per cent will be delerred inte shares and Roberl Moorhead received a reduced annual bonus
of £357.500. of which 23 per cenl will be delerred inlg shares, Bolh Lhe cash and deferred share elemenis are subject to malus and clawback provisions.

dl The parformance measures for the LTIP, and achievernent against them, are sel out on page 83. The performance candiions far the awards granted in the linancial year enced 31 Augus! 2019 were
not met and the awards lapsed. The 2020 figures in Lthe table abave have been updated 10 the actual values of the LTIP that vesied i respect of ihe performance pernnld gndlng in lhal hinancial year,
using the share price of 1021p, being Lhe closing prece on the vesling date, 26 Oclober 2020. The LT figures in the table lor 2020 do nol include any share price apprecialion as the share price as at
the date of grant on 26 Gclober 2017 was 2036.67p.

¢l The pensian igures in the Lable above include both 1he pension contribulion into the Company's defined contribulion pension scheme and any salary supplement received in lieu.

The total aggregate emoluments [excluding LTI paid to the Board in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was £2,646,000 and in
the financial year ended 31 August 2020 was £1,703,000.

8

b
€,

4.6 Payments made to former directors (audited)
Stephen Clarke stepped down as Graup Chief Executive on 31 October 2019. Under the rules of the LTIP, Stephen Clarke was trested
as a good leaver and retained a reduced number of unvested awards. These awards vested in respect of 4,574 shares in the financial

year ended 31 August 2021

Stephen Clarke also retained awards under the DBP. These awards vested in respect of 2,360 shares in the financial year ended
31 August 2021.

No other payments were made in the linancial year ended 31 August 2021 ta former directors of the Company.

4.7 Payments for loss of office [audited)
No payments were made in respect of any director’s loss of office in the financial year ended 31 August 2021.
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4.8 Assessing pay and performance ]
You can see how the Compary has generated shareholder value since 2011 in the TSR graph below. As can be seen from the graph.
the Company generated a return of 39 per cent over the financial year ended 31 August 2021 cornpared to the FTSE All Share General

Retailers Index which generated a return of 29 per cent over the same period.

al The graph illustrates the TSR performance on a cumulative basis [with dividends reinvested) as at the end af each of the last 1en hnancial years compared with the FTSE Atl Share General Retailers

Index [Ihe “Index’] over the same period.

bl The Company is a member of 1he Index and, as such, this seclar was considered 10 be the mest appropriate comparalar group upen which 2 broad equily market index 15 calculaled.
The table below summarises the Group Chief Executive’s rernuneration and how the Campany's variable pay plans have paid out over

the past ten years.

Annual bonus lvesting versus  Long-lerm incentive lvesting versus

Single figure of telal remuneration maximum opgortunityl maximum oppertunity|
Finangial year ended 31 August CED 000 % %
2021 Carl Cowling 1183 83 -
2020 - from 1 Novemnber 2019 Carl Cowling 531 - 13
2020 - until 3t October 2019 Stephen Clarke 221 - 13
2019 Stephen Clarke 3416 100 69
2018 Stephen Clarke 287% 93 58
2017 Stephen Clarke . 4112 98 81
2016 Stephen Clarke 5.179 100 98
2015 Stephen Clarke 4,148 100 100
2014 Stephen Clarke 2,546 106 100
2013 - from 1 June Stephen Clarke 4,067 100 97
2013 - until 3t May Kate Swann 9,192 100 98
2012 Kate Swann 3147 100 0

The 2020 singte figure of total remuneration has been updated to reflect the actual value of the LTIP award that vested in respect of

the performance period ending in that financial year.
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

4.9 Annual change in remuneration of each director compared to employees

The table below shows the percentage changes in the remuneration of each director [salary/fees. annual bonus and taxable benefits]
from financial year to subsequent financial year over the financial years ended 31 August 2020 and 3% August 2021 compared with the
percentage changes in the average of those components of pay for UK employees emplayed by WH Smith Reta il Holdings Limited over
that period. The Company has choesen to voluntarily disclose this information, given that WH Smith PLC is not an employing company.

Salary/lee increase/decrease Annual benus im:rease[de:reas: Yaxable benefits increase.fdeucas:
k]

Financial year ended 31 August 2021 2020 firgl 2020 204 020
Carl Cowling ' 1% 140, - . 100! ooy -1 100
Rabert Moorhead { 5: 51 . 10D 1100] - -
Henry Staunton i 5 5, . nfa nfa - - -
Kal Atwal ! - -, " nfa, nfa’ -l -
Nicky Oulieu ! -1 -1 n/a} nfa | - -
Annemarie Durhin j 6! 24 - nfa, nfa . - -
Simon Emeny : 14! 111 nfa, n/a' - -
Maurice Thormpsan ' 4; 86 °_  nfal nfal (100} -
UK employees } 5¢ 7V - 100! 1100) 3! 18

al Kal Awal was appointed as 8 non-executive director on 1 February 2021,

b) Nicky Buliet was appointed as & non-gxecutive director on 9 Seplember 2020 and became Chair of the Audit Commiitee on 20 January 2021.

c] The directors 1ok a 20 per cent volumiary reduction in salary/facs during the legkdown period between Aprit 1o June 2020 and the 202 figures reported above reflect (he reversal of thase
salary waivers.

dl Carl Cowbng was appointed (o Ihe Board on 26 February 2019 and became Groug Chiel Executive on 1| Novemnber 201%.

e

Simon Emeny was appoinied as the Company's Senior Independent Direclor on 22 January 2020.

4.10 Group Chief Executive pay compared to pay of UK employees
The ratios comparing the total remuneration of the Group Chief Executive [as included in the single total figure of remuneration table
on page 77) to the remuneration of the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile of our UK employees are set out below, The disclosure will build

up gver ime ta cover a rolling ten-year period.

We expect the pay ratio to vary from year to year, driven largely by the variable pay outcome for the Group Chief Executive, which will
significantly outweigh any other changes in pay at WHSmith.

Group Chief Executive pay ratios

Financial year ended 31 August Method 25th percentite pay ratin Median pay ratie 75th percentile payratio
2021 Option A 70:1 70:1 52:1
2020 Option A 43:1 41:1 33:1
2019 ) Option A 239:1 207:1 ) 201:1

WHSmith has chosen to use Option A to calculate its Group Chief Executive pay ratio as it believes that it is the most robust way for it
to calculate the three ratios from the options available in the Regqulations.

Total remuneration for atl UK full-time equivalent employees of the Company on 31 August 2021 has been calculated in line with the
single figure methodology and reflects their zctual earnings received in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 [excluding business
expenses). Set out in the table below is the base salary and total pay and beneits for each of the percentiles.

£ 25th percentile pay ratiy Median pay ris TSth percentile pay ratio
Salary 16,795 146,795 22,881
Total pay and benefits 14,795 16,795 22,950

The Company believes the median pay ratio for the year ended 31 August 2021 is consistent with the pay, reward and progression
policies for the Cornpany’s UK employees tzken as a whole. This group has been selected as the most appropriate cornparator for the
Group Chief Executive as he is a full-time employee based in the UK and approximately 83 per cent of all WHSmith employees are
based in the UK The increase in the pay ratios in 2021 as compared ta 2020 is attributable to the increase in the gmount of variable
remuneration received by the Group Chief Executive as he did not receive a bonus payment in 2020 as a result of the impact of
Covid-19. As explained in the Chair's annual statement on pages 58 to 80 and the surnmary of executive remuneration on page 76,
the Group Chief Executive and approximately 1,750 empioyees received a bonus under the annual bonus plan for the financial year
ended 31 August 2021.
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4.11 Relative importance of spend on pay

The table below shows the total cost of remuneration paid to or receivable by alt employees in the Group as well as dividends/share
buybacks made duning the financial year ended 31 August 2021. There were not considered to be any other significant gistributions
and payments or other uses of profit or cash flow deemed by the directors ta assist in understanding the relative importance of spend

on pay for the purposes of the table below.

Total cost of remuneration Distribution to sharenholders
2020 2021 %change 200 20 % thange
Em £m Em Em
217 232 7 - - -

4.12 Annual bonus targets laudited)

The performance targets used under the annual banus plan are normally set annually tc support the Company's strategic priorities
and reinforce hinancial performance. The performance targets are set by the Committee based on a range of factars, principally the
Company's budget as approved by the Board either prior to or shortly following the start of the financial year. The Committee agreed
that the performance largets for the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 should be based an Headtine
EBITDA’ in order to facus the management team on the Group's free cash flow as a result of the angoing impact of Covid-19.

2IuBUIBA0E 3jeL0di0]

The Committee, in setting the bonus targets for the financial year ended 31 August 2021, was mindful of the impact of Covid-19 on the
Campany and the markets in which we operate and took into consideration market consensus for the financial year ended 31 August
2021. The Committee agreed that the range used to determine the level of pay-out tnder the bonus plan in respect of the financial
targets should be widened given thal the Committee agreed that the proposed target pay-out under the banus plan was strelching
gwen the uncertainty created by Covid-19

Under the annual honus plan. participants can earn a bonus based on the achievement of a financial target and a persenal rating
measured against one or mere specific [financial and/or non-financiall objectives. The maximum level of bonus paid to a participant in
the plan 1s dependent on the achievement of both the maximum financial target and the highest personal performance rating.

The Committee sets a threshold pay-out target and a maximum pay-out target with straight-tine vesting between the targets.

For the financial year ended 31 August 2021, no bonus was payable unless both the threshald financiat target and at least an
acceptable personal rating li.e. ‘Developingl were achieved. Subject to approval of the Directors’ remuneration policy at the 2022 AGM,
i exceptional circumstances, up to 20 per cent of the maximum bonus opportunity may be payahle independent of the financial
out-turn, subject to the Committee’s assessment of whether personal performance or other non-financial performance warrants
payment of a bonus against pre-set targets, No bonus will be payable unless the personal rating is at least acceptable lie.
‘Developing’). For an-target achievement of the profit target and a good personal rating li.e. ‘Strong |, an executive would earn
approximately 48 per cent of the maximum bonus available under the plan. Any bonus payable will be paid in cash and shares.

Bonuses for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 could be earned according to the fallowing scale (35 a percentage of each
execulive’s respective maximuml:

1] hiever

Financal performance against Headlinre Group profit before tax’ larget Role model Gt i Strong topi

Max: E36m 100% 80% 0% 40% 0%
Target: £18m 80% 84% 48% 32% 0%
Threshold: E1m A% 32% 24% 16% 0%

Interpolation belween poinis in the malrix is permitted,

The Company's Headline EBITDA' for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 was £19m. This performance resulted in approximately
1,750 employees also receiving an on-target bonus under the annual bonus plan for the financial year ended 31 August 2021

The Committee betieves that the senior management team, and in particular the executive directors, have provided outstanding,
inspiring and resourceful lesdership during another year of uncertainty and disruption. You can read about the actions that the
‘executive directors took to build back stronger on pages 58 and 59.

The Committee considered the experience of the Company's stakeholders and the government support recewved by the Company in
deciding whether it was in the Company's best long-term interests to pay Carl Cowling and Robert Moorhead a bonus. The Committee
deterrnined that the formulaic oul-turn under the annual bonus plan should be adjusted and that it should reduce the bonus payment
to one-times salary for Carl Cowling (and by the same percentage for Robert Moorhead]. This resulted in a 22 per cent reduction.

It also confirmed that 23 per cent of the banus shauld be deferred in accordance with the rules of the Company’s Deferred Bonus
Plan. In reaching this decision, the Cornmittee took into consideration the fact that the Company was not paying a dividend for the
financial year ended 31 August 2021 but noted that the shareholders had seen an increase of approximately 39 per cent in the
Gompany s share price as a result of the Company's overall financial improvement during the financizl year.

1 Allernalive performance measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

The Committee believes that the management team has performed 1o a truly exceptional level this year. In addition to steering the
business through an extraordinarily difficult period, their actions have been fundamental in establishing a commanding position from
which the Company can build back stronger going forward. More details of the actions taken are set out below. Of particular note has
been the winning of all 30 technology stores in UK airperts and the circa 100 stores won and yet to apen in Travel over the next three
years. The Board believe that this management team is pivatal to the future success of the business. When balancing the interests of

alt stakeholders in our decision-making, retaining and motivaling the management team for the future success of the business has

been one of our primary objectves,

The executive directors’ personal ratings are based on a range of objectives. Carl Cowling's persanal objectives included:

Ubjective

Achievement

1. To successfully detiver the integration of
InMotion and MRG.

The InMotion business now operates on the same systems as MRG from its head
office in Las Vegas. The integration of the businesses has generated significant
cost savings.

2. To develop the talent and succession pipeline
of the senior team and recruit a new MD for
Travel UK.

The Company’s senior executive succession plan was presented ta the Nominations
Committee in July 2021 A new MD for Travel UK was appointed on 1 May 2021.

3. To ensure that there is a shertlist of a
minimum of six candidates fer each senior
executive vacancy of which 30 per cent must be
fernale and at least one must be from a BAME
background.

Appointmerts: 4 men (57 per cent} including one mate person of colour and three
women |43 per cent} appointed.

Shortlisting: 5 out of 7 {71 per cent] roles met target of at least 50 per cent female
shortlisted (2020: 38 per cent). 6 out of 7 (86 per cent] roles met target of at least one
person of colour shortlisted (2020: 15 per cent].

4. To be carbon neutral for UK operations by the
end of the financial year ended 31 August 2021.
To get the Company accepted into the Cow
Jones Sustainability Index.

Carbon ermissions from electricity used to power UK buildings have been reduced to
net zerc through the procurement of renewable electricity. Carbon emissions from
gas used to power UK buiidings have been neutralised through the purchase of
credible, certified carbon reduction certificates in line with the Cormpany's published
carbon reduction strategy UK operations for the financial year ended 31 August 2021
were carbon neutral. WHSmith is a member of the Dow Jones Sustainability Index.

5. To accelerate the growth of WHSmith Online.

WHSmith Online sales n¢creased above the target in the financial year ended 31
August 2021,

é. To ensure the successful re-opening of
UK Travel stores.

All main Airport and Rail stores were successfully re-cpened during the financial year '
ended 31 August 2621.

7. To improve relaticnships with key
stakeholder groups.

Carl Cowling undertook a series of meetings with key stakeholders during the
financial year ended 31 August 2021.

The Committee deterrmined that, notwithstanding the successful achievernent of all of his key personal objectives. it was appropriate
to exercise downward discretion to reduce the formulaic annual bonus out-turn to one-times salary for Carl Cowling (a 22 per cent
reduction] ang. therefore. Carl Cowling should receive a reduced banus payment of £550,000 for the financial year ended 31 August
202% of which £127, 600 will be deferred into shares.

80
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Robert Moorhead's personal objectives mcluded:

Objective

Achievement

1. To successfully deliver the integration of
InMotion and MRG.

The InMotion business now aperates on the same systems as MRG from its head
office in Las Vegas. The integration of the businesses has generated significant ¢
ost savings.

2. To lead the refinancing of the Group's existing
facilities.

The Group successfully refinanced its bank facilities twice in the year and issued a
£327m convertible bond in May 2021 and increased liquidity by £100m.

3. To manage the Group's cash to ensure its
ongaing viability.

The Group had net cash and cash equivalents of £130m as at 31 August 2021

4. To be carbon neutral for UK operations by the

end of ihe financial year ended 31 August 2021.

Ta get the Company accepted into the Dow
Jones Sustainability Index.

Carbon emissions from electricity used to power UK buitdings have been reduced to
net zero through the procurement of renewable electricty. Carbon ermissions from
gas used ta power UK buildings have been neutralised through the purchase ot
credible, certified carbon reduction certificates in line with the Company’s published
carbon reduction strategy. UK operations for the financial year ended 37 August 2021
were carbon neutral. WHSmith is a mernber of the Dow Jones Sustainabrlity Index.

5. To create value from Funkypigeon.

Funkypigeon's sales increased above the target set in the financial year ended
31 August 2021,

6. To improve relationships with key
stakeholder groups.

Robert Moorhead undertook a series of meetings with key stakeholders during the
financial year ended 31 August 2021.

The Commuttee determined that. notwithstanding the successful achievement of all of his key personal objectives, it was appropriate
to exercise downward discretion to reduce the farmulaic annual bonus aut-turn by 22 per cent reduction and, therefore, Robert
Moorhead will receive a reduced bonus payment of £357 500 for the financial year ended 31 August 2021 of which £82,940 wilk be
deferred into shares.

For the annual bonus plan for the financial year ending 31 August 2022, the bonus metrics will also be based an a similar matrix of
financial and personal performance with the financial perfarmance measure reverting to Headline Group profit before tax”.

The financial bonus metrics will apply across the Graup's bonus plans, so that the whole organisation 1s focused on delivering financial
performance via the metrics that are applicable to each business. The Commitiee will publish the targets for that financiat year in next
vear’s report and, consistent with market practice, has elected not to pre-disclose thern [or give numerical personal objectives) on the
basis of commercial sensitivity. Any benus payable in respect of the hinancisl year ending 31 August 2022 will be paid in cash and
shares. Any honus payable over target will be deferred into shares for & period of up to three years under the DBP. The shares wilt be
released cne third on each anniversary of assessment irrespective of whether the recipient is an emplayee of the Company.

4.13 Share plans laudited) .
The Committee regularly reviews the performance targets applicable to the LTIP te ensure that they align with the Company's strategy

and reinforce financial performance. The Commuttee may change the measures and/or targets in respect of subsequent awards.

For awards granted in the financial year ended 31 August 2021, the Committee determined that a market-based condition as the basis
for the performance targets tor the LTIP was best suited to the needs of the Company and its shareholders in order to reward
sustained long-term performance and the creation of shareholder vatue. The Committee agreed that, given the challenge of setting
robust perfoermance targets three years in advance in light of Covid-19 uncertainty, the performance targets should only be based

on TSR,

Annual LTIP awards in the financial year ended 31 August 2021 were set at the policy level being 335 per cent of salary for Carl
Cowling and 310 per cent of salary for Robert Moorhead using the share price calculated over the three days preceding the grant date
to determine the number of awards granted. The grant share price of 1459.33p was 37 per cent higher than the average share price of
1044.89p for the last quarter of the tinancial year ended 31 August 2020, The performance target for awards was based on relative TSR
against the FTSE All Share General Retailers Index constituents. Vesting will occur on the following basis:

TSR performance ranking at end of the Performance Pericd Proporiion exercisable
Below median Zero
Median 25%
Upper quartle 100%

Between median and upper quartile On a straight-line hasis between 25% and 100%

1 Alternative perlormance measure defined and explained in the Giossary on page 156

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 81

33UeLIBA0E a1zl0dio)



Corpurate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

As disclosed in last year's report, consistent with the requirements of the Code, the Committee retains a broad discretion to reduce
vesting levels, including if it considers that there would otherwise be a windfalt gain or if management fail to deliver on the Company's

ESG expectations.

The performance condition far awards granted under the LTIP in the financial year ending 31 August 2022 will be based, as in prior
years, on the following Headline EPS and relative TSR targets each measured over the three financial years to 31 August 2024

* 50 per cent based on Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share [calculated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis) of 75p ta 110p with 25 percent of this
camponent vesting at threshold increasing on a straight-line basis to 100 percent at maximum. EPS has for some years been
defined as fully diluted pre-exceptional items and excluding IAS 19 pension charges together with other adjustments as considered
appropriate by the Cunnnnillee lalthough praciice has been to make umited adjustments). The definition of EPS remains except that,
as consulted with shareholders in 2020, it will be assessed on a pre-tax basis; and

5C per cent based on relative TSR over three financial years compared with the FTSE All Share Retailers. Threshold vesting wll

occur for TSR in line with median and maximum vesting will occur for TSR in line with the upper quartile of the comparator group

consistent with pricr awards.

The performance condition for awards granted under the LTIP in the financial year ending 31 August 2023 will alsa include ESG
performance measures and will be based on the following targets each measured over the three financial years to 31 August 2025:
40 per cent based an Headline pre-tax Earnings per Share; 40 per cent based on relative TSR: and 20 per cent based on the
Company's Corporate Responsibility Strategy, namely Flanet, People and Communities.

FIT indepencently carrtes out the relevant TSR growth calcwlation for the Comnpany.

Outstanding awards

The Company did not meet the performance targets for the 2018 LTIP and the awards lapsed on 1 November 2021. The Carnmitiee
determined that the formulaic out-turn under the LTIP was appropriate and should be applied without discretienary adjustment.

Details of the conditionat awards [in the foerm of nil-cest options] to acquire ordinary shares of the Company granted ta executive

directors are as follows:

Number of Number of
Number of dividend  shares subject Number of Number of
Mumber of  shares subject  accrual shares taawards shares subject  shares subject Share prite  Face value of
shares subject to awards awarded exercised toawards to awards at atdate  award atdate
o awards at granted dyring the duringthe lapsed during 31 August of grant of gramt
1 August 2020 during the year year year the year 20211 Ipence] €000 Exercise period
Carl Cowling
LTIP 201" 17,345 - - - - 17,345 155100 720 201019 - 20.10.26
LTIP 2017 36.457 - 336 - 31,689 5104 203647 743 261020 -26.10.27
LTIP 2018+ 40.515 - - - - 40,515 183267 763 011123-01.11.28
LTIP 20194 79.557 - - - - 79,557 22047 1,759 0571.24-0511.29
OBP 2019 3.990 - b4 1,351 - 2703 225847 90 24.30.20 - 2410.29
LTIP 20209 L= 126257 - - -~ 126,257 145933 1843 19.11.25-1%9.1130
Total 177,864 126,257 400 1,351 3,689 271481
Robert Moorhead
LTIP 2016 27,973 - - - - 2791 155100 1161 20.10.19-20.10.26
LTHP 201 7 57,009 - 526 - 49553 7,982 203667 1,181 261070 - 26.10.27
LTIP 2018 63.354 - - - - 63354 183247 1061 01.11.23-01.11.28
LTIP 20194 61,701 - - - - 61,701 2210.47 1,364 05.31.24 -09.11.29
0BP 2019™ 3.962 - &4 1,341 - 24685 225847 90 243020-2410.29
LTIF 20209 - 93.468 - - - 93,468 145933 1364 19.11.25-1911.30
Total 213,999 93,468 5%0 1,341 49,533 257,163
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The number of shares subject 1o awards is Ibe maximum {100 per centl number of shares thal could be received by the execulive il the periermance targets are (ully mel except 1hat, in respect of

awards grantad from Dclober 2016 onwards, ¢onsistent with markel pracice, any part of the awards which vesi wall henefit from the accrval of dividend roll-up,

bl In respect ol the awards granied on 20 Dctober 2014 under the LTIP. the remaining 50 per cent of the vesled shares will become exercisable on Lhe Filth anniversary of the date of grant. As a result.
the total aumber of shares which are exercisable from 20 Gclober 2021 are a3 follows: Carl Cowling 17.426 shares including 281 dividend accrual shares, and Roberl Moarhead 28,426 shares
including 453 dividend accrual shares. '

¢l Inrespect of the award granled cn 26 October 2017 under the LTIP held by Carl Cowling, 5,104 shares vested, including 33é dividend shares. and 31,489 shares lapsed. The award is subjecitoa

haolding period wilh 50 per cenl of any vesled shargs becaming exercisable on Ihe Lhird anniversary of the date of grant and the remaining 50 per cenl of any vesied shar_es becaming exercisable on

the fitth anniversary of Ihe date of grant. It was 2greed that 100 per cent of the vesled shares would be subject to 2 hotfing period becoming exercisable on the fifth anniversary of the date of grant.

dl In respect of the award granied on 26 Golobar 2017 under the LTIP held by Robert Moorhead, 7,982 shaves vested. inctuding 524 dividend acerual shares, and 49,553 shares lapsed. The award i
subjecl ta a holding period with 50 per cent of any vesled shares becoming exercisable on Lhe third anniversary of the dale of grant and the remaining 50 per cent ol any vested 5hares_hetummg
exercisable on the liflh anniversary of the dale of grant, Il was agreed that 100 per ¢ent of the vested shares would be subject lo @ holding period becoming exercisable on the filth anniversary of the

date of grani.

The perlormance condstions for awards granted in the linancial year ended 31 August 2019 under Lhe LTIP were:

|it 4G per ¢ent nased on the Company’s TSR performance agasnsl 1he FYSE All Share General Retailers Index constituents. Vesting will occur on the following basis: betow median - Nil:

medsan - 25 per cent, upper quartile - 100 per cent, and on a siraighl-line basis between 23 per cenl and 100 per cent, and

fiil 60 per cen! based on growih in \he adjusted diluted EPS of the Company. Vesling wilk occur on Lhe following basis: belew 5 per ten) - Nil; 5 per cent - 25 per cent: 10 per cenl or more - 100 per
cenl:and on a slraight-line basis between 25 per cent and 100 per cenl. For these purposes, EPS will be determined by relerence (o fully diluled EPS before exceptional items and will exclude

IAS |1? pension charges rom the calculation. adjusled as cansidered appropriate by the Committee 1o ensure consislency.

The Campany did nol meel the performance conditions and the awards lapsed on | Movember 2021,

N¢ awards have been granted to direclars between | Sepiember 2021 and 11 Novemnber 2021,

The awards granted in the financial years ended 31 August 2620 and 31 August 2021 under the LTiP wilk only vest to the exient thal the performance targets a5 set oul on pages 81 ang B3

€
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g N
are satisfied,

hl The awards granted in Lthe financial year ended 31 August 2020 under 1he DBP will be released one Lhird on each anniversary of the date of grant. Details of the awards are set out on page 81.
The awards accrue the benelit of any dividends paid by the Company and are not subject lo performance largets. In respect of tha award granted on 24 Dclober 2019 held by Carl Cowling, 1,35)
shares vested with 2 latat value of £20,677.58 (1530.5388p per ordinary share), In respect of the award granted on 24 October 2019 held by Raberl Moorhead, 1,341 shares vested with 3 lolal value

of £20,524,53 [1530.5388p per ordinary share].

4.14 WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust ,

The WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust (the Trust'] is used to facilitate the acquisition of ordinary shares in the Company ta satisfy
awargs granted under the Company’s share plans. The Trust is a discretionary trust, the sole beneficiaries being employees lincluding
executive directors) and former emptoyees of the Group and their close relations. The Trustee is Computershare Trustees [C.1.)
Limited, an independent professional trustee company based in Jersey. The Company intends that the ordinary shares in the Trust will
be used ta satisfy all outstanding awards and options made under the Company's share plans. The Trusiee may exercise all rights
attached to the shares held in the Trust in accordance with their fiducrary duties and the relevant plan rules or other governing
documents. The Trustee has agreed to waive its rights to all dividends payable on the ordinary shares held in the Trust.

Following share purchases of 122,813 shares in the financial year ended 31 August 2021, the number of WH Smith PLC shares heid in
the Trust at 31 August 2021 was 304,641. The Group's accounting palicy with respect to the Trust is detailed wrthin Note 1 to the
financial staternents and movements are detailed in the Group statement of changes in equity on page 102.

4.15 Dilution limits N '
Awards under the LTIP are currently satisfied using market purchase shares which may be acquired by the Trust as described in the
paragraph above. WHSmith's share plans comply with recommended guidelines on dilution kmits, and the Company has atways

operated within these limits.

4.16 External appointments

Each execulive director may accept up to twa non-executive directorships provided they are not both appointments to companies in
the FTSE 100 or include a chairmanship of a FTSE 100 company. Non-executwe directarships must not conflict with the interests of
the Company. Executive directors may retain fees from one of their external directorships. The fee received and retained by Robert

Moorhead in respect of his non-executive directarship is shown in the table below

Received Retained
£000s £000s
Robert Moorhead  The Walches of Switzerland Group PLC 58 68

| Alternalive performance measure deflined and axplained in the Glossary on page 154
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Corporate governance

Directors’ remuneration report continued

417 Directors’ interests in shares [audited)
The beneficial interests of the directors and their immediate families in the ordinary shares of the Company are set out below:

Number of shares subject to
Numter of shares subject te holding periods performance canditions
Ordinary shares DBFP Lmp LTP
31 August 31 August 2020
2021 for date of 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
(or dale of leaving| appoiniment] 021 2020 021 2020 021 pliro]
Kal Atwal 3,608 4127 - - - -t - -
Carl Cowling 23,051 22.33% 2.703 3.990 . 22,449 17.345° 246,329, 156,529
Nicky Dulieu . - - - - - - - _
Annemarie Durbin 1,952, 1952, -, -1 - -3 - -
Simon Emeny . : 4,427 2,952 - —1 - - - _
Robert Moorhead 197,973 197,263 2,685 3,962 35,955 27.973 218,523 182.064
Henry Stauntan 39,523 39.523 - - - _i - _
Maurice Thompsan 3452 3,452 - - —t - - _
Directors who resigned during the year
Suzanne Baxter 1,952 1,952 - N - _. - N

a) Nigky Dulieu was appointed a5 a non-execulive director on % Seplember 2020,

b) Kal Atwal was appointed as @ non-execulive director on 1 February 2021.

c] The LT1# amount above is the mazimuym polential award Lhat may vesl subject to the perlormance conditions described on pages 81 and 83.
di The perlormance condilions lor the Oclober 2018 LTIP were not met and Lhe awards lapsed.

There has been na furtker change m the directors interasts show abova between 1 September 2021 and 11 Novernber 2021.

The middle market price of an ordinary share at the close of busmess en 31 August 2021 was 1632p (28 August 2020 1177p].

See Table of Dulstanding awards on page 82 tor details of awards exercised during the financial year ended 31 August 2021,

£|
f

g
hl Suzanne Baxter siepped down as a direclor of the Company on 20 lanuary 2021.

4.18 Voting at the Annual General Meeting

Statement of voting at 2019 AGM ‘ ‘
The table below shows the voting outcorne at the Annual General Meeting on 23 January 2019 for approval of the remuneration paticy:

Yotes Total Yaoles
Resolution Voles for % for against % againsl vates cast withheld
Approval of Directors’ remuneration palicy- 75,623,654 98.78 935,638 122 76559292 73.785

Statement of voting at 2021 AGM . .
The table below shows the vating outcome at the Annual General Meeting on 20 January 2021 for appraval of the annual Directors

remuneration report:

Total
Yotes voled Yotes
Resolition Votes for % lor against % against cast withheld
Approval of Directors’ remuneration report 46,038,774 &7.43 31,894,173 3257  97.932947 99599463

A vote withheld is nct a vote in law and is not counted in the catculation of the proportion of votes ‘for’ and ‘against” a resolution.

As explamned in the announcement of the vating outcome at the Annual Generai Meeting an 20 January 2021, the Company
understands that the primary reason for the significant percentage of vetes against the resolution to approve the Directors’
remuneration report was the salary increase of £25,000 which Carl Cowling received on 1 July 2020. As a result, the previously
annpunced increase to Carl Cowling's salary in Aprit 2021 was postponed until } September 2021,

On behalf of th d
nealoteB\q_a_r.

Ann¥marie Durbin ! . Z i

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
11 November 2021
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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited cansolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 August 2021.
The Cormpany is the ultimate parent company of the WHSmith
group of cornpanies {the Group’]. WH Smith PLC is registered in
England and Wales [Number 5202036] and domiciled in the
United Kingdam.

The Cornpany has chosen, in accordance with Section 414C(11) of
the Companies Act 2006, to include certain information in the
Strategic report that would otherwise be required to be disclosed
in this Directers’ report, as follows:

Information Page number
Likely future developments in the business 8to 19
Branches outside the UK 14
Disclosures concerning greenhouse gas emissiens and

energy consumption 271032
Employment of disabled persons 33
Employee engagement w40
Engagerment with external stakeholders 41

Other information, which forms part of this Directors’ report, can
be found in the following sections of the Annual report:

Section Page nurnber
Corporate governance report 411048
Directors’ biographies 56 and 57

Staternent of directors’ responsibilities 88

Information on use of financial iNnstruments 137 to 140

This Directors’ report lincluding information specified above as
forming part of this report] fulfils the requirements of the
Corporate governance statement for the purposes of OTR 7.2,

The information required by Listing Rule 9 8.4R is disclosed on
the following pages of this Annual report.

Subject matter Page number

65 Directors’ remuneration
report/ Note 23 on page 140
of the financial statements

Allotment of shares for cash
pursuant to the WH Smith
employee share incentive plans

74 and 78 Directors’

Arrangement under which the
remuneration report

directors waived salary or fees

Arrangemnent under which the
WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust
has waived or agreed to waive
dividends/future dividends

83 Directors’
remuneration report

Dividends

In light of the ongoing uncertainty and the impact of Cavid-19 on
the Group which has resulted in the Group making a Headline
loss before tax and non-underlying items® of £55m, no interim
dividend was declared at the half-year and the Board will not
propose a final dividend in relation to the financial year ended

31 August 2021. The Board beligves that the decision not to pay &
dividend is in the best long-term interests of shareholders but
understands the importance of dividends te shareholders and
will consider the quantum and timing of possible future dividend
payments when appropriate to do so.

* Allgrnalive performance measure defined and explasned in the Glossary on page 154

Share capital

WH Smith PLC is a public company Limited by shares. The issued
share capital of the Company, together with details of shares
issued during the year, is shown in Note 23 to the financial
statements on page 140,

The issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August 2021
was 130,908,801 ordinary shares of 22%sp each. These shares are
listed on the London Stock Exchange and can be held in
certificated or uncertificated form.

The Company is not aware of any agreements between
sharehaolders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of

securities and vohing rights.

There are no restrictions on the transier of ordinary shares in the
Company other than certain restrictions imposed by laws and
regulations [such as insider trading laws and market
requirements relating to closed periods], including the
requirements of the UK Market Abuse Regulation and the Listing
Rules, and also the Company's Share Dealing Code whereby
directars and certain employees of the Company require Board
approval ta deal in the Company’s securities.

axureusanob ajesodion

The rights and obtligations attaching to the Company's ordinary
shares, in additicn to those conferred an their hotders by law, are
set out in the Cornpany’s Articles of Association, a copy of which
¢an be obtained from the Company’s website whsmithplc.co.uk.
The hotders of ardinary shares are entitled to receive the
Cornpany’s report and accounts, to attend and speak at general
meetings of the Company, to appoint proxies and to exercise
voting rights, and to receive a dividend, if declared, subject to the
deduction of any sums due from the holder of ordinary shares to
the Company on account of calls or otherwise. Changes lo the
Company's Articles of Association must be approved by special
resolution of the Company.

The Trustee of the WH Smith Employee Benefit Trust holds
ordinary shares in the Cormpany on behalf of the beneficiaries of
the Trust. who are the employees and former employees of the
Group. If any offer is made to the holders of ordinary shares 1o
acquire their shares, the Trustee will not be cbliged to accept or
reject the offer in respect of any shares which are at that time
subject to subsisting options, but will have regard to the interests
of the option holders and can consult them to obtain their views
on the offer, and subject to the foregoing, the Trustee will take the
action with respect to the offer it thinks fair

New Financing Arrangements and Convertible Bond

On 9 March 2021, the Company extended its bank financing
arrangements with its existing banks. The Company extended the
maturity of its two existing £200m Term Loans to October 2023
and agreed a new minimum liquidity covenant for both the
August 2021 and February 2022 covenant tests. The previously
agreed covenant waiver far February 2021 rematned unchanged.
These changes enabled the Company to cancel its existing
£120m liquidity loan which was undrawn and due to expire in
Novernber 2021. The Group's £200m revolving credit facdlity
remained unchanged with the arrangement due for renewal in
Decernber 2023.
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Carporate Qovernance

Directors’ report continued

On 28 Aprit 2021, the Company announced it had agreed new
bank financing arrangements and also launched a potential
offering of guaranteed senior unsecured Convertibie Bonds [the
"Bonds”). The new financing arrangements included a £250m
revolving credit facility [Increased from £200m) maturing in Aprd
2025 trom an expanded syndicate of lending banks and a new
€133m term loan also maturing in Aprit 2025

0n 29 April 2021 the Company announced the successful pricing
and final terms of its offering of £327m of Bonds. The Bonds
were issued in principal amounts of £100,000 each and carry a
coupon of 1.625 per cent per annum payable semi-annually in
arrear in equal instalments on 7 May and 7 November each year,
with the first interest payment date being 7 November 2021,
The Bonds are ronvertible into new and/or existing ordinary
shares of the Company. The initial conversicn price was set at
£24.99, representing a premium of 40 per cent above the
reference share price of £17.89. Settlement and delivery of the
Bonds took place on 7 May 2021 If not previpusly converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled. the Bonds will be
redeemed at par on 7 May 2026. The Bonds were admitted to
trading on the unregulated cpen market [Freiverkehr) of the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The issue of the Bonds was equivalent
to circa ten per cent of the Company's existing issued ordinary
share capital.

The new bank financing arrangements and the issue of the
Bonds provide balance sheet capacity and flexibility whilst
diversifying the Company’s sources of debt funding. The Company
also expects to beneht from an ongoing lower cost of funding
from the Bonds,

Purchase of own shares

At the 2021 AGM, authority was gven for the Company to
purchase, in the market, up to 13,086,666 ordinary shares of
22%p each, renewing the autharity granted at the 2020 AGM.

The Company did not purchase any of its own shares during the
financial year. The Company intends to renew the authonty to
purchase its own shares at the forthcoming AGM as the directors
believe that having the flexibility {o buy back shares is in the best
interests of the Cempany. The directors do not currently envisage
utilising this autherity in the financial year ending 31 August 2022.

Issue of new ordinary shares

During the financial year ended 31 August 2027, 43,345 ordinary
shares of the Comnpany were issued under the Sharesave
Scherne at prices between 1434,40p and 1609.60p. The Articles of
Association of the Campany provide that the Board may, subject
to the prior approval of the members of the Company. be granted
authority to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot
shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security
inta shares, including new ordinary shares.

Significant agreements/financing agreements -
change of control

A change of control of the Company following a takeover bid may
cause a number of agreements to which the Company or its
trading subsidiaries is party, such as commercial trading
contracts, banking arrangements, property leases, licence and
concession agreements to take effect, alter or terminate.

in addition, the service agreements of some senior executives
and employee share plans would be similarly affected on a
change of control, including, in the case of some employees,

in relation to compensation for loss of office.

The Cormpany has an unsecured £250m multi-currency revolving
credit facility with Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC Bank PLC, 1P,
Morgan Securities, Santander UK PLC and BNP Paribas for
general corporate and working capital purposes. If there is a
change of control of the Company. and agreeable terms cannot
be negotiated between the parties, any lender may cancel the
commitment under the facility and a1l eutstanding utilisations for
that lender. together with accrued interest, shall be

immediately payable.

The Company issued a £327m convertible bond on 7 May 2021,
The Band holders have the right to early redemption in the event
of a change of cantrol of the Company.

Directors’ conflicts

The Company’s Articles of Assaciation permit the Board to
consider and, if it sees fit, to authorise situations where a director
has annterest that conflicts, or may possibly conflict, with the
interests of the Company {"Situational Conflicts']. The Board has
a formal system in place for directors to declare Situztional
Conflicts to be considered for autharisation by those directors
who have ng interest in the matter being considered. in deciding
whether to authorise a Situational Canflict, the non-conflicted
directors must act in the way they consider. in good faith, would
be mast likely to promote the success of the Company, and they
may impose limits or canditians when giving the aulhorisation,
or subsequently if they think this is appropriate. Any Situational
Conflicts considered by the Board, and any authorisations given,
are recorded in the Board minutes and in a register of conflicts
which is reviewed regularly by the Board.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company maintained directors’ and officers” ligbility
insurance in the financiat year ended 31 August 2021 and up 1o
the date of this report which gives appropriate cover for any legal
action brought against its directars. The Cormpany has provided
and continues to provide an indemnity for its direclors, which 15 a
qualifying third party indemnity provisian for the purposes of
Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Company’s shareholders

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the Financial
Conduct Authority's (FCA Disclasure Guidance and Transparency
Rules |DTRs] is published on a Regulatary information Service
and on the Company’s website. As at 31 August 2021, the
following information had been received, in accordance with
DTRS, from holders of natifiable interests in the Company's
issued share capital. It should be noied that these holdings may

* have changed since notified to the Company.

% as atdate ol Nature of
Helder Number notification holding
BlackRock Inc. 7,698,670 5.87 Indirect
Causeway Capital 7,882,568 6.02 Direct
Managernent LLC
M&G PLC 7.971.971 692  Indirect
Marathan Asset 6,539,399 499 Indirect
Management LLP
Royal London Asset 6,539,691 4.99 Direct

Management Ltd

al On ) September 2029 BtackRock inc. nolilied the Company of a hotding of 7,736,608 shares
15.70 per cent Indirect holdingl. Subseguently, on 2 September 2021 BtackRack Ing, nolified
the Company of a decrease in its holding Lo 7,657,823 shares [5.83 per cent Indirect holding).
On 15 September 2021 BlackRock Ing. nolified the Company of an increase in its holding to
8,057,674 shares 16.14 per cenl Indirect holding}. On 16 Seplember 2021 BlatkRock Inc.
notitied the Company of a change inils holding Lo 8,057,803 shares [6.14 per cenl Indirect
holding!, On 17 Seplember 2021 BlackRuck tnc. natified the Company of a change in its
holding o 8.052,490 shares |6.14 per cent Indirect halding).

bl On 3 Seplember 2021 Causeway Capilal Management LLE natiliad Ihe Company ol a holding
of 9,280,753 shares [7.09 per cent Direcl holdingl:

The Campany received no other nolifications in the period
between 31 August 2021 and the date of this report.

Political donations

‘It is the Company’s policy not to make political donations and no
political denations, contributions or political expenditure were
made in the year {2020: Enil].

Going concern
The Group's business activities, together with the factors that are

likely to affect its future developments, performance and position,

are set out in the Strategic report on pages 2 to 40. The Financial
review on pages 16 to 19 of the Strategic report also describes
the Group's financial position. cash flows and borrowing facilities,
further information on which is detailed in Notes 19 to 22 of the
financizal statements on pages 134 to 140. At 31 August 2021, the
Group is in 2 net current liability position. In addition, Nate 22 of
the financial statements on page 137 includes the Group's
chjectives, policies and processes for managing its capital, s
financial risk management objectives; detaits of its financial
instruments and hedqing activities; and its exposures to credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Strategic report on pages 21 to 28 also
highlights the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group.

The directors are required to assess whether the Group can
continue to aperate for a minimurm of 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, and to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The directors
consider that the Group Company has adequate resources to

remain in operation for the foreseeable future and have therefore
continued te adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements. The basts of preparation of the financial
statements and a more detailed explanation of the work
undertaken in respect of going concern are set out in Note 1 of
the financial statements on page 103.

The longer-term viability staternent is in the Strategic report an
page 28.

‘Independent auditors

PwC has expressed its willingness to continue in office as
auditors of the Company. A resolution to re-appoint PwC as
auditors to the Company and a resolution to authorise the Audit
Committee to determine its remuneration will be preposed at
the AGM.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Having made the requisite enguiries, as far as each of the
directors is aware, there is no retevant audit information {as
defined in Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006] of which the
Company's auditors are unaware, and each of the directors has
taken all steps he or she should have taken as a director in order
to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are
aware of that information,

Annual General Meeting

The AGM of the Cormpany will be held at the offices of Herbert
Srmith Freehills LLP, Exchange House, Primrose Street,

London EC2A 2EG on 19 January 2022 at 11.30am. The Notice of
Annual General Meeting is given, together with explanatory
notes, in the booklet which accompanies this report. At the time
of writing, UK public health regulations and guidance allow us to
return to an in-persen meeting this year, with shareholders
physically able to attend the AGM should they wish to do so.

We will continue te review our AGM arrangements in ight of the
latest government Covid-19 guidance, and therefore
shareholders are encouraged to monitor the AGM page of the
Company's website www.whsmithplc.co.uk/investors/
shareholder-centre/agm for any updates.

Thisyﬂ@mved by the Board on 11 Novernber 2021.

Op<ehalf ofthE Board

pany Jecretary

11 November 2021
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Financial statements

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The direclors are responsible for preparing the Annual repart
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulation. :

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the Company
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure
Framework’, and applicable lawl. Additionally, the Financial
Conduct Authority's (hsclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules
require the directors 1o prepare the Group financial statements in
accordance with international financial reporting standards
adopted pursuant to Regulation [EC) No 1406/2002 as it applies in
the European Union.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the
profit or loss of the Graup and Company for that peniod.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are

required to:

» select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

state whether applicable internatianal accounting standards in
conforrmity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and international financial reporting standards adopted
pursuant to Regulation [EC| No 1606/2002 as it applies in the
European Union have been followed for the Group financial
statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 101, have been followed for the Company
financial statements, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financiat staterments;

make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasanable and prudent; and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and
Cornpany will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safequarding the assets of
the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection ot fraud and other irregulanties.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any lime the financial position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial staternents and the
Directors’ remuneration report comply with the Companies

Act 2006,

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Company’s website, Legistation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from tegislation in ather jurisdictions.

~ Cart Cowling

Directors’ confirmations

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed
in the Directors biographies, confirms that, lo the best of
their knowledge:

« the Group financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance wath international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and international financial reporting standards adopted
punsuani Lo Regulation [EC| No 1606/2002 as it applies in the
European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets,
Liabilities, financial position and loss of the Group;

the Company financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
comprising FRS 101, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and loss of the Cormpany: and

« the Strategic report includes a fair review of the development
and performance ol the business and the pesitian of the Group
and Corpany, together with a description of the principal nsks
and uncertainties that it faces.

In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’

report is approved:

« spiar as the direclor 1s aware. there is no relevant audit
information of which the Group's and Company’s auditors are
unaware; and

= they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a
directar in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Group's and
Company's auditors are aware of that information.

On behalf of the Board

X°

/

Group Chief Executive

Robert Moorhead 7 ;
Chief Financial Offider-and Chief Opedating Officer

11 Novermnber 2021
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Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

In our opinion:

* WH Smith PLC’s Group financial staternents and Company
financial statements {the "financial statements”] give a true
ang fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Cornpany's
affairs as al 31 August 2021 and of the Group’s loss and the
Group's cash flows for the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

the Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Acceunting Practice [United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law); and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the reguirements af the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the
Annual Report and Accounts {the ‘Annual Report’, which
comprise: the Group and Company balance sheets as at

31 August 2027, the Group income statement and Group

" statement of comprehensive income; the Group cash flow
statement, and the Group and Company staterments of changes
in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial
statemnents, which include a gescription of the significant
accounting policies.

Our opinion is censistent with aur reporting to the
Audit Commitiee.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation [EC]

No 156046/2002 as it applies in the European Union

As explained in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Group and
Company. in additron te applying international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006, have also applied internationat financial reporting
standards adopted pursuant to Regulation [EC) No 1606/2002 as
it applies in the European Union.

In our opinion, the Group and Company financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance with international
financial reparting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

Basis for opinian

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK] ("1SAs [UKIT and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under ISAs [UK) are further described in the
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have
abtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opINian.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical reguirements that are relevant to our audit of the financiat
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard,
as applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-
audit services prohibited by the FRC s Ethical Standard were
not pravided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 3, we have provided no
non-audit services to the Company in the period under audit.

Our audit approach
Overview

" Audit scope

o For the purposes of scoping the Group audit we have assessed
the seven components of the business; High Street, Travel UK,
InMotion, MRG, Travel International, Company and Central.
For the purposes of the Group audit, we performed a full scope
audit on the High Street, Travel UK, MRG and inMotion
components, whilst performing specified audit procedures over
balances within the Central and Company components based
on their overall size and values of their specific financial
statement line iterms. Travel International was not inctuded in
the scope of our Group work.
* The audits of the InMotion and MRG components were
performed by PwC USA.
» Qur audit scoping gave us coverage of approximately 91% of
absolute Group loss before tax, with approximately 6%
coverage of revenue.
We performed a full scope audit over the Company for the
Company audit.

Key audit matters

« Going concern [Group and Company)

« Convertible bond and refinancing [Group and Cormpany]

« |mpairment of store property, plant & equipment and right-af-
use assets [Group) and impairment of investments (Company)

* Inventory valuation [Group)

* One off transactions and equal prorinence of Alternative
Performance Measures APMs’ (Group)

» Pension scheme valuation [Group}

Materiality

= Qverall Group materiality: £5.7 million [2020: £6.1 million]
based on approximately 5% of the five year average of
loss/profit before tax before non-underlying items.

» Overall Company materiality: £8.4 million (2020: £11.2 million}
based on 1% of total assets.

« Performance materiality: £4.3 million (Group) and £6.3 million
[Company].

WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021 89

SlUaW s 1RI3URUI



Financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstaterment in the

financial staternents.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professionat judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial staterments of the current period and include the
most significant assessed risks of material mizstatement
fwhether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including

those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit sirategy;

the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts
of the engagemnent teamn. These matlers, and any comments we
make on the resuits of our procedures thereon, were addressed
in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon. and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters

This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Key audit matter

The convertible bond and refinancing is a new key audit matter
this year. IFRS 16 Right-of-use asset and lease liability valuation,
Acquisition of Marshall Retail Group ' MRG'] and Covid-19. which
were key audit matters last year, are no longer included.

MRG was a specific transaction in the pricr year, IFRS 16 was an
area of focus in the year of transition and there have been lower
levels of new and madified leases in the year which required less’
judgement. Covid-19 has significantly impacted the Group in the
year [including store closures and restricted travell the specific
impact of Covid-1¥ on key audit matters has been set out within
separate key audit matters below Otherwise, the key audit
matters below are consistent with last year

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Geing concern [Group and Company]
Reler to Note 1 [a} Accounting paolicies basis of preparation,
Going concern.

In undertaking their assessment of going concern for the
Company and Group. the directors modelled future business
performance and cash flow forecasts, by means of a ‘hase case’
and a ‘severe but plausible’ cash flow model. In both moedels, the
directors consigered the financing available to the Group to
assess liquidity and associated debt covenants.

As part of strengthening the balance sheet, and in response to
the impact Cowid-19. management refinanced the Group's debt
1n the year, 1ssuing a £327 million bond, [refer to separate key
audit matter] The base case model is consistent with the
Group's budget and three year plan. The severe but plausible
madel sensitises the base case and assumes a three-maonth
lockdown from Decernber 2021, with a gradual recavery
thereafter. This scenario mirrors actual performance in the
lockdown of early 2021 and subsequent recovery.

Taking into account both the base case and severe but plausible
scenario, and considering both liquidity and covenant headroom,
the directors concluded that the Group has sufficient resources
available to meet its liabilities as they fall due and is therefore a
going concern. Further details of the directors’ assessment are
included within the Directors’ report on page 85.

Due to the angoing pandemic, and associated changes to
lockdown restrictions. there is significant judgement in
developing the future cash flow forecasts. in particular. the
assumptions relating to revenue. We therefore focused audit
effort on the going cancern risk.

We agree with the Directors’ conclusion to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The procedures performed in respect of going concern and our
lindings are set out in the "Conclusions relating to going
concern” section below,

We consider the disclosure within the Basis of Preparation to
appropriately highlight the process the directors have
undertaken and the judgements, estimates and

uncertainty involved.
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Key audit matter

How cur aullit addressed the key audit matter

Convertibte bond and refinancing [Group and Companyj
Refer to Note 1 (m] and Note 1 [g] for the financial instrument
accounlting policy and the directors’ disclosure of the critical
accounting judgements and key sources of

estimation uncertainty

As a direct result of Covid-19, the Group has refinanced its
borrowings in the year which has resulted in the derecognition
of the old debt facilities and recagnition of the new term toan
and convertible bond.

Intial recognition of the convertible bond requires complex
accounting treatment and judgement regarding the bifurcation
of the instrument into a liabulity component and an equity
component. Transaction fees have been allocated between
underlying and non-underlying expenses in accordance with the
Group’s pelicy.

Given the complexity of the accounting and judgements applied
when accounting for these instruments, we have focused on this
as part of ocur audit.

We have audited management's technical assessment and
consider the conclusions reached to be appropriate. We are
satisfied that the mitial recognition of the bond and the
hifurcation between a liability and eguity component is
appropriate and that the cenclusions and related accounting
are reasonable based on our review of the underlying terms
of the bonds.

We have canfirmed the existerice of the bond with the
relevant counterparty

We considered whether the allocation and disclosure of the
non-underlying transaction fees as 'directly attributable to
Covid-19" was appropriate and were satisfied that there was
evidence that supports this treatrnent.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no material
issues arising from our work.

Impairment of store property, plant & equipment and
right-of-use assets [Group)] and impairment of investments
(Companyl]

Refer ta Note 1 {a). Basis of preparation, Non-underlying iterms
and 11q] Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty and Notes 12 and 13 |Property, plant &
equipment and Right-of-use assets) and Note 3 in the Company
Financial statements

The Group has a material operational retail asset base which
may be vulnerable to impairment in the event cof trading
periormance being below expectations. For the purposes of
impairment tesling, each retadl store is cansidered to be a
separate cash generating unit [CGU).

In the year, an impairmenl trigger was identified for the entire
portfolio of slores as a result of continued challenging trading
conditions as a result of Covid-19. The value-in-use models used
to determine the amount of any impairment charge are based
on store specific assumptions. Management's assessment
resulied in the recognition of an impairment charge of

£44 miltion.

We focused on this area because of the inherent judgement and
estimation uncertainty involved in determining key assumptions
such as the future saies profile and discount rates, particularly
given the uncertainty associated with Covid-19. and the
magnitude of the assets under consideration.

We obtained an understanding of how management had
developed its forecast for the future trading of the Group.
including obtaining a detailed understanding cf the key
assumptions made in developing these forecasts. We satisfied
ourselves that the forecasts were reasonable and had been
prepared with appropriate Board involvement. In forming this
conclusion, we benchmarked the projections of trading and
recovery against forecasts of credible third parties, as well as
the current sales trajectary of the business versus pre-pandemic
levels. With the assistance of our valuation experts we tested
the value-in-use models. including challenging management
forecasts at a store level, as well other assumptions such as the
sales profile, assumptions under-pinning the timing of recovery
and discount rate, and found that these assumptions were
reasonable. We assessed the mathematical accuracy and
integrity of the impairrment models znd determined that the
impairment charge had been appropriately catculated.

Given the estimation uncertainty inherent in the impairment
calculations, the financial statements include a sensitivity
analysis [refer to Note 12]. Having re-performed the sensitivity
calculations and considered whether any other sensitivities
might be more appropriate, we are satisfied that the financial
statements adequately disclose the potential risk of future
impairment or requirement for reversal of impairment if the
performance of the stares differs from that forecast.

We considered whether the disclosure of the non-underlying
impairment charge as directly atiributable to Cavid-19" was
appropriate and were satisfied that.there was evidence that
supports this statement.

We considered the carrying value of the Company investments
in light of the impact of Covid-19, and noted ng impairment.
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Financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

Key audil matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Inventory valuation‘ [Group)
Refer to Note 1 (h] Inventories and Note 1 [gl Critical accounting
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty.

Inventory consists of @ number of product categories including
books. news and magazines, impulse, stationery, travel essentials
and digitat. As at 31 August 2021, inventory was E135 million.

A number of inventory lines are perishable and items such as firm
gale books, digital, fashion and journey solutions are at greater
risk of obsolescence in a reduced trading environment.

Categories including books, newspapers and magazines are on a
sale or return basis and therefore have historically been
considered to be lower risk; however, due to the impact of
Covid-19. there has been an increase in the levels of firm sale

stock as the returns allowances were reduced due to lower intake,

thereby creating additional risk.

The Group's ‘'underlying inventory provision is primarily based an
agemng profile and obsolescence risk based on historic sales
performance. The assumptions in the calculation are consistent
with the prior year. For a second year. the Group has calculated a
‘non-underlying” provision as a direct result of Covid-19. In the
current year, the provision has been calculated due to a slower
than anticipated recovery from the pandemic.

Judgemem is required to estimate future sales to clear this
inventory and with respect to alternative exit routes for inventory
which attract different provisioning rates.

We focused on the valuation of the invenlory provisions due to the
size of the balance and the estimates involved in determining the
future sales forecasts and the complexity of the calculation.

For the underlying provision, we developed an independent
expectation of the provision required using a combinaticn of
ageing analysis and historic inventory turn data. We performed
testing over the ageing data to ensure its accuracy.

For the non-underlying pravision we focused on the book
category, where the provision pertains to items that can no
longer be classified as sale or return. We tested how the returns
allowance was calculated.

The provisions are consistent with the Groups accounting palicy
and also reflect changes in the ageing profile and estimated
future sales forecasts resulting from Covid-19. We satisfied
ourselves that the nventory provisions were materially accurate.

Given the estimations involved we reviewed 2 sensitivity analysis
to satisfy ourselves that a reasonable possible change would not
resull in a material adjustment to the carrying vaiue of

the inventory.

One off trapsactions and equal prominence of Alternative
Performance Measures ‘APMs’ [Group)

Refer to Note 1 (3]l Non-underlying items, 1 (g) Critical
accounting judgernents and key sources of estimatian
uncertainty and Note 4 [Non-underlying items).

The Group has included "Non-underlying items’ on the face of
the Group income statement and discusses these items in the
Annual Regort. Given the guantum and number of non-
underlying items in the year, we focused on the presentation of
these items to ensure they were treated cansistently with the’
Group's accounting policy.

Management runs the business en a pre-IFRS 16 basis and
presents a number of pre-IFRS 16 APMs in the front half of the
Annual Report and Accounts.

We substantiated a sample of non-underlying items to
corraborating evidence We considered whether the designation
of items as ‘non-underlying” was consistent with the Group’s
accounting policy as disclosed in Note 1 (a] and treatment in
prior years.

We considered the evidence to support the segregation of ‘costs

attributable to Covid- 19" and did not identify any arbitrary
splitting of ems between Covid-19 and non Caowd-19.

Based on our procedures, we are satisfied that the treatment
and classification of non-underlying wems is consistent with the
Group's policy.

As part of our work we ensured there was equal prominence
between pre-IFRS 16 and IFRS 16 measures.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matier

Pension scheme valuation (Group)

Refer to Note 1 [g) Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty and Note 5 |[Retirement
beneht obligations).

The Group has two defined henefit pension plans which
comprise total gross plan assets of £1,4463 million and total
pension liabilities of £1.180 million which are significant in the
context of the overall balance sheet of the Group. The Group
does not recognise the pension surplus due to the fact there is
not an uncanditional night tc a refund of the surplus.

The valuation of the schemes’ tiabitities requires judgement and
technical expertise in choosing appropriate assurmptions.

The Group uses third party actuzries to calculate the schemes’
liabilities.

Changes to a number of the key assumptions can have a
material impact on the pension balance [refer Note 5).

The most recent triennial valuation was completed in
November 2020.

We focused on this area because of the potential financial
impact of changes in the assumptions.

We ohtained the actuaniai report for the WH Smith Pension Trust
Retail Section for the scheme as at 31 August 2021.

We reviewed the pensicn liability assumptions, including discount
rales, inflation and monality rates

We compared the discount and inflation rates used to our
internally developed benchmark ranges, finding themn to be within
an acceptable range. Other assumptions were also assessed and
considered to be reasanable.

We cbtained the tatest census data information from bath the
actuary and payroll and agreed a sample of the data used by the
actuary to the supporting payroll information

without exception

We obtained independent confirmations from investment
managers to confirm the valuation of the scheme assets at the

batance sheet date.

Based an the procedures performed. we noted no material
issues arising from our work.

SlUaWIels jeduRUI4
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Financial statements

independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we perfarmed
enough work to be abie to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whale, taking inlo account the structure of the
Group and the Company the accounting processes and controls,
and the industry in which they cperate.

For the purposes of scaping the Group audit we have assessed
the seven components of the business; High Street, Travel UK,
inMotion, MRG, Travel International. Central and Cormpany.
There are four significant components. High Street and Travel UK
were audited by the UK Group team, and [nMotion and MRG were
audited by PwC US as component auditors operating under our
instruction. Audit work was performed over the consalidation
process, tax, impairment and going concern at a UK Group level.
Where the work was performed by the component auditor, we
determined the level of involvernent we needed to have in their
audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient audit
evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the
Group financial staternents as a whole. We held detailed
discussions with the InMotion and MRG component audit team,
including evaluation of and remote review of the work performed,
update calls on the progress of their fieldwork and by attending
the clearance meetings with management via video calt

The components where we performed audit work accounted for
approximately ?1% of absolute Group loss befare tax and
approximately 96% of revenue. We performed specified audit
procedures over balances within the Central and Company
components based on their overall size and vatues of their
specific financial staternent kine items. Travel International was
not included in the scope of our Group work. For the Company
financial statements, we performed a full scope audit, providing
us with 140% coverage.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of
materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations. helped us to
delermine the scope of our audit and the nature. timing and
extent of sur audit procedures on the individual financial
statenent line items and disclosures and in evalualing the effect
of misstatements, both individually and m aggregate on the
financial statements as a whole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality
far the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group firancial statements Company finankial stalements
Overall £5 7 million £8.4 million
materiality {2020: £6.1 million),  (2020: £11.2 mullion].
How we Approximately 5% 1% of total assets.

of the five year
average of loss/profit
before tax before
non-underlying
items.

Based on the
benchmarks used in

determined it

As the parent entity.
WH Smith PLC is a

Rationale for
benchmark applied

the Annual Repart.  hotding Company for
toss/profit before tax 40 Group and
befare non- therefore the

underiying items is
the primary measure
used by the
shareholders in
assessing the
performance of the
Group and is a
generally accepted
auditing benchmark.

materiality
bhenchmark has
been determined to
be based on {otal
assets which 1s a
generally accepted
auditing benchmark.

For each component in the scope of our Graup audit, we
allecated a materiality that is less than our everall Group
materiality. The range of materiality silocated across components
was £4.0 million and £5.0 million.

We use perfarmance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low
level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrecied and
undetected misstatements exceeds overatl materiality.
Speciically, we use performance materiality in determining the
scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of
account balances, ¢lasses of transactions and disclosures, for
example in deterrmining sample sizes. Our performance
meferiality was 75% of overall materiality, amounting to

£4.3 million for the Group financial statements and £6.3 million
for the Company financial statements.

In determining the performance rnatedality we considered a
number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of .
controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our
narmal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to
them risstatements identified during eur audit above £305,000
(Group audit] [2020: £305,000) and £420.000 ([Company audit]
12020: £563,000) as well as misstatements below those amounts
that, in our view, warranted reparting for quatitative reasons.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and
the Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting included:

= critically assessed the assumgtions within the models
including; assessing the historical accuracy of management’s
forecasts and gbtained carroborating evidence for the
assurnptions used such as air travel information on
passenger numbers;

obtained and reviewed the Group’s financing agreements,
including the convertible bond;

assessed the reasonableness of estimates made regarding the
inclusion of a three-month lackdown in the severe but
plausible case,

agreed the assumptions regarding the timing and extent of
recovery from Cowid-17 in the severe but plausible case to
historical actuals;

performed independent sensitivity analyses to the severe but
plausible case to assess the impact on Liquidity and covenant
headraem, and

confirmed that consistent appraaches to going concern,
viability, mpairment and other key areas of estrmation
assumptions have been used. '

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any
material uncertainties retating to events or conditions that,
individually or caltectively. may cast significant doubt on the
Group's and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern
for 2 period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's
and the Company’s ability to continue as & going concern.

In relation te the directors’ reporting on how they have applied
the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to
add or draw attention to in relation 1o the directors’ statermnent in
the financial staternents about whether the directors considered
it appropriate to adopt the going cencern basis of accounting.

Our responsibiliies and the respensibilities of the directors with
respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the
Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the
other information. Qur opinion on the linancial statements does
nal cover the other information and, accordingty, we do not
express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit ot the financial statements, our
responsitility is to read the ather infarmation and. in doing so.
consider whether the other information is matenally inconsistent
with the financial staterments or our knowledge obtatned in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materizlly misstated. If we
identify an apparent material inconststency or material
misstatemnent. we are required to perform procedures to
conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the
financial statements or a materiat misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
informatian, we are required 1o report that fact. We have nothing
to report based on these responsibililies. '

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ report, we also
considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2004 have been included.

sluawale)s jenuey 4

Based an our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the
Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain ocpinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic repart and Directors’
report, for the year ended 31 August 2021 is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Cornpany and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identify any material misstaiements in the
Strategic report and Directors report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our gpinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance wilh the
Companies Act 2006.
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Financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members

of WH Smith PLC continued

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’ statements
in relation to going concern, longer-term viability and that part of
the corporate governance statement relaling to the Company's
cornpliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code specified fur our review. Gur additional responsibilities with
respect to the corporate governance statement as other
information are described in the Reporting an other information
section of this report.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have
concluded that each of the following elements of the corporate
governznce statement is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowledge obtained duning the audit, and we
have nothing material to add or draw attention 1o in relation to:

» The directors’ confirmation that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

= The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those
principal risks, what procedures are in place to identify
emerging risks and an explanation of how these are being
managed or mitigated;

The directors’ statement in the financial statements about
whether they considered it appropriale to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing them, and their
identification af any material uncertainties te the Group's and
Company’s ability to continue to do so over a period of at teast
twelve months from the date of approval of the

financial statements,

The directors’ explanation as to their assessment of the
Group’s and Company's prospects, the period this assessment
covers and why the period is appropriate; and

The directors’ staterment as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in
operation and meet iis liabilities as they fall due over the period
of its assessment, including any related disciosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Qur review of the directors’ slatement regarding the longer-term
viability of the Group was substentially less in scope than an audit
and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the
directars’ pracess supparting their statement; checking that the
statement is in alignment with the relevant pravisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code: and considering whether the
statement is consistent with the financial statements and our
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and
their ervironment obtained in the course of the audit.

[

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit,
we have concluded that each of the following elements of the
corporate governance statement is materially consistent with the
financial statements and our knowledge obtained during

the audit:

» The directors’ statement that they consider the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandabte, and
provides the information necessary for the members to assess
the Group’s and Company's position, performance, business
model and strategy,

¢ The section of the Annual Report that describes the review of
effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems; and

*» The section of the Annual Report describing the wark of the
Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to

report when the directors’ statement relating to the Company's

compliance with the Code does not properly disclose a departure

fram a relevant provisicn of the Code specified under the Listing

Rules far review by the audttors.

Respansibilities tor the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities af the directors tor the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of directars’
responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framewark and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view The directors are also responsible for such internal controt
as they determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement.
whether due to fraud or error

In preparing the kinancial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as appl:cable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to bquidate the
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have na realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the

financial statements

Dur cbjectives are to obtzain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free fram material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or errar, and to rssue an
auditars’ repori that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
i a high tevel of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 15As [UK] will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists, Misstaternents can arise
from fraud or error and are considered matenal if. individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in tine with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which
our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we
identified that the principal risks of non-comgliance with laws
and regulations related to health and safety GDPR, employment
law. general food law, pensions, tax legislation. the UK Listing
Rules, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also
considered thase laws and regulations that have a direct impact
an the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006.

We evaluated management's incentives and cpportunities for
fraudulent manipulabion of the financial statements [including
the risk of override of cantrals!, and deterrmined that the princepal
risks were related to manipulation of revenue and or costs, and
management bias in accounting estimates, The Group
engagement team shared this risk assessment with the
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* component auditors so that they could include appropriate audit
procedures in response to such risks in their work.

Audit procedures performed by the Group engagement team
and/or component auditors included:

* Reviewing legal confirmations fram external lawyers;

* Reviewing the financial statement disclosures and agreement
to underlying supporting documentation;

» Challenging assumptions made by management in
deterrnining their signilicanl judyements and accounting
estimates [refer key audit matters); and

* Identifying and testing unusual journals posted to revenue,
journals posted after period close and journals posted by
senier management.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described
abave. We are less likely to become aware of instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely
related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not deteciing a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Our audit testing might mclude testing complete populations of
certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
technigues. However, it typically involves selecting a limited
number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for
testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,
we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion
about the population from which the sample is selected.

Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial staternents is located on the FRC's website at:

www frc org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This desgription forms
part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the apinions, has been prepared for and
only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Campanies Act 2006 and for no ather
purpose. We do not, in giving these gpintons, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whase hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2004 exception reporting

Under the Cornpamies Act 2006 we are required to report to yau if,
N oUr opInIonN:

* we have not abtained all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

= adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Company. or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

= certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law
are not made, or

« the Company financial staternents and the part of the
Directors’ remuneration report 1o be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendstion of the Audit Committee, we were
appointed by the members on 21 January 2013 to audit the
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2015 and
subseguent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement is 7 years, covering the years ended 31 August 2015
to 31 August 2021.

Jonathan Lam nior St Ty Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

11 Novernber 2021
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Financial statements

Group income statement
For the year ended 31 August 2021

2021 w0
Betore Before
nen-undertying Non- underlying non-underking Non-

£m Note items' items? Total items' undertying items? Tolal

; . i
Revenue 2! 886 - - 886’ 1021 - 1021
Group operating loss ' 2,3 27 [5) 192) (48) 1212} {2601
Finance costs . 7 (24) - (24) (201 - 120
Loss before tax ' PR 1 {65} (118) {48} [212) 1280)
Incorne tax credit 8 24 12 36. 16 25 41
Loss for the year ' (27 (531 - (80) (52] (187] (239
Attributabte ta equity holders of the parent X (29 (53 (82) {52] [187) (2391
Aitributable to non-controlling interests ; 2 - 2 - - -

i (27 (53) (80} {52) 187) (239)
Loss per share l '
Basic 10 . (62.6)p {19%.21p
Diluted 10 (62.6)p 1199.2lp

All results relate lo contmuing operalions of the Groug.
1 Alternatve performance measure, The Group has dehned and explained the purpose of its alternative perfarmance measures in the Glossary on page 154

2 5ee Noted lor an analysis of non-wnderlying items, See Glossary on page 154 far a definition of Allernative Perlormance Measures
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Group statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 August 2021

£m Nete 2021 2020
Loss for the year (80) 1239)
Other comprehensive toss: |
!
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to the income statement: ;
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes 5, m 11
(1 11
]
ltems that niay be reclassified subsequentiy to the income staternent:
[Lossesl/gains on cash flow hedges
- Net fair value (lossesi/gains - tel
- Reclassified and recognised in inventories - (1
- Reclasstfied and recognised in goodwill - 8
- Reclassified and reported in the income statement - (1
Exchange differences on translation of foreign cperations 113 221
(13 (24]
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax (14) n3l
Total comprehensive loss for the year (94) (252)
Attributable to equity holders of the parent (98} {252)
Attributable to non-controlling interests 2 -
{94) {2521
99
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Financisl statements

Group balance sheet

As at 31 August 2021

£m Nole 202 2020
Non-current assets :
Goodwill n 406 418
Other intangible assets 1, 67, 75
Property. plant and equipment 12, 174 192
Right-of-use assets 13 328 413
Investrnents In joint ventures 2 2
Deferred tax assets 18 57 23
Trarie and other receivables LE é i
1,040 1,132
Current assets
Inventories . 135 150
Trade and other receivables 14 45 49
Derivative financial assets 22 - -
Current tax receivable . - 8
Cash and cash equivalents 19 130 108
. 310 315
Total assets . 1,350 1447
Current liabilities .
Trade and other payables 157 (265) [243]
Bank overdrafts and other borrowings 19 - -
Retirement benefit ebligations 5 (f i
Lease liabilities 16, (1108 (120]
Short-term provisions 17 (2} (5]
- (a76) 377
Non-current liabilities )
Retirement benefit obligations 5 (2) (3
Bank loans and other barrowings 19 (415) (400]
Long-term provisions 17 (12) 9l
Lease liabilities 16 (362) {429]
Ceferred tax liabilities 18 - (2l
(791) {843)
Total liabilities (1,167) (1.220)
Total net assets 183 227
Sharsholders’ equity
Called up share capital 23 29 29
Share premium 316 315
Capital redernption reserve 13. 13
Translation reserve ' (27 (14)
Other reserves 2! (240) (279)
Retained earnings ) 82 158
Total equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent 173 222
Non-controlling interests 10 5
183 227

Total equity

The consolidated hnancial statements of WH Srith PLC, registered number 5202036, on pages 98 to 149 were appraved by the
Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 11 November 2021 and were signed on its behalf oy:

48' Operab

Carl Cowling
Group Chief Executive

et

Robert Moorhead
Chief Financ

pre
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Group cash flow statement

[or the year ended 31 August 2021

£m Hote 021 020
GOperating activities ; ‘ '
Cash generated from operating activities 21 113 - 94
Interest paid' ' (13) {13)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 100 81
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment ; (37) (67
Purchase of intangible assets 7 7 f12]
Acquisition ol subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 27 1 (316)
Net cash outftow from investing activities (43) (395)
Financing activities
Dividend paid 9 - 47
Distributions to non-controlling interests - !
Proceeds from share placings 23 - 317
Issue of new shares for emnployee share schemes 23 1 -
Purchase of own shares for employee share schermes ; {2 (2
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 19- 327 -
Proceeds from borrowings 19 - 200
Repayments of borrowings 19 {267 5]
Financing arrangement fees L1} (3l
Repayments of obligations under leases 19 (86} (72)
Net cash loutlowl/inflow from financing activities : (35) 374
Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents in the year 22 . 60
Opening cash and cash equivalents 108 £9
Effect of rmovements in foreign exchange rates - i
Closing cash and cash equivalents 130 108
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt?
Em Mote 20 2020
Net debt at beginning of the year [851) [180]
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 22 60
Impact of adoption of IFRS 16 - (479]
Lease liahility acquired through business combinations - (106
Increase in borrowings (15) (1851
Net decrease in lease liability 84 3
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates 5 7
Net debt at end of the year 19 (7551 (851]
1 Includes interest paymems of £5m on lease liabilities 12020: £6m}
2 Netdebtis an Allernative Perfarmance Measure defined and explained in the Glossary on page 154, Further information on the items in the above reconciliation are previded in Nole 19
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Financial statements

Group statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Total equity
attributable to
Called up share Capital the equity
capital and redemplicn Translation Other Retained  holders ¢J the Mon-cantroiling
Em share premium reserve' reserve reserves' earnings parent interesls Total equity
Balance at 1 September 2020 344 13 114} (279 158 222 5 227.
)
Loss for the year - - - - (82 (a2) 2 (80)
Other comprehensive loss: !
Actuariat [losses) on defined benefit pension - - - - ]! )] - (1
scheres [Nute 5) !
Exchange differences an transtation of - - 3 - - 13 - (13)
foreign operations
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (13) - (83} (96) 2 (94)
lssue of new shares [Note 23} 1 - - - - 1 ) - 1
lssue of convertible bonds - value of ! - - - 4n - 40 - 40
conversion rights [Note 24)
Deferred tax on share-based payments - - - - 1 1 - 1
Employee share schemes - - - () 6 ] - 5
Non-cash movernent an non-controlling - - - - ~ - 3 3
nterests
Balance at 31 August 2021 45 13 (271 (240} 82 173 10 183
Tolal equity
atinbutabie 1o
Called up share Capial the equity
camlal and redemplion Trapslation Other Retained  holders of the Non-controlling
£m share premium reserve’ reserve reserves’ £3FNNGS. parent inlerests Tolal equity
Balance at 31 August 2019 33 13 8 (274) 455 235 2 237
Impact of adoption of IFRS 16 - - - [22) 122) [22]
Adjusted balance at 1 September 2019 33 13 (274) 33 213 _215
Loss for the year - - - - (239 (239} - 1239)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Actuarial gains on defined henefit pension - - - - [ 11 - 11
schemes [Note 5]
Cash flow hedges - - - (2) ~ (2] - {2
Exchange differences on translation of - - (22) - ~ [22) - (22)
foreign operations -
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (22) (2) (228) (252) - (252)
Issue of new shares (Note 23) 31 - - - - 3N - an
Dividends paid [Note 7} - - - - 67 147} - (47
Net cash flows from nen-controlling nterests - - - - -~ - !
Employee share schemes - - - {3t - (3 (3)
Non-centrotling interests artsing on - - - - -~ - 2
+ acquisition (Nate 27)
Balance at 31 August 2020 344 13 {14) {2791 158 222 5 227

' For further explanation and analys:s of Capral resemplion reserve and Other reserves, sec Nole 26.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting policies

al Basis of preparation

The consolidated Group financial statements have been prepared

. Inaccordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and

in accordance with international financial reporting standards

adopted pursuant 1o Regulation [EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in

the European Union.

Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. The directors are required to assess
whether the Group can continue to operate for the 12 months
from the date of approval of these financial staternents, and to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The directors report that they have undertaken a rigorous
assessment of current performance and forecasts, including
expenditure commitments, capital expenditure and borrowing
facilities. and have concluded that the Group is able to adequately
manage its financing and principal risks, and that the Group will
be able to operate within the level of its facilities and meet the
required covenants for the period to February 2023. Based on this
assessment, which is outlined below. it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparning these
financiat statements.

The Strategic report describes the Group's financial position,
cash flows and borrowing facilities and also highlights the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. As a result of
the Group's refinancing, announced on 28 April 2021, the balance
sheet has been signilicantly strengthened.

The refinancing arrangements included a £250m multi-currency
revolving credit facility (RCF'}, increased from £200m with an
extended maturity from Oecember 2023 to Aprit 2025 and
provided by an expanded syndicate of lending banks. As at

31 October 2021, the Greup has not drawn down on the RCF and
has £107m cash on deposit.

As part of the refinancing, the Group alse raised £327m from the
issue of convertible bonds, of which £50m was retained by the
Graup to fund the opening of ¢.100 new Travel stores won and yet
to open over the next three years, including thirty new InMotion
stores in UK Travel. The remainder of the proceeds, net of costs,
were used to partially pay down the term loans from both the
Marshall Retail Group [MRG'] and InMotion acquisitions, leaving
the Group with £133m of term loans. The maturity of the
remaining term loan has also been extended from 2023 to 2025 in
line with the RCF.

In making the going concern assessment, the directors have
modelled a number of scenarios for the period to February 2023.
The base case scenario is consistent with the Board approved
2022 Budget and the three year plan. Under this scenario the
Group has significant tiquidity and comfortably complies with all
covenart tests to February 2023.

A severe but plausible scenario has also been modelled which
assumes a further three-month lockdown over the period
December 2021 to Februafy 2022 across the Graup, with High
Street store sales down over 40 per cent across December o
February versus the equivatent months in the year ending August
2019. Sales under this scenario are assumed ta recover gradually
frorn March 2022 at around 35 per cent below the equivalent
month in the year ending August 2019 to down 30 per cent at
February 2023. In Travel UK we have also assumed a lockdawn
over the December 2021 to Febiuary 2022 period, with sales
down 76 per cent versus the equivalent months in the year ending
August 2019. We then assume a gradual recovery, reflecting our
experience of the post-lockdown recovery period from 2020 and
earlier in the year, to a position in February 2023 where Travel UK
sales are forecast to be down between zero and 12 per cent
versus February 2019. In the US we have assumed a lockdown
over the Decermber 2021 to February 2022 period followed by a
gradual recovery. reflecting our experience of the post-lockdown
period from earlier in the year. The severe but plausible scenario
does not assume any further government financial support
despite the continuation of lockdowns. However, the severe but
plausible scenarig includes a number of mitigating actions
including savings in store and head cffice payrolls and rent relief
in Travel UK, to mitigate the impact of lockdown with lower sales

In both the base case and severe but plausible scenarios the
Group wouid continue to have sufficient lquidity headroom on its
existing facilities, as described above.

The covenants on the above facilities are tested half-yearly.

The covenant tests at 31 August 2021, 28 February 2022 and

31 August 2022 are based on minimurn liquidity and under the
base case and severe but plausible scenarios the Group would
meet these covenant tests. The covenant test as at 28 February
2023 is hased on fixed charges cover and net borrowings.

Under both the base case and the severe but plausible scenarios,
the Group would meet these covenant tests. in addition, we have
recewved excellent support from cur banks who have granted
covenant waivers throughout the pandemic. The Strategic report
also sets out the Group's business activities lagether with the
factors that are likely to affect its future developrments,
perfarmance and position. Note 22 outlines the Group's
objectives, policies and pracesses for managing its capital;

its financial risk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures.

As a result of the above analysis, the directors believe that the
Group has sufticient financial resources to continue in operation
and meet its obligations as they fall due for the 12 manths from
the date of approval of these financial staternents.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies {continued)

al Basis of preparation {continued)

New standards :

The Group has adopted the following standards and
interpretations which became mandatory for the year ended
31 August 2021:

Amendments to references to Conceptual Framework in
IFRS standards
Amcecndments te IFRS 14

Amendment to IFRS 9,
185 3% and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to JAS 1
and IAS 8

Covid-19 related rent concessions
Interest rate benchmark reform -
Phase 1

Definition of a business

Detinition of material

The Group has considered the above new standards and
armendments and has concluded that, with the exception of the
amendments to IFRS 16. they are either not relevant te the Group
or they do not have a significant impact on the Group's,
consolidated financial statements.

The revised accounting policy in respect of the amendment to
IFRS 1615 described in Note 1(g).

At the date of authorisation of these ¢onsolidated Group financial
staternents, the following standards and interpretations, which
have not been applied in these financial staterments, were in
1ssue but not yet effective:

Insurance Contracts

Reference to the

Conceptual Framework

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Phase 2

IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39, IFRS 7. IFRS 4
and IFRS 14
Amendments to 1AS 1 Presentation of financial statements
on classification of Liabilities
Proceeds before intended use
Onerous contracts - cost of fulfilling
a contract

Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising fram a

single transaction

Narrow scope amendments to IFRS 3, 1AS 14 and IAS 37
Annual improvernents to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to [AS 8 Definition of accounting estimate

Amendments to 1AS 16
Amendments to 1AS 37

Amendment to AS 12
and IFRS 1

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and
interpretations in future years will have no material impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Alternative Performance Measures {APMs’]

The Group has identified certain measures that it believes will
assist the understanding of the performance of the business.
These APMs are not defined or specified under the requirements
of IFRS,

The Group believes that these APMs, which are not considered to
be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures. provide
stakeholders with additioral usefut information on the underlying
trends, performance and position of the Group and are ¢onsistent
with how business performance is measured internally.

The APMs are not defined by IFRS and therefore may not be
directly comparable with other companies’ APMs.

The key APMs that the Group uses include: measures before
non-underlying items, Headline profit before tax, Headline
earnings per share, trading profit, Headline trading profit,
Headline Group profit from trading operations, like-for-like
revenue, gross margin. fixed charges cover, EBITDA, Net debt/
tunds and Headline net debt/funds and free cash flow.

These APMs are set out in the Glossary on page 154 including
explanations of how they are calculated and how they are
reconciled to a statutory measure where relevant.

Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to prasent a measure of profit and
earnings per share which excludes certain itemns, that are
considerad non-underlying and exceptional due ta their size,
nalure or incidence, and are not considered to be part of the
normal operations of the Group. These measures may exclude
the financial effect of non-underlying items which are considered
exceptional or occur infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring
costs Linked to 3 Board agreed programme, costs relating to
business combinations, impairment charges and other property
costs, sigmficant items relaling to pension schemes, and
impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-
underlying specifically related to the Covid-19 pandemic, and the
related tax effect of these items. In addition, non-underlying
measures exclude the income statement impact of amortisation
of intangible assets acquired in business combinations, which are
recognised separately from goodwill. This amortisation is not
considered 1o be part of the underlying operating costs of the
business and has no associated cash flows.

The Group believes that the separate disclosure of these items
provides additional useful infarmation to users of the financial
statements te enable a better understanding of the Group's
undertying financial performance.

Further details of the non-underlying items are provided in
Note 4.

Accounting convention

The financial statements are drawn up on the historical cost
basis of accounting, except for certain financial instruments,
share-based payments and pensions that have been measured
at fair value. The financial infermation s rounded to the nearest
million, except where otherwise indicated. The principal
accounting policies, which have been applied consistently
throughout both years except as noted above, are set out on the
following pages.
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1. Accounting policies [continued)

al Basis of preparation [continued)

Basis of consolidation )
The consolidated Group financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of WH Smrith PLC and all its subsidiaries.

Subsidiary undertakings are all entities over which the Group has
cantral The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed
to, or has rights o, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those relurns through its power
aver the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the fair value of
consideration transferred over the Group's interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identitiable assets, liabilities and
contingent Liabilities exceeds the far vatue of consideration
transferred, after taking into account recognised goodwill, the
excess is immediately recognised in the income statement.

The separable net assets, both tangible and intangible, of the
newly acquired subsidiary undertakings are incorporated into the
financial statements on the basis of the fair value as at the
effective date of control, if appropriate. Non-controlling interests
are stated at the nen-controlling interests’ proportion of the fair
values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

Results of subsidiary undertakings disposed of during the
financial year are included in the financial statements up to the
effective date of disposal. Where a business component
representing a separate major line of business is disposed of, or
classified as held for sale, it is ctassified as a discontinued
operation. The post-tax prafit or loss of the discontinued
operations is shown as a single amount on the face of the income
statement, separate from the pther results of the Group.

A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an interest an
a long-term basis and which is jointly controlled by the Group and
one or mare other venturers under a contractual agreement.
Management has assessed whether it has joint control of the
arrangement. Joint contral exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
that collectively control the arrangement. In assessing this joint
control no significant judgements have been necessary.

The Group's share of results of joint ventures is included in the
Group consolidated income statement using the equity method of
accounting. The results ot joint ventures in the current and prior
year are not material to disclose. Investments in joint ventures
are carried in the Group consolidated balance sheet at cost plus
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
entity less any impairment in value.

If the Group’s share of losses in the joint venture equals or
exceeds its nvestment in the joint venture, the Group does not
recagnise further losses, unless it has incurred cbligations to do
$0, of made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

All imtercompany transactions, batances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.

b] Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair vaiue of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for the
sale of goods and services 1o customers |which is the most
significant revenue stream, sale of wholesale goods to
franchisees, and commission and fee income on concession and
franchise arrangements. Revenue excludes discounts, estimated
returns, VAT and other sates-related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when performance obligations have heen
met and control of the goods has transferred to the customer.
The majority of the Group's sales are for standalone products
made direct 1o customers at standard prices either in-store.
online or through franchisees. where there is a single
performance obligation. Revenue generated from different store
farmats are considered to be a single revenue stream and are
subject to the same underlying economic risks.

For in-store transactions, control of the goods is deemed to have
transferred to the customer at the paint of sale. For online
transactions and wholesale sale of goods to franchisees, control
is deemed to have transferred to the custorner at the point of
delivery of the goods

Revenue on in-store transactions is recognised at the point of
sale. Revenue in respect of ontine and wholesale lincluding sales
directly to franchiseesi transactions is recognised on the transfer
of control, which is on delivery of the goods to the customers.
Revenue in respecl of gilt cards sold by the Group is recognised
on the redemption of the gift card either in-store at the point of
sale or on delivery for enline redemptions. Franchise and

concession fees and commission are recognised on the accruals .

basis in accordance with the substance of the contracts in place,
which is typically on the basis of fixed fees spread evenly over the
contract period, and/or variable amounts earned based

on revenue

<) Supplier arrangements

The Group receives income from its suppliers in the form of
supplier incentives and discounts Icollectively ‘Supplier
arrangements’]. These incomes are recognised as a deductian
from cost of sales on an accruals basis as they are earned for
each supplier contract. The level of camplexity and judgement is
low in relation to establishing the accounting entries and
estimates, and the timing of recognition.

Supplier incomes that have been invaiced but not received at the
period end are recognised in Trade Receivables, orin Trade
Payables where we have the right of offset. Incomes that have
been earned hut not yet invaiced are accrued and are recorded in
Accrued income.

The types of supplier arrangements recognised by the Group, and
the recognition policies are detailed overleal.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies [continued)

¢) Supplier arrangements (continued)

Retrospective discounts
Income earned based on sales or purchase volume triggers set
by the supplier for specific products over specific periods.

Income is calculated and invoiced based upon actual sales or
purchases over the period set out in the supplier agreement,
and is recognised in the income statement as it is earned.
Where the period of an agreement spans accounting periods,
income is recognised based on forecasts for expected sales or
purchase volumes, informed by current performance, trends,
and the terms of the supplier agreement. Income is invoiced
throughout the year in accordance with the specific supplier
terms. The carrying value of inventaries is adjusted to retlect
unearned elements of supplier income as the product has not
yet been sold. This income is subsequently recognised in cost
of sales when the product has been sold.

Promotional and marketing activity

Supplier income from promotional and marketing activity
includes income in respect of in-store marketing and point of
sale. supplying dedicated promotionat space or receiving margin
support for products on promaotion.

Income far promational and marketing activity is agreed with
suppliers for specific periods and products. Income is recognised
over the period of the agreement. Income is invoiced when the
perfarmance conditions in the supplier agreement have

been achieved

d) Retirement benefit costs

Payrnents to the WHSmith Group defined contribution pension
schemes are recognised as an expense in the income statement
as they fall due.

The cast of providing benefits for the main defined benefit
scheme, WHSmith Pension Trust, and the United News Shops
Retirement Benefits Scheme are determined by the Projected
Unit Credit Method, with actuarial calculations being carried out
at the balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains and losses are recogrised in full in the period in
which they occur. They are recognised outside the income
statement in the Group statement of comprehensive income,

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet
represents the present value of the defined benetit obligation,

as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets Any asset
resulting from the calculation is limited to the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the
plan. Where the Group is considered to have a contractual
obligation to fund the pension scheme abave the accounting
value of the liabilities, an onerous obligation is recognised.

el Intangible assets

Business combinations

The acguisition of subsidiaries s accounted for using the
acquisttion method. The consideration transferred is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liahitities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments igsued by the Group in exchange far control, of the

acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the business cambinaticn
are recognised in the income staternent in the period they are
incurred. The cost of a business combination is allocated at the
acquisition date by recognising the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liahilities and contingent liabilities that satisfy the recognition
criteria at their fair values at that date.

The acquisition date is the date on which the acquirer effectively
abtains control of the acquiree. Intangible assels are recogmsed
if they meet the definition of an intangible asset contained in
IAS 38 and their fair value can be measured reliably. The excess
of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share
of identifiable net assets acquired 15 recognised as goodwill.

Where less than the entire equity interest of 3 subsidiary is
acquired, the non-controlling interest is recognised at the
non-controtling interest’s share of the net assets of the
subsidiary Changes in the Group’s awnership percentage of
subsidiaries are accounted for within equity.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the fawr value of purchase
consideration over the net fair value of identifiable assets and

liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is recognised as an asset at cost and subseguently
measured at cost less accumulated impairment. For the
purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is atlocated to the cash-
generating units [CGUs] that have benefited from the acquisition.
Each store is considered ta be a CGU. Goadwill is allocated to the
group of CGUs making up the Group's operating segments, as
this is the lowest tevel at which management manitor goodwill,
Where the Group's operating segments have changed, goodwillis
allocated to the new operating segments identified on a relative
value basis.

The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least
annually or where there is an indication that goodwili may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units is less than its carrying amount, then the
impairment loss 15 atlocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of the gaodwill allocated to the units and then to the other assets
of the units on a pro-rata basis. Any impatrment is recognised
immediately in the income statement and is not

subsequently reversed.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill
isincluded in the determination of the profit and loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets

The costs of acquiring and developing software that is not
integral to the related hardware is capitalised separately as an
intangible asset. These intangibles are stated at cost less
accurnulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged so as to write off the costs of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, and
is recorded in Distribution costs. The amartisaticn pernod for
capitalised software costs is aver a maximum period of five years.
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1. Accounting policies [continued)

el Intangible assets [continued)

Other intangible assets are vatued at cost and amortised

over their useful life, and the amortisation is recorded in
administrative expenses, unless the asset can be demonstrated,
to have an indefinite tife. Dther intangible assets, such as brands,
arising on business combinations are amortised over their useful
lives. Arnortisation of other intangible assets arising on business
combinations is included in non-underlying costs. The useful life
and residual value of all intangible assets are determined at the
time of acquisition and reviewed annually for appropriateness.

All intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance
with IAS 34 Impairment of Assets, when there are indications that
the carrying vatue may not be recoverable. Assets with indefinite
useful tives are tested for impairment annually.

fl Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost less
2ccumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment in
value. The carrying values of tangible fixed assets previously
revalued have been retained at their book amount.
Depreciation is charged so as 1o write off the costs of assets,
other than tand, over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, with the annual rates applicable to the
principal categories being:

- over 20 years

- shorter of the lease period and
the estimated remaining
ecenomic life

- up to ten years

- up to ten years

Freehold properties
Leasehold improvements

Fixtures and fittings
Equipment and vehicles

The residual values of property. plant and equipment are
reassessed on an annual basrs.

At each balance sheet date, property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment if events ar changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
When a review far impairment is conducted, the recoverable
amount is assessed by reference to the net present value

of expected future pre-tax cash ilows of the relevant
cash-generating unit or fair value, less costs to sell, if higher,
Any impairment in value 1s charged to the income statement

in the period i which it accurs.

gl Leasing

The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
atinception of the coantract. The Group recognises a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all (ease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases [defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less)
and leases of low-value assets. For these leases. the Group
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systemmatic basis is more representative of the hme pattern in
which economic henefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease tiability is initially measured at the present vatue of the
lease payrents that are nol paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses ils incremental
borrowing rate.

L.ease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability compnise:

» fixed lease payments, less any lease incentives receivable;

= vanable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,-
initially measured using the index or rate at the

-cammencement date;

» the amount expected 1o be payable by the lessee under

residual value quarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, Jf the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate bne in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reftect interest on the lease liability {using the
eHective interest methed) and by reducing the carrying amount
ta reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability {and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset}
whenever:

= The lease payments change due to changes in an index, rent
review or rate, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using an-unchanged
discount rate.

* Alease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The night-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencemient date, less any lease tncentives received and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and irnpairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs te dismantle
and remove a (eased asset, resiore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recegnised and
measured under |AS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the ralated right-of-
use asset.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financiat statements continued

1. Accounting palicies [continued)

gl Leasing {continued)
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term.
The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-af-use assets are presented as a separate line in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group applies 1AS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss as described n the accounting policies in Nate 11} Property,
plant and equipment.

The lease contracts that include variable rents based on sales,
which is the case with many of our retail concession contracts,
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related rents payable are recognised as
an expense in the pericd 1n which the event or condition that
triggers those payables vccurs and are included in profit or toss
[see Note 3).

The Group has applied the Amendment te {FRS 16 issued in

June 2020 and further extension granted in March 2021.

This practical expedient allows the impact an the lease Liability of
temporary rent reductions/waivers affecting rent payments due
an or before June 2022, to be recognised in the income staternent
in the period they are received. rather than as lease
modifications. which would require the remeasurement of the
lease liability using a revised discount rate with a corresponding
adjustment 1o the right-of-use asset.

For leases acquired as part ot a business combination, the lease
liability 15 measured at the present vaiue of the remaining lease
payments. The right-of-use asset is measured at the same
amount as the lease lLiability adjusted to reflect favourable or
urfavourable terms of the lease when compared to

market terms.

The Group as a lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as an intermediate
lessor with respect to some of its property leases. It accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as finance lease or operating lease by
reference to the nght-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially alt the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rents receivable from operating leases are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

h] inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and are stated at the

lower of cost or net reabisable value. Consignment stocks are not
ingluded within stocks held by the Group. Inventortes are valued

using & weighted average cost method.

Cost is calculated to include, where applicable, duties, handling,
transport and directly attributable cosls lincluding a deduction far
applicable supplier income] in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition, Net realisable value is based on
estimated normat selling prices less lurther costs expected to be
incurred in selling and distribution. Cost of inventories includes
the transfer from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges relating to purchases.

Prowisions are made for obsolescence. markdown below cost
and shrinkage.

i) Government grants and government assislance

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received and that the Group will
comply with any conditions attached to them.

Government grants are recognised in the income statement over
the sarme period as the costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incursed or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Government grant
income is disclosed in Note 3.

In addition, the Group has benefited frem government assistance
in the form of business rates relief of £40m n the year
[2020. £20m].

jl Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheel when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of ecenomic benefits will
be required to seitle the obligation. Provisions are measured at
the directars’ best estimate of the expenditure required to seitle
the obligation at the balance sheet date. Where the effectis
material, the provision is determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at & pre-tax rate which reflects current market
assessments of the time value of meney and, where appropriate.
the risks specific to the Liability.

k) Fareign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented In pounds
sterling IGBP), which is WH Smith PLC’s functional and
presentation currency. ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group's subsidiares are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which

the entity operates | the functional currency’).

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
overseas operations are transiated into sterling at exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense
items are translated into sterling at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchenge differences arising, if any, are classified
as equity and transferred te the Group’s translation reserve.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded &t
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
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1. Accounting policies [continued)

k) Foreign currencies(continued)

At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated n
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary iterns, are included in the income statement for
the period.

ln arder Lo hedye ils exposure to certain foreign exchange risks,
the Group enters into forward contracts [see below for details of
the Group's accounting policies in respect of such derivative
financial instruments).

I} Taxation
The tax expense/cradit included in the income statement
comprises current and deferred tax,

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable based on the
taxable profit or loss for the period, using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the batance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax iabilittes are generally recognised for all
taxable tempoerary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary ditferences can
be utilised. Such assets and Liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference anises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition [other than in business combination] of other assets
and liabilities in  transaction that affects neither the tax profit
nor the accounting profit. )

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is ne longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
8ll or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the assel is realised.

Current and delerred tax is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity, in which case the current or deferred tax 1s also
recognised directly in equity.

m) Financial instruments

Financral assets and kabilities are recognised in the Group's
balance sheet when the Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

i} initial recognition and subsequent measurement

{al Financial assels

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at fair value at initial recognition,
do not carry any interest and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate methad.

Appropriate allowances for esbhmated irrecoverable amounts
are recognised in the income statement.

Allowances for doubtful debts are recognised based on
management’s expectation of losses, without regard to whether
an impairment trigger has occurred or not lan "expected credit
loss’ model under IFRS 91,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at
bank and in hand ang short-term deposits with an eriginal
maturity of three months or less.

|b) Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the cantractual arrangements
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all
of its liabilities.

Borrowings
Borrowings comprise interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts
and compound financial instruments [convertible bonds].

Bank loang are initially measured at fair value [being proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs], and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method. Transaction fees such as arrangerent fees associated
with the securing of financing are capitalised and amortised
through the income staterment gver the term of the relevant
facility. Finance charges, including premiums payable on
settlement cr redemptions and direct issue costs are accounted
for on an accruals basis and taken to the income statement using
the effective interest rate method and are added 1o the carrying
value of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in
the period in which they anse.

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise
convertible bands. The convertible bonds are bifurcated into a
liability component and an equity component on initial
recognition. The carrying value of the tiability at initial recogrifion
is measured using a market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond at the issue date. The remainder of the
proceeds is aliocated ta the comversion option and recognised in
equity (Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured.

Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to each
component in proportion ta their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent ta initial recagnition, the liabitity component of a
compound financial instrument is measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Any transaction costs
apportioned to the tiability is inctuded in the carrying amount and
recognised over the contractual life of the liability using the
effective interest rate method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies [continued)

m) Financial instruments {continued)
i} Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
(b Financial liabilities and equity (continued]

Equity instryments
Equity instruments 1ssued are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

iil Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractuat
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of cwnership and it does nat retain control of the
financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual
abligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group also
derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and
the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different,
in which case a new financial lizbility based an the modified
terms is recagnised at fair value.

On derecogmition of a financiat liability, the difference between
the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid
lincluding any non-cash assets transferred or lizbilities assumed]
is recogrised in profit or loss.

iii] Offsetting

Financial 2ssets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
position presented in the balance sheet when, and only when,
the Group has a legalty enforceable right to set off the amounts
and it intends, either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the
asset and seltle the liability simultaneously.

ivl Impairment

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credil losses
['ECLs’] on financial assets measured at amortised cost.

These are always measured at an amount egual to Ufetime ECL.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual pericd over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk,

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECL, the Group considers reasanable and suppartable
information thalt is relevant and available without undue cost

or effort.

This includes both gualitative and quantitative information and
analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and
informed credit assessment and forward-looking information.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost
are deducled from the gross carrying amount of the assels.
The gross carrying amount of a financiat asset is written off

(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have the assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash Hows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in
order to comply with the Group's procedures for recovery of
amounts due.

v] Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses certain derivative financial instruments to reduce
its exposure to foreign exchange movemnents in accordance with
its risk managerment policies. The Group primarily uses forward
foreign currency contracts to manage its exposure to changes in
foreign exchange rates, The Group does not hold or use derivative
financial instruments lor speculative purposes. Further details of
the Group’s risk management policies are provided in Note 22.

These instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
trade date and are subsequently measured at their fair value at
the end of the reporting period. The methad of recognising the
resulting gain or loss is dependent on whether the derivative is
gesignated as a hedging instrument and the nature of the items
being hedged.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that
are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly in equity and any ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement.

if the cash flow hedge of a highly probable forecasted transacticn
results in the recognition of an asset or liability, then, at the time
the asset or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses
on the derivative that had previously been recognised in equity
are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability.
For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a
liability amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the incomne
statement in the same period as the hedged item,

For an effective hedge of an expoesure to changes in the fair value
of a recognised asset or liability, changes in fair value of the
hedging instrument are recognised in profit ar loss at the same
time that the recognised asset or liability that is being hedged is
adjusted for movemnenis in the hedged risk and that adjustment
is also recognised in profit ar loss in the same period.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial Instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the incomea
stalernent as they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer quslifies
for hedge accounting. At thal time, any cumulative gain or loss on
the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity
until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss
recognised in equity 1$ transterred ta profit or (055 for the perod.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other
host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of host
contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value with
unrealised gains or losses reported in the income statement.
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1. Accounting poticies [continued)

n} Share schemes

WHSmith Employee Benefit Trust

The shares held by the WHSmith Employee Benefit Trust are
valued at the historical cost of the shares acquired. They are
deducted in arriving at sharehoiders’ funds and are presented
3s an Other reserve.

Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the
form of share-bassed payment transactions, whereby emplayees
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares
{equity settled transactions).

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at fair value
at the date of grant. The fair value is calculated using an
appropriate aption pricing model. The fair value is expensed to
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of shares
that will eventually vest.

For cash-settled share-based payments. a liability is recognised
at the current fair value determined at each balance sheet date,
taking into account performance conditions and the extent to
which employees have rendered service to date, with any
changes in fair value recagnised in the profit or loss for the year

ol Dividends

Fnal dividends are recorded i the financial statements in
the period in which they are approved by the Cornpany's
shareholders. Interim dividends are recorded in the period in
which they are appraved and paid.’

pl Share capital, Share premium and Other reserves

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share premium arises
on the excess between the fair value of the shares issued and
the par value of the shares issued. incremental costs directly
altributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, against share premium The par
value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the Group's
share buyback programme is reclassified fram Share capital to
the Capital redernption reserve

For a description of Other reserves, see Nate 26.

gl Critical accaunting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assurmptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from
these estimates and any subsequent changes are accounted for
with an effect on income at the time such updated infarmation
becomes available.

The most critical accounting judgements and sources of
estimation uncertainty in determining the financiat candition
and results of the Group are those requiring the greatest
degree of subjective or complex judgement. These relate to the
classification of items as non-underlying, assessment of

lease substitution rights, determination of the lease term,
determination of the incremental borrowing rate, valuation

of retirernent benefit obligations, determination of cperating
segments and allocation of goodwill, valuation of other
nan-current assets and inventory vatuation.

Critical accounting judgements

. Non-underlying items

The Group has chosen to present 3 measure of profit and
earnings per share which excludes certain iterms that are
considered non-underlying and exceptional due to their size,
nature or incidence, and are not cansidered to be part of the
normal cperations of the Group. These measures may exclude
the financial effect of nan-underlying items which are considered
exceptional and occur infrequently such as, inter alia,
restructuring costs {inked to a Board agreed programme,
amortisation of acquired intangibles assets, cosls relating to
business combinations, impairment charges and other property
costs, significant itemns relating to pensian schemes, and
impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-
underlying specifically related to the Covid-19 pandemc, and the
related tax effect of these items. The Group believes that they
provide additional useful information to users of the financial
statements to enable a better understanding of the Group's
underlying financial performance.

SIUIWIELS [BIDUEBUILY

The classification of items as non-underlying requires sigruficant
management judgement. The definition of non-underlying items
has been applied consistently year on year. Further details of
non-underlying items are provided in Note 4.

IFRS 14 Lease accounting

Substantive substitution rights

Judgement is required in determining whether a contract meets
the definition of a lease under IFR5 16, Management has
determined that certan retad concession contracts give the
landterd substantive substitution rights because the contract
gives the landlord rights to relocate the retail space occupied by
the Group In such cases, management has concluded that there
is nat an identified asset and therefare such contracts are outside
the scope of IFRS 16. For these contracts, the Group recognises
the payments as an operating expense on a siraight-line basis
over the term of the contract unless another systernatic basis is
mere representative of the time pattern in which econgrmic
benefits from the underlying contract are consumed.

Determination of lease term

In determining the lease term for contracts that have options to
extend or terminate early, management has applied judgement in
determining the likelihcod of whether such options will be
exercised. This is based on the length of time remaining befare
the option is exercisable, performance of the individual store and
the trading forecasts.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

1. Accounting policies [continued)

gl Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty {continued)

Critical accounting judgements lcontinued)

Initial recognition of convertible bond

On initial recognition of the convertible bond, judgement is
required in respect of the accounting treatment of embedded
derivatives. The fixed principal amount of each bond is convertible
into & fixed number of shares and as a resiilt management has
determined that the canversion feature meets the fixed-ior-fixed
criterion for equity classificatian, The bonds include anti-dilution
provisiens to ensure that the holder's potential interest in the
equity of the Company is not diluted in specified circumstances,
if these provisions are triggered, the number of shares that wilt
be delivered to the holder is adjusted. Management considers
that the provisions are anti-dilutive and exist to ensure that the
holder's potential interest in the equity of the Company is not
diluted under each of these circumstances. These provisions are
not deemed to breach the tfixed-for-fixed criterion, therefore the
conversion feature 1s accounted for as equity.

Determination of operating segments

During the year the Group has reviewed its assessment of its
operating segments, as a result of internal reorganisation and
changes to the composition of infermation used by the Board to
monitor the perforrmance of the Group. This review has resulted
in 3 change to the repartable segments identified, and prior year
comparatives have been restated. There is no change to the total
revenue ar Group profit from trading operations

Further information in respect of the Group's operating segments
is tncluded in Note 2.

Saurces of estimation uncertainty

Retirement benefit obligation

The Group recegnises and discloses its retirement benefit
cbligation in accordance with the measurement and
presentational requirement of fAS 19 Retirernent Benefit
Obligations’. The calculations include @ number of judgements
and estimations in respect of the discount rale, inflation
assumptions, the rate of increase in salaries, and life expectancy.
among others. Changes in these assumptions can have a
significant effect on the vatue of the retirement benefit obligation.
Further information and sensitivity analysis in respect of the
Group's retirernent benefit gbligation ts included in Note 5.

Valuation of goodwill

As a result of the change to the Group's identified aperating
segments described above, the goodwill previoustly allocated to
the Travel operating segment has been allocated to the new
operating segments using a relative value approach. This method
of allocatian requires the determination of value-in-use of each
of the new segmenits. The key assumptions in the value-in-use

calculations include growth rates of revenue and expenses,
and discount rates.

A sensitivity analysis of the goodwill impairmant calcuiation has
shown that no reasonably possible change in assumptions would
lead to an impairment of goodwill in the next financial year.
Further to this sensitivity analysis, an assessment of the goodwill
allacation was performed which showed that an impairment
assessment under the previous allocation of goodwill to the
Travel operating segment, or urtder any other reasonable split of
the goodwill batance, would not have resulted In an impairment
of goodwill.

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assef impairment reviews

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets are reviewed for )impairment if events or changes in
circumnstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable When a review far impairmen? is canducted,

the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
determined based on value-in-use calculations prepared on the
basis of rmanagement’s assumptions and estimates.

The key assumplions in the value-in-use calculations include
growth rates cf revenue and the pre-tax discount rate. Due to the
engoing Covid-19 global pandemic, there is an increased level of
uncertanty in all of the above assumptions such that a
reasonably possible change in these assumplions could lead ta a
material change in the carrying value of assets.

Further information in respect of the Group's property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets is included in Notes 12 and
13 respectively.

Inventary valuation

Inventory is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value
which requires the estimation of sell through rates, and the
eventual sales price of goods 10 customers in the future.

Any difference between the expected and the actual sales price
achieved will be accaunted far 1n the period in which the sale is
made A description of the Group's accounting policy in respect
of inventories is included in Nate 1(h]. A sensitivity analysis has
been carried out on the calculation of inventory provisions,
incluging consideration of the uncertainties arising from
Coavid-19. The key assumption driving the stock provision
calculation is forecast revenue. A 10 per cent change in the
revenue assurmptions applied in the provision calculation,
representing a reasonabily possible sutcome, would reduce the
net realisable value of inventories by £2m.
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2. 5egmental analysis of results

IFRS 8 requires segment information to be presented on the same basis as that used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker for
assessing performance and allocating resources. The Group's operating segments are based on the reports reviewed by the Board of
Directers who are collectively considered to be the chief operating decision maker

During the year the Group has reviewed its assessment of its operating seqments, as a resutt of internal recrganisation and changes
to the composition of inforrmation used by the Board ta monitor the performance of the Group. This review has resulled in a change to
the reportable segments identified. and prior year comparatives have been restated. There is no change to the total revenue ar Graup
profit from trading operations, :

Mo manegeinent and financial reporting purposes, the Group is organised into two operating divisions which comprise four reportable
segments - Travel UK, North America, Rest of the World within the Travel division, and High Street. The North America operating
segment includes both MRG and (nMation from the dates of acquisition, For further infarmation in relation to the acquisition of MRG
in the prior year, see Note 27.

The informaticn presented to the Board 1s prepared in accordance with the Group's IFRS accounting policies, with the exception of

IFRS 14, and is shown below as Headline information in Section bl. A recanciliation to statutory measures is provided below in
accordance with iFRS 8, and in the Glossary on page 154 {Note A2l

al Revenue T
€ 2029 22 g
Travel UK 195 T
North Amertca X 166 s 7
Rest of the World ' 40 93 §
Tatal Travel 401 553 °
High Street 485 468

Revenue ] 884 1,021

Rest of the World revenue includes revenue from Australia of £20m (2020- £38mi. No other cauntry has individually material revenue.

bl Group results

201 220
Headline Headline
non-undertying non-yndertying
Headtine* Rems® Headline' Hems’
m [pre-IFRS 16 Ipre-IFRS 14) IFRS 15 Totat [pre-IFRS 141 |pre-IFRS 18] IFRS 15 Total
Travel UK trading (loss)/profit . (32) - 3 (29 () - - (t]
North America trading profit/lloss) 4 - (%) 2? (18 - 4 [14]
Rest of the World trading lloss)/profit (131 - {4} 17 [14) - 2z {12
Total Travel trading [loss)/profit ) {39) - (5) {&4) {33) - b (27)
High Street trading profit/(loss) 19 17 36 {100 - b 4
Group (less)/profit from trading : 120 - 12 (8l 143] - 12 {31
operations ; .
Unallocated central costs ne - - - {19) {17) - (17)
Group operaling (loss)/profit before !
nonh-underlying items [39) - 12 -27) 160} - 12 {48)
Non-underlying items [Note 4] - - (49) (16} (65) - (1571 (55} (212
Group operating loss ‘ (39 49) 14) (92]_ 160 [157) (43) (2601
Finance costs L 18 - 8) (24) (9) - [11) [20)
Loss befare tax T (55} (49] (12) £118) {69} (157] (54] {2801
Income tax credit . 26 9 1 36! 14 18 7 41
Loss for the year : (29) {40) {11) {80) (53] {1391 [47) [239)

I Presented on 3 pre-IFRS 16 basis. Aliernalive Pertgrtnance Measures are defined and explained in the Glossary o page 154

WH Smith PLC Annual Repart and Accounts 2021 113



Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

2. Segmental analysis of results [continued)

¢) Other segmental items

2021

Non-current assets’ Right of use assels
Depreciation and
&m Capital additions amoriisation impairment Depreciation impatrment
Travel UK n (14l - - -
North America 15 (10) - - -
Rest of the World 2 (3 - - -
Total Travel 28 2N - - -
High Street 16 an (2 - -
Unallocated - 14) - - -
Headline, before non-underlying items o (48] (2) - -
Headline non-undertying items [pre-IFRS 14] - (3t (18] - -
Headline, after non-underlying items [ 51) (20) - -
Impact of IFRS 16 - 1 - (84) -
Non-underlying items {IFRS 16] - - 4 - (28)
Group 44 150) [18) [84) [28)
2020
Non-current assets' Right of use assels
Depreciation and

£m Capdal additions amortisation Impairment Deprecialion Impairment
Travel UK 18 (16) - - -
North America 26 [10) - - -
Rest of the World 4 16) - - -
Total Travel 48 [32) - - -
High Street 24 {23) - - -
Unaildcated - (5] - - -
Headline, before non-underlying items 72 [60) - - -
Headline non-underlying items [pre-IFRS 14 - (3] {551 - -
Headline, after non-underlying items 72 i63] 55 - -
Irnpact of IFRS 14 - 8 - {110) -
Non-underlying items IFRS 16} - - 15 - [#5)
Group 72 {55) (401 (110} 5]
1 Non-current assels including property, plant and equipment and inlangible assets, byt excluding right-of-use a5sels.

d) Non-current assets by geographical lacation

Non-current assets include piant, property and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets.

£m 2N 20201
UK 397 487
Usa 553 584
Australia 14 16
Other internationai 11 ki
Total 975 1,098
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3. Group operating profit

2021 2020
Before Belore
noen-underlying Non-yndertying neq-underyng  Non-undertying
€m Htems items Tatal Aems iternsg Total
Revenue | 886 - 886 1,021 - 1,021
Cost of sales {358) - (358) {441 - [441]
Gross profit : " 528 C- 528, 580 - 580
Eistrbution costs’ 1419) - [419[ {538 - 15381
Administrative expenses f {140 ~ (140) (72) - 1%2]
Other income? : 4 - 4 2 - 2
Non-underlying items [Note 4) ) - 165) {45) - 1212) (212)
Group operating loss 27 {65) {92} (48] 212) [240)

1 During the year there was animpairment charge of £2m 12020: Enit) for property, plant and equipment and ather intangible assels ncluded in disiribwtion casls. Other impairment charges related

to Covid-19 are included in non-underlying items. See Nate 4.

Z Other income relales to profil an disposal and remeasurement of right-af-use assels, and prefil altributable (o property.

£m 2021 2

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 358 441

Write-down of inventories in the year? 7 14

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 38, &

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

- land and buildings 80 105

- other 4 3

Amartisation of intangible assets 14 12

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 14 39

Impairment of right-of-use assets 28 95

mpairment of intangibles - 1

" (Incomel/expenses relating ta leasing:

- expense relating to short-term leases 14 2z

- expense relating to variable lease payments not included m the measuremnent of the tease Liability 27 12

- income relating to Cavid-19 rent reductions (23) (15)

Other occupancy costs 27, 4

Staff costs (Note &) 232 217

Government grant income (11 (22)

Auditors’ remuneration [see below]

Audit services

Fees payable ta the Group's auditors, incluged in the income skatement, relate to: .

Fees payabie to the Group's auditors for the audit of the Group's financial statements 12 0.8

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for other services to the Group including the audit of the ‘

Company’s subsidiaries 0.3 0a

Total audit and audit-related services 15 1.2

Non-audit services ;

Fees payable to the Group's auditors for other services: '

Reparting accountan! services - 04

All sther non-audit services 01 0.1

Non-audit fees including taxation and other services . 0.1’ 05
1.6 1.7

Total auditors’ remuneration

Included in Administrative expenses is the audilors’ remuneration, including expenses, for audit and non-audil services, payable to the
Group’s auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and its associates as set out above. A description of the work performed by the Audit

Committee is set out in the Corporate governance section of the Directors’ report and includes an explanation of how auditor

objectivity and independence are salequarded when non-audit services are provided by auditors

3 Wrie-down af invenlories in the year are included within the amouris disclosed as Cosl of inventorigs recognised 3s an expense, and recognised in Cosl of sales.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

4. Non-underlying items . _

Iltems which are not considered part of the normal aperations of the business, are non-recurring or are considered _
exceptional because of their size, nature or incidence. are treated as non-underlying items and disclosed separately. Further details
of non-underlying items are includec in Nate 1, Accounting policies and in the Strategic repart en page 16.

£m 02 2020
Costs relating to business combinations ] . )
- Transaction cosis : Iy I
- Integration costs 2, ?
Arrartisation of acquired intangible assets ! 3 3
Pension past service cost : - , 1
Costs directly attributable to Covid-19 ’
- Impairment ot property, plant and equipment "'f 2
- Impairment of intangible assets - !
- Impairment of right-of-use assets 28 75
- Write-down of inventories ¢ ol 14
- Restructuring costs ; 9 5
- Costs associated with refinancing ‘ 6 B
~ Other (2) !
Non-underlying items, before tax 65 2]2
Tax credit on non-underlying itemns f12) (25}
53 187

Non-undertying items, after tax

Non-underlying items recognised in the year are as follows:

Costs relating to business combinations o . . .
Curing the year, the Group incurred further integration costs of E2m in relation to the acquisition of Marshall Retail Grouprl MRG’).
which completed on 20 December 2019. In the prior year transaction and integration costs of £20m were incurred in relation to the

acquisition of MRG.

Amortisalion of acquired intangible assets
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets primarily relates to the MRG and InMotion brands (see Note 11).

Costs directly attributable to Cownd-19 )
As described in the Strategic report the Covid-19 pandemic continues to have a substantial impact o the Group's operations. As a
result, the Group continues fo incur signiicant costs which have been separately recognised in non-underlying m_ems. in accordance
with the Group's accounting policy. The charges have arisen as a direct consequence of Covid-19. and reflect the impact of lost
revenues as a result of ongoing store closures and travel restrictions, and downward revisions to budgeted revenues based on
expectations of the rate of return to pre-pandemic levels of footfall and passenger numbers.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The impact on the Group's operations of Covid-19 is expected to continue during the next year and beyond. As a result. the Group has
carried out 3 review for potential impairment across the entire store portfalio. The impairment review compared the value-in-use of
individual store cash-generating units, based on management's assumptions regarding likely future trading performance (taking inte
account the effect of Covid-19] to the carrying values at 31 August 2021. Following this review, a chaige of £42m (2020: £135m) was
recorded within non-underlying items for impairment of retail store assets, of which £14m {2020: £39m] relates 1o property. plant and
equipment, £ni{ |2020. E1m)] relates to intangible assets and £28m [2020: £95mi relates to right-of-use assets. Refer to Note 12 for
details of impairment of stare cash-generating units. The impairment recognised on a pre-IFRS 16 basis is provided in the Glossary on
page 154,

Write-down of inventories

The Group assesses the recoverability of the carrying value of inventories at every reporting period and, where the expected
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying value, a provisian is recorded. During the year non-underlying pravisions of £5m have
been recorded aganst inventory, in addition to underlying provisions held of £13m, which relate to dated and perishable stock and
stock subject to obsolescence where the sell through rate has significantly reduced due to store closures and lower footfall. The Group
has recognised these charges as non-underlying as they meet the Group’s definition of non-underiying.

Restructuring costs

The charge of £9m (2020: £21m) is principally atinbutable to redundancies and restructuring costs following a review of store
operations across our High Street business, as a result of the impact of Cavid-19 on footfall on thle UK high street. These costs are
presented as a non-underlying iter as they are part of a Board-agreed restructuring programme, and are considered material and
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.one-off in nature. In addition, in the prior year the Group incurred costs of £4m relating to exiting the Paris bookshop and the Brazil
joint venture.

4. Non-undertying items [continued]

Cosis assacialed with refinancing

Costs associated with refinancing include £1m of non-cash ¢harges relating to unamortised fees connected with extinguished
Liabilities, £3rm of fees incurred in relation to amendment and extension of the Graup's previous financing arrangements incurred in
March 2021 prior to the issuance of tha canvertible bond, and £2m of professional fees relating to refinancing and debt structuring
activity required as a result of Covid-19. Other fees incurred relating to refinancing activity have been recognised in underlying finance
costs or recagnised as a dedurtinn from the value of liabilities recognised, and will be amortised over the period of the arrangement

through underlying finance costs.

Other prior year non-underlying tems

Pensicn past service cost
Past service cost of £14m was recognised in the year ended 31 August 2020. This relates to equabsation of pension benefits between

men and wormen aver the periad from 1 April 1992 to 29 July 1993 [ Barber equalisation’). The WHSmith Pension Trust has histarically
been administered assuming gender equalisation was achieved an ¥ April 1992, and thus a Barber equalisation wandow of 17 May
1990 to 1 April 1992 applied. A new Trust Deed and Rules reflecting the equalisation of normal retirement ages at 65 was executed on
29 July 1993, It has since been determined that Barber equalisation was not effective until 29 July 1993 Accordingly, this past service
cost is the expected cost of providing these benefits based on a normal retirement age of 60 rather than 65 for the period between

1 April 1992 and 29 July 1993 See Note 5.

Atax credit of £12m {2020: £25m) has been recognised in relation to the above items.

SUIWIIE}S (BIDURLI

5. Retirement benefit abligations

WH Smith PLC has operated a number of defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans. The main pension arrangements
for employees are operated through a defined benelit scheme, WHSmith Pension Trust, and a defined contribution scheme,
WHSmith Retirement Savings Plan. The most significant scheme is WHSmith Pensian Trust, which is described in Note 5 al i),

The retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet for the respective schemes at the relevant reporting dates were-

€m 2021 2020

WHSmith Pension Trust (2) (3

United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme (1 0l

Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the batance sheet ) (3) 4l

Recognised as: .

Current liabilities (1) 1)
(2) (3)

Non-current liabilities

a) Defined benefit pension schemes

i) The WHSmith Pensian Trust

The WHSmith Pension Trust Final Salary Section is a funded final salary defined benefit scheme; it was closed to defined benefit
service accrual ont 2 April 2007 and has been closed to new members since 1996. Benefits are based on service and salary at the date
of ¢losure or eaving service, with increases currently based on CFPlinflation in deferment and RPI inflation in payment.

The WHSmith Pension Tryst is independent of the Group and is admiristered by a Trustee. The Trustee is respansible for the
adrninistration and management of the scheme on behalf of the members in accordance with the Trust Deed and relevant legistation.
Responsibilities include the investrnent of funds, the triennial valuation and determining the deficit funding scheduie. Under the
Articles of Association of WH Smith Pension Trustees Limited [the corporate trustee} there are tour directors nominaled by the
spansor, two independent directors and four member-naminated directors. Under the member-nominated director arrangements,
the term of office of a member-nominated director is faur years.

The WHSmith Pension Trust has assets valued at £1,456m, as at 31 August 2021 [2020: £1,412m) managed by third party investment
managers. In September 2005, the Pension Trust Trustee adopted a Liability Driven (nvestment [LDI) policy where the assets in the
investment fund were invested such that they are expected to alter in value in line with changes in the pension lability caused by
changes in interest rates and inflation. The LDI structure that is in place has a number of inflation and interest rate hedges. with
collateral posted daily to or from the scheme to the relevant counterparty. The nsk of failure of counterparties could expose the
scheme to loss. The scheme's liabilities are also subject to changes in longevity,

The principal risks associated with the Group's defined benefit pension arrangements are as follows:
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

Longevily risi . . ‘ ‘ o
Liabilities are sensitive to life expectancy, with increases in Life expectancy leading to an increase in the valuation of Liabilities.

5. Retirement benefit abligations [continued)

a) Defined benefit pension schemes [continued)

il The WHSmith Pension Trust [continued)

Interest rate and inflalion risk ) .
Lizbilities are sensitive to movernents i interest rates and initation, with lower interest rates or higher inflation leading to an increase
in the valuation of liabilities. As a result of the LD policy outlined above, these risks are largely hedged.

An Investment Committee of the Trustees to the scheme meets regularly to review the performAapce of the investmenrt managers and
the scheme as a whole. The Group is represented on this Committee. Although invesiment decisions are ;he responsibility of the
Trustes. the Group is an active participant of the investment sub-committee to ensure that pension plan risks are managed efficiently.

The risk of failure of counterparties and of the investment manager is monitored regularly by ;h_e Committee. The Trustees have the
right to determine the level of contributions and the Group has agreed with the Trustees a deficit funding schedule.

A full actuariat valuation of the Scheme is carried out every three years with interim reviews sn the intervering years. The lategt full
actuarial valuation of the Pension Trust was carried out as at 31 March 2020 by independent actuaries using the projected unit cr_edlt
method and has been completed, At 31 March 2020 the deficit was £9m. The Group has agreed a continuatian r_Jf the annual funding
schedule with the Trustees from March 2020 far the following 5 years, which includes the deficit recovery contributions and otrher
running costs of just under £3m. Ouring the year ending 31 August 2021, the Group made a contribution of £3m to the WHSmith
Pension Tryst (2020 £3m)in accordance with the agreed pensicn deficit funding schedule, being £1m of deficit funding payable ta the
Trustee and £2m in relation to investment management costs. The Group expects the cash payments for the year ended 31 August
2022 to be £3m. The weighted average duration of the defined benefit ohligation is 18 years.

Amounts recognised in the financial statements .

Balance sheet
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet under |1AS 19 in relation ta this plan are as follows:

= 2021 2020
Present value of the obligations 1,172 (1.144)
Fair value of plan assets 1,456 1412

Surplus before consideration of asset celing 284 268

Amounts not recognised due to effect of asset ceiling (2841 (268)
Additional lizbility recognised due to minimum funding requirements (2) (3]
Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet ) [2) 131

In accordance with the requirements of IFRIC 14 we have recognised the schedule of cantributions as & tiability of £2m 12020: £3m}.
The defined benefit pension schemes are ctosed to further accrual. The Group does not have an unconditional right to derive
economic benefit from any surplus. as the Trustees retain the right to enhance benefits under the Trust deed, and therefore the ‘
present value of the economic benefits of the 1AS 19 surplus in the pension scheme of £284m [2020: £268m] available on a reduction
of future contributions is Enil [2020: Enil). As a result, the Group has not recognised this IAS 19 surplus on the balance sheet. There is
an ongoing actyarial deficil primarily due to the different assumgtions and calculation methodologies used compared ta those on
interpretation of 1AS 19,

Income statement
The amounts recognised in the income statement were as follows:

£m 2024 2020
Net interest cost on the defined benefit liabdity - -
Past service cost - [14)

- {14)

The net interest cost has been includéd in finance costs (Note 7). Actuarial gains and losses have been reported in the statement of
comprehensive income.

in the prior year, past service costs of £14m were recognised in relalion to equalisation of pension benefits relating to a period
between 1 April 1992 and 29 July 1993 [ Barber equalisation’]. This past service cast was disclosed within non-underlying items, in
accordance with the accounting policy in Note 1.
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5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

a] Defined benefit pension schemes [continued)

il The WHSmith Pension Trust [continued)
Statement of comprehensive incorne

Total expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income [SCCL):

m 2021 202
Actuariat gainflloss] on defined benefit obligations arising from experience 5 (53)
Actuarial loss on defined benefit obligations arising from changes in tinancial assumptions (56 f12)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit obligations arising from changes in demographic assumptions 1. 22

Total actuarial loss before consideration of asset ceiling {50} (&3]
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest cost 58 (38)
[Lossl/gain resulting from changes in amounts not recognised due to effect of asset ceiling excluding ameunts (LR} 92

recognised in net interest cost

Gain resulting from changes in additional Liability due to minimurn funding requirernents excluding amounts 1 -

recagnised in net interest cost :

Total actuarial [loss)/gain recognised in other comprehensive income {2) n

A credit of £1m {2020: €nil} was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in relation to actuarial gains in the year on the
United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme.
Movements in the present value of the WHSmith Pension Trust defined benefit scheme assets, obligations and minimum funding
requirement in the current year were as follows:
2021 2000
Eftect of asset Elfacl of assel
cedlingand  Netretirement ceilng and  Nel retiement
recognition of benefit recognitian of benefi
micimum abligation minimum obiigation
Em ' Assets Liabilities  funding Giability recognised Assets Liabilites funding bability recognised
At 1 September 1,412 (1,144) {zn} i3] 1,461 (1,107) {3n7) (3)
Current service cost ' - - - - - - - -
Past service cost - - - - - 114) - (14)
Interest income/lexpense) 24 (19l . 1Isl = 26 [20) (8) -
Actuarial gains/llosses) . 58 (50! (10) {2) (38) [43) 92 1%
Contributions frorn the sponsoring H '
companies ! 3 - - 3 3 - - 3
Berefits paid (41) 41 - - (404 40 - -
At 31 August . 1456 (1,172) (286) (2) 1412 1,144] (2711 (3)

The actual return an scheme assets was a gain of £82m {2020: loss of £12m|. During the year. asset returns eutperigrmed the
discount rate, leading to an asset remeasurernant gain of £58m. Actuarial losses on scheme ligbilities have arisen due to:
experience gains of £5m, as a result of the triennial valuation at 31 March 2020, which applied membership and other demographic

movements over the last 3 years; the lower discount rate and RP! assumpticns, offset by higher CPlinflation assumptions resulting in

a loss of £56m; and changes in demographic assumptions that ted to a £1m reduction in plan liabdities.

The decrease in scheme liabilities combined with a increase in the scheme assets, resulted in a increase of E16rm in the unrecognised

IAS 19 surplus. to £2B4m.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

5. Retirement benefit obligations [continued)

a] Defined benefit pension schemes [continued)

il The WHSmith Pension Trust {continued! X
An analysis of the defined benefit scheme assets at the balance sheet date is detailed betow:

2021 2020
Quated Unquoted Toral Dueted Unquoled Tetat
£m tm £m % £m £m £m %

Bonds
- Government bonds 1.211 - 1.211 . B3 1,197 - 1,157 R?
- Corporate bonds

UK 264 - 264 18 286 - 286 20

Non-UK 342 - %2 24 342 - 342 2
Investmnent funds' i 43 186 22¢% 16: 324 188 512 36
Derivatives
- Interest rate swaps - (8s) (85} [] - 28 28 2
- Inflation swaps - 157) {157) (1 - (143) (143) (10t
- Other? - (503} (503) {35) - (530) (530) (37)
Cash and cash eguivalents? 155 - 155 1 (240) - [240) (17
Total 2,015 {559 1,456 100 1.869 (457) 1412 100

1 These actvely managed pooled funds seek Lo provide long-1erm positive relurns through diversified assets and strategies.
2 Other dervalives snclude assel swap conlracts and open repurchase agreements.

3 Inhe prior year, the negalive cash and cash equivalenis balance relates to our obligatien to return cash collaleral.

Ne amount is included in the market value of assets relating to either financial instruments or praperty occupied by the Group.

The principat long-term assumptions used in the IAS 19 valuation were:

% 2021 2020
Rate of increase in pension payments . 135 3.04
Rate of increase in deferred pensions : . 2.55 230
Discount rate 1.75 1.75%
RPI inflation assumption 345 3.10
CPlinflation assurmption 2.55 230
The mortality assumptions in years underlying the value of the accrued liabilities far 2021 and 2020 are:
2021 2020

Years Male Female Male Famale
Lite expeciancy at age 45 i

Member currently aged 65 227 23y 227 238
Member currently aged 45 23.3 25.3 233 252

Sensitivity to changes in assurmptions

The valuation of the retirement benefit obligation is considered a significant source of estimaticn uncertainty, see Note Hg), and
therefore changes in assumptions can have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Sensitivity information has been derived using scenario analysis from the actuarial assumptions as at 31 August 2021, while keeping
all other assumptions consistent; in practice, changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.

Eliecton

tiabilities

al 31 August

€ 2021
Discount rate +/- 0.1% per annum ~19/+1%
Inflation assumptions +/- 0.1% per annum +18/-18
Life expectancy +/- 1 year +66/-66
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5. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

a) Defined benelit pension schemes (continued)

it} United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scheme

United News Shops Retirement Benefits Scherne I UNSRBS ] is closed to new entrants. The scheme provides pension benefits for
pensioners and deferred members based on salary at the date of closure, with increases based on inflation. A full actuanal vatuation
of the scheme is carried oul every three years with interim reviews in the intervening years. The latest full actuanial valuation of the
scherne was carried out at 5 April 2018 by independent actuaries. Following this valuation, the deficit was less than £1m,

The valuation of the UNSRBS used for the 1AS 19 disclosures is based on consistent assumptions to those used for valuing the
WHSmith Pension Trust. Scheme assets are stated at their market value at the relevant reporting date. The deficit funding
contrbutions are immaterial in the context of these linancial statements.

The present vatue of obligations and fair value of assets are stated below.

tm 2021 2020
Present value of the obligations 18) (8
Fair value of plan assets . 7 7
Retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet ‘ : (1 (1)

All of the assets of the UNSRBS scheme have a quoted market price in an active market. There was a credit of £1m [2020: Enill
recognised in the staternent of comprehensive income in relation to actuarial gains in the year on the United News Shaps Retirement

Benefits Scheme.

bi Defined contribution pension scheme
The pension cost charged to income for the Group’s defined contribution schemes amounted to £4m for the year ended 31 August

2021 (2020: £4m).
6. Staff costs and employees

a] Staff costs
The aggregate remuneration of employees was:

£m 2021 2000
Wages and salaries ; 208. 200
Social security costs ' 14, 13
Dther pension costs : 4' 4
Share-based payments ) 6 -
Tota! Group ] 232 217
bl Emplayee numbers
The monthly average total number of employees (including executive directors} was:
tm 21 020
Total retailing 11,194 | 14475
41. 39

Support functions

11,235, 14,514

Totat Group

7. Finance costs

tm 0 W1

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts ' 10, ?

interest on convertible bonds : . ! & -

Interest on lease liabilities 0 1

Net interest cost on defined benefit pension abilities = -
24 20
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

8. Income tax

£m 2021 2620
Tax on loss s _: 15
Standard rate of UK corporation lax 19.00% 2020: 19.00%/ § :
Adjustment in respect of prior years ' {1 (8)
Total current tax credit ' {1 (1)
Deferred tax - current year {Nate 18) ; “n (7
Deferred tax - prior year [Note 18] ! 4] 2
Deterred tax - adjustment in respect of change in tax rates i (8l -
" Tax on loss before non-undertying items . (24) [16)
Tax on non-underlying items - current Lax : - (9
Tax on non-underlying items - deferred tax (Note 18] (12} (16)
Total tax on loss (38} [41)
Reconciliation of the taxation credit
em aon 2020
Tax on loss at standard rate of UK corporation tax 19.00% (2020: 19 00%) (22) (53}
Tax effect of items that are not deductible or not taxable in determining taxable loss ! LN 15
Unrecognised tax losses 3]] 4
Differences in overseas tax rates . £ (3)
Adjusiment in respect of prior years ! {51 (4}
Adjustment in respect of change in tax rates . (8l -
’ (36) (41}

Total income tax credit

The efiective tax rate, before non-underlying items. is 47 per cent (2020: 23 per cent].

The UK corporation tax rate is 19 per cent effective from 1 April 2017. In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that
from 1 April 2023 the corporalion tax rate will increase to 25 per cent . This new law was subslantively enacted an 24 May 2021, and
the main impact of this change 15 an increase to the deferred tax assels and an increase in the current year tax income statement
credit of £8m.

9. Dividends

Amaounts paid and recognised as distributions to shareholders in the year are as follows:

£m 2021 2020

Dividends I‘

Firat dividend for the year ended 31 August 2019 of 41.0p per ordinary share - 47
= 47

The directors have not declared an interim dividend during the year and do not propose a final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 August 2021.
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10. Loss per share
a) Loss/earnings

£m

0

2020

Loss for the year, attributable to equity holders of the parent (82) (239]
Non-underlying items (Note 4f 53 187
Loss for the year before non-underlying items, attributable to equity holders of the parent {29 (52]
bl Weighted average share capital
Milligna 2021 2820
Weighted average ordinary shares in issue m 120
Less weighted average ordinary shares held in ESOP Trust ~ -
Weighted average shares in issue for loss per share ™ , 120
Add weighted average number of ordinary shares under option - -
Weighted average ordinary shares for diluted loss per share 3 120
<l Basic and diluted loss per share
Pence ' 02 2020
Basic loss per share (62.8) {199.2]
Adjustment for non-underlying items 40.5 1559
Basic loss per share before non-underlying items (22.1 {4331
Pente w2 2020
Dituted loss per share (62.6} (199.2)
Adjustment for non-underlying items 40.5 1559
(22.11 143.3)

Diluted loss per share before non-underlying items

Diluted loss per share takes into account various share awards and share options including SAYE schemes, which are expected to

vest, and for which a sum helow fair value will be paid. As the Group has incurred a loss in the years ending 31 August 2021 and
31 August 2020, the impact of its potential dilutive ordinary shares have been excluded as they would be anti-dilutive.

At 31 August 2021 the convertible bond has ne dilutive effect as the inclusion of these potentially dilutive shares would improve loss

per share.

The calculation of loss per share on a pre-IFRS 16 basis is provided in the Glossary on page 154.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

11. Intangible assets

Brands and
tranchise

£em Goodwrill contracts  Tenancy rights Software Total
Cost ;
At 1 September 2020 ' 418 43 13 96 570
Acquisitions {Nate 27) } 1) - - - 1)
Additions ! - - - 7 7
Disposals - - - (1 Al
Fareign exchange 11 (1] - - 12
At 31 August 2021 : 406 42 13 102 563
Accumulated amortisation ! !
At 1 September 2020 ¢ - 4 8 65 77
Amortisation charge ! ~ 3 - 11 14
Irmpairment charge - - - - -
Disposals - - - 1) 1)
Foreign exchange : - - - - -
At 31 August 2021 ‘ - 7 . 8 75 90
Net book value at 31 August 2021 406 35 5 27 473
Cost
At 1 Septemnber 2019 176 16 13 109 314
Agditions - - - n i1
Acquisitions [Note 27) 258 29 - 1 288
Disposals - - - (29) [25)
Foreign exchange (14) 2] - - (sl
At 31 August 2020 418 &3 13 9% 570
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 September 2019 - 1 8 80 89
Amortisation charge - 3 - 9 12
Impairment charge - - - 1 1
Disposals - - - (25) {25)
Foretgn exchange . - = _ —
At 31 August 2020 - 65 77
Net book value at 31 August 2020 418 39 5 K] 493

Adjustments to goodwill include an adjustment of £1m to the consideration paid in relation to the acqgisition of Marshall Retail Group
IMRGI. Additions to goadwill in the prior year relate to the acquisition of MRG. See Note 27 for further information. Goodwalt of usD
$77m [E56m) relating to the acquisition of InMation in 2018 is expected to be deductible for tax purposes in the future.

As a result of changes to the Group's reportable segments [as discussed in Note 2], goodwill previgusly attributable to the Travel

operating segment has been reallocated to the new operaling segments using a relative value approach.

The carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the segmental businesses as follows:

£m 21 2020

Travel Uk 253

North America 113

Rest of the Waorld 25

Total Travel k3| 403

High Street 15 15
406 418
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11. Intangible assets [continued) :

Included within Tenancy rights are certain assets that are considered to have an indefinite life of €4m [2020: E4m], representing certain
rights under tenancy agreements, which include the right to renew leases, therefore no amertisation has been charged.

Management has determined that the useful economic life of these assets is indefinite because the Company can continue 1o occupy
and trade from certain prerises for an indehnite period. These assels are reviewed annually for indicators of impairment.

Impairment of goodwill and intangibte assets

The Group tests goadwill for imparment annually or where there is an indication that goodwill might be impaired. For impairment
testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store is a separate CGU, and goodwill is allocated to groups of CGUs in a
manner that is consistent with our operating segments, as this reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is momtered. All goodwitl
has arisen an acguisitions of groups of retail stores. These acquisitions are thenintegrated into the Group’s operating segrments as
appropriate. Acquired brands are considered together with goodwill for tmpairment testing purposes, and are therefore considered
annually for impairment.

Goodwill and acquired brands have been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amcunt of each group of CGUs, including
goodwill and acquired brands, with the recoverable amount determined from value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use of each
group of CGUs has been calculated using cash flows derived from the Group's latest Board-approved budget and three year plan,
initially extrapolated to five years and taking into account the projected impact of Covid-19. The forecasts reflect knowledge of the
current market, together with the Group's expectations on the future achievable growth and committed store openings. Cash flows
beyond the indial forecast period are extrapolated using estimated long-term growth rates. Forecasts have taken into account the
immediately quantifiable impacts of climate change, with na material impact an cash flows. Forecasts beyond the wnitial forecast
period do not inctude a guantitative assessment of the impact of climate change on cash flows.

For certan groups of CGUs, additional adjustments to cash flows have been made during the extrapolation process for an extended
period of up to 15 years before calculating a terminal value. This extended period of time is required to establish a normalised cash
flow base on which a terminal value calculation can be appropriately calculated. The main reasons for cash flow adjustments include
the need to forecast lease renewels under IFRS 16, and the unwinding of certain cash flow benefits arising from acguisitions in
North America.

The key assumptions on which forecast three-year cash flows of the CGUs are based include revenue growth. product mix and
operating costs, lang-term growth rates and the pre-tax discount rate:

* The values assigned to each of the revenue, product mix and operating cost assumptions were deterrmined based on the
extrapolation of historical trends within the Group and external information on expected future trends in the travel and high street
retail sectors.

* The pre-tax discaunt rates are derived from the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, which has been calculated using the
capital asset pricing model, the inputs of which include a risk-free rate, equity risk premium, Group size prermium and a risk
adjustment [betal. The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 10.4 per cent.

* The long-term growth rate assurnptions are between 0 per cent and 2 per cent.

The value-in-use estimates indicated that the recoverable amount of goodwill exceeded the carrying value for each group of CGUSs.

As a result. no impairment has been recognised in respect of the carrying value of goodwill in the year {2020: £nil).

As disclosed in Nate 1, Accounting policies, the forecast cash flows used within the impairment model are based on assumptions
which are scurces of estimation uncertainty and it is possibte that significant changes to these assumptions could lead to an
impairment of goodwill and acquired brands. Given the significant uncertainty surreunding the impact of Covid- 19 on the Group's
operations and on the global economy, management have considered a range of sensitivities on each of the key assumptions, with
other varigbles held constant. The sensitivities include applying increases in the discount rate by 1 per cent and reductions in the
long-term growth rates to 0 per cent. Under these severe scenarios, the estimated recoverable amount of goocwill and acquired
brands still exceeded the carrying value.

The sensitwvity analysis showed that no reasonably possible change in assumptions would lead to an impairment.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

12. Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings

Freehold Leasehold Fixtures Equipment
£m properties improvements and fittings and vehicles Total
Cost or valuation: i
At 1 September 2020 ) 15 272 198 108 593
Additians ! 3 12 5 7 37
Acquisitions {Note 27) ! = n - - (m
Nispnsals i - (5] () (2 (12)
Reclassifications 1 - [ 1) 3 -
Foreigh exchange - (2 1) - (3]
At 31 August 2021 18 290 196 110 514
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 September 2020 10 185 127 79 401,
Depreciation charge . - 17 12 7 360
Impairment charge f - ? 5 2 16
Disposals - (5} 15) (2) 12),
Reclassifications ' - - 2 (2] -
Foreign exchange - - 1] - N
At 31 August 2021 10 206 140 84 &40
Net book value at 31 August 2021 . a 84 56 26 174
Cost or valuation:
At 31 August 2019 15 236 168 120 539
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 - (3 (9) (22) (301
At 1 Septermber 2019 15 233 163 98 509
Additions - 28 23 16 &1
Acquisitions |Note 27] - 18 14 2 34
Disposals . - (5t (4 1Y (7
Foreign exchange - [2) (1} 1] (4)
At 31 August 2020 15 272 198 108 593
Accumulated depreciation:
At 31 August 2019 10 147 103 78 338
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 - 1 {1 2] 02
At 1 Septernber 2019 10 148 102 66 326
Depreciation charge - 22 12 9 43
Impairment charge - 20 14 5 39
Disposals - ] () [ (7
At 31 August 2020 10 185 127 79 401
Net book value at 31 August 2020 5 87 7 29 192

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

For impairment testing purposes, the Group has determined that each store is a separate CGU. Each CGU is tested for impairment at

the balance sheet date if any indicators of impairment have been idenlified. The significant disruption to irading as a result of the

Covid-19 pandemic has been identified as an indicator of impairment, and therefore atl CGUs have been tested for impairment as at

the balance sheet date.
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12. Property, ptant and equipment [continued)

Property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have been tested for impairment by comparing the carrying amount of each
CGU with its recoverable amount determined from value-in-use calculations. It was determined that value-in-use was higher than fair
value less costs to sell as a resutt of the signficant impact on fair values as a result of Covid-19. The value-in-use of each CGU has
been calculated using discounted cash flows derived from the Group's latest Board-approved budget and three-year plan, taking into
account the projected impact of Cowd-19, and reflects historic perfermance and knowledge of the current market, together with the
Group's views on the future achievable growth. Cash flows heyand this three-year period are exirapolated using growth rates and
inflation rates appropriate to each store’s location, Cash flows have been included for the remaining lease Life for the specific store
These growth rates do not exceed the (ong-term growth rate for the Group’s retail businesses in the relevant territory. Where stores
have a relatively short remaining lease life, an extension to the lease has been assumed where management consider it likely that an
extension will be granted.

The key assumpt:ons on which the forecast three-year cash flows of the CGUSs are based include revenue and the pre-tax discourtt
rate. Other assumptions in the model relate 10 gross margin, cost inflation and longer-term growth rates. The forecasts used in the
impairment review are based on managamenl's best estimale of revenue reductions versus a ‘pre-Covid’ base, and the recavery in
revenue over the forecast period. In developing these forecasts, management have used available information. including historical
knowledge of the store level cash flows. and knowledge gained during the pandemic up to the year end date.

The forecasts for the year for our High Street business assume that store like-for-like sales will be lower by around 20 per cent during
the year ended 31 August 2022. In Travel UK, revenue is assurmed to be initially down around 50 per cent recovering to around 5 per
cent down by the end of that year. This is an average across all formats, with Hospilals recovering more quickly than Air.

Our International lgcations outside of North America assume that like-for-like sales will be lower by around 75 per centinitially, and
recavering to down around 23 per cent by the end of August 2022.

In North America, revenue 1s assumed to be down around 25 per cent in the earty part of the next financial year, improving to around
2019 levels by the end of the August 2022 financial year. This 15 an average across all formats. with Resorts recovering more quickly
than Air,

The second and third years of the three year ptan include further gradual recoveries across all locations.

The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Group's weighted average cost of capital, which has been calculated using the capital
asset pricing model, the inputs of which include the risk-free rate, equity risk premium, Group size premium and a risk adjustment
[betal. The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 10.4 per cent,

Where the value-in-use was less than the carrying value of the CGU. an impairment of property. plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets was recorded. These stores were impaired to their recaverable amount of £56m. which is their carrying value at year end.

The Group has recognised an impairment charge of £16m to property, plant and equipment and £26m to right-of-use assets as a
result of impairment testing, Impairments of E42m have been presented as non-underlying items in the current year (see Note 4], and
impairments of £2m have been included in underlying results.

As disclosed in Note 1, Accounting policies, the farecast cash flows used within the impairment model are based on assumptions
which are sources of estimation uncertainty and changes to these assumgtions could lead to further impairments to assets. Given the
significant uncertainty regarding the impact of Covid-19 on the Group's operations and on the glabal economy, management have
considered sensitvities to the impairment charge as a result of changes to the estimate of future revenues achieved by the stores.

The Group has applied certain sensitivities in isolation to demonstrate the impact on the impairment of changes in key assumptions.
The most significant assumption is the revenue assumption. The impact of a potential slower recovery from the pandemuc has been
modelled by incorporating a further 10 per cent reduction in revenue in High Street stores and a delay in recovery of one year in Travel
UK and North America, with na change to subsequent forecast revenue growth rate assumptions. This would result in a £2im
increase In the imparment charge of retail store assets in the year ended 31 August 2021. An increase or decrease of 1 per cent.n the
discount rate would result in an increase or decrease in the impairment charge of around £2m.

Other changes in assumptions have been modetled and have shown that any reasonably possible changes would not lead to a
significant impact on the impairment charge. Other modelled assumption changes include margin reductions and long-term growth
rate reductions across all formats. ’

The impairment assessment has also been perfarmed on a pre-iFRS 16 basis. See Glossary on page 154,
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13. Right-of-use assets

Land and
£€m buildings, Eguipment Total
At 1 September 2020 400 13 413
Additiens ‘&8 - 45,
Modifications and remeasurements - 13 - 113)
Disposals () - b))
Depreciation charge : (80) (4 (84)
Impairrnent charge i (28) - (z8)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates (4] - 2]
Net book value at 31 August 2021 ! 9 9 328
Land and

£m buldings Equipment Total
At 1 September 2019 439 18 457
Additions %8 - 98
Acquisitions 108 - 108
Modifications and remeasurements {33) - (35
Disposals [2) - {2
Depreciation charge {105) (5) (110)
Impairment charge (98] - (951
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange rates (8l - e

400 13 413

Net book value at 31 August 2020

The information on the Group's leasing activities is included in Nete 16, Lease liabilities.

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets of E28m have been impaired in the year, as a result of the impact of Covid-19. This impairment charge has

been presented in non-underlying iterns [see Note 4]. The approach to impairment testing is described in detail in Note 12, Property,

plant and equipment.
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14. Trade and cther receivables

em 200 2020

Current receivables

Frade recevables 25 22

Other receivables 5 8

Prepayments 10 10

Accruad income 5 9
45 49

Non-current receivables

Other recevables 2 6

Prepayments 4 3
51 58

Total trade and other receivables

Included in accrued ncome is £3m {2020: £3m) of accrued supplier income relating to retrospective discounts and other promot'ional
and marketing income that has been earned but not yet invoiced. Supplier income that has been invoiced but not yat settled against
trade payables balances s included in (rade payables where the Group has a right to cffset.

There were no government grarts receivables included in other receivables this year [2020: £1m).
The ageng of the Group’s current trade and ather receivables is as follows:
£m pobal 2020
Trade and other receivables gross 35 39
Expected credit losses (3) K]
Trade and other receivables net 32 K
Of which:
Amounts neither impaired nor past due on the reporting date 5 76
Armpunts past due but not impaired- '
Less than one month otd 3 4
Between one and three months old 2 2
Between three and six months old 1 2
Between six months and one year old 1 2
32 36

Trade and other receivables net carrying amount

The Group has limited exposure to expected credit losses due to the bustness model. An allowance has been made for lifetime
expected credit losses from receivables at 31 August 2021 of £3m (31 August 2020: £3m). The ageimg analysis of these receivablesis
given 1 the table below. This expected credit lass allowance reflects the application of the Group's provisioring policy in respect of bad
and doubtful debts and is based upon the difference between the receivable value and the estimated net collectible amount. The Group
establishes its provision for bad and doubtful debts by reference to past default experience.

Ageing analysis of bad and doubtful debt provisions:

£m Fik4) 2020
Less than ane month old - -
Between one and three months old’ - -
Between three ang six months old 1 I
Between six months and one year old 2 2

3 3

Na trade and other receivables that would have been past due or impaired were renegotiated during the year. Na interest is charged
on the receivables balance. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not include impaired assets. The Group does not
hold coltateral over these balances. The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their
fair value.

.
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15. Trade and other payables

%20
€m an [restated]
Trade payables 70 55
Other tax and social security 24 24
Other payables . ; 72 63
Accruals ‘ 83 87
Deferred income 146 12

) 265 241

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period
taken for trade purchases is 56 days (2020: 50 days). The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables
approximates their fair value. ’

Trade payables is stated net of £4m [2020: £2m) ameunts receivable from suppliers in relation to supplier incorme, that has been
invoiced, for which the Group has the right to set off against amounts payable at the balance sheet date.

The classification of trade and other payables has been reviewed and it was noted that certain balances more closely refated to
deferred income have previously been classified in other categories. The analysis provided above more closely reflects the nature of
the underlying balances. The comparatives have been restated for consistency by reducing Trade payables by £5m, reducing Other
creditors by £4m and increasing Deferred income by £9m. There is no impact on the total of trade ang ather payables.

16. Lease liabilities

Land and
£m buildings Equipment Total
At 15eptember 2020 ! 548 1 559
Additions ] A - 41,
Modifications and remeasuremants (37} - (37
Disposals ' ] - )]
Interest i 1c - 10.
Payments . (871 14 1)
Effect of mavements in foreign exchange rates ' {5) - (5)
At 31 August 2021 463 7 470
Land and

£m . tuildings Equipment Tolal
At3 Augast 2019 - 7 %
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 16 476 3 479
At 1 September 2019 476 17 493
Additions 87 - 87
Acquisitians 106 - 106
Modifications and remeasurements [50] - i50]
Disposals 2 - 12)
Interest 11 - A

- Payments (72 (6] 178)
Effect of movernents in foreign exchange rates 8] - 18)
At 31 August 2020 548 0 559
tm 2021 0
Analysis of total lease liabilties: '
Non-current ' . 362 429
Current . 108 130
Total . 470 559

The Group leases land and buildings for its retait stores, distribution centres, storage locations and office property. These leases have
an average remaining lease term of 4 years. Some leases include an aption Lo break befare the end of the conlract term or an option
ta renew the lease for an additional term after the end of the term. Management assess the lease term at inception based on the facts
and circumstances applicable 1o each property.
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16. Lease liabilities [continued) :
Other leases are mainly forklift trucks for the retail stores and distribution centres, office equiprnent and vehicles. These leases have
an average remaining lease term of 3 years.

The Group reviews the retail lease portfolio on an ongoing basis, taking into account retail performance and future trading
expectations. The Group may exercise extension options, negotiate lease extensions or medifications. In other instances, the Group
may exercise break options, negotiate lease reductions or decide not to negatiate a lease extension at the end of the lease term
Certain property leases contain rent review terms that require rent to be adjusted an a periodic basis which may be subject to market

rent or increases in inflation measurements.

Many of the Group's property leases, particularly in Travet locations, also incur payments based on a percentage of revenue [vareable
lease payments) achieved at the location. In line with IFRS 14, variable lease payments which are not based on an index or rate are not
included in the lease liabitity. See Note 3 for the expense charged to the Income statement relating to variable lease payments not
included in the measurement of the lease liability.

In response ta the Covid-19 pandemic. an amendment was issued to IFRS 16 in June 2020 and further extended in March 2021

This amendment (practical expedient] allows the impact on the lease liability of tempaorary rent reductions/waivers affecting rent
payments due on or before June 2022, to be recognised in the Incorne statement in the period they are received, rather than as lease
modifications, which would require the remeasurement of the lease biability using a revised discount rate with a corresponding
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. The Group has applied this practical expedient to all Covid- 19 rent reductions/waivers that meet
the requirements of the amendment. This has resulted in a credit to the Income statement of £23m for the year ended 31 August 2021,

The Group’s accounting palicy far leases is set out in Nate 1. Details of Income statermnent charges and incame for leases are set outin
Note 3. The right-of-use asset categories on which depreciation is incurred are presented in Note 13. Interest expense incurred an
lease liabilities is presented in Note 7. The matunty of undiscounted future lease liab.lities are set out in Note 22.

The total cash outfiow for leases in the linancial year was £123m. This includes cash outflow for short-term leases of {14m and
variable lease payments (not included in the measurement of lease Liabilityl of £18m. The total future income from sub-teasing the
right-of-use assets is E1m.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

17. Provisions

Contingent
Property cansideration
&m ’ provision provisiun Total '
At 1 September 2020 ! . 13 1 14
Charge in the year ' ‘ ] - - _'
Utilised in year i - - j
Unwinding of discount : - - -
At 31 August 2021 - 13 1 14
Contingent
Property consideratian
&m i provision prowision Total
At 1 September 2019 3 2 5
Adjustment on inttial apptication of IFRS 16 ‘ 12) - (2)
Charge in the year 12 - 12
Utilised in year - il i
Unwinding of discount - - -
At 31 August 2020 13 1 14
Total provisions are split between current and nen-current Liabilities as follows:
o ' 2021 2020
Included in current liabilities i 2,
Included in non-current liabitities ! 12 7
' B " 14

Property provisions relate to reinstatement Liabilities for stores where the long-term viability has been impacted by Co\{ld— 19.

These expected costs of store closures are reviewed frequently and are based on information available as at the reportmg date as yvell
as management s historical experience of similar transactions. Utilisations of the property provisicns are expected to be incurred in
line with the profile of the leases to which they relate.

In the prior year, cnerous lease provisions of £2m were derecognised on adoption of IFRS 16.
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18, Deferred tax
The foliowing are the major deferred tax liabrlities and assets recognised by the Group and mavements thereon during the current and
prior years. )

Adjustment on Credited /
On acquisition of Tnitial application [chargedi to Credited to
tm At1 September subsidiaries of IFRS 1& Rate change income equity  A31August
Accelerated tax depreciation f 7 - - 3 (2 - 8
Leases } & - - 1 - - 5
Share-based payments i - - - - 1 1 2
Retirernent benefit cbligation 1 - - - - - 1
- Intangible assets . (§§1] - - - - - i1
Losses . 17 - - 4 24 - 45
Unutilised interest expense 3 - - - 2 - 5
Provisions , - - - - 2 - 2
Year ended 31 August 2021 s 21 - - 8 27 1 57
Accelerated tax depreciation 5 i) - - 3 -
Leases - - 4 - - -
Share-based payments 7 - - - (23 - -
Retirernent benefit obligation 1 - - _ - - 1
Intangible assets {3 (&} - - - - {11}
Losses - - - - 17 - 17
Unutilised interest expense - - - - 3 - 3
Year ended 31 August 2020 5 (9} 4 - 21 - 21
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the fallowing tax losses:
Em 2021 2020
Capital losses 84 g8
Traging tosses 23 3
107 121

Substantially all of the deferred income tax assets are expected to be recovered after more than one year.

The UK carporation tax rate is 19 per cent effective from 1 April 2017. In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that
fram 1 April 2023 the corparation tax rate will increase to 25 per cent. This new law was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021, and the
main impact of this change is an increase in the deferred tax assets and an increase in the current year tax income statement credit of
£8m.

AL31 August 2021, deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of tax losses and US unutilised interest expense. The deferred
tax assets of £198m relates to carried forward tax losses which have been recognised to the extent that they will be recaverable using
the estimated future taxable incorme based on the approved budgets for the Group. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
on losses amounting to £107m (2020: £121m) due to uncertainty over the timing and extent of their utilisation. The losses can be
<arried forward indefinitely and have no expiry date.

All deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is considerad to be a legally enforceable right to do so. The fallowing is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances [after offset] for financial reporting purposes:

£m ‘ 0z 2020

Delerred tax liabilites [non-current labilities) - (2)

Deferred tax assets 57 23
97 21
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Notes to the financial statements continued

19. Analysis of net debt
Movements in net debt can be analysed as follows:
Sub-totak
Liabilities lrorm
Convertlble Revelving credil financing  Cashand cash
£€m Term loans bonds tacility Leases activities equivalents Net debt
At 1 September 2020 ' (400) - - {559) (959} 108 (851)
Proceeds from borrowings ! - {327 - - (327} 3z7 -
Repaymants of horrmwings H 267 - - - 267 [267) -
Bifurcation of convertible bond ! - 41 - - M - 41
Other nen-cash movernents : - 2 - (7 (9 - 9
Other cash movernents ' 1 5 - - 0" 97 (38 59
Currency translation i - - - 5 5 - 5
At 31 August 2021 ! (132) (283) - (470) (885} 130 (755)
Sub-tolat
Lisbititres [rom
_ Convertible  Rewolving cregit tnancing  Cash and cash

£m Term loans. bonds. facility Leases activities equialents Net debt
At 1 Septermnber 2019 (200} - (15] 114) [229) 49 1180]
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16 - - - 1479) 1479) - 1479)
Movement on acguisition of subsidiaries (115) - - (106) i221) [ (220]
Proceeds frorm horrowings [200) - - - {2001 200 -
Repayments of borrowings - - 15 - 15 [15) -
Other non-cash movements 115 - - (48] 69 - &9
Other cash movements - - - 78 78 [126} (48]
Currency translation - - - g 8 4] 7
At 31 August 2020 1400) - - (559) (959) 108 (851)

An explanation of Alternative Performance Measures. including Net debt on a pre-IFRS 16 basis, is provided in the Glassary on
page 154

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturty of three months
or less. The carrying amount of these assets apgroximates 1o their fair vaiue.

Lease liabilities
Non-cash movernents in lease liabilities mainly retate to new leases, modifications and remeasurements in the year.

Term loans and revolving credit facilities )

On 28 April the Group announced new financing arrangements. These included the issuance of £327m of convertible bonds, the
repayment of the existing £400m term loans and replacemnent with a new £133m term loan. and an increased revolving credit facility
of £250m.

At 31 August 2021 the Group has in place a five-year committed multi-currency revolving credit facility of £250m with Santander UK
PLC. BNP Paribas, HSBC UK Bank PLC, JP Morgan Securities PLC and Barclays Bank PLC. The revolving credil facility is due to
mature on 28 April 2025. The utilisation is interest bearing at a margin over SONIA. As at 31 August 2021, the Group has drawn down
Enilon this facility (2020: Enil drawn down on previous facilityl.

As part of the new financing arrangements the additional multi-currency revolving credit facility of £120m, which was undrawn and
due to expire in November 2021, was cancelled.

The Group has a four-year commitied £133m term loan with Banco Santandér S.A., London Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Parnbas
and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing in April 2021. This loan is interest bearing at a margin
over SCNIA and is due to mature on 28 April 2025.

Transaction costs of £1m relating to the term loan are amortised to the income staternent through the effective interest rate method
Transaction costs of £1m relating to the RCF have been capitalised and are amortised to the Income statement on 3 straight-
line basis.

134 WH Smith PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2021



19. Analysis of net debt (continued)

Convertible bonds _
On 28 April 2021, the Group announced the launch of an offering of £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured canvertible bonds due in

2026 Setilement and delivery of convertible bonds took place on 7 May 2021. The total bend offering of £327m covers a five-year term
beginning an 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annurmn coupan payable serni-annually in arrears in equal instalments. The bonds
are convertible into new andfor existing ordinary shares of WH Smith PLC. The initiat conversion price was set at £24.99 representing
a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 [£17.85). If not previously converted, redeemed or
purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

The conve tible bond is 3 compound financial instrument, consisting of a financial lighility component and an equity component,
representing the value of the conwersion rights. The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible bond is determined using
a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The lability is subsequently recognised an an
amortised cost basis using the effective interest rate method until extinguished on conversian or maturity of the bonds. The remainder
of the proceeds is allocated to the convers:on cption and recognised in equity [Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured

As a result, £286m was initially recognised as a liability in the balance sheet on issue and the remainder of the proceeds of E41m,
which represents the option component, was recognised in equity.

Transaction costs of £6m were allocated between the two components and the element relating to the debt component of £5m is
being amortised through the effechive interest rate method. The issue costs apportioned to the equity component of E1m have been

deducted from equity. g
Further information regarding the Group's borrowings and revolving credil facilibes is provided in Note 22. i
20. Contingent liabilities and capital commitments §
tm 2021 o 5

3 ETI

Bank guarantees and guarantees in respect of lease agreements

Other patential Lizbilities that could crystatlise are in respect of previcus assignments of leases where the Liability could révert ta the
Group if the lessee defaulted. Pursuant to the terms af the Demerger Agreement with Smiths News PLC, any such contingent lrability
which becames an actual liability will be apportioned between the Group and Smiths News PLC in the ratip 65:35 [provided that the
actual Liability of Smiths News PLC in any 12-manth period does not exceed £5m). The Group's 65 per cent share of these leases has
an estimated future rental commitment at 31 August 2021 of E1m [2020. £1m). The movement in the future rental commitment s due
to the crystatlisation of lease liabilities, lease expiries and the efiluxion of time.

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure approved by the directors but not provided for in these financial statements amount to
£26m [2020: €18m).

£m 20 2020
Comrnitments in respect of property, plant and equipment 25 17
Comritments in respect of other intangible assets 1 !

26 18
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21. Cash generated from operating activities

m 2021 2020
Group operating loss ) (92) (2601
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ‘ 3 43
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 16 39
Amortisation of intangible assets 14, 12
Impairment of intangible assets . - 1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ' B4 10
Impairment of nght-of-use assets ‘ 28 I
Non-cash change in lease liabilities 1 {23 (15]
Non-cash movernent in pensian . 14
Share-based payments 6. -
Gain on disposal and remeasurement of leases ; (3)
Other non-cash iterns 2
. t
. Decrease in inventories 14 35
Cecrease in recewables " 7
increase/|decrease) in payables % al
Pension funding [3}; 13
Income taxes paid ) - (32]
Incorne laxes refund ' 10 37
Movement on provisions (through utilisation or income statement] : s ()
Cash generated from operating activities ! 113 94
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22, Financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments

Carrying value
£m 021 . 2
Financiat assets
Derivative Instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships' - -
167 161

Receivables at amortised cost [including cash and cash equivalents)?
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost®

' 8l derivalives 2re categarised as Level 2 wilhin the fair value hierarchy. The fair vatue messuremenls relating to the instruments are derived from inputs olber than quoled prices that are
observable for the assel ar liability, either directly ar indirecity.

? Included wathin receivabies held al amorlised cost are frade and olher receivables (excluding prepaymenis! and cash and cash equivalents

[1,134) 11,148}

' Included within amertised cost are trade payables, other payables, accruals, barrowings, tease obligations and olher non-current liabilities.

Comparison of carrying values and fair values
There were no material ditferences between the carrying value of non-derivative financial assets and financial babilities and their fair

values as at the balance sheet date.

Risk management

The Group's treasury function seeks to reduce exposures to mnterest rate, foreign exchange and other financial nisks, and to ensure
liquidity is available to meet the foreseeable needs of the Group and to invest cash assets safely and profitably The Group does not
engage n speculative trading in financial instruments and transacts only in relation to underlying business requirements. The Group's
treasury poticies and pracedures are periodically reviewed and approved by the Group’s Audit Committee and are subject te regular
Group Internal Audit review.

Capital risk .
The Group's objectives with respect to managing capital [defined as net deby/funds plus equity) are 1o safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, in order to optimise returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakehalders, through an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding. Refer to Note 19 for the value of the Group’s net debt/funds and refer to the Group statement of

changes in equily for the value of the Group’s equity.

ln managing the Group's capital levels, the Board regularly monitors the level of debt in the business, the warking capital
requirements, forecast financing and investing cash flows. Based on this analysis, the Board determines the appropnate return to
investors while ensuring sufficient capital is retained 1n the business to meet its strategic objectives. The Board has a progressive
dividend policy and expects that, over time, dividends would be broadly covered twice by earmngs calculated on a normalisec tax basis.

The Group has in place a £250m committed multi-currency revolving credit facility and a syndicated £133rn tlerm loan. The covenants.
tested half-yearly, are based on minimum liquidity for the periods ending 31 August 2021. 28 February 2022 and 31 August 2022, and
from 28 February 2023 are based on fixed charges cover and net barrowings [defined as total borrowings excluding lease liabilities
that would have been treated as an operating lease prior to the adoption of IFRS 16, less cash and cash equivatents).

On 28 April 2021, the Group announced the taunch of an offering of £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured convertible bonds due in
2026. Settlement and delivery of the convertible bonds took place on 7 May 2021. The total bond offering of £327m covers a five-year
term beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annum coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in equal instalments.

The bonds are convertible into new and/or existing ordinary shares of the WH Smith PLC. The initial conversion price was set at

£24 99 representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 (£17.85]. If not previously converted.
redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its exposure to liquidity risk by reviewing the cash resources required to meet its business objectives through
both short- and long-term cash flow forecasts. The Group has a comritted multi-currency revolving credit facility with a number

of financial institutions which is available to be drawn for general corporate purposes including working capital. The facility is due to
mature on 28 April 2025.

The Group has a palicy af pooling cash flows in order to optimise the return on surplus cash and alsc to utilise cash within the Group
to reduce the costs of external short-term funding.
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22. Financial instruments (continued] .

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted remaining contractual cash flows of the Group's financial liabilities:
Dtue within Due between Due between Due aver

2021 {Em) 1year 1 and 2 years. 2.and Syears S ypars Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities '

Bank loans and overdrafis t 10 30 48 - 501

Trade and other payables ‘ ' 249 . - - - 249

Lease liabilities . 115 92 159 148 514

Total cash flows 2 74 122 620 148 1,264
Due wilhin Oue berween . Due berween Due over

2020 (£m] 1year 1and 2 years 2and Hyears, Syears Tolal

Nen-derivative financial Liahilities '

Bank loans and overdrafls 7 10 402 - 419

Trade and other payables 229 - - - 229

{_ease labilties 139 97 195 180 611

Total cash flows 375 107 597 180 1,259

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty may default on their obligation to the Group in relation to lending. hedging, settlement and
other financial activitties The Group’s principal inancial assets are trade and other receivables, and bank balances and cash which are
considered to have low credit risk on initial recognition.

The Group has credit risk attributable to its trade and other receivables, including a number of sale or return contracts with suppliers.
The amounts included in the balance sheet are net of allowances for expected credit losses. The Group has adopted the simplfied
approach to calculating expected credit losses allowed by IFRS 9. Historical credit {oss rates are applied consistently 1o groups of
financial assets with similar nsk characteristics. These are then adjusted for known changes in, or any forward-looking impacts on,
creditworthiness.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that credit risk might have increased
significantly include the failure of the debtor to engage in a payment plan and failure to make contractual payments within 180 days
past due, which is in line with historical experience of increased credit risk. Indicators that an asset is credit-impaired would include
observable data in relation to the financial health of the debtor or if the debtor breaches contract.

The Group has low retail credit risk due to the transactions being principally high volume, low-value and of short maturity. The Group
has no significant concentration of credit risk, with the exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is considered to be low, as the Board approved Group treasury
policy limits the value that can be placed with each approved counterparty to minimise the risk of loss. These limits are based on a
short-term credit rating of P-1.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements represents the Group's maximum exposure te credit risk.
The Group does not hald collateral over any of these financial assets.

Interestrate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on floating rate bark loans ang overdrafts.

At 31 August 2021, the Group had drawn down Enil (2020: €nill from its £250m committed revolving credd facility. If the Group drayvs
down an this facility, it does not view any draw down as long-term in nature and therefore does not enter inte interest rate derivatives

ta mitigate this risk.

The Group has a four-year committed £133m term loan with Banco Santander S.A., London Branch, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas
and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing (April 2021). This loan is interest-bearing at a margin
over SONIA. The Group monitars the risk associated with the loan. At present, the Group has not entered into interest rate derivatives
in respect of the loan.
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22. Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign exchange rate nsk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financiat instrurnent will fluctuate beczuse of the
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group's foreign currency exposures are principally to the US dollar. Euro and Australian dollar.
The Group's treasury function uses financial instruments to mitigate farzign exchange risk, in line with treasury policies approved by

the Board. Financial instruments include foreign exchange contracts, deposits and bank loans.
The Group uses forward foretgn exchange contracts 1o hedge sigrificant future transactions and cash flows denominated in

currencies other than pounds sterling. The hedging instruments have been used to hedge purchases in US dollars and te minimise
foreign exchange risk in movements of the USD/GEP exchange rates These are designated as cash flow hedges. At 31 August 2021

the Group had ne matensl unhedged currency expasures.
The Group's US dollar, Euro and Australian dollar exposure is principally operational and arises mainly through the operation of retail
stores in North America, France, Ireland, Spain, Germany: Italy and Australia. The Gmup does not use derivatives to hedge balance
sheet and profit and loss translation exposure,
The tair value of cash flow hedges recognised on the balance sheet within derivative assets/liabibties 15 shown below:

w2 720

£m
Fair value of derivative assets

At 31 August 2021, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to which the Group has committed is
US$25m (2020: US$15m). These instruments will be used to hedge cash flows occurring up to ane year from the balance sheet date.

Gains of Enil (2020 £1m] have been transferred ta the income statement and gains of £nil (2020: €1m) have been transferred to
Inventaries in respect of contracts that matured during the year ended 31 August 2021. In the year to 31 August 2021, the fair value
gain an the Group's currency derivatives that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges amounted to Enil [2020: Enil),

All the derwatives held b)} the Group at fair value are considered te have fair values determined by Level 2 inputs as defined by the fair
value hierarchy. There are no non-recurring fair value measurements nor have there been any transfers of assets er Liabilities
between levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Sensitivity analysis as at 31 August 2021

Financial instruments affected by market risks inctude borrowings. depasits and derivative financial instruments. The following
analysis. required by IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments’. Disclosures, is intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in market
varizbles, being UK interest rates, and USD/GBP, EUR/GBP and AUD/GBP exchange rates.

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

* Exchange rate fluctuations on currency derivatives that form part of an effective cash flow hedge relationship affect the hedging
reserve in equity and the fair value of the hedging derivatives.

* Year end exchange rates applied in the analysis are USD/GBP 1.3769/1 (2020: 1. 3347/1] EUR/GBP 1.1652/112020: 1.11%93/1) and
AUD/GBP 1.8821/1 (2020 1.8115/1]

« Group debt and hedging activities remain constant, reflecting the positions at 31 August 2021 and 37 Augus! 2020 respectively.
As a consequence, the analysis relates to the position at those dates and is 0ot necessarily representative of the years then endeg.

The abave assumptions are made when sllustrating the effect on the Group’s income statement and equity given reasonable
rnoverments in foreign exchange and interest rates before the effect of tax. The Group considers a reasonable interest rate movernent
in GBP SCNIA/base rate to be one per cent, based on interest rate history. Similarly, sensitvity to movements in USD/GBP, EUR/GBP
and AUD/GBP exchange rates ot ten per cent are shown, reflecting changes of reasonable praportion in the context of movement in
those currency pairs over hime.
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Finantial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

22. Financial instruments [continued)

Using these assumptions, the foltowing table shows the illustrative effect an the Group income staterment and equity.

2021 2020

Income Equity Income Equily
€m gainfllassl  ~  gain/lless] llossl/gain llossligain
GBP SONIA/base rate interest rates 1% increase i - - (3) -
USD/GBP exchange rates 10% increase : ; 1 (471 A (37)
EUR/GBP exchange rates 10% increase ; 1 1. 1 2
AUL/EE exchange rates 1U% increase ] - 1 2 1
GBP SONiA/base rate interest rates 1% decrease } - - 3 -
USB/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease ' (1l 57 15} 45
EUR/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease . y]] 3] 11} 12l
AUD/GBP exchange rates 10% decrease ‘ - (2) 12) 1)
23. Calied up share capital
Allotted and fully paid

. 2021 2020
Number Nominal Number Norminal
of shares value of shares value

Em Imiflionsi £m frnullions| Em
Equity. _ '
Ordinary shares of 22%p 12 29 13 29
Total ‘ 131 29 13 29

Ouring the year, 43,345 erdinary shares were atlotied under the terms of the Company’s Sharesave Scheme.

The effect of the above share issues was to increase share premium by £1m.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to recewe dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at

the meetings of the Company.

The ESOP reserve of £5m [2020: £4m represents the cost of shares in WH Smith PLC purchased in the market and held by the

WH Smith Employee Berefit Trust to salisfy awards and options under ihe Group’s executive share schemes. The tolal shareholding is

" 304.641 (2020: 203,628}
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24, Share-based payments

Summary of movements in awards and options

Sharesave Cash-seltled

Number of shares Schemes LTiPs PSP awards Yotal
Outstanding at 1 September 2020 307077 1179064 513,695 17041 2016877
Options and awards granted 272790 1.03099 180.468 56330 1612687
Cptions and awards exercised [43,345] (5.915] {10.833) (21,339} 181.432)
Optians and awards lapsed 1148,043) (293.934) (150,354 - {592,333)
Outstanding at 31 August 2021 388,479 1,982,314 532,974 52,032 2,955,799
Exercisable at 37 August 2021 - - 4,839 - 4,839
Outstanding at 1 September 2019 379398 1,189,342 526,922 34087 2129767
Cptions and awards granted - 354 251,081 - 622.602
Options and awards exercised {5024 {1s1.368) (82.234) 11,7910 (2604170
Options and awards lapsed (67.297)  (220451)  {182074) [5,258) (475,077
Outstanding at 31 August 2020 307,077 1,179,064 13,695 17,041 2,016,877
Exercisable at 31 August 2020 - - 15,899 - 15,899

2021 020

Pence

Weighted average exercise price of awards:
- Outstanding at the beginning of the year
- Granted in the year

- Exercised in tha year

- Lapsed in the year

- Quistanding at the end of the year

~ Exercisable at the end of the year

23288 2727%
23681 -
767.49 27.80
37306 . 21888
192.20 232.88

Detail of movements in oplions and awards
LTIPs

Under the terms of the LTIP. executive directors and key senior executives may be granted conditional awards to acquire ordinary
shares in the Company [in the farm of nil cost aptions) which will only vest and become exercisable to the extent that the related

performance targets are met.

Outstanding awards granted under the LTIPs are as follows:

Number of shares

Date of grant 2021 7020 pri:eElT:er:l(ﬁ Exercise period
20 October 2014 136,613 136,613 Nit Qct 2019~ 20.10.26
26 October 2017 38,315 33B.164 Nil Oct 2020 - 26.10.27
1 Novernber 2018 v 332,766, 232766 Nil Nov 2023~ 01.11.28
5 November 2019 3N s21 ansa Nil Nov 2024 - 05.11.29
19 Navember 2020 1,103,099 - Nit Nov 2025 - 19.11.30

1,982,314  1,179.064
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Financial statemenls

Notes to the financial statements continued

24. Share-based payments (continued)

Awards will first become exercisable on the vesting date, which is the third anniversary of the date of grant. Awards made on or after
October 2016 are subject Lo holding periods preventing the delivery and sale of shares until the filth anniversary of the date of grant
For awards mace in October 2014 and October 2017, the holding pericd applies te 50 per cent of any shares which vest. For awards
made in Novernber 2018, and all subsequent awards, the holding period appties to 100 per cent of any shares that vest. The awards
will accrue dividends paid over the performance and any holding period. LTIP awards are equity-settled

Sharesave Scheme

Under the terms of the Sharesave Scheme, the Board grants aptions to purchase ordinary shares in the Company to employees with
at least three months service who enter into an HM Revenue & Customs approved Save-As-You-Earn {SAYE] savings contract for a
term of three years. Options are granted at up to a 20 per cent discount to the market price of the shares on the date of offer and are

normally exercisable for a pericd of six months after completion of the SAYE contract. SAYE options are equity-settled.

Outstanding options granted under the Sharesave Scheme at 31 August 2021 are a5 follows:

Number of shares

Exgroise

Date of grant 01 2020 price Ipencel Exercise penod

7 June 2017 (3 year) ll -=' 140310 1434.40 01.08.20~31.01.21

5 June 2019 (3 year) 115,689 164,767 1609.60 01.08.22~31.01.23

9 June 2021 (3 year) 272, 790" - 1400.00 0108.24~31.0125
388,479 307.077

Performance Share Plan [PSP)

Under the terms of the Performance Share Plan, the Board may grant conditional awards to executives. The exercise af awards is
conditional on the achievenent of a perfarmance target, which is determined by the Board at the time of grant. The execulive directars

do not participate in lhis plan. PSP awards are equity-settled.

Cutstanding awards granted under the PSP are as follows.

Mumber of shares
Exercise
Date of grant 20 020 price {pencel Exertise period
5 November 2012 ! -1 977 Nil Nov 2015-~05.11.22
17 October 2013 a -} 1,693 Nit Oct 2016~ 17.10.23
23 October 2014 i 870 311 Nil Oct 2017 - 23.10.24
22 October 2015 : o -{f 1346 Nit Oct 2018 - 22.10.25
20 October 2016 l 3,969i 8,772 Nil Oct 2019 - 20.10.24
26 October 2017 ’ ' - =; 128867 Nit Oct 20202610 27
1 Nevember 2018 137.553" 141,392 Nit Moy 2021 ~01.11.28
7 Decermnber. 2018 10,4?6] 10,475 Nl Dec 2021 ~07.12.28
5 Navember 2019 : 205170+ 217061 Nt Nov 2022 ~0511.2%
19 November 2020 ! 174,936‘ - Nil Nov 2021 - 19.11.30
" BI2974 5134695

Referred Bonus Plan [DBP}

The Delerced Bonus Plan is applicable te executive directors only Under the terms of the DBP, any bonus payable over target is
deferred into shares far a period of up to three years One third of the deferred shares are released on each anniversary of the bonus.

At 31 August 2021, 10,108 shares remain deferred in accordance with this plan.
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24, Share-based payments [continued)

Cash-settled schemes
Under the terms of the LTIP and PSP, the Board may grant cash-settled awards to executives The exercise of optians is conditional en

the achievement of a perfarmance target, which is determined by the Board at the time of grant. These awards will be settled in cash
based on the share price at the date of exercise. As at 31 August 2021 there were 52,032 autstanding nil-cost cash-settled awards
(202€: 17,041), which wiil be settled between Novernber 2021 and Novernber 2030, The carrying amount of liabilities arising fram
share-based payment transaclions is less than £1m (2020: less than £1m).

Fair vatue information

2021 2020
Weighted average share price at date of exercise of share options exercised during year ~ pence ’ 1,558.60 272354
Weighted average remaining contractual tife at end of year - years a 7
Share options and awards granted
The aggregate of the estimated fair value of the options and awards granted in the year is:
L 7l 2020
14 12

The fair values of the LTIP and PSP awards granted were measured using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The input range into the
Monte Carlo models was as follows:

202) 2020

Share price - pence 1,482 ; 2224
Exercise price - pence Nil Nil
Expected volatitity - per cent ] 42 2z
Expected e - years ' 28 28
Risk-free rate - per cent : (0.03) 053
0%-2% Nil

Dividend yield ~ per cent

Weighted average fair value of options - pence 1.060.81 197556

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price aver the expected life of the aption.

The fair values of the Sharesave oplions granted in the year ended 31 August 2021 were measured using a Black Scholes model.
None were granted in the year ended 31 August 2020. The input range inta the Black Scholes models was as follows in the year ended

31 August 2021:
2021

Share price - pence ) . 1,785

Exercise price - pence ‘ 1400
Expected volatility - per cent : 37.

Expected life - years 34

Risk-free rate - per cent ‘ 0.16

Dividend yield ~ per cent ) Nil
616.43

Weighted average fair value of options - pence

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group's share price over the expected life of the option.
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

25. Related party transactions
Transactions between businesses within this Group which zre related parties have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclesed in this Note.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the executive and non-executive directars, who are the key management personnet of the Group. is set out
below in aggregate tor each of the categories specified in 1A% 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Further nformation about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the Directors’ remuneration repor! on pages
58 to 84,

€000 2021 2020
Short-term employee benefits 4 2470 1517
Post-employment benefits ! 176, 186
Share-based payments 1042 (4)
H 3,488 1,699
There are no other transactions with directors.
26. Other reserves and Capital redemption reserve
Revaluation ESOP Convertibie
tm Other reserves reserve reserve Hedgingreserve  bond reserve Total
Balance as at 1 September 2020 ! (277) o2 "l - - [279)
Issue of convertibte bond - value of conversion rights ! - - - - 40 40
Employee share schemes i . - - i - - (m
Balance at 31 August 2021 L [27 2 (5). - 40 (220)
Revaluation ESOP Hedging Convertibie
Em Olher reserves reserve reserve reserve bond resecrve Total
Balance as at § September 2019 {272) 2 18) 2 - {274]
Employee share schernes (5] - 2 - - (3)
Cash flow hedges - - - 12) - (2]
Balance at 31 August 2020 (zrm 2 (%) - - (279}

The Other reserves include reserves created in relation to historical capital reorganisation and proforma restatement, £(238)m

(2020: £[238]ml, demerger from Siniths News PLC in 2006. £69m 12020: £69m], and cumulative amounts relating to employee share

schemes of £(108]m [2020: £(108)mj.

The convertible bond reserve is a reserve created to recognise the equily component of the convertible bond issued in April 2021
[see Note 19) and represents the value of the canversion rights at initial recegnition of £41m, net of transaction costs of £1m.

The Capital redemption reserve of £13m {2020: £13m] represents the par value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the
Group’'s share buyback programme and is reclassified from Share capital to the Capital redemption reserve.
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27. Acquisitions

Prior year acquisitions

On 20 December 2019, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Marshall Retail Group [MRG']. for a totat cash payrnent
of USD $402m (E317m] comprising $243m enterprise vatue, $146m repayment of loans, $12m warking capital, and $1m cash and
restricted cash. During the year ended 31 August 2021, the Group received £1m as an adjustment to the consideration paid.

MRG is an independent travel retailer operating in high footfatl airport and tourist locations in the United States. The acquisilion
builds further on the acquisition of InMotion in Navermber 2018 and significantly strengthens the Graup's offering in the United States,
the warld's largest travel retail market _

Included within the fair vaiue of the net identifiable assets on acquisition is an inlangible asset of £29m [US$37m] representing the
MRG brand. The Board believes that the excess of consideration paid over the net assets on acguisiion of £257m is best considered as
goodwill an acquisition representing future operating synergies. This amount is not tax deductible.

The provisional goodwill calculation included significant estimates that may be refined for a pertod of 12 months from the acquisition
date. During the year ended 31 August 2021, final fair value adjustments were recognised of £1m to praperty, plant and equipment and
£1m to goodwill.

Transaction and integration costs totalling £20m were incurred in the year to 31 August 2020 in respect of the acquisition.

A further £2im integration costs have been incurred in the year ended 31 August 2021
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

28. Subsidiary companies
The subsidiary companies included within the financial staterments are disclosed below.

UK subsidiaries

Propertion of
shares held by
Country of incorporation/  Registered Sroup
Name reglstration address Classofshares  companies % Principal activity
Held directly by WH Smith PLC:
WH Smith Retail Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Halding company
Held indirectly:
Books & Stationers Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 " Retailing
Card Market Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retaiting
Dotty About Paper Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
funkypigeon.com Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retziling
Modelzone Limited ' England & Wales 1 Ordinary e Dormant
Sussex Stationers Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
The Card Galtery [UK] Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
The SQL Warkshaop Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retaiting
The Websters Group Limied England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
Tree of Hearts Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Cormant
WH Smith [Qatar] Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dormant
WH Srmith 1955 Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith High Street Holdings Limited England & Wates 1 Crdinary 100 Holding Company
WH Srith High Street Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 Retailing
Preference
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 Holding Company
Preference
WH Smith Hospitals Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Promotions Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Retirernent Savings Plan Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Dorrnant
WH Smuth Travel 2008 Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith Travel Holdings Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
WH Srnith Travel Limited England & Wales 1 Ordinary & 100 . Retailing
Preference
WH Smith US Group Holdings Lirnited England & Wates 1 Ordirary 100 Holding Company
WH Smith US Retail Hotdings Limited England & Wates 1 . Ordinary 100 Holding Company

The following UK subsidiaries will take advantzge of the audit exemption set out within section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 for the
year ended 31 August 2021.

The Company will guarantee the debts and tiabitities of the below UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in accordance -
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006, The Company has assessed the prabability of loss under the guarantee as remote.

HName Company fiumber
Held indirectly:

Books & Statieners Limited (7515820
Card Market Limited 8956574
WH Smith 1955 Limited 549049
WH Smith High Street Holdings Lirnited 6560371
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited 03876876
WH Smith Promotions Limited 2339902
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited . 6560390
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28. Subsidiary companies [continued)
International joint ventures

The below entities are jaint ventures and per the Group's accounting palicies on page 105, the Group's share of resuits of these joint
ventures is included in the Group consolidated income staternent using the equity method of accounting.

Proportion of shares

Country ol incorporation/ Registered held by Group
Name registration address Class of shares tompanies % Principal actvity
Held indirectly:
WH Smith - UHA Brasit Cateteria, Livraria E Brazil 15 Ordinary 50 Retailing
Conveniencia Eireli
WH Srrith Malaysia SDN BHD Malaysia " Ordinary 50 Retailing
WH Smith LLC Oman 10 Ordinary 50 Retailing
MSP Innovations, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 33 Retailing
Nash Nails MRG, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 39 Retailing

International subsidiaries

The below list of interests in overseas entties includes certain entities, particularly in the United States of America. in which

WH Smith PLC hotds less than 100 per cent awnership. These entities primarily relate to awport operations in which the Group is
required to engage with a local partner in order to operate the stores. Per the accounting policy set out on page 105. the Group has -
determined that it has control of these entities and has therefore consolidated their results.

Propoertion of

shares held by

Country of tncarporation/ Registered Group
Name registration address Classof shares  companies % Principal activity

Held indirectly:

WH Srrith Asia Lirmited Hang Kong 2 Orginary 100 Product sourcing for
Group companies
WH Smith Australia Pty Limited Australia 3 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Catais S.A.5 France 4 Ordinary 100 Retaling
WH Smith Germany GmbH Germany 5 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Ireland Limited Ireland ) Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith ltalia S.R.L italy 7 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Srrith Jersey Limited Jersey 8 QOrdinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith LLC Qatar 9 Ordinary 49 Retailing
WH Srnith Nederland B.V. Netherlands 12 Qrdinary 100 Dormant
WH Smith Singapore Pte. Limited Singapore 13 Ordinary 100 Retailing
WH Smith Spain S.L. Spain 14 Ordinary 00 Retailing
WH Smith USA Holdings Inc USA 16 Qrdinary 100 Holding Company
InMotion Entertainment Holdings LLC USA 16 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
InMotion Entertainment Personnel Leasing Corp USA 14 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
-WH Smith USA Retait Inc USA 16 Ordinary 100 Holding Company
InMotion SFO, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 88 Retailing
Wild Retail Group Pty Limited Australia 3 Ordinary 109 Retailing
InMotion Entertainment Group, LLC USA i6 Ordinary 100 Retailing
BTS - inMotion Atlanta, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 100 Retailing
inMotion AUS, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 88 Retailing
InMotion BNA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 84 Retailing
InMatign BNA-CLLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
Soundbatance BQS, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Dormant
InMction BOS-A, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 80 Dormant
InMation BOS LLC usA it Ordinary 70 Dormant
InMotion BOS-BCE, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMotign BWI, LLC USA 16 Ordinary &0 Retailing
InMotion CLE, LLC USA 16 Ordinary &7 Retalling
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Financial statements

Notes to the financial statements continued

28. Subsidiary companies [continued)

Propertion of

shares held by
Caunlry af incef peration) Registered Group
Name registration address Classol shares  companies % Principal activity
Held indirectly: LUSA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
Soundbalance CLT, LLC Usa 14 Ordinary 67 ' Retailing
InMotion - SB DC. LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMction DCA, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion DEN-B, LLC . USA 16 Ordinary - 75 Retailing
DFW-A Retail Partners, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 50 Retailing
DFW-E Retail Partners, LLC , USA 16 Ordinary . 65 Retailing
DFW-D/E Retail Partners, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
Soundbalance DTW, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMation DTW, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMaotion EWR, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
. InMotion EWR-B, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retaiting
InMgtion FLL, LLC USA 16 Ocdinary 62 Retailing
InMotion FLL-T4, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 62 Retailing
InMotion 1AD. LLE USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
Soundbalance 1AH. LLC LSA 16 Ordinary 47 Retailing
BR faMotion {AH, LLC USA 6 Ordinary 45 Retailing
InMotion LAX, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion LAX-IT LLC usa 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
Soundbalance MCG, LLC usa 16 Ordinary 67 Retading
tnMotion MCQ, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 73 Retailing
Soundbalance Miami, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMation Bright, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMotion MKE, LLC UsSA 16 Ordinary 9 Retailing
InMotion MSY, LLC USA 14 Ordinary b4 Retailing
InMotion ORD, LLC USA -6 Ordinary 70 Retailing
InMotion ORD T2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
Soundbalance PDX LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
Soundbalance PHL, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Retailing
InMotion PHL, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Dermant
Soundbalance ATL-E, LLC : USA 16 Ordinary &7 Retailing
InMotian ATL-A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary b4 Retailing
InMotion ATL, LLC ‘ USA 16 Ordinary 80 . Retailing
InMotion PHX, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMotion PHX T3, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 90 Retailing
Soundbalance SAN, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 5 Retailing
InMotion SAT, LLLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
InMgotion SEA, LLC USA 16 Orchnary 88 ) Retailing
InMotion SFO-T3, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
inMotion SFO-(T. LLC USA - 16 Ordinary 90 Retailing |
Seundbalance SJC. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 67 Dormant
InMation SLC.LLC UsA 14 Ordinary 80 Retailing
InMotion tAH, LLC " UsA i6 Qrdinary 70 Dormant
[nMation SLC-ALLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
InMation SLC-B,LLC Usa 16 Ordinary bl Retailing
InMotion SMF LLC usA 16 Ordinary 90  Retailing
inMotion CLT. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 74 Retailing
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28. Subsidiary companies {continued]

Propartion of

- shares held by

Country of incorparation! Registered tiroup
. Name registration address Class of shares  companies % Principal activity

Held indirectly:

SBiP,LLC USA 14 Ordinary 50 Dormant
InMotion LGA, LLC UsA 16 Ordinary 75 Dormant
Mai shall Retail Group Holding Co lne USA 16 Crdinary 100 Halding cornpany
MRG Holdings Corp usa 16 Ordinary 100 Holding company
Marshall Retail Group LLC USA 16 Ordinary 160 Retailing
The Marshall Retail Group Canada inc Canada 17 Ordinary 100 Retailing
MRG Baltimore Concourse A, LLC UsA 6 Crdinary 70 Retailing
MRG Baltimore (BWA], LLC USA ié Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Denwer, LLC USA 16 Crdinary 75 Retailing
MRG Dallas II, LLC UsA 16 Qrdinary 85 Retailing
MRG LaGuardia, LLC USA 16 Ordinary &7 Retailing
MRG LaGuardia Terminal A, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 75 ~ Retailing
MRG Los Angeles. LLC USA 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
MRG Nashville, LLC . USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG Raleigh Terminal 1, LLC usa [ Ordinary 55 Retailing
MRG Rateigh Terminal 2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
MRG RDU T2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary BC Retailing
MRG Sacramento. LLC usa 16 Ordinary 90 Retailing
MRG San Francisco, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Termnal 1, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terminal 2, LLC USA 16 Ordinary 85 Retailing
MRG San Francisco Terminal 3, LLC USA BT Ordinary 80 Retailing
MRG Washington [DCA). LLC : USA 16 Ordirary 75 Retailing
MRG Washington [1AD), £LC UsA 16 Ordinary 75 Retailing
WH Smith DEN. LLC Usa 16 Ordinary 70 Retailing
WH Smith DCA, LLC Usa 16 Crdinary 75 Retailing

Registered addresses
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Greenbridge Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3RX

Suites 13401-04, 13 Floor, South Tower, World Finance Centre, Harbour ity Tsim Sha Tsus, Kowleon, Hong Kong
Suite 401, 80 William Street, Woolloomooloo NSW 2011, Australia

38 Rue des Mathurins, 75008 Paris 8, France :

Terminal Ring 1, Zentralgebaude Ost, Zi. 5. 035, 40474 Ousseldorf, Germany

6th Floar, Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2, Ireland

Via Bergogna, Cap 20122, Milang, Italy

72/74 King Street, St Helier, Jersey, JEZ 4WE

27 Um Ghwalinah Road, 230 C-ring Road, Ooha 'Qatar

PO Box 3275, PC112. Ruwi, Oman

C2-6-1, Solaris Dutamas, 1, Jalan Dutamas 1, 50480, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Weteringschans 94, 1017 XS, Amsterdam, Netherlands

11 Keng Cheow Street #3-10 The Riverside Piazza, Singapore 059608

Paseo de Recoletos, 27, 72, 28004, Madrid, Spain

Avenida das Americas, No. 3434, Barra da Tijuca, CEP 22640-102, Rio de Janeiro. RJ, Brazil
J753 W Sunset Road, Las Vegas, Nevada, NV 89118, USA

2200 HSBC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3E8, Canada
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Financial statements

Company balance sheet
As at 31 August 2021

m Note 2021 2020
Non-current assets
Investments 3 835" 835
' 835, 835
Current assets '
Receivables: amounts falling due within one yeat 4, 298’ 291
298 291
Current liabilities
Payables: amounts falling diie within one year 5 (48l {203}
(148]) 12G3)
Net current assets 130 88
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings b (415] {400}
. {415] [400)
’
Total net assets 550 523
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital ¢ 29 29
Share premium account 315 315
Other reserves 10 A -
Capital redemnption reserve 10+ 13 13
Profit and loss account! 152 taé
550 523

Total equity
1 The loss tar the year atlribulable to shareholders was £14m (2020: loss of £7ml. See Note 2.

The financial statements of WH Smith PLC, registered number 537035, on pages 150 to 153 were approved by the Board of Directors
and authorised for issue Novemnber 2021 and wegg sig Y

)g:’l Cowling

Group Chief Executive

Robert Moorhea
Chiel Financigl Olficer and CRief Operating Ofticer

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 August 2021

Capital Profit
Share Sharg redemption and loss
£m capital premium reserve Other reserves account Total
Balance at 1 September 2020 29 315 13 . 166 523
Loss for the financial year - ~ - - (14) (14}
Toltal cornprehensive loss for the year - - - - (14 [14)
Premium on issue of shares - 1 - - - 1
Issue of convertible bonds - value of conversion rights (Note 10) J - - - 40 - 40
Balance at 31 August 2021 29 316 13 40 152 550
Balance at 1 September 2019 24 % 13 - 220 266
Loss for the financizl year - - - - (7) {7
Total comprehensive loss for the year - ~ - - (7 {7
Premium on issue of shares 5 306 - - - an
Equity dividends paid during the year INote 7] - - - - (47) (47)
Balance at 31 August 2020 29 315 13 - 166 523
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1. Accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation .
The Company’s linancial staternents have been prepared on a gaing concern basis, as detailed in the Directors’ report on page 85

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2004 as applicable to companies using FRS 101.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 [Application of Financial Reporting Requirements| issued by
the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 'Reduced
Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

As permilted by FRS 101, the Cornpany has taken acvantage af the disclosure exemption available under the standard in relation to
share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain
assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions.
Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consalidated financial statements of the Group.

The financial staternents are prepared under the historical cost convention.

The principal accounting palicies adopted are the same as those set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial staternents e;cept as
noted below. Na new accounting standards, or amendments to accounting standards, or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the

year ended 31 August 2021, have had @ material impact on the Company.

On initial recogaition of the convertible bond, judgement is required in respect of the accounting treatment of embedded derwatives.
The fixed principal amount of each bend is convertible inta a fixed number of shares and as a result management has determined that
the conversion feature meets the fixed-for-tixed criterion far equity classification. The bonds include anti-dilution provisions to ensure
that the holder's potential interest in the equity of the Company is not diluted in specified circumstances. If these provisions are
triggered, the number of shares that will be detivered to the holder is adjusted. Management considers that the provisions are
anti-dilutive in order to ensure that the holder's potential interest in the equity of the Cormpany is not diluted under each of these
circumstances. These provisions are not deemed to breach the fixed-for-fixed criterion, therefore the conversian feature is accounted

for as equity.

S1UIWIAIR]S 1RIAURLULY

in the application of the Company’'s accounting policies, the Directors do not consider that there are any further critical accou.ntif‘\g‘
judgerments or sources of estimation uncertainty that could lead to 3 material change in the carrying amounts of assets and liabititres.

b] Investments in subsidiary undertakings e
Investments in subsidiaries are valued at historical cost less provision for impairment in value. Investments in subsidiaries are tested

annually for impairment. Anympairment loss is recognised for the amaount by which the carrying value exceeds ils recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's net realisable value and valug-in-use

cl Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be pa:d lor recovered] using the tax rates

and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

d] Receivables
Receivables represent amounts due from other Group companies. Recervables are initially measured at fair valie and subsequently

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A pravision for lhe expected credit
toss on recenables is established at inception. This is modified when there is 3 change in the credit risk and hence evidence thal the
Company will not be able ta collect all amounts due according to the original terms of recevables.

2. {Lossl/profit for the year

The Company has not presented its own profit and loss account as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

The toss for the year attributable to shareholders, which is stated on an historical cost basis, was £14m [2020: loss of £7m] comprising
of finance costs of £14m {2020 £7m], non-underlying items of £6m (€2020: Enil] offset by a tax credit of E6m.There were na other
recognised gains or losses.

The Cempany did not have any employees during the year ended 31 August 202112020- nill. All directors were remunerated by other
Group companies.

3. Investments
A full list of the Campany's subsidiary undertakings is included in Note 28 of the Nales to the consolidated financial statements.
The registered office of WH Smith Retail Holdings Limited is Greenbridge Road, Swindon, Wiltshire SN3 3RX.

The investment in subsidiaries balance has been tested far impairment at the balance sheet date. The recoverable amount of the
investment is assumed to approximate the Group's market capilalisation on the London Stock Exchange, adjusted for any assets or
liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet. There was substantial headroomn between the recoverable amount of the investment and
its carrying value. Cansequently no impairment has been recagnised in respect of the investment.
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Financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

4. Receivables: amounts falling due within one year

om ) 2021 2020
Arnounts owed by subsidkary undertakings 293 290
Prepayments 1 ‘ !
Current {ax receivable 4 -

298 291

Amgunits receivable from subsidiary undertakings are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The Company has undertaken
a review of the liquidity position of the counterparty subsidiaries and noted that the subsidiaries continue 1o have sufficient
immediately avalzble funds Lo setlle the receivables at the balance sheet date. As a result, no expected credit losses have been
included in the profit and toss account in the current year in respect of these receivables.

5. Payables: amounts falling due within one year

€ 2021 2020
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 162 202
Bank overdrafts 3 -
Accruzls and deferred income 3 L
168 203
Ampunts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
6. Barrowings
tm 201 020
Termicans 132 400
Convertible bonds 283 -
415 400

On 28 April the Group announced new financing arrangements. These included the issuance of £327m of convertible bonds,
the repayment of the existing £400m term loans and replacement with g new €£133m term loan. and an increased revolving credit
facility of £250m.

Term loans and revolving credit facilities

At 31 August 2021, alongside other Group companies. the Company is 3 guaranter on a five-year committed multi-currency revolving
credit facility of £250m with Santander UK PLC, BNP Paribas, HSBC UK Bank PLC, 1P Morgan Securities PLC and Barclays Bank
PLC. The revolving credit facility is due to mature on 28 April 2025. The utiisation is interest bearing at a margin over SONIA,

At 31 August 2021, the Company has a four-year committed £133m term loan with Banco Santander S.A., London Branch, Barclays
Bank PLC, BNP Paribas and HSBC UK Bank PLC, that was drawn down at the time of the refinancing in Aprit 2021 This loan is
interest bearing at a margin over SONIA and is due to mature on 28 Aprit 2025.

Transaction costs of £1m relating to the term loan are being amortised through the effective interest rate method.

Convertible bonds

On 28 April 2021, the Company announced the launch of an offering of £327m of guaranteed senior unsecured ceavertible bonds due
in 2026. Settlement and detivery of convertibte bonds took place on 7 May 2021. The total bond offering of £327m covers a five-year
term beginning on 7 May 2021 with a 1.625 per cent per annium coupon payable semi-annually in arrears in equal instalments,

The bonds are canvertible into new and/or existing ordinary shares of WH Smith PLC. The initial conversion price was set at £24.99
representing a premium of 40 per cent above the reference share price on 28 April 2021 [£17.851. If not previously converted, redeemed
or purchased and cancelied, the Bonds will be redeemed at par on 7 May 2026.

The convertible bond is a compound financial instrument, consisting of a financial lisbility component and an equity component,
representing the value of the conversion rights. The initial fair value of the liability portion of the convertible bond I1s determined using
a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond at the issue date. The liability is subsequently recognised on an
amortised cost basis using the effective interest rate methad until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder
of the proceeds 1s allocated to the conversion option and recognised in equity [Other reserves), and not subsequently remeasured. As a
resutt, £286m was initially recegnised as a tiability in the balance sheet on issue and the rernainder of the proceeds of £41m, which
represents the option component, was recognised in equity.

Trgnsaction costs of £6m were allocated between the two components and the element relating to the debt compenent of £5m is
being amortised through the effective interest rate method. The issue costs apportioned to the equity component of £1m have been
deducted irom equity.
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7. Dividends

Amounts paid and recognised as distributions to sharehalders in the year are as follows.

£m 201 020

Dividends -

Final dividend for the year ended 31 August 2019 of 41.0p per ordinary share ~ &7
~ 47

The Board of Directors have not declared an interim dividend during the year and do not propase a final dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 August 2021

8. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities of £1m [2020: £1m) are in relation to insurance standby letters of credit.

The Cormpany will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the below UK subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date in arcnrdance
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006. The Company has assessed the probability of loss under the guaranlee as remote.

Name LCompany number
Held indirectly:

Books & Stationers Limited . 07515820
Card Market Limited 8956574
WH Smith 1955 Limited 549069
WH Smith High Street Heldings Limited £56037
WH Smith Hospitals Holdings Limited 03896896
WH Smith Promations Limited 2339902
WH Smith Travel 2008 Limited 4560390

9. Called up share capital
Allotted and fully paid

201 2020
Number of Hominal MNumber of Mominal
shares value shares valug
[millions) €m [rullians) tm
Equity: !
Ordinary shares of 22%ap i 131 29 131 Vi)
Total 1 29 131 29

During the year, 43,345 ordinary shares were allotted under the terms of the Company's Sharesave Scheme.

The effect of the above share issues was 1o increase share premium by E1m,

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at the meetings of the Company.

10. Other reserves and Capital redemption reserve
Other reserves are reserves created to recognise the equity component of the convertible bond issued in April 2021 [see Note 6]
and represents the value of the conversion rights at initial recognition of £41m, net of transaction costs of £1m,

The Capital redemption reserve af £13m [2020: £13m) represents the par value of shares repurchased and cancelled under the
Company's share buyback programme is reclassified from Share capital to the Capital redemption reserve.
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Additional informatian

Glossary (unaudited)

Alternative performance measures _
In reporting financial information, the Group presents alternative performance measures, APMs’, which are not defined or specified
under the requirements of IFRS

The Group believes that these APMs, which are not considered to be a substitute for or superior to IFRS measures, provide
stakeholders with additional useful information on the underlying trends, performance and position of the Group and are consistent
with how bus iness performance 1s measured internally. The alternative performance measures are not defined by IFRS and therefore
may not be directly comparable with other companies’ alternative performance measures.

Non-underlying items . .

The Group has chosen Lo present a measure of profit and earnings per share which excludes certain items that are considered
non-underlying and exceptional due to their size, nature or incidence, and are not considered to be par! of the normal operations of
the Group. These measures may exclude the financial effect of non-undertying items which are considered exceptlpnal and aceur
infrequently such as, inter alia, restructuring costs linked to a Board agreed programme, amgrtisation of acqgwed mtang_lbles assets,
costs relating to business combinations, impairment charges and other property costs, significant sterns relating to pension schemes,
and impairment charges and items meeting the definition of non-underlying specifically related to the Covid- 19 pandemic, and the
related tax effect of these items. The Group believes that they provide additicnal useful infarmation to users of the financial
statements to enable a better understanding of the Group's underlying financiat perfermance.

{FRS 16

The Group adopted IFRS 16 in the prior year. IFRS 16 superseded the lease guidance under IAS 17 and the related interpretations.
IFRS 14 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure qf teases and requires h_assees to
account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model as the distinction between operating and hnaqce leaseg is removed.
The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. At the commencement date of a lease. a lessee will rgcognnse a lea;.e
Liahility far the future lease payments and an asset {right-of-use asset] representing the right to use the underlylng asset during the
lease term. Lessees are required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on
the right-of-use asset.

For the purposes of narrative commentary on the Group's performance and financial position in the Strategic repert, the effects
of IFRS 16 have been excluded, in order to provide meaningful year on year comparisons.

The impact of the implermentation of IFRS 16 on the Income statement and Segmental information is provided in Notes Al and AZ
below. There is no impact on cash flows, although the ctassification of cash flows has changed, with an increase in net cash inflows
from operating actvitres being offset by a decrease in net cash inflows fram financing actlvct_les. as set out in Note A9 below.

The balance sheet as at 31 August 2021 both including and excluding the impact of IFRS 16 is shown in Note A10 below.

Leases policies applicable prior to 1 September 2019 _ ) .
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

tothe lessee All ather leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value determined at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liahility to the lessor is included in the balance sheet
as a finance lease obligation. These assets are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 3ssets or.
where shorter, gver the term of the relevant iease. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction of ;Iwe
lease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised
directly in the income statement.

Rentals payabile and receivable under operating teases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Beneiits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also ;pread on a straight-line
basis aver the lease term. The Group has a number of lease arrangements in which the rent payable is contingent on revenue.
Contingent rentals payable, based on stare revenues, are accrued in line with revenues generated.
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Definitions and reconciliafions
I line with the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority [ESMA],

we have provided additional information on the APMs used by the Group below, including full reconcdiations back to the closest
equivalent statutory measure.

APM

Closest equivalent
IFRS measure

Reconciling ems to IFRS
measure

Tefinition and purpose

Income statement measures

. Headline measures

Various

See Notes Al-A11

Headline measures exclude the impact of IFRS 16 [applying the
princigles of IAS 17). Reconciliations of alt Headline measures are
provided in Notes Al to Al1.

Group (loss)/profit
before tax and
non-underlying
items

Group lloss)/
profit
before tax

See Group income
statement and
Note Al

Group iloss)/profit before tax and non-underlying items excludes the
impact of non-underlying tems as described below. A reconciliation
from Group (lossl/profit before tax and nen-underlying items to Group
lloss)/profit before tax is provided on the Group incomne statement on
page 98. and on a Headling [pre-IFRS 14] basis in Note Al.

Group

[loss)/profit from
trading operations
and segment
trading [lossl/profit

Group
operating
{lossl/profit

See Note 2 and
Note A2

Graup lloss)/profit fram trading operstions and segment trading (loss)/
profit are stated after directly attributable share-based payment and
pension service charges and before non-underlying items, unallocated
costs, finance costs and income tax expense.

A recanciliation from the above measures to Group operatng [loss)/profit
and Group [less)/profit before tax on an IFRS 16 basis 1s provided in

Note 2 to the financial statements and on @ Headline [pre-IFRS 16 basis
in Note A2,

Non-underlying
items

None

Refer to definition
and see Nate &
and Note Aé

| financial statements to enable a better understanding of the Group's

ltems which are not ¢considered part of the normal operating costs of the
business, are non-recurring and considered exceptional because of their
size, nature or incidence, are treated as non-underlying items and
disclosed separately. The Group believes that the separate disclosure of
these items provides additional useful information to users of the

underlying financial performance. An explanation of the nature of the
itemns identified as nan-underlying on an IFRS 16 basis 1s provided in
Note 4 ta the financial statements, and en a Headline [pre-IFRS 16) basis
in Note A&,

UOILBW IO |BUSIIPPY

ILoss)/earnings per
share before

nan-

underiying items

[LossY
earnings
per share

Non-underlying
itemns, see Note 10
and Note A4

[Loss)/profit for the year atiributable to the equity holders of the parent
before non-underlying items divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the financial year. A reconciliation is
provided on an IFRS 16 basis in Note 10 and on a Headline [pre-IFRS 18]
basis in Note Ad.

Headiine EBITDA

Group
operaiing
lloss/profit

Refer to definition

Headline EBITDA / Operating cash flow is Beadline Group operating
{loss)/profit before non-underlying items adjusted for pre-iFRS 14
depreciation, amortisation ang other non-cash items [see Strategic
report on page 18}

Etfective tax rate

None

Non-underlying
items

Total income tax credit/charge excluding the tax impact of non-
underlying itemns divided by Group Headline [loss)/profit before tax and
nen-underlying iterms, See Nate 8 on an IFRS 14 basis, and Nates A3 and
Aé on a Headline pre-IFRS 16 basis.

Fixed charges cover

None

Refer to defimition

This performance measure calculates the nurnber of times Profit before
tax covers the total fixed charges included in calculating profit or loss.
Fixed charges included in this measure are net finance charges
lexcluding finance charges frem IFRS 16 leases) and net operating lease
rentals stated on a pre-IFRS 16 basis.

The calculation of this measure is autlined in Note A3
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Additionat information

Glossary {unaudited) continued

Definitions and reconciliations {continued]

Closest equivalent Reconciling items to IFRS
APM IFRS measure measure Definition and pur pose
Income statement measures continued
Gross margin Gross Not applicable Where referred to throughout the Annual report, gross mergin s calculated
profit margin as gross profit divided by revenue.
Like-for- Moverment in | - Revenue change | Like-for-like revenue is the change in revenue from stores that have been
like revenue revenue per from non-like- | open for at teast a year. with a similar selling space at a constant foreign
the income for-like stores exchange rate. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, this measure has
statement . not been utilised in the current year.
- Fareign
exchange
impact
Balance sheet measures
Headline net debt Net debt Reconciliation of | Headline net debt is defined as cash and cash equivalents, less bank
net debt overdrafts and other borrowings and both current and non-current
obligations under finance leases as defined on a pre-JFR5 16 basis.
Lease liabilities recognised as a result of IFRS 16 are excluded from this
measure. A reconciliation of net debt on an IFRS 16 basis provided in
Note A8.
Other measures
Free cash flow Net cash See Note A7 and | Free cash flow is defined as the net cash inflow from operating activities
inflow from | Strategic report before the cash flow effect of non-underlying sterns and pension funding,
operating page 18 and less net capital expenditure. The components of free cash flow are
activities shown in Note A7 and on page 18, as part of the Strategic report.
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Al. Reconcitiation of Headline to Statutory Group operating loss and Group loss before tax

2021
pre-{FRS 14 basis IFRS 16 basis
Headline, belore Headline non-
nan-undertying ilems undertying tems Headline IFRS 16
£m [pre-IFRS 14) [pre-{FRS 18] Ipre-IFRS 18} adjustments Total
Revenue 884 . - 886 - 886
Cost of sales (358) - (358) - (358)
Gross profit 528 - 528 - 528
Distribution costs %an - 1437) 12 1419)
Administrative expenses (138} - 136 (4] (140)
Other income - - - 4 4
Nan-underlying items - (49) {49 (16 (65)
Group operating loss {9 49 (es) {4} (92)
Finance costs {16) Co= (14) (8) [24)
Loss before tax {551 149 {104) (2l 1116)
Income Yax credit 25 9 35 1 36
Loss for the period (29) 40) {49) 1 (80)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (31) l40) 71 (1) (82)
Non-controlling interests 2 - 2 - 2
[29) (£0) [69] (1) (80)
2020
pre-IFRS 16 basis $FRS 16 basis
Headline, before
non-ynderlying stems Headline non-underking Headline IFRS 16

Em fpre-IFRS 14] ilems {pre-1FRS 16} Ipre-1FRS 16l adjustments Total

Revenue 1.021 - 1.021 - 1.021
Cost of sales (441) - i441) - (441)
Gross profit 580 - 580 - 580
Distribution costs {545) - (545 7 1538)
Administrative expenses 97 - (97) 5 (92
Other income 2 - 2 - 2
Non-underlying items - [157) [157] (55) (2121
Group aperating loss (401 {157) {217 {431 1240)
Finance costs (%) - 9 (11) {20)
Loss before tax (69) 157] (226 (54) (280)

Income tax credit 16 18 34 7 41
Lass for the period (53] {139) 192) 147) 1239)

Attributabie to:

Equity holders of the parent (531 129 192) {47) (23%
Non-cantrolling interests —~ - - - -
(53] 1139) {192 147 [239)
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Additienal infermation

Glossary (unaudited) continued

A2, Reconciliation of Headline to Statutory segmental trading (loss)/profit and Group [loss)/profit

from trading operations

2021
pre-IFRS 16 basis IFRS 14 basis
Headline, before Headline non-
non-undertying items underlying tems Headline
£m {pre-IFRS 16) Ipre-IFRS 18] [pre-tFRS 14)  IFRS 15 adjustments Total
Travel UK trading (losslfprofit (32} - 32 3 [29)
North America trading profit/ioss) ) - 6 {4 2
Rest of the World trading loss (13} - (13) (4) 1171
Total Travel trading loss (3%) - (39) (5 144)
High Street trading profit 19 ° - 19 17 36
Group (loss)/profit from
trading operations (20) - {20) 12 (8
Unallocated central costs (19 - (§5)) - (19)
Headline Group operating
{loss)/profit 139 - (39) 12 (27)
Non-underlying items ’ - (49} (49) (18) (65)
Group operating loss (39) (49} (88) 4] (921
2020
pre-IFRS 16 basis IFRS 16 bass
Headline, before Headhne non-
non-underlying ilems undertying items Headline
Em [pre-IFRS 16} Ipre-iFRS 16l ipre-IFRS 14)  IFRS 16 adjustments Tolal
Travel UK trading loss (1} - (1] - (1
North America trading (lessl/profit (8 - {18] 4 (14)
Rest of the World trading {lassi/profit {14) - {14) 2 )
Travel trading [loss)/profit (33) - (33 ) 127}
High Street trading [lossl/profit Ny - 1ol 6 {4
Group (toss)/profit from
trading operations [43) _ (43 12 31}
Unatlocated central costs 17 - (17] - (7]
Headline Group operating
ltoss)/profit (40l - 160) 12 (48]
Non-underlying items - (157) (157] (55) 212)
Group operating loss (60! (157 (z17 (43} (2600
A3. Reconciliation of Headline to Statutory tax [credit)/expense
2021 020
Headline IFRS 16 Headline FRS 16
£m (pre-FRS 18 agusiments  IFRS 16 lpe-FRS 16 adjustmenis IFRS 16
Loss before tax and non-underlying items ' (55) 4 (51) {69 1 [68)
Tax on loss - Standard rate of UK corporation tax - - - [9) - 5]
{19.00%. 2020 19.00%)/ : :
Adjustment in respect of prior years (1 - {1 {6) - {4]
Total current tax credit ' 1) - 1 iy - 1)
Deferred tax - current year ! (13) (11} (7 - (7
Deferred tax — prior year y 14) - (4) 2 - 2
Deferred tax - adjustment in respect of change in tax rates ] - (8) - - -
Tax on Headline {loss)/profit (26 2 (24) (16) - 18]
Tax on non-underlying items — current tax ; - - - {51 (4] {9
Tax on nan-underlying items - deferred tax i {9) (3) (12) 13) (3 {18}
Total tax on (loss)/profit (35 1 (38) (34) il [47)
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A4. Calculation of Headline and Statutory loss per share

2001
pre-[FRS 16 hasis IFRS 14 basis
Headline, belore Headline non-
non-undeartylng kems underlying ems Headline IFRS 16
£m Ipre~IFAS 14} lpre-IFRS 16) Ipre-FRS 18] adjustments Tatal
Loss for the year, ‘ (31 (401 (71 (11) (82)
attributable to equity holders of the parent !Npte Al '
Weighted average shares in issue for basic earnings kil 131
per share INote 10)
Weighted average shares in issue for diluted earnings 131 M
per share {Note 10] .
Basic loss per share [penice} {23.7)p {30.5)p {54.2)p {84)p l62.4)p
Diluted loss per share {pence) 23.70p (30.5)p 154.21p (8.4)p (62.6]p
020
pre-IFRS 14 bagis IFRS 16 vasis
Headline, before Headiine non-
Ag-derlying nems ungerlying iterns Headlne JFRS 14
tm [pre-IFRS 18] lpre-IFRS 161 Ipre-FRS 16) adjustments Total
Loss for the year, {53} 139} [192] 1471 (239)
attributable to equity halders of the parent [Note A1)
Weighted average shares in issue for basic earmings 120 120
per share [Note 10]
Weighted average shares in issue for diluted earnings 120 120
per share [Note 10
Basic lass per share [pence) (44 2lp 115.8)p 1160.0lp (39.2)p (199.2lp
Diluted loss per share [pence) [44.2lp {115.8)p 160.01p [39.2)p [19%2)p
Ab. Fixed charges cover
£m Nole Firgl 2020
Headline net finance costs {pre-IFRS 14) Al 16 ?
« Net operating lease rentals (pre-IFRS 16) All 151 210
Tolal fixed charges ‘ 167 219
Headline loss before tax and non-underlying items Al {55) (69)
Headline profit before tax, non-underlying items and fixed charges 1z 150
Fixed charges cover - times 0.7x 0.7
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Additional infor mation

Glossary (unaudited) continued

Aé. Non-underlying items on pre-IFRS 16 and IFRS 16 bases

2024 220

Headline Headling
£m tpre-IFRS 161 IFRS 15 [pre-IFRS Lol IFRS 1
Costs relating to business combinations : .
- Transaction costs ; - -2' 1 1
- Integration costs ¢ 2 2; 9 9
Arnortisation of acquired intangible assets . 3 3 3
Pension past service cost - - 14 14
Costs directly attributable to Covid-1%
- Impairment of property. plant and equipment 18 14 54 39
- Impairment of intangible assets ! - - L i
- Impairment of right-of-use assets ’ 28 - 95
- Other property costs ’ 5 - 25 -
- Write-down of inventories : 5 5: 14 14
- Restructuring costs 9 9: 25 25
- Costs assaciated with refinancing [ '3 - -
- Other 1 (2) 1 ]
Non-underlying items, before tax ' 49 65 157 212
Tax credit en nan-underlying items ] k4] (12 n8l (25}
Non-underiying items, after tax ' - 40 52 139 187

Non-underlying items on a pre-IFRS 16 basis are calculated on a consistent basis with IFRS 16, with the exception of the betow items.

4 tax credit of £12m has been recognised in relation to the above items [E9m pre-IFRS 16).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The impairment charge recognised on a pre-IFRS 16 basis differs from that recognised under IFRS 16. This is mainly due to a lower
asset base pre-IFRS 16, coupled with lower expected store cash flows, with rental expenses being included in the forecast cash flows
ltreated as financing costs under IFRS 18}, and a higher discount rate. The calculaton of the Group’s weighted average cost of capital
ditfers under IFRS 16 versus pre-IFRS 146, The pre-tax discount rate used in the IFRS 14 calculation was 10.4 per cent and the pre-tax
discount rate used in the pre-IFRS 14 calculation was 13.9 per cent.

Right-of-use assets are not recognised on a pre-!FRS 14 basis.

Other property costs

Dther property costs on a pre-IFRS 16 basis include provisions for onerous lease contracts; on an IFRS 14 basis, onerous lease
tontracts are recognised as an smpairment of the right-of-use asset. As a result of the impact of Cavid-1%, the Graup has carried out
a review of leases where the obiigations of those leases exceed the potential economic benefits expected to be received under thern.
We anticipate that a number of stores will nat fully recaver to pre-Covid-19 sales levels and have accelerated our internal farecasts
for the rate of sales decline in those locations. As a resuit, we have recognised onerous provisions of E5m for stores where we now
anticipate we will make a cash loss over the remaining term of their leases.

The Group’s pre-IFRS 16 praperty provisions represent the present value of unavoidable future net lease obligations and related costs
of leasehotd property [net of estimated subtease incame and adjusted for certain risk factors] where the space is vacant, loss-making
or currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations. The unwinding of the discount is treated as an imputed interest charge.
These provisions represent the best estimate of the liability at the time of the balance sheel date, the actual liability being dependent
on future events such as economic environment and marketplace demand. Expectations will be revised each period until the actual
Liability arises, with any difference accounted for in the period in which the revision is made.
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A7. Free cash flow

£m 00 020
Cash generated from operating activities [Note 21) ' 113 94
Interest paid 13 f13)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 100 81
Cash flow impact of IFRS 16 [Note A7) : (831 [66)
Add back: ;
- Cash ienpacl uf non-underlying items 38 20
- Pension funding 3 3
Deduct:
- Purchase of property, plant and equipment (37 (67
- Purchase of intangible assets 17} 2)
14 41]

Free cash flow

AB. Headline net debt

The table below shows Headline net debt [pre-iFRS 14). This includes lease liabilities that were previously presented as finance leases .

lapplying the principles of A5 17), and Group accounting policies as applicable prior to 1 September 2019, described in the Glassary
on page 154), but excludes addiuonat lease liabilities recognised on application of IFRS 16.

m 221 2020
Borrowings :

- Revolving credit facility - -
- Convertible bonds (283) -
- Bank loans {132} (400)
- Lease liabilities [Note 14) (470) (559)
Liabilities from financing activities (885 (959
Cash and cash equivalents 130 108
Net debt {IFRS 18] {Nate 19) : (7551 {851
Add back lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 14! 464 330
Headline net debt {pre-IFRS 16) ‘ ' (291) (301]

1 Excludes lease Labiilses. previously recognised as finance leases on a pre-IFRS 14 basis.

A9. Cash flow disclosure impact of IFRS 16

There is no impact of IFRS 16 on cash flows, atthough the classification of cash flows has changed with an increase in net cash
inflaws from operating activities being offset by a decrease in net cash inflows from financing activities.

2021 202
Headline IS 16 Headine FRS 16
£m {pre-IFRS 14} adjustment IFRS 15 |pre-iFRS 14) adjustment IFRS 16
Net cash inflows from operating activities v 17 a3 100 15 66 81
Net cash outilows from srvesting activities ' (43) - (431 [395) - (395)
Net cash inflows/loutflows] from financing activities ' 48 (83) -(35) 440 [64] 374
Net increase in cash in the period : 22 - 22 &0 - 60
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Additional information

Glossary (unaudited) continued

A10. Balance sheet impact of IFRS 14
The balance sheet as at 31 August 2021 including and excluding the impact of IFRS 16 is shown below:

21 ‘ 2020
Headline IFRS 16 Headline IFRS 16

€m Ipre-IFRS 14) adjustrment RS 18 |predFRS 16l adjustment IFRS 16
Goodwill and other intangible assets | 474 in 473 495 2 493
Property, plant and equipment ; 167 7 174 190 2 192
Right-af-use assets , ! - 128 az’ - 413 413
investments in joint ventures ! z - 2 2 2

; 643 334 977. 687 413 1,100
Inventories 135 - 135° 150 - 150
Payables less recewables ‘ (237 23 (214} [226) 43 (183
Working capital - (102 23 (791 (76 43 {331
Derivative financial asset ! - - - - - -
Net current and deferred tax asset ' 46 10 56! 17 1 28
Provisions : (281 14 {14 (27] 13 (14]
Operating assets employed ) 559 k1 B 940. &01 480 1,081
Net debt ! (291) [464) (755) 301} (550) (851)
Net assets excluding pensian liabdity . 268 (83) 185' 300 {701 230
Pensicr ability ] 3 - 3 [4] - {4
Deferred tax asset on pension Liability i 1 - 1 1 - 1
Total net assets ) 266 [63) 183 297 {70 227
A11. Operating lease expense
Amounts recognised in Headline Group operating profit on a pre-IFRS 16 basis are as follows:
£m Ery 200
Net operating lease charges [ 151 210

In the prior year, the Group adopied IFRS 16. IFRS 16 requires lessees lo account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model
as the distinclion between operating and finance leases is removed. In order to provide comparable information the Group has chosen
to present Headline measures of operating profit/lloss) and profit/loss] before tax, as explained in Note 2 segmental analysis.

The table above presents the pre-IFRS 16 net operating lease charges, applying the principles of 1AS 17, and Group accounting policies
as applicable prior to 1 September 2019, as described in the Glossary on page 154.
The Group leases various properties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The (eases have varying terms, escalation

clauses and renewal nights. The Group has a number of lease arrangements in which the rent payable is contingent on revenue.
Contingent rentals payable, based on stare revenues, are accrued in line with revenues generated.

The average remaining lease length across the Group s four years.

Rentals payable and receivable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are alsc spread on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Ternporary rent reductions due to Covid-19, affecting rent payments due on or before June 2022, have been recagnised in the Income
statement in the period they are received.
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Information for shareholders

Company Secretary and registered office
tan Houghtor, WH Smith PLC, Greenbridge Road, Swinden, Wiltshire SN3 3RX. Telephone 01793 616161,

WH Srnith PLC is registered n England and Wales [number 5202036).

Company website
Thes Annual report and accounts together with other information, including the price of the Company's shares, Stack Exchange
announcements and frequently asked questions, can be found on the WH Smith PLC website at whsrmithplc.co.uk,

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at the offices of Herbert Smith Freehilts LLP, Exchange House, Primrose Street, London
EC2A ZEG on Wednesday 19 January 2022 at 11.30am. A separate notice convening the meeting is bemng sent to shareholders and
includes explanatory notes on each of the resolutions being proposed. At the time of writing, UK public health regutations and
guidance allow us to return to an in-person meeting this year, with shareholders physically able to attend the AGM should they wish
to do so. We will continue to review our AGM arrangements in light of the latest government Covid-19 guidance, and therefore
shareholders are encouraged to monitor the AGM page of the Company's website whsmithple co.uk/investors/sharehoider-centre/
agm for any updates.

Shareholder enquiries - the registrars

All enquiries relating to shareholdings should be addressed to the registrars, Computershare Investor Sewices_PLC._ The Pavilions,
Bridgwater Road, Bristol BS99 622, You can call the registrars on the shareholder helpline 0371 495 0100 or visit their website at
investorcentre.co.uk. A textphone facility for shareholders with hearing difficulties is available by telephoning 0370 702 D005,

Sharedealing services
This can be done through a stockbroker, bank or building society.
Computershare, our registrars, also offer share dealing services for shareholders [in certain jurisdictions). For internet dzaling, .

log on to computershare com/dealing/uk and for telephone dealing cail 0370 703 D084, You will need to have your Shareholde.r N
Reference Number [SRN] to hand when making this call. This can be found on your Farm of Proxy or email notification of availability of

AGM documents.
Please note that dealing fees will apply and will vary between providers.
Financial calendar

The following dates are given for information purposes only. Please check the WH Srmith PLC website at whsmithplc.co.uk
nearer the relevant time for full details, and to ensure that no changes have been made.

Financial year end 31 August 2021
Preliminary results announced 11 November 2021
Annusl report posled December 2021
AGM 19 January 2022
Christmas trading statement 19 January 2022
Half-year end 28 February 2022
Interim results anncunced Apeil 2022
Trading statement Jume 2022
Financial year end 31 August 2022

ShareGIFT

If you only have a small number of shares which are uneconomic to sell, you may wish to consider denating them to charily under
ShareGIFT, z chanty share donation scheme administered by the Orr Mackintesh Foundation. A ShareGIFT transfer form may be
obtained from our registrar. Further infarmation about the scheme can be found on the ShareGIFT webstte at sharegift.org.
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Additional informatien

Information for shareholders continued

Warning to shareholders - boiler room scams.

In recent years, many companies have become aware that their shareholders have received unsolicited phone calts or
correspondence concerning investment matters. These are typically from overseas-based ‘brokers’ who target UK shareholders,
offering to sell them what often turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK investments. These operations are commonly
known as boiler rooms’. Infarmatian an how to avoid share fraud or report a scam can be found an our website al whsmithple.co.uk.
You can also call the Financial Conduct Authority Consumer Helpline on DBOD 111 6758 or go 1o fca.org ul/scamsmart.

UK Capital Gains Tax

Demerger 31 August 2006

Fulluwing Use demerger of the Company on 31 August 2006, in order ta caleulate any chargeabie gains or losses arising on the
disposal of shares after 31 August 2008, the original tax base cost of your ordinary shares of 2'Yap ladjusted if you held your shares on
24 September 2004 and 22 May 1998 to take intg account the capital reorganisations of 27 September 2004 and 26 May 1998
respectively [see belowl] will have 1o be apportioned between the shareholdings of ordinary shares of 20p in the Company and ordinary

shares of 5p in Smiths News PLC.

The cost of your sharehalding of ordinary shares of 20p in the Company is calcutated by multiplying the original base cost of your
ordinary shares of 2'%p [adjusted where necessary to take into account the capital reorganisations of 27 September 2004 and 26 May
1998 [see below]) by 0.69585.

The cost of your sharehalding of ordinary shares of Sp is calculated by multiplying the original base cost of your ordinary shares of
2% p (adyusted where necessary to take into account the capital reorganisations of 27 September 20G4 and 26 May 1998 (see belowl]
by 0.30415.

As a result of the share consolidation on 22 February 2008, the nominal value of the Company’s ordinary shares increased from
20p per ordinary share to 22%/wp per ordinary share.

Capital reorganisation 27 September 2004

If you acquired your shareholding on or before 24 September 2004, in order to calculate any chargeable gains or losses arising on the
disposal of shares after 24 September, the original tax base cost of your orginary shares of 55%sp ladjusted if you held your shares on
22 May 1998 to take into account the capital reorganisation of 26 May 1998 [see betowl] will have to be appontioned between the
shareholdings of ordinary shares of 2'%ip and 'C’ shares resulting from the capital reorganisation.

The cost of your shareholding af ordinary shares of 2%p is calculated by multiplying the original base cast of your ordinary shares of
55%p ladjusted where necessary to take into account the capital reorganisation of 26 May 1998 (see belowl] by 0.73979.

Capital reorganisation 26 May 1998

If you acguired your shareholding on or before 22 May 1998, in arder to calculate any chargeable gains or losses arising on the
disposal of shares sfter 22 May 1998, the original tax base cast of your ordinary shares of 50p will have to be apportioned between the
shareholdings of ortinary shares of 55%sp and redeemable ‘B’ shares resulting from the capital reorganisation.

The cost of your shareholding of ordinary shares of 55%p is calculated by multiplying the original cost of your ordinary shares of 50p
by 0.96714.

March 1982 values .
If you acquired your sharebolding on or before 31 March 1982, in order to ¢alculate any chargeable gains cor tosses arising on disposal
af shares, the tax base cost of your ordinary shares used the 31 March 1982 base values per share as follows:

' Arlsing from an orlginal
shareholding ol ‘B’

‘K erdinary shares ordinary shares
Ordinary shares of 20p 61.62p 50.92p
Smiths News PLC ordinary shares of 5p 26.93p 22 25p

IF you have a comphicated tax position, or are otherwise in doubt about your lax circumnstances, or if you are subject to tax ina
Jurisdiction other than the UK, you shoutd cansult your professianal adviser.

‘Company means WH Smith PLC, a public limited company incorporated in England and Wates with registered number 5202036
and ‘Group’ means the Company and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings.
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Contact details

WH Smith PLC
Greenbridge Road
Swindon, Willshire SN3 3RX
United Kingdom

T 01793615181

W whsmithplc.co.uk

WHSmith Travel

133 Houndsdstch
London EC3A 78X
Uniled Kingdom

T 02039810900

W whsmithplc.co.uk

WHSmith High Street
Greenbridge Road

Swindon, Wiltshwre SN3 3L0D
United Kingdom

T 01793616161

W whsrmith.co.uk

Investor Relations
T 02039811285

W whsmithplic.co.uk/investors

Media Relations
T 01793563354
W whsmithpic.co.uk/media

Sustainability

W whsmithple.co.uk/sustainability

Recruitment
W whsmithcareers.coluk

Customer Service

Freepost SCE4410

Swindon, Witishire SN3 3XS

Uniled Kingdom

T 01793 616161
customerrelations@whsmith.co.uk
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